

This is a repository copy of *Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis*.

White Rose Research Online URL for this paper: <u>https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/204253/</u>

Version: Published Version

# Article:

Dawson, S., Girling, C.-J. orcid.org/0000-0003-4216-214X, Cowap, L. et al. (1 more author) (2023) Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2023 (3). CD013766. ISSN 1465-1858

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd013766.pub2

This review is published as a Cochrane Review in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [2023, Issue 3]. Cochrane Reviews are regularly updated as new evidence emerges and in response to comments and criticisms, and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews should be consulted for the most recent version of the Review. Dawson S, Girling CJ, Cowap L, Clark-Carter D., Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2023, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD013766. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD013766.pub2

# Reuse

Items deposited in White Rose Research Online are protected by copyright, with all rights reserved unless indicated otherwise. They may be downloaded and/or printed for private study, or other acts as permitted by national copyright laws. The publisher or other rights holders may allow further reproduction and re-use of the full text version. This is indicated by the licence information on the White Rose Research Online record for the item.

# Takedown

If you consider content in White Rose Research Online to be in breach of UK law, please notify us by emailing eprints@whiterose.ac.uk including the URL of the record and the reason for the withdrawal request.





**Cochrane** Database of Systematic Reviews

# Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)

Dawson S, Girling CJ, Cowap L, Clark-Carter D

Dawson S, Girling C-J, Cowap L, Clark-Carter D. Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD013766. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013766.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	5
BACKGROUND	11
OBJECTIVES	12
METHODS	13
RESULTS	17
Figure 1	18
Figure 2	24
DISCUSSION	30
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	34
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	36
REFERENCES	37
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	54
DATA AND ANALYSES	94
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 1: Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded measures)	103
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 2: Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded measures - adjusted mean difference)	104
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 3: Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (subjective measures)	104
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 4: Adherence to dornase alfa	105
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 5: Adherence to inhaled antibiotics (mean score on MMAS-8)	105
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 6: Adherence to inhaled steroids (subjective measure)	106
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 7: Adherence to hypertonic saline (subjective measure)	106
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 8: Adherence to bronchodilators (subjective measure)	106
Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 9: Anxiety (endpoint data)	107
Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 10: Anxiety (adjusted mean difference) .	107
Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 11: Depression (endpoint data)	108
Analysis 1.12. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 12: Depression (adjusted mean difference)	108
Analysis 1.13. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 13: QoL: Quality of Well-being scale (mean score)	109
Analysis 1.14. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 14: QoL: Physical functioning (endpoint data)	109
Analysis 1.15. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 15: QoL: Physical functioning (adjusted data)	110
Analysis 1.16. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 16: QoL: Emotional functioning (endpoint data)	110
Analysis 1.17. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 17: QoL: Emotional functioning (adjusted data)	111
Analysis 1.18. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 18: QoL: Social functioning (endpoint data)	111
Analysis 1.19. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 19: QoL: Social functioning (adjusted data)	112
Analysis 1.20. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 20: QoL: Treatment burden (endpoint data)	112
Analysis 1.21. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 21: QoL: Treatment burden (adjusted data)	113



Analysis 1.22. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 22: QoL: Role limitations (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.23. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 23: QoL: Role limitations (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.24. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 24: QoL: Body image (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.25. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 25: QoL: Body image (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.26. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care. Outcome 26: OoL: Vitality (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.27. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 27: OoL: Vitality (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.28. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 28: QoL: Eating disturbance (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.29. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 29: QoL: Eating disturbance (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.30. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 30: QoL: Weight problems (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.31. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 31: QoL: Weight problems (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.32. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 32: QoL: Respiratory symptoms (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.33. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 33: QoL: Respiratory symptoms (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.34. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 34: QoL: Digestive symptoms (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.35. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 35: QoL: Digestive symptoms (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.36. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 36: QoL: Health perceptions (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.37. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 37: QoL: Health perceptions (adjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.38. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 38: QoL: Treatment issues (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.39. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 39: QoL: Career concerns (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.40. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 40: QoL: Interpersonal relationships (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.41. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 41: QoL: Concerns for the future (endpoint data)	1
Analysis 1.42. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 42: FEV1 % predicted (endpoint data) Analysis 1.43. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 43: FEV1 % predicted (adjusted mean difference)	1 1
Analysis 1.44. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 44: Number of pulmonary exacerbations	1
Analysis 1.45. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 45: Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (unadjusted data)	1
Analysis 1.46. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 46: Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (adjusted data)	1
DITIONAL TABLES	1
PENDICES	1
TORY	1
NTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	1
CLARATIONS OF INTEREST	1
JRCES OF SUPPORT	
FERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	
EX TERMS	1

# Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis

Sophie Dawson<sup>1,2</sup>, Carla-Jane Girling<sup>3</sup>, Lisa Cowap<sup>2</sup>, David Clark-Carter<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Wolfson Cystic Fibrosis Centre, Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust, Nottingham, UK. <sup>2</sup>Staffordshire Centre for Psychological Research, School of Health, Science and Wellbeing, Staffordshire University, Stoke-on-Trent, UK. <sup>3</sup>Sheffield Clinical Trials Research Unit, ScHARR, University of Sheffield, Innovation Centre, Sheffield, UK

Contact: Sophie Dawson, Sophie.Dawson@nuh.nhs.uk.

**Editorial group:** Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 3, 2023.

**Citation:** Dawson S, Girling C-J, Cowap L, Clark-Carter D. Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD013766. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013766.pub2.

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

# ABSTRACT

#### Background

Adherence to treatment, including inhaled therapies, is low in people with cystic fibrosis (CF). Although psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF have been developed, no previous published systematic review has evaluated the evidence for efficacy of these interventions.

#### Objectives

The primary objective of the review was to assess the efficacy of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (CF). The secondary objective was to establish the most effective components, or behaviour change techniques (BCTs), used in these interventions.

# Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register, which is compiled from electronic database searches and handsearching of journals and conference abstract books.

We also searched databases (PubMed; PsycINFO; EBSCO; Scopus; OpenGrey), trials registries (World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform; US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov), and the reference lists of relevant articles and reviews, with no restrictions on language, year or publication status.

Date of search: 7 August 2022.

# Selection criteria

We included randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comparing different types of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF of any age, or comparing psychological interventions with usual care. We included quasi-RCTs if we could reasonably assume that the baseline characteristics were similar in both groups.

#### Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently assessed trial eligibility and completed data extraction, risk of bias assessments, and BCT coding (using the BCT Taxonomy v1) for all included trials. We resolved any discrepancies by discussion, or by consultation with a third review author as necessary. We assessed the certainty of the evidence using GRADE.

Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#### **Main results**

We included 10 trials (1642 participants) in the review (children and adolescents in four trials; adults in five trials; and children and adults in one trial). Nine trials compared a psychological intervention with usual care; we could combine data from some of these in a number of quantitative analyses. One trial compared a psychological intervention with an active comparator (education plus problem-solving (EPS)). We identified five ongoing trials.

Psychological interventions were generally multi-component and complex, containing an average of 9.6 BCTs (range 1 to 28). The two most commonly used BCTs included 'problem-solving' and 'instruction on how to perform the behaviour'. Interventions varied in their type, content and mode of delivery. They included a problem-solving intervention; a paper-based self-management workbook; a telehealth intervention; a group training programme; a digital intervention comprising medication reminders and lung function self-monitoring; a life-coaching intervention; a motivational interviewing (MI) intervention; a brief MI intervention (behaviour change counselling); and a digital intervention combined with behaviour change sessions. Intervention duration ranged from 10 weeks to 12 months. Assessment time points ranged from six to eight weeks up to 23 months.

#### Psychological interventions compared with usual care

We report data here for the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point. We found that psychological interventions probably improve adherence to inhaled therapies (primary outcome) in people with CF compared with usual care (mean difference (MD) 9.5, 95% confidence interval (CI) 8.60 to 10.40; 1 study, 588 participants; moderate-certainty evidence). There was no evidence of a difference between groups in our second primary outcome, treatment-related adverse events: anxiety (MD 0.30, 95% CI -0.40 to 1.00; 1 study, 535 participants), or depression (MD -0.10, 95% CI -0.80 to 0.60; 1 study, 534 participants), although this was low-certainty evidence. For our secondary outcomes, there was no evidence of a difference between groups in terms of lung function (forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) % predicted MD 1.40, 95% CI -0.20 to 3.00; 1 study, 556 participants; moderate-certainty evidence); number of pulmonary exacerbations (adjusted rate ratio 0.96, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.11; 1 study, 607 participants; moderate-certainty evidence); or respiratory symptoms (MD 0.70, 95% CI -2.40 to 3.80; 1 study, 534 participants; low-certainty evidence). However, psychological interventions may improve treatment burden (MD 3.90, 95% CI 1.20 to 6.60; 1 study, 539 participants; low-certainty evidence). The overall certainty of the evidence ranged from low to moderate across these outcomes. Reasons for downgrading included indirectness (current evidence included adults only whereas our review question was broader and focused on people of any age) and lack of blinding of outcome assessors.

#### Psychological interventions compared with an active comparator

For this comparison the overall certainty of evidence was very low, based on one trial (n = 128) comparing an MI intervention to EPS for 12 months. We are uncertain whether an MI intervention, compared with EPS, improves adherence to inhaled therapies, lung function, or quality of life in people with CF, or whether there is an effect on pulmonary exacerbations. The included trial for this comparison did not report on treatment-related adverse events (anxiety and depression). We downgraded all reported outcomes due to small participant numbers, indirectness (trials included only adults), and unclear risk of bias (e.g. selection and attrition bias).

# **Authors' conclusions**

Due to the limited quantity of trials included in this review, as well as the clinical and methodological heterogeneity, it was not possible to identify an overall intervention effect using meta-analysis. Some moderate-certainty evidence suggests that psychological interventions (compared with usual care) probably improve adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF, without increasing treatment-related adverse events, anxiety and depression (low-certainty evidence). In future review updates (with ongoing trial results included), we hope to be able to establish the most effective BCTs (or 'active ingredients') of interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF.

Wherever possible, investigators should make use of the most objective measures of adherence available (e.g. data-logging nebulisers) to accurately determine intervention effects. Outcome reporting needs to be improved to enable combining or separation of measures as appropriate. Likewise, trial reporting needs to include details of intervention content (e.g. BCTs used); duration; intensity; and fidelity. Large trials with a longer follow-up period (e.g. 12 months) are needed in children with CF. Additionally, more research is needed to determine how to support adherence in 'under-served' CF populations.

# PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

# Psychological interventions to help people with cystic fibrosis take their inhaled treatments

#### **Key messages**

Psychological interventions are designed to help people modify their thoughts, feelings and behaviours.

We think that psychological interventions are probably better than usual care at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments, and may cause little or no harm (e.g. anxiety or depression) when measured six to 12 months after treatment.



We are uncertain whether motivational interviewing (MI) was better or worse than education plus problem-solving (EPS) at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments.

#### Background

CF is a chronic, genetic condition, usually diagnosed at birth through newborn screening. People with CF experience recurrent chest infections due to the build-up of thick, sticky mucus (or sputum) in their lungs and digestive systems. Inhaled treatments are usually prescribed to either thin sputum (making it easier to clear or cough up), or to treat and control bacteria in the lungs (to reduce infections).

People living with any long-term health condition often struggle to take the number of treatments they are prescribed, and this is no different in CF.

#### What did we want to find out?

Can psychological interventions help people with CF to take their inhaled treatments, and are there any harmful or unwanted effects of these interventions (e.g. anxiety or depression)?

Which techniques (e.g. goal-setting, problem-solving) work best at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments?

#### What did we do?

We searched for studies comparing different types of psychological interventions, or comparing the interventions with usual care, for helping people with CF of any age to take their inhaled treatments.

We compared and summarised the results of the trials and rated our confidence in the evidence, based on factors such as the trial methods.

#### What did we find?

We included 10 trials with 1642 people with CF (approximately 54.3% female). Four trials included children and adolescents; five trials included adults; and one trial included both. Nine trials compared a psychological intervention with usual care, and one study compared two psychological interventions (MI versus EPS). People (or in one trial, CF centres) were randomly selected for one group or the other. People were followed up for between six to eight weeks and 23 months.

Psychological interventions were wide-ranging. They included an intervention that combined digital technology (website or app) with support from trained healthcare professionals. Interventions used a range of techniques, with problem-solving and providing instructions on how to take treatments being the most commonly used.

#### **Main results**

Psychological interventions are probably better than usual care at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments, and may cause little or no harm (e.g. anxiety or depression) when measured six to 12 months after treatment. Psychological interventions may also improve perceived treatment burden (as measured using a quality of life (QoL) questionnaire). There was no evidence of a difference between groups in terms of lung function (a measure of how well someone's lungs are working), the number of chest infections, or perceived chest symptoms (again measured using a QoL questionnaire).

We are uncertain whether MI was better or worse than EPS at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments, improving lung function or QoL, or reducing chest infections in people with CF. The included trial did not look at whether MI or EPS caused harm (e.g. anxiety or depression).

#### What are the limitations of the evidence?

Our confidence in the evidence for psychological interventions being better or worse than usual care ranges from low to moderate. The biggest included trial of psychological interventions (which had results from between six and 12 months after treatment started) focused on adults with CF (aged 16 years and over), whereas the question we wanted to answer was broader (i.e. we cannot be sure if the results would be the same in children). Large trials with a longer follow-up period (e.g. 12 months) are needed in children with CF. It is possible that because people completing the outcome assessments knew which group they were in, this might affect the results for QoL, anxiety and depression.

We are not confident in the evidence comparing MI with EPS. The only trial examining this included a small number of adults, so we cannot be sure if the results would be the same in children or in a larger group of people. We are unsure whether participants were put into the different treatment groups truly at random, so differences between the groups might be due to differences between people rather than the treatments. We are also unsure about people leaving the trial early and how this might affect the results. We also think that because the people completing the outcome assessments knew which group they were in, this might affect the QoL results.

Current evidence on which techniques (e.g. goal-setting, problem-solving) work best at helping people with CF to take their inhaled treatments is limited. Future trials should provide more details on the techniques used in interventions.

Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



# How up to date is this evidence?

The evidence is up to date to 7 August 2022.

# SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

# Summary of findings 1. Summary of findings: psychological interventions compared with usual care

# Psychological interventions compared with usual care for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF

Patient or population: children, adolescents or adults with CF

Settings: single or multicentre; UK-, USA- or Denmark-based; hospital, clinic or community

**Intervention**: psychological interventions (self-management intervention comprising digital platform and behaviour change sessions; life coaching intervention; problem-solving intervention)

Comparison: usual care

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	No. of partici- pants (studies)	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk				
	Usual care	Psychological interventions				
Adherence to inhaled ther- apies: % of prescribed in- haled thera- pies taken Follow-up: 12 months	The adjusted mea inhaled therapies higher in the inter compared to usua	an % of prescribed taken was 9.50% rvention group al care.	MD 9.50 (8.60 to 10.40)	588 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ moderate <sup>a,b</sup>	An objective recorded measure (using data-logging neb- ulisers) where a higher score indicates higher adher- ence. We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data <sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022).
Treatment-re- lated adverse events Anxiety: GAD-7 (Spitzer 2006) Follow-up: 12 months	The adjusted mea was 0.3 higher in t group compared t	an anxiety score the intervention to usual care.	MD 0.30 (-0.40 to 1.00)	535 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ low <sup>b,d</sup>	We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data <sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022). Scale from: 0 to 21 (higher score indicates greater anxi- ety). No evidence of treatment-related adverse events.

Treatment-re- lated adverse events Depression PHQ-8 (Kroenke 2009) Follow-up: 12 months	The adjusted mean depression score was 0.10 lower in the inter- vention group compared to usual care.	MD -0.10 (-0.80 to 0.60)	534 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ low <sup>b,d</sup>	<ul> <li>We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data<sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022).</li> <li>Scale from: 0 to 24 (higher score indicates greater depression).</li> <li>No evidence of treatment-related adverse events.</li> <li>One other study assessed depression using 2 measures at this time point (Knudsen 2016). This study also found no difference between groups on any depression measure.</li> </ul>
<b>QoL</b> CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) Follow-up: 12 months	<b>Treatment burden</b> The adjusted mean treatment bur- den score was 3.90 higher in the in- tervention group compared to usu- al care.	MD 3.90 (1.20 to 6.60)	539 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ low <sup>b,d</sup>	We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data <sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022). Scale from: 0 to 100 (higher score indicates better QoL). 2 other studies assessed treatment burden at this time point (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019). These 2 studies found no difference between groups.
	<b>Respiratory symptoms</b> The adjusted mean score for res- piratory symptoms was 0.70 high- er in the intervention group com- pared to usual care.	MD 0.70 (-2.40 to 3.80)	534 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊝⊝ [ow <sup>b,d</sup>	We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data <sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022). Scale from: 0 to 100 (higher score indicates better QoL). No difference between groups. 2 other studies assessed respiratory symptoms at this time point (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019). These 2 stud- ies also found no difference between groups.
Lung function FEV <sub>1</sub> % predict- ed Follow-up: 12 months	The adjusted mean FEV <sub>1</sub> score was 1.40% predicted higher in the intervention group compared to usual care.	MD 1.40 (-0.20 to 3.00)	556 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ moderate <sup>a,b</sup>	<ul> <li>We report an adjusted MD; adjusted data<sup>c</sup> taken directly from the study (Wildman 2022).</li> <li>A higher score indicates better lung function.</li> <li>No difference between groups.</li> <li>2 other studies assessed FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted at this time point (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019). Post-intervention data were not available in 1 study, so results have been reported narratively (Quittner 2019); no intervention effects were found for any of the secondary outcomes compared to usual care (and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted was a</li> </ul>

6

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

					secondary outcome). The other study also found no difference between groups (Knudsen 2016).
Pulmonary ex- acerbations Follow-up: 12 months	In one trial, there were 526 exac- erbations in the control arm (ad- justed rate 1.77/year, n = 303) com- pared with 482 in the intervention arm (1.63/year, n = 304). There was no difference between groups in exacerbation incidence rates (ad- justed <sup>e</sup> RR 0.96, 95% CI 0.83 to 1.11; unadjusted RR 0.92, 95% CI 0.77 to 1.10) (Wildman 2022).	Not estimable	607 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊕⊕⊝ moderate <sup>a,b</sup>	In this study, pulmonary exacerbations were defined as "Number of exacerbations treated with IV antibi- otics with at least 1 modified Fuchs' criteria (e.g. change in sputum, increased cough) (Ratjen 2012)." The au- thors reported that incidence RRs indicated no be- tween-group difference in exacerbations (MD 0.96 (95% CI 0.83 to 1.12); P = 0.64) (Wildman 2022). One other study assessed pulmonary exacerbations at this time point (Quittner 2019). Post-intervention data were not available in this study and results have been reported narratively. It was also unclear how this study defined exacerbations. The authors did however report that no intervention effect was found for pulmonary ex- acerbations (Quittner 2019).
*The basis for the risk in the compar- CF: cystic fibrosis; iety Disorder-7 (Sp GRADE Working G High certainty: w Moderate certain substantially diffe Low certainty: or Very low certain	e assumed risk (e.g. the median control rison group and the relative effect of th ; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-F pitzer 2006); IV: intravenous; MD: mean Group grades of evidence we are very confident that the true effect <b>nty</b> : we are moderately confident in the erent. ur confidence in the effect estimate is li <b>ty</b> : we have very little confidence in the	group risk across s e intervention (and Revised (Quittner 2 difference; PHQ-8: t lies close to that o e effect estimate: th mited: the true effe e effect estimate: th	tudies) is provided d its 95% CI). 009); CI: confidence : Patient Health Que of the estimate of th ne true effect is likel ect may be substam ne true effect is likel	in footnotes. The c interval; FEV <sub>1</sub> : for estionnaire-8 (Kroe he effect. y to be close to the cially different fron y to be substantial	corresponding risk (and its 95% CI) is based on the assumed reced expiratory volume at 1 second; GAD-7: Generalized Anx- enke 2009); QoL: quality of life; RR: rate ratio.
<sup>a</sup> Non-blinding of or <sup>b</sup> Downgraded once review. <sup>c</sup> The post-interven <sup>d</sup> Downgraded once <sup>e</sup> The post-interven	utcome assessors would not affect the e due to indirectness. The evidence incl tion MDs are adjusted for past year IV a e due to unclear risk of detection bias, a tion MDs are adjusted for CF centre and	results as it is an ol ludes only adults w ntibiotic days, CF c Is outcome assesso I past year IV antibi	ojective measure, so vith CF aged 16 year entre, and outcome ors were not blinded otic days.	no need to down s and older, and w measure at baseli	grade. vas not designed to answer the specific question posed in this ine.
Summary of find	lings 2. Summary of findings: ps	ychological inte	rventions compa	red with an act	ive comparator

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health. Settings: single CF centre in the USA

**Intervention**: psychological intervention (MI)

**Comparison**: active comparator (EPS)

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	No. of Partici- pants (studies)	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk		(studies)	(GRADE)	
	Active com- parator (EPS)	Psychological intervention (MI)				
Adherence to inhaled thera- pies cMPR	Please see comm	ents.		95 participants (1 study)	⊕⊙⊝⊝ very low <sup>a,b,c</sup>	An objective-count measure (cMPR), which included in- haled therapies (dornase alfa, hypertonic saline, inhaled tobramycin, and aztreonam), as well as one non-inhaled treatment (azithromycin).
Follow-up: 12 months						This study reported only medians and IQRs (Riekert 2013). At 12 months, median (IQR) cMPR was 54 (37 to 73) in the MI group, compared with 51 (17 to 71) in the EPS group. The study authors also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that no intervention effects were found for the cMPR (P = 0.763; no effect size reported or calculable) or any of the individual drugs.
Treatment-re- lated adverse events	Not reported.					
Anxiety						
Treatment-re- lated adverse events	Not reported.					
Depression	Depression					
QoL	Please see comments.			95 participants	000	Scale from: 0 to 100 (higher score indicates better QoL)
CFQ-R (Quittner 2009)				(1 study)	very low <sup>a,b,d</sup>	This study reported only medians and IQRs for QoL, measured using 3 domains of the CFQ-R (respiratory,

Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)	Follow-up: 12 months				physical functioning, and treatment burden) (Riekert 2013). At 12 months, median (IQR) score was 67 (50 to 83) in the MI group and 67 (50 to 72) in the EPS group (respiratory); 79 (60 to 96) in the MI group and 79 (54 to 96) in the EPS group (physical functioning); and 56 (44 to 67) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 78) in the EPS group (treatment burden). The investigators also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that no intervention effects were found for QoL at this time point.
	<b>Lung function</b> FEV <sub>1</sub> % predict- ed Follow-up: 12 months	Please see comments.	125 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊙⊝⊝ very low <sup>a,b,c</sup>	A higher score indicates better lung function. This study reported only medians and IQRs (Riekert 2013). At 12 months, median (IQR) FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted was 66% (48 to 85%) in the MI group and 64% (49 to 84%) in the EPS group. The authors also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they re- ported that the intervention had no effect on lung func- tion (P = 0.773; no effect size reported or calculable).
	Pulmonary ex- acerbations Follow-up: 12 months	Please see comments.	128 partici- pants (1 study)	⊕⊙⊝⊝ very low <sup>a,b,c</sup>	This study reported the percentage of people in each group with at least 1 exacerbation in the past year (Riek- ert 2013). Method of assessing exacerbations not report- ed. We calculated the number of participants in each group who had experienced an exacerbation over the 12-month study period. In the MI group, 12 out of 63 par- ticipants (19%) experienced an exacerbation compared with 12 out of 65 (18%) in the EPS group. The study au- thors also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that the inter- vention had no effect on pulmonary exacerbations (P = 0.929; no effect size reported or calculable).

\*The basis for the assumed risk (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The corresponding risk (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CF: cystic fibrosis; CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (Quittner 2009); cMPR: composite medication possession ratio; EPS: education plus problem-solving; FEV<sub>1</sub>: forced expiratory volume at 1 second; IQR: interquartile range; MI: motivational interviewing; QoL: quality of life.

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

**Moderate certainty**: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

9

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

ibrary

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health. Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect. Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

<sup>a</sup>Downgraded once for imprecision; relatively small participant numbers which do not meet the optimal information size.

<sup>b</sup>Downgraded once due to indirectness. The evidence includes only adults with CF aged 16 years and older, and was not designed to answer the specific question posed in this review.

<sup>c</sup>Downgraded once due to unclear risk of selection bias and attrition bias.

<sup>d</sup>Downgraded once due to unclear risk of selection bias (not reported), attrition bias (withdrawals not described), and detection bias (outcome assessors not blinded).



# BACKGROUND

# **Description of the condition**

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is a chronic, genetic condition affecting over 10,500 people in the UK (UK CF Registry 2019), 30,000 people in the USA (CF Foundation Patient Registry 2019), and around 90,000 people worldwide (Bell 2020). One in 25 people in the UK carries the faulty gene that causes CF, usually without realising it (Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2019). People with CF are prone to recurrent chest infections, or pulmonary exacerbations, due to the build-up of thick, sticky mucus (or sputum) in their lungs and digestive systems.

Although people with CF are living longer, their life expectancy remains well below average, and the median predicted survival age of someone born with CF in 2018 ranges between 47.3 years in the UK (UK CF Registry 2018), 47.4 years in the USA (CF Foundation Patient Registry 2019), and 52.1 years in Canada (Cystic Fibrosis Canada 2019). As lung disease is the primary cause of morbidity and mortality in people with CF, nebulised medications (or inhaled therapies) are usually prescribed (ECFS Patient Registry 2017), with multiple trials demonstrating their efficacy (Smith 2018; Yang 2018). These treatments are delivered directly to the lungs, thereby reducing side effects, and may include antibiotics to treat or control infections (e.g. tobramycin), mucolytics to thin sputum making it easier to clear (e.g. dornase alfa), and osmotics to draw water into the sputum making it easier to cough up (e.g. hypertonic saline).

Whilst advances in medicine mean that many of the symptoms of CF can be managed effectively, 'effective' management itself requires people living with CF to complete a complex daily treatment regimen, comprising daily chest physiotherapy, pancreatic enzymes, nutritional supplements, and inhaled or nebulised therapies. A minimum of one to three nebulised treatments per day are usually prescribed, depending on an individual's characteristics (Hoo 2016), with treatments taking an average of 41 minutes per day (Sawicki 2009).

Treatments are only effective if they are taken, yet evidence suggests that in high-income countries, only 50% of people with a chronic condition adhere to treatment recommendations (WHO 2003). As with other chronic conditions, low adherence to treatments for CF, including inhaled therapies, is a global problem, with widespread implications for the individual and their family, for CF teams supporting the individual, and for society as a whole. Low adherence to all treatments is associated with an increased number of pulmonary exacerbations requiring intravenous (IV) antibiotics (Eakin 2011) and hospitalisations, which incur higher healthcare costs (Quittner 2014). Two trials have demonstrated the importance of adherence to inhaled therapies on health outcomes, with higher adherence to dornase alfa being associated with a shorter length of hospital stay (Nasr 2013); and individuals collecting four or more courses of nebulised tobramycin per year being 60% less likely to be admitted to hospital than those collecting two or fewer courses (Briesacher 2011).

'Adherence' refers to "the extent to which the patient's behaviour matches *agreed recommendations* from the prescriber" (Horne 2005). This term is more patient-centred and is therefore preferable to the outdated term of 'compliance', which is "the extent to which the individual's behaviour matches the prescriber's recommendations" (Haynes 1979). There are different

methods of measuring adherence, each of which has varying degrees of objectivity and validity. Self-reported measures (e.g. questionnaires and diaries) are inexpensive and easy to administer, but are subject to a range of biases, including social desirability and recall bias (Osterberg 2005). Objective count measures (e.g. medication possession ratio (MPR)) address these biases, but they too are prone to overestimation as they do not guarantee the treatment has been taken (Osterberg 2005). Objective recorded measures (e.g. electronic monitoring devices) are a more accurate, albeit expensive, method of measuring adherence (Osterberg 2005). With the development of data-logging nebulisers (e.g. Ineb Adaptive Aerosol Delivery (AAD) System (Philips Respironics, Chichester, UK) and eFlow<sup>®</sup> rapid nebuliser system and eTrack<sup>®</sup> controller (PARI Pharma GmbH, Starnberg, Germany)) which record time- and date-stamped data, it is possible to measure adherence to inhaled therapies using this method. Trials using objective recorded measures suggest that adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF is around 31% to 36% in adults (Daniels 2011; Hoo 2019; Hoo 2020; Hoo 2021) and 65% to 67% in children or adolescents (Ball 2013; McNamara 2009). The discrepancy between objective and subjective measurement has also been highlighted (Daniels 2011; Modi 2006b; Thorton 2013; Warnock 2020).

# **Description of the intervention**

Interventions that specifically aim to improve adherence to prescribed medications vary widely (Nieuwlaat 2014). Psychological interventions aimed at improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF can therefore take many forms and may be targeted at: people with CF (e.g. patient education, medication reminders, rewards, psychological therapies); their families (e.g. increasing supervision with medication, family therapy); or the multidisciplinary team (MDT) providing specialist care to the person with CF (e.g. training clinicians to communicate more effectively with people with CF). Interventions may be delivered face-to-face, over the phone, or using digital technology (e.g. smartphone applications or 'apps' that include rewards, reminders, or providing feedback on treatment-taking behaviour).

Given the complexity of many adherence interventions tested to date (Nieuwlaat 2014), and the way in which complex interventions are reported or described in the literature, it is often difficult to determine the content, or the 'active ingredients', of effective interventions that bring about change (Michie 2009). These 'active ingredients', or behaviour change techniques (BCTs), are defined as the "observable, replicable and irreducible components of an intervention designed to alter or redirect causal processes that regulate behaviour" (Michie 2013). Often, few details are provided about the BCTs used in interventions, and the terminology used to describe interventions is inconsistent. This makes it difficult to replicate effective interventions, because the core components, or 'active ingredients', are not known, and time and resources are wasted because ineffective techniques continue to be implemented (Michie 2009). This review therefore aims to identify the content, or the 'active ingredients', of interventions, in terms of the BCTs used, in order to establish the most effective components of interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. This will aid understanding of the causal mechanisms underlying adherence behaviour, which will help inform the design of more effective, consistent and cost-effective interventions in the future (Michie 2009). A reliable, consensuallyagreed taxonomy (BCT Taxonomy version 1; BCTTv1) contains 93



BCTs and provides a common language to identify and describe intervention content (Michie 2013). At least two other reviews have used the BCTTv1 to code the BCTs present in complex interventions (Black 2020; Lawrenson 2016). Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF may incorporate one or more BCTs (e.g. 'problem-solving', defined as "analysing, or prompting the person to analyse, factors influencing the behaviour and generating or selecting strategies that include overcoming barriers and/or increasing facilitators" (Michie 2013)).

In this Cochrane Review, we compare interventions to either an active control group or standard care, which usually consists of an annual review or routine reviews (or combination of both) with a specialist CF MDT.

#### How the intervention might work

Reasons for non-adherence are wide-ranging and varied, and understanding these reasons is crucial in order to assist with the development of effective, evidence-based interventions. Previous studies have attempted to understand the factors influencing adherence to treatments in people with CF, and commonly reported reasons include being too busy or not having the time to take treatments, forgetting to take a treatment, and the level of treatment burden (Bregnballe 2011; Dziuban 2010; George 2010; Modi 2006a; Sawicki 2015). Treatment beliefs (e.g. lack of perceived benefit, feeling embarrassed about taking treatments in public, believing it is acceptable to miss treatments) have also been reported to influence adherence to treatments in people with CF (Bregnballe 2011; Bucks 2009; Dziuban 2010; George 2010; Sawicki 2015). This is consistent with the Necessity-Concerns Framework (Horne 1999), which posits that beliefs about the necessity of treatments, and concerns about potential adverse consequences, can influence adherence and non-adherence to treatments across a wide range of conditions and medications (Horne 2013).

Whilst treatment beliefs and concerns (i.e. conscious or reflective motivation) may be an important influence on treatment-taking, it is also important to consider the role of automatic motivation influences, with recent trials highlighting the role of habit (i.e. "automatically experiencing an urge to use a nebuliser"; Hoo 2019a) on adherence to inhaled therapies in adults with CF (Arden 2019; Hoo 2017; Hoo 2019a). Objective adherence data, collected using date- and time-logging nebulisers, have demonstrated that, amongst adolescents with CF, adherence to inhaled therapies is greater on school days compared to weekends or holidays (Ball 2013), despite this being a time when adolescents are likely to be busiest and are therefore more susceptible to miss treatments due to burden (Hoo 2017).

Given the complexity and multifactorial nature of adherence, interventions aimed at improving adherence to inhaled therapies are likely to be complex, or contain several interacting components (Craig 2008). A 'one size fits all' intervention is therefore unlikely to be effective, as it will need to address issues of capability, opportunity, and motivation (Arden 2019), as highlighted in the Capability, Opportunity, Motivation, and Behaviour (COM-B) model of behaviour (Michie 2011). Interventions may include reminders or alarms to target forgetting, but evidence for the efficacy of reminders on adherence is limited (Choudhry 2017). Although forgetting is often understood to be 'unintentional' non-adherence, it may be given as a reason to justify 'intentional' non-adherence (Arden 2019; Drabble 2019; George 2010), in a more socially

acceptable way (Drabble 2019). Interventions may target the individual's or family members' (e.g. parent/ caregiver) beliefs about the necessity of treatments, and concerns about potential adverse consequences, through psycho-education or problemsolving. They may also focus on supporting people with CF to develop routines and build habits for treatment-taking, e.g. through the use of action planning. Feedback on treatment-taking behaviour may be provided (Demonceau 2013), and interventions may include people with CF self-monitoring their adherence to inhaled therapies, e.g. using chipped nebulisers and digital technology applications. Healthcare professionals also have an important role in supporting adherence to inhaled therapies in adults with CF (Arden 2019). National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines recommend the use of a non-judgemental approach which involves asking open questions and not making assumptions, to promote open and honest conversations in relation to adherence (NICE 2009). Interventions may therefore involve training CF MDT members to communicate more effectively with individuals in relation to adherence, or teaching healthcare professionals how to address necessity beliefs and concerns during consultations (Chapman 2015).

#### Why it is important to do this review

A previous Cochrane Review concluded that establishing "effective ways to help people follow medical treatments could have far larger effects on health than any treatment itself" (Haynes 2002). Furthermore, "simplifying the treatment burden" and "improving and sustaining adherence to treatment" have been identified as two of the top 10 CF research priorities in the James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership (Davies 2020; Rowbotham 2018). Adherence research has also been identified as a high priority by the World Health Organization (WHO 2008). Despite this, there have been no previously published systematic reviews to assess the efficacy of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. A previous Cochrane Review protocol that focused on adherence to all treatments in CF was withdrawn (Jones 2015). The current Cochrane Review provides a more detailed focus on CF than general adherence reviews (Nieuwlaat 2014), and expands upon other CF reviews focused on self-management interventions (Savage 2014), and psychological interventions for improving a range of outcomes (Goldbeck 2014). We coded interventions in order to establish which BCTs are most effective at improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. By identifying the 'active ingredients' of interventions, the results of this review will help researchers, intervention designers and clinicians better support people with CF in adhering to their treatments. By focusing on inhaled therapies, this review complements other reviews planned or produced by the group on the theme of adherence (Jones 2020; Smith 2020).

## OBJECTIVES

The primary objective of the review was to assess the efficacy of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (CF). The secondary objective was to establish the most effective components, or behaviour change techniques (BCTs), used in these interventions.



# METHODS

# Criteria for considering studies for this review

#### **Types of studies**

We included randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and one quasi-RCT (as we could reasonably assume that the baseline characteristics were similar in both groups). We included RCTs of parallel design and one cluster-RCT. If cross-over RCTs had been identified, we planned to include first-period data only from these trials due to the likely carry-over effects of the intervention. We included published and unpublished trials, as well as those published as abstracts only.

# **Types of participants**

We included participants of any age, gender, and ethnicity who had a diagnosis of CF and who were prescribed inhaled therapies (as confirmed in the methodology of each included RCT). We included participants based in either a hospital or community setting. If appropriate, we planned to include trials that enroled participants with CF and participants with other chronic conditions only if there was a distinction made between the different participant groups (so that non-CF participants with other chronic conditions could be excluded from our analyses). We also planned to include MDTs or families of people with CF if they were the target participants of an intervention aimed at improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF.

Given the wide variety of intervention targets included (i.e. children, adolescents and adults with CF, families of people with CF, and specialist CF MDTs), we were aware that it may not be appropriate to combine the results from different populations in statistical analysis.

A previous Cochrane Review highlighted the inclusion bias likely to be present in adherence trials, with many interventions conducted with convenience samples in which participants have higher than average adherence at baseline (Nieuwlaat 2014). This is an important methodological issue to consider as this may reduce the statistical power of an included trial to achieve the primary outcome, as the two groups will be similar (and so more power would be needed to detect a between-group difference, if a difference exists).

#### **Types of interventions**

We aimed to assess all potential psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF as detailed above (Description of the intervention) and which were specifically aimed at people with CF, the families of people with CF, or specialist CF MDTs. We included trials that reported at least one measure of adherence as an outcome.

We used the BCTTv1 to identify the BCTs present in interventions in the included trials (Michie 2013), in order to establish which BCTs were most effective at improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. We also coded the BCTs present in the active control groups, as the content and effectiveness of these interventions may vary considerably (de Bruin 2016).

#### Types of outcome measures

We planned to assess the following outcome measures.

#### **Primary outcomes**

- 1. Adherence to inhaled therapies (measured using both objective and subjective measures)
  - a. objective recorded measures (e.g. electronic monitoring nebuliser devices such as Philips I-neb AAD system and PARI eFlow<sup>®</sup> rapid nebuliser system and eTrack<sup>®</sup> controller which record date- and time-stamped data)
  - b. objective count measures (e.g. MPR)
  - c. subjective measures (e.g. self-reported adherence; questionnaires; participant diaries)
- 2. Treatment-related adverse events
  - a. anxiety as measured by a validated anxiety scale, e.g. Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7; Spitzer 2006)
  - b. depression as measured by a validated depression scale, e.g. Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-8; Kroenke 2009)

We included trials with at least one measure of adherence regardless of whether it was a primary or secondary outcome. If an included trial measured adherence using more than one type of measure, then we reported the most reliable measure (i.e. objective measures preferentially reported over subjective measures, using the hierarchy of validity above). This is consistent with other Cochrane Reviews looking at adherence (Cross 2020; Hollands 2019). We excluded studies that did not measure adherence, even if they measured one or more of the other primary or secondary outcomes.

We expected adherence to be typically defined as a continuous measure (e.g. total number of doses taken as a percentage of the target number of doses prescribed over a given time period). Alternatively, it can be defined as a dichotomous outcome, e.g. reporting whether the treatment is being used to a prespecified degree (e.g. adherent or non-adherent for X number of days; adherence 75% and greater versus less than 75%). However, the often arbitrary cut-off values for distinguishing 'adherence' from 'non-adherence' (Lam 2015) has led to recommendations that research should use measures that are continuous rather than dichotomous (DiMatteo 2002).

Where possible, adherence referred to 'normative adherence', a measure that considers a person's characteristics when defining the minimum required treatment regimen (Hoo 2016). This is in contrast to 'unadjusted adherence', which is where a treatment regimen may be informed by considerations other than treatment effectiveness (e.g. a regimen based on what people with CF feel they can realistically manage rather than a regimen that has been driven by clinical evidence) (Hoo 2016).

#### Secondary outcomes

- 1. Quality of life (QoL) as measured by a validated QoL questionnaire, e.g. Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R; Quittner 2009)
- Lung function (absolute change or percentage change compared to baseline values, or both), measured in forced expiratory volume at one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) L or per cent (%) predicted
- 3. Pulmonary exacerbations (using the measure specified in the methodology of each trial, e.g. modified Fuchs criteria (Bilton 2011))
  - a. number of exacerbations



- b. time to next exacerbation
- c. duration of exacerbations (as measured by the total number of IV antibiotic days)

If outcomes were reported at multiple time points, we extracted data from all time points. To investigate short- and long-term effects, and to reduce the likelihood of missing an effect in trials that reported outcomes at multiple time points, we grouped outcome data into those measured at: up to three months; over three months and up to six months; over six months and up to 12 months; and over 12 months. If trials recorded outcome data at other time points, then we considered examining these as well.

# Search methods for identification of studies

We searched for all relevant published and unpublished trials without restrictions on language, year or publication status.

# **Electronic searches**

The Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group's Information Specialist conducted a search of the Group's Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register for relevant trials using the following terms: treatment adherence OR mental health in CF OR behaviour.

The Cystic Fibrosis Trials Register is compiled from electronic searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (updated with each new issue of the Cochrane Library), weekly searches of MEDLINE, a search of Embase to 1995 and the prospective handsearching of two journals - Pediatric Pulmonology and the Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. Unpublished work is identified by searching the abstract books of three major CF conferences: the International Cystic Fibrosis Conference; the European Cystic Fibrosis Conference. For full details of all searching activities for the register, please see the relevant section of the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group's website.

Date of most recent Register search: 20 September 2022.

In addition, the first review author (SD) searched the following databases:

- PubMed (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/; 1946 to 11 August 2022);
- PsycINFO EBSCO (www.search.ebscohost.com; 1887 to 7 August 2022);
- Scopus (www.elsevier.com/en-gb/solutions/scopus; 1823 to 7 August 2022);
- OpenGrey (www.opengrey.eu/; searched 14 November 2020). As of 1 December 2020, the OpenGrey Repository was discontinued and preserved as a closed archive in the DANS EASY data archive, so this search was not updated.

They also searched the following trials registries:

- World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (WHO ICTRP) (trialsearch.who.int/; searched 14 August 2022);
- US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov; searched 7 August 2022).

See Appendix 1 for details of the search strategies.

#### Searching other resources

We checked the reference lists of included trials and any relevant systematic reviews identified for further references to relevant trials. We contacted leaders and organisations in the field to obtain additional information on relevant trials.

## Data collection and analysis

#### **Selection of studies**

One author (SD) imported the search results onto systematic review screening software (Covidence). Three review authors (SD, LC, CG) used Covidence to independently screen all titles and abstracts identified from the search for their relevance for inclusion in the review. This was based on trial design, types of participants and interventions (as detailed above). Two authors independently screened all titles and abstracts (as first author, SD screened all studies; and LC and CG each screened a proportion of all studies). As two of the review authors (SD, CG) had links with two of the included trials (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), two other review authors (LC, DCC) who had no links with these trials and did not work in CF verified the inclusion of these trials. We tried to obtain full-text publications of those deemed either eligible or potentially eligible, as well as for those where eligibility was unclear. We identified and excluded duplicates and collated multiple reports of the same trial so that each trial, rather than each report, was the unit of interest in the review. After the screening of the titles and abstracts, we independently screened full-text publications and identified trials for inclusion in the review according to the predetermined eligibility criteria. As first author, SD screened all full-text publications, and both LC and CG each screened a proportion of all trials. If we identified non-English trials, we assessed these and, if necessary, planned to translate these with the assistance of a native speaker (e.g. by posting a request on Cochrane TaskExchange). In this review, we obtained one unpublished thesis written in French for full-text screening, which was translated with the assistance of a non-native French speaker. We recorded the reasons for exclusion of trials in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table. Two review authors (SD and LC, or SD and CG) resolved any disagreements regarding the inclusion of a trial by discussion. If necessary, we had planned to consult with a third author (LC or CG) who had not been involved with the screening of that trial.

#### **Data extraction and management**

SD developed a data extraction form using the Cochrane template, which two review authors (SD, CG) piloted, undertaking any amendments as necessary. We extracted the following main sets of data from each included trial:

- 1. trial details (lead author; date);
- 2. methods (trial design and timetable, randomisation, allocation concealment);
- participants (participant condition(s) and demographics, age, gender, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, numbers of participants in each trial arm, trial participant inclusion and exclusion criteria);
- interventions (content and format of interventions, including details of information provided, intervention setting and delivery provider);

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- outcomes (outcome measures, assessment time points, analysis, results);
- 6. additional comments.

Two review authors (SD, CG) independently extracted data and resolved discrepancies through discussion, or through consultation with a third author if necessary (LC). As two of the review authors (SD, CG) had links with two of the included trials (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), they were not involved in data extraction of those trials. Instead, these trials were extracted by the other two review authors (LC, DCC). The lead review author (SD) entered the data into RevMan, with the second review author (CG) checking the accuracy of the data entry (Review Manager 2020).

We coded the extracted intervention descriptions into component BCTs using the BCTTv1, an established taxonomy of 93 BCTs, as a coding framework (Michie 2013). We coded BCTs for each intended recipient; we also coded each intervention separately, including control arms, and coded BCTs as 'present' or 'absent' for each intervention description. As originally described (Michie 2009), and highlighted in a Cochrane Review (Lawrenson 2016), complex behaviour change interventions are often poorly reported, which makes it challenging to identify the intervention content or BCTs used. As such, SD contacted the authors of included trials about the content of their interventions if there was insufficient information available (Michie 2013). We requested additional materials or information that would provide further detail on the content of the intervention (e.g. trial protocol, letters sent to participants, participant information sheets, intervention manuals (Lorencatto 2013)). We coded received materials using the taxonomy in the same manner as for the corresponding published reports. Two review authors (SD, CG) who had both undertaken BCT coding training (BCT Taxonomy 2021) independently conducted BCT coding, resolving discrepancies by discussion or by consultation with a third author (LC) if necessary. Two trials had already been coded by the study authors in the published reports (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), and we made no amendments.

We narratively recorded and reported any results that we were not able to formally analyse in RevMan (Review Manager 2020).

# Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (SD, CG) independently assessed the risk of bias (or methodological quality) for each included trial, with any disagreements resolved by discussion. SD contacted the trial authors for additional information about the trial methods if necessary. As two of the review authors are or were involved with a wider programme of work linked to two included studies (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022) (though not the trials themselves), they were not involved in the risk of bias or GRADE assessments for these trials. Instead, the other two review authors (LC, DCC) assessed their risk of bias. We used the Cochrane risk of bias (RoB 1) tool to assess the following domains: sequence generation or randomisation; allocation concealment; blinding of participants, personnel and outcomes assessors; incomplete outcome data; and selective outcome reporting (Higgins 2017). However, blinding of participants and personnel is typically not possible in trials of psychological interventions. As such, the assessment of blinding only included the outcome assessors. We categorised the overall risk of bias of included trials as low, high, or unclear, according to the criteria specified by Higgins 2017, and presented this (along with a justification for the judgement) in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table.

#### **Measures of treatment effect**

If appropriate (e.g. when interventions, participants and the underlying clinical questions and outcomes were similar enough for pooling to make sense), we had planned to conduct a metaanalysis. When single trials reported multiple trial arms, we had planned to only include the relevant arms. For continuous variables, we calculated mean differences (MDs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs); or standardised mean differences (SMDs) with 95% CIs when the same outcome was measured on different scales. To interpret SMDs, we used Cohen's effect sizes of 0.2 to represent a small effect, 0.5 a moderate effect and 0.8 a large effect (Cohen 1988).

For dichotomous variables, we planned to present risk ratios (RRs) with 95% CIs. For data reported as rates or count data (e.g. number of pulmonary exacerbations), we planned to calculate rate ratios with 95% CIs. As anticipated given the outcome measures listed (e.g. adherence to inhaled therapies; lung function, QoL), most of the data we collected in this review were continuous.

Since most trials reported endpoint data or final scores and only two trials reported the adjusted difference in means between groups (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), we entered both of these in separate analyses in the analysis section of the review (to avoid selective reporting and ensure the most robust (adjusted) data were presented where available). Change from baseline was presented in one trial (Hind 2017), but since this trial also reported adjusted data which takes baseline into account, we favoured use of the adjusted data.

We narratively described any skewed data reported as medians and ranges.

As detailed in the review protocol (Dawson 2020), if an included trial measured adherence using more than one type of measure, then we reported the most reliable measure (i.e. objective measures preferentially reported over subjective measures, using the hierarchy of validity listed in the 'Types of outcome measures' section).

#### Unit of analysis issues

For cluster-RCTs, we planned to only include data in the metaanalyses if the available data had been adjusted to account for the clustering (or could be adjusted, based on recommendations (Higgins 2022)). We identified a single cluster-RCT (Quittner 2019), and the authors reported that they used generalised estimating equations to account for clustering within sites. The results of this study were quite difficult to interpret, and we were unable to access additional data despite repeated attempts to contact the trial authors. Two outcomes (exacerbations and lung function) were reported at baseline only; the only results we could interpret were absolute post-treatment mean scores for each QoL domain, which we included in the analyses as if they were from a parallel trial where the unit of analysis is the participant.

If we had identified any cross-over RCTs, we planned to include data from the first period only as we cannot exclude a carry-over effect of the intervention.



If trials reported multiple measurements or observations from each participant for the same outcome (e.g. if data from two measures of depression were reported for each participant), to avoid doublecounting of participants or selectively choosing an outcome to report, we presented the data for each measure with no totals or summary statistics for each outcome (added post hoc). In addition, if trials assessed an outcome using a measure that was completed independently by both children/adolescents with CF and parents/ caregivers of people with CF (e.g. a child and parent/caregiver score for the same outcome were reported), we included data from the children and adolescents with CF only, to avoid double-counting of participants (added post hoc).

#### Dealing with missing data

If data (e.g. descriptive statistics) were missing from the included trials, one author (SD) attempted contact with the original trial authors (by email) to obtain these data. In future updates, if data such as standard deviations (SDs) are missing, where appropriate, we will calculate these from standard errors (SEs), CIs, t-values or P values (if reported) (Deeks 2022).

# Assessment of heterogeneity

We planned to assess clinical and methodological heterogeneity by considering the variation in the characteristics of the participants, interventions, outcomes and trial designs. We planned to visually inspect forest plots and use the Chi<sup>2</sup> test and the I<sup>2</sup> statistic to measure heterogeneity among the trials included in each analysis (with an I<sup>2</sup> value greater than 50% considered to represent substantial heterogeneity (Higgins 2017)). Due to a lack of data, we were only able to combine limited results from different trials in a small number of analyses; therefore, we have not formally assessed heterogeneity in this version of the review.

#### Assessment of reporting biases

We used a comprehensive search strategy, which included searching for unpublished trials (grey literature) and searching trials registers (see 'Search methods for identification of studies') to minimise reporting biases. If data were not reported or published in full, the first review author (SD) contacted the trial authors to try to obtain the full data, or the reason for not publishing these data. Although not possible in this review, in future updates, if we are able to pool more than 10 trials in a meta-analysis, we will use funnel plots to assess the possibility of publication bias (Page 2022).

#### **Data synthesis**

Although we have entered data into the 'Data and analyses' section of the review, it is not currently possible to identify an overall intervention effect using meta-analysis due to the substantial level of heterogeneity present in the included trials, in terms of participants (age), interventions (content and mode of delivery), and outcomes (measures, number and range of assessment time points). As such, we have presented a narrative synthesis of the 10 included trials and have combined the limited results from nine trials in a small number of quantitative analyses. As specified in the protocol (Dawson 2020), we used a random-effects model as we assumed that there would be variation between studies (e.g. in terms of participants, interventions and outcomes). For future updates, if trials are sufficiently similar in terms of participants, eligibility criteria, interventions (type and intent) and outcomes (including the timeframe of follow-up and type of measure used), we will consider meta-analysis as described above (Assessment of heterogeneity). If appropriate, we will perform a sensitivity analysis using a fixed-effect model.

#### Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

For future updates, if sufficient data are available, we will conduct subgroup analyses with respect to:

- 1. the target intervention participants (e.g. children and adolescents with CF; adults with CF; families of people with CF; or MDTs). In trials that include participants with a range of ages (i.e. children and adolescents or adults or unspecified), we will classify adults with CF as 18 years and over, and children and adolescents with CF as under 18 years of age;
- studies that focus on adherence to multiple CF treatments (i.e. a combination of inhaled and non-inhaled therapies) compared to those that focus on inhaled therapies only (added post hoc); and
- 3. the BCTs used.

We planned to investigate the impact of type and number of BCTs on effect size by meta-regression, but this was not possible due to the limited number of included trials in the review.

#### Sensitivity analysis

We did not undertake any sensitivity analyses in this version of the review. If sufficient data had been available, we would have undertaken sensitivity analyses to assess the robustness of the results by excluding trials with an unclear or high risk of overall bias. This may have involved excluding trials in which adherence was measured using subjective methods (e.g. self-reported adherence; questionnaires; participant diaries). We will consider this in future updates.

# Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We developed a summary of findings table for each comparison presented in the review (psychological interventions versus usual care: Summary of findings 1; and psychological interventions versus active comparator group (e.g. education plus problemsolving; EPS): Summary of findings 2) using the following outcomes at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point:

- 1. adherence to inhaled therapies (% completed treatments) (we planned to report using SMD for all results combined from six to 12 months, but since only one trial was included for this outcome in Summary of findings 1, we instead reported using MD);
- change from baseline in anxiety (as measured by a validated anxiety scale, e.g. GAD-7 (Spitzer 2006));
- change from baseline in depression (as measured by a validated depression scale, e.g. PHQ-8 (Kroenke 2009));
- change from baseline in QoL (as measured by a validated QoL questionnaire, e.g. CFQ-R (Quittner 2009));
- 5. change from baseline in  $FEV_1$  % predicted;
- 6. number of pulmonary exacerbations, as measured using the measure specified in the methodology of each trial, e.g. modified Fuchs criteria (Bilton 2011).



We used the five GRADE considerations (risk of bias, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the certainty of the body of evidence for each outcome, and to draw conclusions about the certainty of evidence in the review (Schünemann 2022).

# RESULTS

### **Description of studies**

For further details, please see the tables: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies; and Characteristics of ongoing studies.

# **Results of the search**

We identified a total of 5551 trials (5716 references) through our electronic search strategies (Appendix 1). We identified a further

five records through other sources (e.g. checking the reference lists of included trials). After removing 2566 duplicate references, we screened the titles and abstracts of the remaining 3155 references. From these, we identified 84 trials (192 references) as potentially eligible for inclusion and obtained the full-texts (including clinical trial register records and conference abstracts). We excluded 69 trials (114 references) which did not meet the inclusion criteria, and have listed five trials (nine references) as ongoing (Jirasek 2022; Phan 2021; O'Hayer 2019; Thee 2021; White 2017). This leaves 10 trials (69 references) for inclusion in this review (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). Nine of these 10 trials could also be included in limited quantitative syntheses (meta-analyses) (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). We have shown the details of the selection process in a PRISMA diagram (Figure 1).



# Figure 1. Study flow diagram.





# Figure 1. (Continued)



#### **Included studies**

Eight of the 10 trials included in this review (published between 1996 and 2021) were available as full-texts published in peerreviewed journals (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). The results of one trial were reported in a symposium summary only (Riekert 2013), and one trial was reported in a PhD thesis and a conference abstract (Quinn 2004). Further information on the included trials is provided in the table 'Characteristics of included studies'.

## **Trial design**

Nine RCTs used a parallel design (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022) and one was a cluster-RCT (Quittner 2019). The Gur 2016 trial was a quasi-RCT as participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention and control group, but from baseline data provided by the trial authors, we could reasonably assume that the baseline characteristics were similar in both groups.

Six trials were single-centre (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017), and four trials were multicentre (Downs 2006; Hind 2017; Quittner 2019; Wildman 2022). Three trials were conducted in the UK (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), four in the USA (Cottrell 1996; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017), one in Denmark (Knudsen 2016), one in Israel (Gur 2016), and one in Australia (Downs 2006).

## Participants

A total of 1642 participants (approximately 54.3% female) were recruited and randomised across the 10 trials. The number of participants recruited in each trial ranged from five (Shakkottai 2017) to 641 (Quittner 2019). All interventions targeted people with CF (or caregiver/parent-child dyads). No interventions specifically included MDTs or families of people with CF as the target participants of an intervention aimed at improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF.

One trial included 18 participants aged eight years and over (Gur 2016). Four trials (745 participants) included only children or adolescents: one trial included five participants aged 10 to 14 years (Shakkottai 2017); one trial included 34 participants aged 8 to 18 years (Cottrell 1996); one trial included 641 participants aged 11 to 20 years (Quittner 2019); and one trial included 65 caregiver/parent-

child dyads where the children were aged 6 to 11 years (Downs 2006).

Five trials (879 participants) included only adults with CF: three trials included 800 participants aged 16 years and older (Hind 2017; Riekert 2013; Wildman 2022); one trial included 40 adults aged 18 to 30 years (Knudsen 2016); and one trial randomised 39 adults aged 18 years and older (Quinn 2004).

#### Interventions

All included trials were two-arm RCTs. The types of psychological interventions described were wide-ranging and varied. One trial compared a psychological intervention (motivational interviewing (MI)) to an active comparator or attention control group (education plus problem solving (EPS)) (Riekert 2013). The remaining nine trials compared a psychological intervention (as described below) to a usual care or 'treatment as usual' control group (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022).

Psychological interventions included: a brief MI phone intervention (behaviour change counselling (BCC)) (Quinn 2004); a clinic-based, problem-solving intervention (Quittner 2019); a life-coaching intervention (Knudsen 2016); a telehealth intervention comprising WhatsApp messages and Skype-based video calls (Gur 2016); and a digital intervention involving self-monitoring of lung function and medication reminders delivered by a home spirometer (Shakkottai 2017). Four trials described a 'self-management' intervention (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), although the content and mode of delivery of these interventions varied. One of these interventions included training sessions focused on the nature of CF, principles of self-management, types of medications and their appropriate use etc. (Cottrell 1996); another included a paper-based, self-management intervention completed by the parent or caregiver and child at home (Downs 2006); and two trials described a complex intervention comprising a digital platform (CFHealthHub website and smartphone app) and behaviour change sessions with a trained interventionist (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

In three trials, interventions focused solely on improving adherence to inhaled therapies (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), whereas in two trials, interventions focused on improving adherence to multiple CF treatments, e.g. aerosol treatments and airway clearance techniques (Downs 2006), or inhaled hypertonic saline, dornase alfa and CF multivitamins (Shakkottai 2017). In five trials, interventions were non-specific and focused on improving



adherence to CF treatments in general (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013). In at least three of these trials, participants could choose the focus of the intervention, such as improving adherence to a treatment other than inhaled therapies (Quittner 2019), or on a topic other than adherence (e.g. work-life balance, stress management) (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016).

A range of healthcare professionals delivered the interventions, including psychologists or registered nurses (Cottrell 1996), or a trainee clinical psychologist (Quinn 2004). One intervention was delivered by a certified life coach (Knudsen 2016). Some of the included trials involved delivery of the intervention by one trained professional (Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004). Other interventions were delivered by multiple, trained healthcare professionals or researchers (e.g. registered nurses, physiotherapists, social workers, psychologists, research co-ordinators etc.) (Hind 2017; Quittner 2019; Wildman 2022), where there is likely to be more variation in terms of fidelity of the intervention.

The mode of intervention delivery varied across trials. Interventions were delivered face-to-face (Cottrell 1996; Quittner 2019), over the telephone (Quinn 2004), or using a combination of face-to-face and telephone sessions (Knudsen 2016; Riekert 2013). Two interventions involved the use of digital technology: home spirometers that also delivered medication reminders (Shakkottai 2017); and a telehealth intervention comprising WhatsApp messages and Skype video calls with members of the CF team (Gur 2016). One intervention was delivered in the form of a paper workbook (Downs 2006), and two trials combined digital technology with face-to-face sessions (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). Most interventions were delivered to participants on a 1:1 or individual basis (Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022), with only one delivered in a group setting (Cottrell 1996).

Intervention duration ranged from 10 weeks (Downs 2006) to 12 months (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Wildman 2022). The 'dose' or intensity of interventions was also wide-ranging and included: six sessions over five months (Hind 2017); six 30-minute Skype video calls and WhatsApp messages sent twice each week over a period of three to six months (Gur 2016); daily medication reminders and weekly home spirometry over a period of three months (Shakkottai 2017); or a workbook chapter per week over a period of 10 weeks (Downs 2006). Two interventions were designed to be brief, comprising four, 10- to 15-minute sessions delivered during clinics over 12 months (Quittner 2019); or up to six fortnightly sessions lasting approximately 15 to 30 minutes each and delivered over three months (Quinn 2004). Two interventions were more intense in the early stages (Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022). One trial scheduled up to 10 coaching sessions (lasting 60 to 90 minutes) to take place every one to two weeks early in the 12month programme and every two to four weeks later on (Knudsen 2016). In the second trial, the intensity of the intervention varied depending on participants' adherence at baseline: participants with over 80% adherence were offered three sessions, with phase reviews every 12 weeks thereafter; participants with 80% or lower adherence followed a 'normal' pathway of six sessions over 12 weeks, with phase reviews every 12 weeks thereafter; and those with low adherence of 25% or less were offered more regular sessions (every six weeks) (Wildman 2022). Additional sessions were also offered if participants requested further support; if adherence decreased by 20% or more in a four-week period; or if participants received IV antibiotics for an exacerbation (Wildman 2022). In two trials, the duration and intensity of the intervention was unclear; either because no details were provided on the scheduling of the two six-hour training sessions (Cottrell 1996), or because it was unclear if the information provided (one clinic session and eight phone sessions over six months) was in reference to the intervention or active comparator arm, or both (Riekert 2013).

Five trials stated that they had conducted fidelity assessments, usually using audio-recordings from intervention sessions (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Wildman 2022). Fidelity assessments are important in psychological intervention trials to assess whether an intervention is delivered as conceived and intended (Song 2010). Two trials provided limited details (Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013). There was also variation in the approaches used, ranging from assessing intervention fidelity for the first session only (Quittner 2019), to assessing a sample of sessions throughout the trial, using two independent reviewers (Wildman 2022).

# Intervention content in terms of BCTs (coded using the BCT Taxonomy)

Overall, we identified 41 out of the possible 93 BCTs (44.1%) across all trials (drawn from 15 out of the 16 different categories of BCTs within the taxonomy). Interventions were generally multicomponent or complex, and contained an average of 9.6 BCTs. The minimum number of BCTs used in an intervention was one (Knudsen 2016) and the maximum number was 28 (Downs 2006). The BCTs used most frequently included '1.2 Problem solving' (coded in seven trials); '4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour' (coded in five trials); and '3.1 Social support (unspecified)', '5.1 Information about health consequences', '7.1 Prompts/cues', '9.1 Credible source', and '12.5 Adding objects to the environment' (each coded in four trials). The remaining BCTs were coded in three trials or fewer.

The nine trials provided no description of the 'usual care' comparator, which precluded BCT coding of the control groups (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). One trial compared a psychological intervention (MI) with an active comparator intervention (EPS) (Riekert 2013). BCTs were coded in both of these groups, and there was no overlap of the four BCTs used in the intervention group ('2.2 Feedback on behaviour'; 'Feedback on outcome(s) of behaviour'; '3.1 Social support (unspecified)'; and '5.1 Information about health consequences') with the three used in the active comparator arm ('1.2 Problem solving'; '4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour'; and '10.4 Social reward').

Two of the included trials were coded by the trial authors in the published reports, and we made no amendments (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

We have presented further information on the BCTs present in the included trials in the additional tables (Table 1). A further table provides definitions and illustrative quotations for each BCT (Table 2).



#### Outcomes

#### Adherence

All trials measured adherence to inhaled therapies; this was as a primary outcome in four trials (Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017), a secondary outcome in three trials (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022), and three trials did not specify between primary and secondary outcomes (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016). The measures of adherence used varied across trials, as detailed below.

Three trials used objective recorded measures (e.g. dose-counting nebulisers) (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). One trial monitored adherence electronically using an Adaptive Aerosol Delivery device (Prodose) and reported data at two time points (baseline (measured for three months prior to the intervention) and at three months (measured for three months post-intervention) (Quinn 2004). Investigators calculated adherence using four methods; please see 'Characteristics of included studies' for further details.

Two trials assessed adherence to inhaled therapies using the PARI eFlow rapid nebuliser system with an eTrack Controller<sup>®</sup> at baseline and five months (plus or minus one month) from consent visit (Hind 2017), or at baseline and 12 months (Wildman 2022). These trials calculated and reported adherence in five ways; again, please see 'Characteristics of included studies' for further details.

Three trials measured adherence using objective count measures (e.g. MPR) (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). These trials all reported a composite MPR (cMPR) measure in which the MPRs of each medication were averaged across all included medications (Eakin 2011); but the included medications varied. Two trials reported a cMPR measure of 'chronic pulmonary medications' which included inhaled therapies (e.g. dornase alfa, tobramycin, hypertonic saline, aztreonam lysine), as well as one non-inhaled treatment (e.g. azithromycin), but individual MPRs were not available (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013). Another trial reported a cMPR of two inhaled therapies (hypertonic saline and dornase alfa) and one non-inhaled therapy (CF multivitamins), but it was possible to estimate MPR for individual treatments from a chart in the paper (Shakkottai 2017). One trial reported results for cMPR at baseline and three months (Shakkottai 2017) and two trials at baseline and 12 months (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013), although the time frames used to calculate MPR seemed to vary (see 'Characteristics of included studies').

Four trials measured adherence using subjective measures (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016). Two of these trials assessed adherence using self-report in participant diaries and converted the information from the diaries into the % of prescribed aerosol treatments taken (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006). Two trials assessed adherence to dornase alfa and inhaled antibiotics, with Knudsen 2016 assessing participant scores on the Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS-8) (Morisky 2008), and Gur 2016 using a questionnaire with a five-point Likert scale. In addition to dornase alfa and inhaled antibiotics, Gur 2016 assessed adherence to inhaled steroids, hypertonic saline, and bronchodilators. These trials assessed adherence at different time points: Cottrell 1996 reported at baseline and six to eight weeks post-assessment; Gur 2016 reported at baseline and three to five months post-assessment; Downs 2006 reported at pre-

intervention, post-intervention (three to four months after preintervention assessment for control group and immediately after completion of 'Airways' for intervention group), six-month followup (six months after post-intervention assessment), and 12-month follow-up (six months after six-month follow-up assessment; and Knudsen 2016 reported at baseline, five months (midway), 11 months (post-intervention) and one year post-intervention (followup).

Two trials assessed adherence in multiple ways (e.g. using datalogging nebulisers and participant self-report) (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

#### Treatment-related adverse events (depression and anxiety)

Four trials included depression as a secondary outcome (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004, Wildman 2022), and three trials included anxiety (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). Both outcomes were assessed using a variety of measures. Two trials assessed depression using scores on the PHQ-8 (Kroenke 2009); one assessed at baseline and five months (plus or minus one month) from consent visit (Hind 2017), and the second at baseline and 12 months (Wildman 2022). One trial assessed depression using both the Major Depression Inventory (MDI) (Bech 2001) and the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff 1977) at baseline, five months (midway), 11 months (post-intervention) and one year post-intervention (follow-up) (Knudsen 2016).

Quinn measured depression and anxiety using the hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) (Zigmond 1983), and measured anxiety using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-short form (STAIshort form) (Marteau 1992); investigators assessed both outcomes at pre-intervention and post-intervention (three months later) (Quinn 2004).

Two further trials measured anxiety as score on the GAD-7 (Spitzer 2006) at baseline and five months (plus or minus one month) from consent visit in one trial (Hind 2017), or at baseline and 12 months in the second trial (Wildman 2022).

All trials expressed depression or anxiety results, or both, as means and SDs (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). One trial also reported unadjusted MDs between groups (Hind 2017), and two trials reported adjusted MDs, adjusting for baseline and CF centre (Hind 2017), or baseline, CF centre and past-year IV days (Wildman 2022).

#### QoL

Nine trials included QoL as an outcome using a range of measures (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022).

One trial (Cottrell 1996) assessed QoL using the Quality of Wellbeing scale (Kaplan 1989). One trial (Quinn 2004) assessed QoL using scores on the CFQoL (Gee 2000).

Seven trials used scores on the CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) to assess QoL (Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). Three trials assessed QoL across all domains of the CFQ-R (Teen/Adult version) (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019), or both the Teen/Adult and Older Child versions depending on participant ages (Quittner 2019). Three trials assessed QoL using only some domains of the



CFQ-R (Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). Wildman 2022 used eight domains of the Teen/Adult version of the questionnaire (physical functioning, emotional functioning, social functioning, eating disturbance, body image, treatment burden, respiratory symptoms, digestive symptoms). Riekert 2013 used three domains (treatment burden, respiratory symptoms, and physical functioning), and Shakkottai 2017 used the treatment burden domain only. Neither Riekert 2013 nor Shakkottai 2017 specified which version they used, but we presumed that Riekert 2013 used the Teen/Adult version (as they included participants aged 16 years and older); and Shakkottai 2017 used the Older Child version (as they included participants aged 10 to 14 years), as well as the Parent/Caregiver version. Investigators of one trial reported using age-appropriate versions of the CFQ-R (Parent/Caregiver and Teen/Adult versions), but they did not specify which domains were used (Gur 2016).

Trials assessed QoL at a range of different time points, including: baseline (pre-intervention) and six to eight weeks post-intervention (Cottrell 1996); baseline (pre-intervention) and three months (Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017); baseline and five months (plus or minus one month) from consent visit (Hind 2017); baseline and three to five months post-intervention (Gur 2016); baseline, five months (midway), 11 months (post-intervention), and one year post-intervention (follow-up) (Knudsen 2016); baseline and 12 months (Quittner 2019; Wildman 2022); and baseline, six months and 12 months (Riekert 2013).

Eight trials expressed QoL results as means and SDs (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). One trial also reported unadjusted MDs between groups (Hind 2017), and two trials reported adjusted MD, adjusting for baseline and CF centre (Hind 2017), or baseline, CF centre and past-year IV days (Wildman 2022). One trial reported only medians and interquartile ranges (IQRs) (Riekert 2013), so we describe results narratively below.

# Lung function

Seven trials reported lung function (FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted) at a range of different time points: baseline and three months (Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017); baseline and five months (plus or minus one month) from consent visit (Hind 2017); baseline, five months (midway), 11 months (post-intervention), and one year post-intervention (follow-up) (Knudsen 2016); and baseline and 12 months (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Wildman 2022).

Two trials extracted lung function data from CF registry databases (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013), one from medical records (Knudsen 2016), and in one trial it was recorded on the home spirometer used as part of the intervention (Shakkottai 2017). In three trials, FEV<sub>1</sub> was taken for the purposes of the trial at each assessment time point (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), in addition to during routine clinic visits in two trials (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

Five trials expressed results for FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted as means and SDs (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022), while one trial reported means and SDs at baseline only (Quittner 2019). One trial also reported unadjusted MDs between groups (Hind 2017), and two trials reported adjusted MDs, adjusting for baseline and CF centre (Hind 2017), or baseline, CF centre and past-year IV days (Wildman 2022). One trial reported only medians and IQRs (Riekert 2013), so we have described results narratively.

None of the included trials reported lung function in litres (i.e.  $FEV_1$  L).

#### **Pulmonary exacerbations**

Two trials included pulmonary exacerbations as a primary outcome (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022) and three trials as a secondary outcome (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). Three of these trials assessed the total number of exacerbations during the trial periods of three months (Shakkottai 2017), six months (Hind 2017), or 12 months (Wildman 2022). This was defined as the "number of exacerbations treated with IV antibiotics with at least one modified Fuchs' criteria (e.g. change in sputum, increased cough)" (Ratjen 2012) in two trials (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). One trial did not provide a definition for an exacerbation (Shakkottai 2017).

One trial reported the total number of exacerbations in each group only (no means, SDs or ratio data) (Shakkottai 2017), while two trials reported the total number of exacerbations in each group along with unadjusted and adjusted exacerbation rates (incidence rate ratios; 95% CI), adjusted for CF centre and past year IV antibiotic days (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). Hind also reported the mean (SD) and median (IQR) number of exacerbations per group, and the number of participants experiencing one or more exacerbations per group (Hind 2017).

Two further trials measured exacerbations, although the results were more difficult to interpret (Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013). Riekert measured exacerbations as "pulmonary exacerbations (1+ in past year)" with results expressed as percentages. Quittner 2019 measured pulmonary exacerbations as "IV antibiotic treatment (extracted from the CF Registry)" but it was unclear how this was defined (Quittner 2019). The percentage of participants receiving "1+ course of IV antibiotics in the past year" was reported at baseline only.

None of the included trials reported the time to next exacerbation or the duration of exacerbations (total number of IV days).

#### **Excluded studies**

We excluded 2963 records by screening titles and abstracts. We excluded a further 69 trials (114 references) following full-text screening, with reasons for each listed in the tables (Characteristics of excluded studies) and summarised as follows. There were 11 references which did not relate to a trial (e.g. they were a commentary or an editorial) (Abbott 2015; Daniels 2013; Dodd 2000; Duff 2014; Geller 2011; Hawkins 2002; Meyers 1975; Ohn 2018; Pendleton 2000; Sadprasid 2021; Strawhacker 2004), and 17 trials were non-randomised or single-arm trials (ACTRN12619001730190; Goldbeck 2013; Grossoehme 2020; Landau 2021; NCT00688051; NCT01025258; NCT02286050; NCT02501369; NCT02906826; NCT03226795; NCT03518697; NCT04017559; NCT04217889; NCT04696484; O'Hayer 2021; Polineni 2017; Schandevyl 2021). A total of 13 trials were not focused on inhaled therapies (ACTRN12607000234415; DRKS00027569; Geirhos 2022; Goodill 2005; Martinez 2017; Modi 2010; NCT03304028; NCT03938324; NCT03992027; NCT04096664; NCT04453358; Parkins 2008; Viviani 2006), and 11 trials did not consider a relevant intervention (i.e. not examining a psychological intervention) (Bingham 2012; Cannon 1999; Elkins 2006; Betz 2019; Hagelberg 2008; Hatziagorou 2017; Montero-Ruiz 2020; Rode 2008; Ruddy 2015; Trapp 1998; Wood 2020). Eight trials did not measure adherence to inhaled therapies (Chan 2013;



Cummings 2011; Davis 2004; Hebestreit 2010; Hebestreit 2022; Hlela 2018; Huang 2014; Petzel 1991). We excluded the remaining nine trials either because there was a lack of information, or the trials were not available after multiple attempts to contact the trial authors (Bryon 2000; Chadelat 2005; Czajkowski 1985; Fischer 2003; Jackson 2017; McDonald 2007; NCT03052231; Quittner 1998; Marciel 2010).

# **Ongoing studies**

To date, we have listed five trials as ongoing (Jirasek 2022; O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021; Thee 2021; White 2017); we provide further information in the tables (Characteristics of ongoing studies).

#### Design

Four ongoing trials are parallel in design (O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021; Thee 2021; White 2017) and one trial is a cross-over trial (Jirasek 2022). One trial is single-centre (White 2017), and four are multicentre (Jirasek 2022; O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021; Thee 2021). Two trials are being conducted in the USA (O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021), one in Germany (Thee 2021), one in the Czech Republic (Jirasek 2022), and one in the UK (White 2017).

# Participants

Participants include adults with CF, aged 18 years and above in one trial (O'Hayer 2019), and aged between 16 and 60 years in a second trial (White 2017). Two trials include participants with CF aged 12 years and older (Phan 2021; Thee 2021), and one trial includes children and adolescents but does not specify the age of eligible participants (Jirasek 2022).

#### Interventions

All five ongoing trials are two-arm RCTs, with three trials comparing a psychological intervention to usual care (Phan 2021; Thee 2021; White 2017), and one trial comparing a psychological intervention (Acceptance and Commitment Therapy; ACT) with an active comparator arm (Supportive Psychotherapy) (O'Hayer 2019). In the cross-over trial, participants are randomised to the psychological intervention arm (CF Hero mobile application) for three months and then switch to not using the application for another three months.

The psychological interventions described in the ongoing trials include a coaching and telemonitoring intervention (Thee 2021); an ACT intervention delivered via video calls (O'Hayer 2019); a web-based intervention comprising six interactive online modules (e.g. Respiratory, Antibiotics, Nutrition, etc.) (White

2017); a motivational (reward-based) mobile application (CF Hero) (Jirasek 2022); and a web-based, mobile medication management application designed to reinforce adherence and provide education about treatment regimens (Phan 2021). Intervention duration ranges from six weeks (O'Hayer 2019) through three months (Jirasek 2022) and 24 weeks (Phan 2021) to 12 months (Thee 2021; White 2017).

One intervention is focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies only (Thee 2021). The other interventions are focused on improving adherence to CF treatments in general (O'Hayer 2019), or multiple CF treatments, including inhaled therapies and oral medications (e.g. azithromycin) (Phan 2021), or inhaled therapies and physiotherapy (Jirasek 2022). One intervention involves participants identifying between one and three treatments from six areas of focus (nutrition, enzymes, liver medications, airways treatments, vitamins and antibiotics), such that participants may choose to focus on improving adherence to a treatment other than inhaled therapies (White 2017).

#### Outcomes

Two trials include adherence as a primary outcome (Jirasek 2022; White 2017), while it is a secondary outcome in the remaining three trials (O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021; Thee 2021). Two trials are using objective recorded measures (dose-counting nebulisers) to assess adherence (Phan 2021; Thee 2021); one trial is using a subjective measure (self-reported medication adherence questionnaire) (O'Hayer 2019); one trial is using an objective count measure whereby the prescribed amount of medication is compared with the amount consumed after collecting unused or empty medicine containers (Jirasek 2022); and one trial is using an objective count measure (MPR) or self-report questionnaire (White 2017).

Depression is included as a secondary outcome in two trials (O'Hayer 2019; Thee 2021), and anxiety in one trial (O'Hayer 2019). QoL is a secondary outcome in three trials (Jirasek 2022; Thee 2021; White 2017), and four trials include lung function as a secondary outcome (Jirasek 2022; O'Hayer 2019; Thee 2021; White 2017). The number of pulmonary exacerbations is a secondary outcome in two trials (Thee 2021; White 2017), and the time to first exacerbation is the primary outcome in one trial (Thee 2021).

# **Risk of bias in included studies**

A risk of bias summary is shown in Figure 2. Please refer to the risk of bias tables for details for each individual trial (Characteristics of included studies).









#### Allocation

#### Sequence generation

We judged six trials to have a low risk of bias in relation to sequence generation (Downs 2006; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Wildman 2022). One trial used a pseudo-randomisation number-generation technique carried out by a member of staff independent to the trial (Quinn 2004). Four trials used randomised permuted blocks (Downs 2006; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022), with three of these specifying that this was computer-generated (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022). One trial stratified randomisation by age (Downs 2006) and two trials by CF centre and number of IV days in the previous 12 months (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). One cluster-RCT used the CF centre as the unit of randomisation, to minimise cross-contamination risks from within-site randomisation (Quittner 2019). In this trial, randomisation was completed by the trial statistician, with centres stratified by size (Quittner 2019).

One trial consecutively assigned participants to the intervention or control group (by order of recruitment), therefore, we judged this to have a high risk of bias (Gur 2016). The three remaining trials were described as randomised, but no details of the actual randomisation process were given; therefore, we judged these trials to have an unclear risk of bias (Cottrell 1996; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017).

#### Allocation concealment

We judged three trials to have a low risk of bias from allocation concealment (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). One of these stated that allocation remained concealed until the participant was ready for Phase 2 of the trial (Quinn 2004); the remaining two trials used a remote, secure internet-based randomisation system which concealed allocation from investigators (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). We judged five trials to have an unclear risk of bias as they did not report on allocation concealment (Cottrell 1996; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). We judged the remaining two trials to have a high risk of bias (Downs 2006; Gur 2016). One of these trials reported that participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit (Gur 2016), and the final trial did not provide details of allocation concealment in the published report, but information provided by the lead author on request states that allocation was not concealed (Downs 2006).

# Blinding

Blinding of participants and personnel is typically not possible in trials of psychological interventions; as such, the assessment of blinding included only the outcome assessors, as specified in the protocol (Dawson 2020).

We judged the risk of bias from the blinding of outcome assessors to be unclear in six trials (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013). Three trials failed to provide any details on the blinding of outcome assessors (Cottrell 1996; Knudsen 2016; Riekert 2013). One trial did not provide details of blinding in the published report, but we judged this to have an unclear risk of bias on receipt of information provided by the trial author on request (Downs 2006). One trial attempted to blind outcome assessors (i.e. physiotherapists), but an evaluation as part of the trial revealed that one of the outcome assessors was aware of two allocations into the intervention arm, although both participants had completed the intervention by this time (Quinn 2004). In two trials, outcome assessors were blinded to at least some of the outcomes (Downs 2006; Quittner 2019). In four trials, outcome assessors (i.e. researchers or healthcare professionals involved in conducting the trials and collecting the outcome data) were not blinded, hence we judged there to be a high risk of bias (Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022).

#### Incomplete outcome data

Two trials conducted an intention-to-treat analysis with all participants entering the trial; we therefore judged these trials to have a low risk of bias for incomplete outcome data (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). One trial conducted an intention-to-treat analysis with 35 out of 36 participants (one participant was transferred for heart-lung transplantation), so we also judged this trial to have a low risk of bias (Quinn 2004).

Two trials did not describe withdrawals, and we judged these to have an unclear risk of bias (Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). We also judged a further trial to have an unclear risk of bias after investigators confirmed they did not have any dropouts, yet three participants originally assigned to the intervention group said they would prefer to be in the control group (two were not interested in performing Skype video chats due to busy schedules, and one did not have an Internet connection), so were transferred to the control group (Gur 2016).

We judged four trials to have a high risk of bias for incomplete outcome data (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019). In one trial, 20 out of 34 enrolled participants were analysed, but it is unclear whether the four reported withdrawals occurred pre- or post-randomisation and there was no further information on the 10 additional participants who dropped out (Cottrell 1996). In the Knudsen 2016 trial, only 28 out of 40 participants (nine from the intervention arm and 19 from the control arm) completed the post-intervention follow-up, and 24 out of 40 participants (12 in each arm) completed the one-year post-intervention follow-up. Reasons for withdrawal were only given for the intervention arm and included lack of time, poor health, coaching not helpful, lack of motivation, no need for further coaching, and unknown reasons. Downs 2006 reported significant attrition from the trial and the potential for bias. An intention-to-treat analysis was conducted which included data from participants in the intervention group who commenced the intervention and later withdrew (n = 8). However, 11 participants (seven in the intervention arm and four in the control arm) did not complete pre-test assessments or withdrew from the trial prior to commencing intervention, and so were not included in intention-to-treat analysis (Downs 2006). In the Quittner 2019 trial, there were challenges obtaining pharmacy records, which resulted in a significant amount of missing adherence data. Of the 641 participants who consented, 308 (51%) had analysable pharmacy records at baseline (n = 156 intervention; n = 152 control), and 436 (72%) had analysable pharmacy records at 12 months (n = 205 intervention; n = 231control). The report states that intervention effects were evaluated based on the intention-to-treat principle, but it is unclear whether this included all participants entering the trial or whether some were excluded.



#### **Selective reporting**

We were able to compare two published trials with their protocols and found no evidence of selective reporting, hence we judged these trials to have a low risk of bias (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). We judged six trials to have an unclear risk of bias for selective reporting (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). We were unable to access protocols to assess selective reporting for three trials (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Quinn 2004). One trial reported all outcomes listed on the clinical trial register in the full trial paper, but the listed trial duration changed from 12 to three months, with no further details provided (Shakkottai 2017). We contacted the authors of one trial who provided a copy of the unpublished trial protocol (Gur 2016). Adherence results were not presented in the published report, but results were provided by the trial authors on request. Scores on each CFQ-R domain were not available, however (Gur 2016). Finally, one trial reported additional outcomes not listed on the clinical trial register (e.g. HRQoL, pulmonary exacerbations) (Riekert 2013). We judged two trials to have a high risk of bias as each listed an additional secondary outcome on the clinical trial register that was not reported in the published papers (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019).

#### Other potential sources of bias

We identified no other potential sources of bias in six trials (Downs 2006; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022).

However, we judged one trial to have an unclear risk bias from another source as the unpublished protocol provided by the authors stated they had planned to recruit 66 participants, whereas only 18 were recruited according to the published report (Gur 2016).

We judged three trials to have a high risk of bias from other sources (Cottrell 1996; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013). In one trial, participants received financial incentives for attending intervention sessions and completing assessments as acknowledgement for participation (Quittner 2019). In addition, this trial was a cluster-RCT in which CF centres interested in adherence-promoting strategies were invited to participate (no other eligibility criteria for CF centres was applied). The first 18 CF centres to sign a contract and obtain relevant approvals were enroled, so it is likely that there could have been differences between those CF centres who volunteered to take part, compared to those who did not (Quittner 2019).

Two trials reported baseline imbalances (which were unadjusted in the results) (Cottrell 1996; Riekert 2013). As highlighted in a previous Cochrane Review (Savage 2014), in one trial, the mean (SD) baseline weight measurement for participants in the intervention group was 89.15 (29.29) lb and for participants in the control group was 101.4 (32.17) lb, which, for CF, indicates a clinically important baseline imbalance (Cottrell 1996). In another trial, the authors reported that the intervention group had higher cMPR scores than the control group (P = 0.07) at baseline, and greater perceived treatment burden (P < 0.01) (Riekert 2013).

# **Effects of interventions**

See: Summary of findings 1 Summary of findings: psychological interventions compared with usual care; Summary of findings 2

Summary of findings: psychological interventions compared with an active comparator

We have graded the certainty of the evidence for those outcomes included in the summary of findings tables (at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point). For the definitions of these gradings, please refer to the summary of findings tables (Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2).

We only report below those of our predefined outcomes that the included trials reported on. For the first comparison of psychological interventions versus usual care, results were not available for some planned lung function measures (absolute values for FEV<sub>1</sub> L and change from baseline measured either in % predicted or L), or for the time to next exacerbation or duration of exacerbations. For the comparison of active interventions, results were not available for either objective recorded measures of adherence or for subjective measures, for the treatment-related adverse events of anxiety and depression, for some lung function measures (absolute values for FEV<sub>1</sub> L and change from baseline measured either in % predicted or L), or for the time to next exacerbation or duration of exacerbations. For each outcome measure, the number of participants differed due to incomplete data.

#### Psychological interventions versus usual care

Nine trials (approximately 1514 participants) contributed data to the comparison of psychological interventions versus usual care (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). We have graded the certainty of the evidence for those outcomes at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point (Summary of findings 1).

#### **Primary outcomes**

#### 1. Adherence to inhaled therapies

#### a. Objective recorded measures

Three trials assessed adherence to inhaled therapies using objective recorded measures (e.g. data-logging nebulisers) (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). One trial (35 participants) assessed this outcome at the 'up to three months' time point (Quinn 2004); one trial (55 participants) at over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017); and one trial (588 participants) at over six months and up to 12 months (Wildman 2022). There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in one trial (Quinn 2004). Therefore, we present results as endpoint (i.e. post-intervention) data for three trials (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022).

There was no evidence of a difference in the percentage of prescribed inhaled medications taken between intervention and control arms at up to three months (MD 4.32, 95% CI -26.77 to 35.41) (Quinn 2004) or over three months and up to six months (MD 10.00, 95% CI -6.12 to 26.12) (Hind 2017). Results did, however, show 18% more medication taken in the intervention group than the control group at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point (MD 18.00, 95% CI 12.90 to 23.10; Analysis 1.1) (Wildman 2022). The Wildman trial also reported adjusted data, which showed a 9.50% difference in adherence in favour of the intervention at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point (95% CI 8.60 to 10.40; moderate-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.2) (Wildman 2022).



#### b. Objective count measures

One trial (5 participants) assessed this outcome at the 'up to three months' time point (Shakkottai 2017), and a second trial (436 participants) reported at over six months and up to 12 months (Quittner 2019). Both trials reported a cMPR measure which included a combination of inhaled therapies and one non-inhaled therapy (Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017). We were not able to combine results in the data analyses since MPR data for individual drugs were not reported or there were missing data. We therefore describe the results narratively below.

Shakkottai 2017 reported mean values (but no SDs) for a cMPR measure comprising two inhaled therapies (hypertonic saline and dornase alfa) and CF multivitamins (not inhaled). After three months, the mean cMPR in the intervention group had increased from baseline by 0.05 and in the control group by 0.04. Mean MPRs for individual drugs in the two groups at baseline and the end of the trial were presented graphically, and we estimated the change in score from baseline. For dornase alfa, we estimated a 0.04 decrease in the intervention group compared to a 0.13 decrease in the control group; for hypertonic saline, we estimated the increase from baseline as 0.09 in the intervention group compared to a 0.13 drop in the control group (Shakkottai 2017).

Quittner 2019 also reported a mean cMPR measure (without SDs) which included inhaled therapies (dornase alfa, hypertonic saline and inhaled antibiotics (tobramycin, colistin and aztreonam)) and oral azithromycin. Due to challenges in obtaining pharmacy records during the trial (procedures were changed halfway through which primarily affected collection of baseline data), cMPR scores were available for 436 participants at 12 months compared with 308 participants at baseline (baseline data were calculated from the baseline date back one year; and the 12-month interval was the baseline date plus one year). After 12 months, the authors reported no intervention effects were found when cMPR fell by 0.181 (18%) in the intervention group compared to 0.170 (17%) in the control group (Quittner 2019).

#### c. Subjective measures

Four trials measured adherence to inhaled therapies using subjective measures (e.g. questionnaires, participant diaries) (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016).

Two trials assessed adherence using self-report in participant diaries, and the authors converted this to a percentage of prescribed aerosol treatments taken for each participant (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006). One trial (20 participants) assessed this outcome at up to three months (Cottrell 1996), and one trial (intention-to-treat analysis with 51 participants) assessed this outcome at three time points: over three months and up to six months; over six months and up to 12 months; and over 12 months (Downs 2006).

There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in these trials and results are presented as post-intervention data (Analysis 1.3). There was no evidence of a difference between groups at up to three months (MD 13.00, 95% CI -20.11 to 46.11) (Cottrell 1996). More aerosol treatments were taken by the intervention group at the 'over three months and up to six months' time point (MD 16.60, 95% CI 0.22 to 32.98), but this was not sustained at over six months and up to 12 months (MD 8.60, 95%

CI -7.90 to 25.10), or over 12 months (MD 7.10, 95% CI -6.73 to 20.93) (Downs 2006).

Two trials assessed adherence to dornase alfa and to inhaled antibiotics (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016); Gur 2016 reported the mean score on a self-reported adherence questionnaire and Knudsen 2016 reported participant scores on the MMAS-8 (Morisky 2008). Both trials assessed these outcomes at over three months and up to six months; one trial further reported at over six months and up to 12 months and again at over 12 months (Knudsen 2016). Since these outcomes were measured using different scales across trials (all in the same direction, whereby a higher score indicated higher adherence), we calculated SMDs with 95% CIs. For dornase alfa, there was no evidence of a difference between groups at over three months and up to six months (SMD 0.02, 95% CI -0.62 to 0.67; 2 trials, 46 participants; Analysis 1.4), or at over six months and up to 12 months (SMD 0.43, 95% CI -0.41 to 1.27; 2 trials, 24 participants; Analysis 1.4), but there was higher adherence in the intervention group at over 12 months (SMD 0.91, 95% CI -0.00 to 1.81; 2 trials, 21 participants; Analysis 1.4) (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016). For inhaled antibiotics, there was no evidence of differences between groups at over three months and up to six months (SMD 0.49, 95% CI -1.01 to 1.98; 2 trials, 43 participants; Analysis 1.5), at over six months and up to 12 months (SMD -0.13, 95% CI -0.99 to 0.72; 2 trials, 23 participants; Analysis 1.5), nor at over 12 months (SMD 0.00, 95%) CI -0.91 to 0.91; 2 trials, 19 participants; Analysis 1.5) (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016).

Gur 2016 also assessed adherence to inhaled steroids, hypertonic saline, and bronchodilators at over three months and up to six months. There was no evidence of a difference between groups for inhaled steroids (MD 1.09, 95% CI -0.66 to 2.84; 1 trial, 17 participants; Analysis 1.6), hypertonic saline (MD -0.12, 95% CI -1.84 to 1.60; 1 trial, 16 participants; Analysis 1.7), or bronchodilators (MD -1.13, 95% CI -3.00 to 0.74; 1 trial, 16 participants; Analysis 1.8).

#### 2. Treatment-related adverse events

#### a. Anxiety

This result was reported in three trials. One trial (35 participants) assessed anxiety at up to three months (Quinn 2004), one trial (59 participants) at over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017) and one trial (535 participants) at over six months and up to 12 months (Wildman 2022). Two trials explicitly included the outcome of anxiety as a safety measure (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

As anxiety was measured using different scales across trials (all in the same direction, whereby a higher score indicated greater anxiety), we calculated SMDs with 95% Cls. There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in one trial (Quinn 2004). Therefore, results are presented as postintervention data for the three trials that reported this outcome (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). Since one trial measured anxiety using two outcome measures in the same participants, we have not reported any totals or summary statistics for this outcome (Quinn 2004). Instead, we have presented the data for each measure (Analysis 1.9). There was no evidence of a difference in anxiety between intervention and control groups on any measure at up to three months (Quinn 2004); over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017); or at over six months and up to 12 months (Wildman 2022) (Analysis 1.9).

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

In addition, two trials reported the adjusted MD for anxiety (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), measured using the GAD-7 (Spitzer 2006). These results showed that there was no evidence of a difference between groups either at over three months and up to six months (MD -0.31, 95% CI -1.90 to 1.28) (Hind 2017) or at over six months and up to 12 months (MD 0.30, 95% CI -0.40 to 1.00; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.10) (Wildman 2022).

#### **b.** Depression

This result was reported in four trials. One trial (35 participants) assessed depression at up to three months (Quinn 2004); two trials (88 or 89 participants depending on the measure used) at over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016); two trials (559 or 560 participants depending on the measure used) at over six months and up to 12 months (Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022); and one trial (24 participants) at over 12 months (Knudsen 2016). Two trials explicitly included the outcome of depression as a safety measure (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

Knudsen 2016 firstly assessed depression using the 12-item MDI, where scores range from 0 to 50; with scores of 21 to 25 indicating mild depression, 26 to 30 indicating moderate depression, and 31 to 50 indicating severe depression (Bech 2001); and secondly, using the 20-item CES-D where scores range from 0 to 60, with higher scores indicating greater depressive symptoms, and scores of 16 or more indicating depression (Radloff 1977).

As above, we calculated SMDs with 95% CIs. There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in two trials (Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004). Therefore, results are presented as post-intervention data (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). Since one trial used two outcome measures of depression in the same participants at three of the time points, we have not reported any totals or summary statistics (Knudsen 2016). Instead, we have presented the data for each measure (Analysis 1.11). There was no evidence of a difference in depression between intervention and control groups on any measure at any time point (Analysis 1.11).

In addition to the endpoint data, two trials reported the adjusted MD for depression (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). Using the PHQ-8 (where scores range from 0 to 24, with cut-off scores of 5, 10, 15, and 20 indicating mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression, respectively) (Kroenke 2009), results showed no evidence of a difference between groups at either over three months and up to six months, MD 0.97 (95% CI -0.96 to 2.90; Analysis 1.12) (Hind 2017), or over six months and up to 12 months, MD -0.10 (95% CI -0.80 to 0.60; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.12) (Wildman 2022).

#### Secondary outcomes

#### 1. QoL

Eight trials assessed QoL (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022); the measures used varied across trials and included the Quality of Wellbeing scale (Kaplan 1989), CFQoL (Gee 2000) and CFQ-R (Quittner 2009).

We combined domains from the CFQoL (Gee 2000) and CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) that had the same names (e.g. physical functioning, body image) and calculated SMDs with 95% CIs. For domains that could not obviously be combined with domains from other

measures (e.g. career concerns, interpersonal relationships), we included these in separate data analyses and calculated MDs with 95% CIs. There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in five trials (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017). Therefore, results are presented as post-intervention data for the eight trials that reported this outcome (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022), except where otherwise specified (e.g. two trials also reported adjusted data (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022)).

#### Up to three months

One trial (20 participants) assessed the mean score on the Quality of Wellbeing scale (Kaplan 1989) at up to three months (Cottrell 1996). A further trial (35 participants) assessed the mean scores on all nine domains of the CFQoL (Gee 2000) at up to three months using an intention-to-treat analysis (Quinn 2004). A third trial (five participants) assessed QoL using only the treatment burden domain of the CFQ-R (Shakkottai 2017).

There was no evidence of a difference between intervention and control groups in the mean score on the Quality of Wellbeing scale (MD -0.02, 95% CI -0.09 to 0.05; Analysis 1.13). The trial authors highlighted a possible ceiling effect, with participants scoring 0.7 or higher at baseline (on a scale of 0 to 1, where 0 is 'death' and 1 is 'perfect health'), suggesting that participants were already experiencing a relatively high QoL pre-intervention (Cottrell 1996).

There was no evidence of a difference between groups at three months for the following domains: physical functioning (Analysis 1.14); emotional functioning (Analysis 1.16); social functioning (Analysis 1.18); treatment burden (Analysis 1.20); respiratory or chest symptoms (Analysis 1.32); treatment issues (Analysis 1.38); career concerns (Analysis 1.39); interpersonal relationships (Analysis 1.40); or concerns for the future (Analysis 1.41). However, results favoured the intervention for body image (SMD 0.69, 95% CI 0.00 to 1.38; Analysis 1.24). The authors of the Quinn trial highlighted that mean scores were higher in the intervention group compared to usual care on most subscales at three months (excluding treatment issues and concerns for the future) (Quinn 2004).

#### Over three months and up to six months

Two trials (87 to 89 participants) assessed the mean scores on all 12 domains of the CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) at this time point (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016). There was no evidence of a difference between groups on any of the following QoL domains: physical functioning (Analysis 1.14); emotional functioning (Analysis 1.16); social functioning (Analysis 1.18); treatment burden (Analysis 1.20); role limitations (Analysis 1.22); body image (Analysis 1.24); vitality (Analysis 1.26); eating disturbance (Analysis 1.28); weight problems (Analysis 1.30); respiratory symptoms (Analysis 1.32); digestive symptoms (Analysis 1.34); or health perceptions (Analysis 1.36) (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016).

In addition to the endpoint data, one trial also reported the adjusted MD between groups (Hind 2017). These results also showed no evidence of a difference in any of the following QoL domains: physical functioning (Analysis 1.15); emotional functioning (Analysis 1.17); social functioning (Analysis 1.19); treatment burden (Analysis 1.21); role limitations (Analysis 1.23); body image (Analysis 1.25); vitality (Analysis 1.27); eating



disturbance (Analysis 1.29); weight problems (Analysis 1.31); respiratory symptoms (Analysis 1.33); digestive symptoms (Analysis 1.35); and health perceptions (Analysis 1.37).

One trial calculated an average CFQ-R score for each group (rather than reporting results for each domain separately), so we could not analyse the data (Gur 2016). Mean (SD) overall CFQ-R score post-intervention was 62.39 (14.33) in the intervention group compared with 65.91 (18.09) in the control group.

#### Over six months and up to 12 months

Three trials assessed QoL at this time point: two reported mean scores for all 12 domains of the CFQ-R (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019), while the third trial used mean score on eight domains of the CFQ-R (physical functioning, emotional functioning, social functioning, eating disturbance, body image, treatment burden, respiratory symptoms and digestive symptoms) (Wildman 2022).

There was no evidence of a difference between groups in any of the following CFQ-R domains: physical functioning (1089 participants) (Analysis 1.14); emotional functioning (1089 participants) (Analysis 1.16); social functioning (1089 participants) (Analysis 1.18); treatment burden (1090 participants) (Analysis 1.20); role limitations (412 participants) (Analysis 1.22); body image (1089 participants) (Analysis 1.24); vitality (413 participants) (Analysis 1.26); eating disturbances (1089 participants) (Analysis 1.28); weight problems (413 participants) (Analysis 1.30); respiratory symptoms (1085 participants) (Analysis 1.32); digestive symptoms (1084 participants) (Analysis 1.34); or health perceptions (413 participants) (Analysis 1.34); or health perceptions (413 participants) (Analysis 1.36). Only one trial found a difference between groups in one domain of the CFQ-R (treatment burden) at this time point, SMD 0.26 (95% CI 0.09 to 0.43; Analysis 1.20) (Wildman 2022).

In addition to the endpoint data, one trial also reported the adjusted MDs (Wildman 2022). These results showed no evidence of a difference between groups in any of the following QoL domains: physical functioning (Analysis 1.15); emotional functioning (Analysis 1.17); social functioning (Analysis 1.19); body image (Analysis 1.25); eating disturbance (Analysis 1.29); respiratory symptoms (low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.33); or digestive symptoms (Analysis 1.35) (Wildman 2022). However, results did favour the intervention for the treatment burden domain (MD 3.90, 95% CI 1.20 to 6.60; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.21).

#### **Over 12 months**

Lastly, one trial (22 to 24 participants) assessed QoL using all 12 domains of the CFQ-R at over 12 months (Knudsen 2016). There was no evidence of a difference between groups in any of the following QoL domains: physical functioning (Analysis 1.14); emotional functioning (Analysis 1.16); social functioning (Analysis 1.18); treatment burden (Analysis 1.20); role limitations (Analysis 1.22); body image (Analysis 1.24); vitality (Analysis 1.26); eating disturbances (Analysis 1.28); weight problems (Analysis 1.30); respiratory symptoms (Analysis 1.32); digestive symptoms (Analysis 1.34); or health perceptions (Analysis 1.36).

#### % predicted

Five trials reported analysable data (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). There was insufficient information available to calculate the change from baseline in three

trials (Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017). Therefore, we present results as endpoint (i.e. post-intervention) data for the five trials (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). In addition to the endpoint data, two trials also reported the adjusted MD for FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022). Additionally, one trial reported means and SDs for this outcome at baseline only, meaning we could not include the data from this trial in the analysis (Quittner 2019). However, the authors report that no significant intervention effects were found for any of the secondary outcomes in this trial, compared to usual care (and FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted was a secondary outcome in this trial) (Quittner 2019).

#### Up to three months

Two trials assessed  $FEV_1$  % predicted at up to three months (Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017). There was no evidence of a difference between groups (MD -3.25, 95% CI -18.13 to 11.64; 2 trials, 40 participants; Analysis 1.42).

#### Over three months and up to six months

Two trials reported  $FEV_1$  % predicted at over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016); results showed no evidence of a difference between treatment and control (MD -2.98, 95% CI -12.50 to 6.55; 2 trials, 95 participants; Analysis 1.42). Adjusted results from one trial also showed no evidence of a difference between groups (MD 5.00, 95% CI -2.00 to 12.00; Analysis 1.43) (Hind 2017).

#### Over six months and up to 12 months

Two trials (593 participants) reported FEV<sub>1</sub> % predicted at over six months and up to 12 months (Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022); results showed no evidence of a difference between groups (MD 3.20, 95% CI -0.59 to 6.99; 2 trials, 593 participants; Analysis 1.42). Adjusted results from one trial also showed no evidence of a difference between groups at over six months and up to 12 months (MD 1.40, 95% CI -0.20 to 3.00; moderate-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.43) (Wildman 2022).

#### **Over 12 months**

One trial assessed this outcome (Knudsen 2016), finding no evidence of an effect at over 12 months (MD -4.20, 95% CI -19.31 to 10.91; 1 trial, 36 participants; Analysis 1.42).

#### 3. Pulmonary exacerbations

#### Up to three months

It was not possible to analyse the results of one trial (five participants) for this outcome (Shakkottai 2017), as the authors do not report the means, SDs or ratio data. Investigators reported the total number of pulmonary exacerbations per group in the three-month duration of the trial, rather than the number of people experiencing an exacerbation. There were two exacerbations in the intervention group compared with one in the control group (Shakkottai 2017). The trial reports that there was no change in the average number of pulmonary exacerbations in either group.

#### Over three months and up to six months

One trial (60 participants) reported the total (and the mean (SD) and median (IQR)) number of exacerbations per group at over three months and up to six months (Hind 2017). There were a total of



35 exacerbations in the intervention group (mean (SD) 1.1 (1.1); median (range) 1 (0 to 2); 32 participants) compared with 25 (mean (SD) 0.9 (1.1); median (range) 0.5 (0 to 2); 28 participants) in the control arm over the six-month trial. Analysed data showed no evidence of a difference in the mean number of exacerbations between groups (MD 0.20, 95% CI -0.36 to 0.76; Analysis 1.44) (Hind 2017). The authors reported unadjusted data showing no evidence of a difference between groups (rate ratio 1.22, 95% CI 0.69 to 2.16; Analysis 1.45); the adjusted data also did not show a difference in exacerbation rates between groups at over three months and up to six months (rate ratio 1.12, 95% CI 0.66 to 1.90; Analysis 1.46).

This trial also reported the number of participants per group who experienced one or more exacerbations over the six-month trial (60 participants) (Hind 2017). A total of 19 out of 32 participants (59%) in the intervention group and 14 out of 28 participants (50%) in the control group experienced at least one exacerbation.

#### Over six months and up to 12 months

One trial (607 participants) reported the number of exacerbations at over six months and up to 12 months, with no evidence of a difference in exacerbations between treatment or control arms (P = 0.64) (Wildman 2022). Over the 12-month trial duration, there were 526 pulmonary exacerbations in the 303 participants in the usual care arm compared with 482 exacerbations in the 304 participants in the intervention arm. Analysis of the unadjusted data at over six months and up to 12 months generated the rate ratio 0.92 (95% CI 0.77 to 1.10; Analysis 1.45). When the adjusted data were analysed (adjusted rate 1.77/year in the usual care arm compared with an adjusted rate of 1.63/year in the intervention arm), there was also no evidence of a difference between groups, rate ratio 0.96 (95% CI 0.83 to 1.11; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.46).

One 12-month trial measured pulmonary exacerbations as 'IV antibiotic treatment', but it was unclear how this outcome was defined, and investigators only reported the percentage of participants receiving '1+ course of IV antibiotics in the past year' at baseline (Quittner 2019). The authors of this trial did, however, report that they did not find any intervention effect for pulmonary exacerbations.

# Psychological intervention (MI) versus active comparator (EPS)

One trial (128 participants) compared MI with an active comparator control arm (EPS) (Riekert 2013). However, this trial only reported medians and IQRs, so we were not able to analyse data for this comparison and we describe results narratively below. We have graded the certainty of the evidence for those outcomes at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point (Summary of findings 2).

#### **Primary outcomes**

#### 1. Adherence to inhaled therapies

#### b. Objective count measures

The included trial measured adherence to inhaled therapies using a cMPR measure, which included inhaled therapies (dornase alfa, hypertonic saline, inhaled tobramycin, and aztreonam), as well as one non-inhaled treatment (azithromycin) (Riekert 2013). At 12 months (95 participants), median (IQR) cMPR was 54 (37 to 73) in the MI group, compared with 51 (17 to 71) in the EPS group. The trial authors also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that no intervention effects were found for cMPR (P = 0.763; no effect size reported or calculable) or any of the individual drugs (very low-certainty evidence).

#### Secondary outcomes

#### 1. QoL

Riekert assessed this outcome using three domains of the CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) (respiratory, physical functioning, and treatment burden). At six months (112 participants), median (IQR) score was 67 (56 to 78) in the MI group and 64 (50 to 78) in the EPS group (respiratory); 81 (63 to 96) in the MI group and 77 (58 to 96) in the EPS group (physical functioning); and 56 (44 to 67) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 67) in the EPS group (treatment burden). At 12 months (95 participants), median (IQR) score was 67 (50 to 83) in the MI group and 67 (50 to 72) in the EPS group (respiratory); 79 (60 to 96) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 67) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 67) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 67) in the MI group and 56 (44 to 78) in the EPS group (treatment burden).

The trialists assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months). They reported that no intervention effects were found for QoL, with the exception of the treatment burden domain where the MI group had an increase from baseline at six months relative to the EPS group (P = 0.006; no effect size reported or calculable; very low-certainty evidence) (Riekert 2013).

#### 2. Lung function

At 12 months (125 participants), median (IQR)  $FEV_1$ % predicted was 66% (48% to 85%) in the MI group and 64% (49% to 84%) in the EPS group. The authors of the included trial also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that the intervention had no effect on lung function (P = 0.773; no effect size reported or calculable; very low-certainty evidence).

#### 3. Pulmonary exacerbations

#### a. Number of exacerbations

The included trial reported exacerbations as 'pulmonary exacerbations (1+ in past year)' as a percentage for each group. Using these percentages and the total number of participants in each group, we calculated that in the MI group, 12 out of 63 participants (19%) experienced an exacerbation over the 12-month trial period compared with 12 out of 65 (18%) in the EPS group. The trial authors also assessed whether there was an effect of the intervention between groups (MI and EPS) over time (baseline and 12 months); they reported that the intervention had no effect on pulmonary exacerbations (P = 0.929; no effect size reported or calculable; very low-certainty evidence).

#### DISCUSSION

#### Summary of main results

We systematically reviewed available evidence comparing the efficacy of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. We included 10 trials (1642 participants) published between 1996 and 2021; four trials included children and adolescents (and their parents or caregivers) (Cottrell



1996; Downs 2006; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017), five trials included adults (Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013; Wildman 2022), and one trial included children and adults (Gur 2016). No interventions specifically targeted the families of people with CF or MDTs. Nine trials compared a psychological intervention with a usual care control group (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022), and one compared a psychological intervention (MI) with an active comparator (EPS) (Riekert 2013).

Given the heterogeneity of the participants, interventions, and outcome measures, statistical analysis was limited, and we have summarised the main outcomes at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point in the summary of findings tables (Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2). Due to the limited number of included trials and the variety of the interventions, we were unable to investigate the most effective components, or BCTs, for improving adherence. We have, however, identified a hierarchy of the most common BCTs that feature in these studies (Table 1). Psychological interventions were generally multi-component and complex, containing an average of 9.6 BCTs; the most frequently used BCTs were 'problem solving' and 'instruction on how to perform the behaviour' (Michie 2013). The 10 trials differed in the outcomes and the time points assessed (ranging from six to eight weeks post-intervention (Cottrell 1996) to 23 months postintervention (Knudsen 2016)).

#### Psychological interventions versus usual care

All nine trials included in this comparison reported on our primary outcome of adherence, using a variety of outcome measures. Only three trials suggested evidence of an effect of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. When measured objectively, using data-logging nebulisers, results from one large, 19-centre trial (607 participants) showed that a digital intervention (CFHealthHub) combined with behaviour change sessions with trained interventionists, can increase adherence to inhaled therapies in adults with CF by 18% (9.5% increase from baseline) at 12 months, compared with usual care (Wildman 2022). This trial used 23 BCTs, the joint second highest of all included trials (see 'Table 1').

A further two trials showed an increase in adherence between groups, but these were assessed using subjective measures (e.g. standardised questionnaires or participant diaries) (Downs 2006; Knudsen 2016). One of these trials (n = 51) assessed a 10-week self-management paper-based workbook exercise completed by children with CF and their parents/caregivers at home (Downs 2006). Results demonstrated that post-intervention, adherence to aerosol treatments was 16.6% greater in the intervention group compared with usual care, but this was not sustained at six months and 12 months. This trial used 28 BCTs, the largest number of all included trials (see 'Table 1'). Results from the second trial suggested that, compared with usual care, a life-coaching intervention improved adherence to dornase alfa in adults with CF (n = 28) at one year-post intervention (Knudsen 2016). This trial used the fewest BCTs of all included trials (n = 1; Table 1). There was a difference of 1.72 in favour of the intervention on the MMAS-8 (Morisky 2008); however, it is unclear if the differences are of any clinical significance, as the scores on this measure would still meet the cut-off for 'low adherence'. There was also no evidence of an effect of the intervention at any other reported time point, or for the other treatment measured (inhaled antibiotics).

For our second primary outcome, treatment-related adverse events, no trial found a difference between groups on anxiety or depression at any time point.

For our secondary outcomes, there was no evidence of a difference between groups in terms of pulmonary exacerbations or lung function (measured using  $FEV_1\%$  predicted), although one trial found the rate of decline in  $FEV_1$  over 12 months was less among intervention participants (0.1%) compared with usual care (1.4%) (Wildman 2022). In terms of QoL, the adjusted data from the Wildman 2022 trial demonstrated a difference in favour of the CFHealthHub intervention on treatment burden at 12 months compared with usual care (MD 3.90, 95% CI 1.20 to 6.60; Analysis 1.21). A further trial found behaviour change counselling had a greater effect on body image at three months than usual care (Analysis 1.24; Quinn 2004). No other trial reported a difference on any QoL domain.

In summary, psychological interventions probably improve our primary outcome of adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF at over six months and up to 12 months (one trial; 588 participants; moderate-certainty evidence). There was no evidence to suggest they may have an effect on treatment-related adverse events, anxiety or depression, at the same time point (one trial; 534 to 535 participants; low-certainty evidence). For our secondary outcomes, psychological interventions probably make little or no difference to lung function measured by  $\text{FEV}_1$  % predicted (one trial; 556 participants; moderate-certainty evidence), pulmonary exacerbations (one trial; 607 participants; moderate-certainty evidence), or the QoL domain of respiratory symptoms (one trial; 534 participants; low-certainty evidence). There is, however, lowcertainty evidence to suggest that psychological interventions may improve the QoL domain of treatment burden (one trial; 539 participants) (Summary of findings 1).

# Psychological intervention (MI) versus active comparator (EPS)

For our second comparison, we identified one trial involving 128 participants which compared an MI intervention with EPS (Riekert 2013). The authors reported medians and IQR, so we were unable to analyse the data in our review. The original paper reported that no intervention effects were found for adherence (cMPR), QoL, lung function, or pulmonary exacerbations at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point. The authors reported that the MI group had an improvement in treatment burden compared with the EPS group at six months (P = 0.006; no effect size reported; Riekert 2013), but this was not sustained at 12 months. We found that the overall certainty of the evidence from this single trial was very low across outcomes. We are therefore uncertain whether an MI intervention (compared with EPS) improves adherence to inhaled therapies, lung function, or QoL in people with CF. We are also uncertain whether there is an effect on pulmonary exacerbations. The included trial for this comparison did not report on treatmentrelated adverse events (anxiety and depression) (Summary of findings 2).

Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#### **Overall completeness and applicability of evidence**

Many of the included trials had small sample sizes and were heterogenous in terms of participants (age), interventions (content and mode of delivery), and outcomes (measures, number and range of assessment time points). For these reasons, it was not possible to identify an overall intervention effect using metaanalysis, which therefore limits the overall completeness and, ultimately, the generalisation of the evidence to the wider CF population at present. The results of five trials are awaited (Jirasek 2022; O'Hayer 2019; Phan 2021; Thee 2021; White 2017). We will report on these trials in the next update of the review.

Our planned subgroup analyses by types of participants (e.g. children and adolescents with CF; adults with CF; families of people with CF; or MDTs) or to compare trials assessing adherence to multiple CF treatments versus those that focused on inhaled therapies only were not possible due to the limited data available (Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity). Although children and adolescents were included in four trials in this review (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Quittner 2019; Shakkottai 2017), two trials assessed short-term outcomes (less than three months) (Cottrell 1996; Shakkottai 2017); one trial assessed only one of our outcomes, adherence (Downs 2006); and the results of one large, multicentre trial were difficult to interpret due to post-intervention means (and SDs) not being reported for most outcomes (Quittner 2019). It is likely that an intervention will work in slightly different ways for children and adolescents (who may have high parent/caregiver involvement), compared with adults with CF. The overall completeness and applicability of evidence to children and adolescents with CF may therefore be limited.

We had also planned to investigate which BCTs are most effective for improving adherence, and whether the number of BCTs used in an intervention can affect adherence. From the current available evidence, this was not possible.

Many of the interventions were complex and multi-component, and included a range of BCTs, and there was also variety in the types of psychological intervention delivered (Included studies). It should be noted that some of the interventions were non-specific and focused on either adherence to CF treatments in general (Cottrell 1996; Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013), or multiple CF treatments (Downs 2006; Shakkottai 2017); only three were focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies only (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022). This makes it challenging to draw conclusions on the efficacy of an intervention in relation to the primary or secondary outcomes of the review.

Interventions were delivered in a variety of modes, and included individual; face-to-face; telephone- or paper-based interventions; or the use of digital technology (e.g. website; mobile application or 'app'; device such as home spirometer). The oldest study in this review delivered the intervention in a group, face-to-face setting (Cottrell 1996), but face-to-face group interventions are no longer recommended for people with CF due to infection control guidelines (Conway 2008).

A previous Cochrane Review highlighted likely inclusion bias in adherence trials, with participants having higher than average adherence at baseline (Nieuwlaat 2014). Some of our included trials reported relatively large numbers of participants who had declined to take part (Cottrell 1996; Knudsen 2016; Wildman 2022); whilst others did not report this information at all. Some trials also highlighted a possible ceiling effect (Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), as their recruited participants had baseline adherence rates already higher than 'real world' adherence (Daniels 2011; Hoo 2019; Hoo 2020; Hoo 2021). If people with higher adherence at baseline are recruited, this reduces the statistical power of trials to detect a difference post-intervention (as the intervention and control groups will be more similar). This could therefore influence the applicability of the evidence.

Lastly, it should be noted that the included trials were conducted prior to the availability of highly-effective CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) modulator treatments for many people with CF (e.g. ivacaftor-tezacaftor-elexacaftor). These treatments have changed the landscape of CF care, including the relationship that people with CF (and their families) may have with their condition and treatments, their patterns of adherence, as well as clinician views and prescribing practices (Granger 2022). An ongoing observational study in the UK, the National Efficacy-Effectiveness Modulator Optimisation (NEEMO) programme, is exploring adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF before and after commencing modulator treatments, and in those not prescribed modulator treatments (NCT05519020). It will also look at the relationship between adherence to inhaled therapies and outcomes (e.g. lung function) among adults with CF who are prescribed modulator treatments. Another observational study, the Home-Reported Outcomes (HERO-2) study, is taking place in the USA to investigate the changes in lung function among individuals who have made treatment changes after initiating ivacaftor-tezacaftor-elexacaftor treatment (NCT04798014). Additionally, there are ongoing trials investigating the withdrawal of mucolytic treatments following the introduction of CFTR modulator therapy, including CF STORM in the UK (ISRCTN14081521) and SIMPLIFY in the USA (NCT04378153).

#### Quality of the evidence

This review draws on data from 10 trials (1642 participants) which include children and adolescents with CF (and their parents or caregivers) or adults with CF. We have concerns regarding risk of bias in several domains in the included trials (Risk of bias in included studies; Figure 2). The generation of allocation sequence was unclear in three trials (Cottrell 1996; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017) and high in one trial (Gur 2016), while allocation concealment was at high risk of bias in two trials (Downs 2006; Gur 2016) and unclear in five trials (Cottrell 1996; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017). Blinding of outcome assessors was unclear in six trials (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013) and high risk in four trials (Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Shakkottai 2017; Wildman 2022). Only three trials had a low risk of bias from incomplete outcome data (Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), three trials had an unclear risk (Gur 2016; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017), and four trials had a high risk of bias (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019). We judged only two trials to have a low risk of bias from selective reporting (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022); the remainder of studies had an unclear (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Quinn 2004; Riekert 2013; Shakkottai 2017) or high (Knudsen 2016; Quittner 2019) risk of bias on this domain. We judged three studies to have a high risk of bias from other potential sources (Cottrell 1996; Quittner 2019; Riekert 2013), and one had an unclear risk (Gur 2016).

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
Treatment arms (both intervention and control) were not always described in sufficient detail in terms of the frequency, scheduling, duration, and content of the sessions. Additionally, nine out of 10 included trials reported that participants in the control or comparison group received 'treatment as usual' or 'usual care', but they did not describe what this consisted of, and this is known to vary across countries, across CF centres within countries, and even across individuals within the same CF centre.

Most included trials had small sample sizes; seven trials had fewer than 100 participants and many stated they were underpowered (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Knudsen 2016; Quinn 2004; Shakkottai 2017). Underpowered trials are more likely to miss a meaningful difference in adherence, even when improving adherence substantially, and showing an effect on clinical outcomes is likely even harder (Nieuwlaat 2014). Some trials were feasibility studies but no larger, follow-on RCT was conducted. Even the largest trial in this review was underpowered to find a difference in medication adherence, due to missing data and attrition (Quittner 2019).

Lastly, in some trials, the intervention that was delivered deviated from what was planned in the protocol, e.g. in one trial, most participants only completed 2.5 of the planned four sessions (Quittner 2019); in another trial, the average use of the daily medication reminder feature of the intervention was only 50.23% (Shakkottai 2017); and in two trials, the number of cancelled sessions meant it was not possible to follow the original schedule of intervals between intervention sessions and the programmes had to be extended (Gur 2016; Knudsen 2016). One trial also reported some challenges with recruitment, with some participants not wanting to commit to Skype video calls or WhatsApp messages (Gur 2016). In trials that reported intervention fidelity assessments, scores ranged from 67% (covering a 51% to 80% range across different CF centres) (Quittner 2019) to 93-97% (Wildman 2022). This variation could influence the effectiveness of the intervention, as well as the reliability and validity of conclusions drawn.

Using GRADE, we found that the overall certainty of the evidence for the comparison of psychological interventions versus usual care at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point ranged from low to moderate (Summary of findings 1). We deemed the outcomes, adherence to inhaled therapies, lung function, and pulmonary exacerbations to provide moderate-certainty evidence, downgraded only for indirectness as there was only one trial included at this time point which exclusively included adults (aged 16 years and over), whereas our review question was broader and focused on people with CF of all ages. We deemed the certainty of evidence for treatment-related adverse events (anxiety and depression) and QoL (treatment burden and respiratory symptoms) to be low, downgraded due to indirectness (as above) and an unclear risk of detection bias.

For our second comparison of a psychological intervention (MI) versus an active comparator arm (EPS), we found that the overall certainty of the evidence from a single trial was very low across outcomes at the 'over six months and up to 12 months' time point (Summary of findings 2). The outcomes adherence to inhaled therapies, QoL, lung function and pulmonary exacerbations were downgraded due to: imprecision stemming from low participant numbers; indirectness because the trial included only adults (aged 16 years and above); and an unclear risk of selection and attrition bias (and detection bias for QoL, due to outcome assessors not

being blinded). The trial did not measure our primary outcome of treatment-related adverse events (anxiety and depression).

# Potential biases in the review process

Any deviations from our published protocol (Dawson 2020) are noted with reasons in 'Differences between protocol and review'.

We are confident that our search strategies have identified all relevant trials. The selection of trials, data extraction, risk of bias assessment and BCT coding were independently conducted by at least two authors. Disagreements were resolved by discussion or by consultation with a third review author as necessary. Two review authors who are or were involved with a wider programme of work linked to two included trials, though not the trials themselves, were not involved in the selection, data extraction, risk of bias assessments or BCT coding for these trials (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022).

While we were successful in obtaining additional information from the authors of five trials (Downs 2006; Gur 2016; Hind 2017; Quinn 2004; Wildman 2022), some trials were excluded due to a lack of available information and no response from investigators to our queries. We were unable to obtain additional information or data for some outcomes, e.g. MPR data for individual drugs, or results for participants on inhaled therapies only in trials that reported a composite adherence measure.

A strength of the review is the use of the BCT taxonomy to code the 'active ingredients' or components of the interventions. The taxonomy aims to standardise terminology across research and so was useful in categorising the components of the interventions. Previous Cochrane Reviews on adherence (Nieuwlaat 2014) and CF-specific reviews (Goldbeck 2014; Savage 2014) have not used a coding framework, so this review has improved on existing methodologies. Understanding the 'active ingredients' of promising interventions will make it easier to replicate effective interventions; will reduce the potential waste of time and resources on trials of ineffective techniques (Michie 2009); and will inform adherence research in the future (Nieuwlaat 2014).

However, the coding of BCTs is limited to information reported in the included trials. We contacted all trial authors to request further information (e.g. protocols); only two provided intervention manuals (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022), and the lead author of one trial provided the intervention worksheets which could be coded (Downs 2006). Consequently, we could not code some potential BCTs in the included trials due to there being insufficient details reported. This might mean that some BCTs were used in the interventions but have not been described in this review. This highlights the need for more clarity and transparency in the reporting of interventions (Michie 2009).

# Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

To our knowledge, this is the only systematic review to investigate the effectiveness of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF. This is also the first review to examine the BCTs used in interventions with people with CF.

Three of our included trials were also included in two other Cochrane Reviews. Two trials (Cottrell 1996; Downs 2006) were

Cochrane

Library

included in a review of self-management education for CF (Savage 2014). In contrast to the Savage 2014 review, we judged these two studies to have a high risk of bias from incomplete outcome data (attrition bias), whereas Savage 2014 judged them to have an unclear risk of bias for this domain. We also assessed treatmentrelated adverse events (anxiety and depression) in our review, which Savage 2014 did not. The Quinn 2004 trial was included in a review of psychological interventions for individuals with CF and their families (Goldbeck 2014). The Goldbeck 2014 review judged the Quinn trial to have an unclear risk of bias from allocation concealment (selection bias), and a low risk of bias from blinding (performance bias and detection bias). In contrast, we judged this trial to have a low risk of bias in relation to allocation concealment, and an unclear risk of bias from blinding of outcome assessors (Quinn 2004). These discrepancies might be explained by us being able to obtain additional information from unpublished data (thesis), in addition to the conference abstract for this trial (Quinn 2004).

This review is in agreement with other, CF-related reviews and general adherence reviews, which have highlighted the limitations of many included trials in terms of having small sample sizes and being underpowered to detect a meaningful difference in adherence (Goldbeck 2014; Nieuwlaat 2014).

Our review was more specific and focused on adherence to inhaled therapies in CF in particular, more so than the Cochrane Review of psychological interventions for individuals with CF and their families (Goldbeck 2014). The Goldbeck 2014 review was more general and, although adherence to treatment was assessed as a secondary outcome, interventions were focused on a range of outcomes, e.g. well-being and functioning, lung function, weight and height or body mass index (BMI), adherence to treatment etc. (Goldbeck 2014). The authors in that review categorised the different types of interventions into 1. Cognitive behavioural; 2. Cognitive; 3. Family systems or systemic; 4. Psychodynamic; or 5. Other interventions. We did not predefine the eligible types of psychological interventions in our protocol (Dawson 2020), as psychological interventions are often wide-ranging and varied, and we did not want to limit the scope of the review. We did, however, look beyond psychological interventions in the traditional sense (such as cognitive behavioural therapy) and included psychological interventions delivered via therapy, as well as those focused more specifically on behaviour change.

# AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

# **Implications for practice**

Due to the limited quantity of trials included in this review, as well as their clinical and methodological heterogeneity, there is insufficient evidence to clearly recommend or refute the use of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies for people with cystic fibrosis (CF) in clinical practice. There is some moderate-certainty evidence to suggest that psychological interventions probably improve adherence to inhaled therapies in adults with CF compared with usual care, and may have little or no effect on treatment-related adverse events such as anxiety and depression (low-certainty evidence). Psychological interventions may also improve treatment burden (low-certainty evidence). In addition, based on the very lowcertainty evidence from one relatively small trial, we are uncertain whether a psychological intervention (motivational interviewing (MI)) improves adherence to inhaled therapies, lung function or quality of life (QoL), or reduces pulmonary exacerbations in people with CF when compared with an active comparator intervention (education plus problem-solving (EPS)).

It is promising that one included trial showed that a psychological intervention focused on supporting adults with CF to build habits for treatment-taking can increase adherence to inhaled therapies whilst reducing perceived treatment burden (Wildman 2022). This is an area of importance amongst the CF community, since "simplifying the treatment burden" and "improving and sustaining adherence to treatment" have been identified as two of the top 10 CF research priorities in the James Lind Alliance Priority Setting Partnership (Davies 2020; Rowbotham 2018). While it is often assumed that simplifying treatment regimens reduces perceived burden and thereby increases adherence (Schultz 2022), the results of the included trial suggest that there are other ways of reducing perceived treatment burden other than withdrawing treatments or replacing treatments with those perceived to be less burdensome (Rowbotham 2022). This may be consistent with previous research highlighting the role of habit on adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF (Arden 2019; Ball 2013; Hoo 2017; Hoo 2019a), and the suggestion that habit (i.e. "automatically experiencing an urge to use a nebuliser" (Hoo 2019a)) may attenuate the relationship between treatment complexity and perceived treatment burden (Hoo 2017). However, adherence seems to be particularly challenging during adolescence and the transition to adult care (Sawicki 2018). This is the age group with the greatest risk of lung function decline (VandenBranden 2012). It is therefore likely that an intervention will work in slightly different ways for children and adolescents (who may have high parent/ caregiver involvement), compared with adults with CF.

Despite previous research highlighting the discrepancy between objective and subjective methods of measuring adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF (Daniels 2011; Thorton 2013; Warnock 2020), objective measures are rarely used in practice (Robinson 2020). An ongoing observational study ('CFHealthHub Data Observatory') (ISRCTN14464661), being conducted in parallel with one of the included trials in this review (Wildman 2022), aims to address this by integrating objective adherence measurement (available from data-logging nebulisers) into routine CF care, using learning from the randomised controlled trial (RCT) and quality improvement cycles. Over 50% of UK adult CF centres are now involved in the digital learning health system, which also serves as a Trials within Cohorts (TWICs) platform, collecting data from a large number of people with CF as part of routine care with the aim of overcoming some of the challenges associated with conducting trials in rare conditions like CF (e.g. high costs and small sample sizes) (Wildman 2022).

A previous Cochrane Review highlighted that CF teams need training in mental health in order to integrate manualised psychological interventions, including those aimed at supporting adherence, into CF care (Goldbeck 2014). We would argue that non-adherence should be viewed as "the norm" rather than the exception (NICE 2009), and as a "problem of humans" (Wildman 2014), akin to other health behaviours (e.g. physical inactivity, low fruit and vegetable intake) (WHO 2021). Adherence is a skillset that can be developed, and whilst mental health training and expertise within CF teams is undoubtedly important, healthcare professionals also need training and expertise in facilitating



'normal' human behaviour change, which includes supporting adherence. As highlighted in one of the included studies in this review, the competing clinical demands of healthcare professionals can influence the extent to which an intervention can be implemented in practice (e.g. limiting the amount of training and supervision that can be provided) (Quittner 2019). The implementation of psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in practice may therefore require specially trained interventionists (Goldbeck 2014), and thus, it may be necessary to develop roles for health psychologists, with expertise in behaviour change, or to increase the behavioural expertise of other healthcare professionals (e.g. physiotherapists, nurses).

Finally, despite healthcare professionals being trained to deliver interventions in the included trials, the fidelity of interventions varied (and even across CF centres involved in multicentre trials), and this is likely to be even more of a problem outside the carefully managed and controlled environment of an RCT. It is therefore important to consider how intervention fidelity can be assessed and improved, where necessary, in practice (e.g. through direct observation, audits, coaching and supervision, refresher training (Breitenstein 2010)), to ensure that the 'active ingredients' of interventions are delivered.

### Implications for research

Protocol deviations such as those seen in the included trials in this review may influence results, and the reasons for them should be taken into account when planning future trials (e.g. they can inform about trial feasibility and acceptability).

In future trials, investigators should use the most objective measures of adherence available to accurately determine intervention effects. With the development of data-logging nebulisers (e.g. Philips I-neb AAD system and PARI eTrack®), which record time- and date-stamped usage data, measuring adherence to inhaled therapies using this method should be the 'goldstandard', particularly in countries where such devices are available (e.g. the UK). In the absence of objective 'recorded' methods (e.g. data-logging nebulisers), measuring adherence using pharmacy refill data or medication possession ratio (MPR) (i.e. objective 'count' methods) should be the next best alternative. However, MPR is less granular than electronic data capture and, as an indirect measure, tends to overestimate adherence, with recent research highlighting the gap between the supply of inhaled therapies and actual usage in adults with CF (Bevan 2022a; Bevan 2022b). Indeed, increases in adherence may not be detected using MPR, as people with CF could be using up their existing supplies of medicines rather than collecting or requesting new supplies. Subjective measures of adherence (e.g. participant diaries and self-report questionnaires such as the MMAS-8 (Morisky 2008)) appear to be less widely used in more recent trials. This is promising as it shows that the methodology is advancing alongside evidence that highlights the discrepancy between objective and subjective measures of adherence (Daniels 2011; Thorton 2013; Warnock 2020).

When adherence is measured, there is often a lack of consistency in the assessment time periods. It is important for investigators to allow time for a 'run-in' period to overcome issues of increased adherence due to a novelty effect (Shin 2018), or 'white coat adherence', which are often short-lived (Apter 1998; Modi 2012; Podsadecki 2008). Adherence is complex and varies across times and situations, and so measuring adherence over a longer period of time where possible is important in order to gain a more accurate assessment of adherence, although there is no consensus on how long adherence should be monitored for.

The reporting of interventions could be improved, for example, when reporting a composite MPR (cMPR), the MPRs for individual treatments should be reported alongside cMPR data where possible to allow the differentiation between MPRs for individual treatments. Investigators should also clearly report the time intervals for the data collection and, where multiple versions of a measure are available, e.g. the CFQ-R (Quittner 2009), investigators should specify which version has been used (e.g. Teen/Adult or Older child 12 to 13 years or Young child 6 to 11 years or Parent/ caregiver 6 to 13 years) and whether different versions have been used with different participants in the trial, to facilitate data analysis where appropriate.

Furthermore, details of intervention mode of delivery, duration and intensity (e.g. number and duration of sessions) should be provided in order to better understand how interventions could be implemented in clinical practice (Hoffmann 2014). It would also be helpful if investigators provided more details on the content of interventions, including the care provided to the control group (whether that is an active comparator or usual care (Michie 2009)), and described the BCTs used. This would help to create a shared language and more easily enable the comparison of interventions (e.g. using meta-regression to investigate the impact of type and number of BCTs on intervention effectiveness).

In this review, outcomes were assessed using a variety of measures, which makes it difficult to compare and combine the results. Depression, for example, was measured using four different scales: eight-item Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (PHQ-8) (Kroenke 2009); Major Depression Inventory (MDI) (Bech 2001); Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff 1977); and Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) (Zigmond 1983); anxiety using three: HADS (Zigmond 1983), State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI)-short form (Marteau 1992), and Generalised Anxiety Disorder (GAD)-7 (Spitzer 2006); and two trials even used multiple measures to assess one outcome. This highlights the need for a 'core' outcome set in CF (Dwan 2013), an agreed, standardised set of outcomes that should be measured to improve the comparability of trials (Williamson 2017).

In addition, participants should be recruited to adherence trials because their adherence is low, not just because they are willing to participate. It is not only important to consider attrition and withdrawals, but who is volunteering to take part in adherence trials in the first place (and who is declining). Given the issues with adherence during adolescence and the transition to adult care which are highlighted above (Implications for practice), more research is needed to assess the possible differences in the BCTs used in different populations (e.g. whether some BCTs are more effective when used in paediatrics compared to adult care). More research is also needed to understand how to support adherence in 'under-served' or 'harder to reach' CF populations.

Lastly, when designing RCTs, it is important that intervention designers, researchers and clinicians consider how interventions will be embedded into practice. Of the trials included in this review, many interventions were delivered by healthcare professionals rather than researchers (e.g. registered nurses,

physiotherapists, psychologists etc.), which is promising and suggests that healthcare professionals can be trained to deliver such interventions.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group, especially Nikki Jahnke who provided support and guidance at various stages of developing and writing the protocol and review. We also appreciate the guidance from Sherie Smith on the development of the summary of findings table and GRADE assessments, and Iain Stewart for discussion on the results. Additionally, our thanks to Ben Hunt for assisting with the accessing and translation of the thesis published in French (that was subsequently excluded).

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health.



# References to studies included in this review

# Cottrell 1996 {published data only}

\* Cottrell CK, Young GA, Creer TL, Holroyd KA, Kotses H. The development and evaluation of a self-management program for cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Asthma, Allergy & Immunology* 1996;**10**(3):109-18. [CENTRAL: CN-01412414] [CFGD REGISTER: MH31a] [DOI: 10.1089/pai.1996.10.109]

Cottrell CK. The effects of self-management training in children/adolescents with cystic fibrosis. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Ohio University, Ohio, USA (first received 1994). [CENTRAL: CN-01412369] [CFGD REGISTER: MH31b]

# Downs 2006 {published data only}

Downs JA, Roberts CM, Blackmore AM, Le Souef PN, Jenkins SC. Benefits of an education programme on the self-management of aerosol and airway clearance treatments for children with cystic fibrosis. *Chronic Respiratory Disease* 2006;**3**(1):19-27. [CENTRAL: CN-00563017] [CFGD REGISTER: MH18] [DOI: 10.1191/1479972306cd1000a] [EMBASE: 2006077516] [PMID: 16509174]

# Gur 2016 {published and unpublished data}

Gur M, Nir V, Teleshov A, Bar-Yoseph R, Manor E, Diab G, et al. The use of telehealth (WhatsApp and Skype based communication) in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2016;**15 Suppl 1**:S109. [CENTRAL: CN-01334187] [CFGD REGISTER: MH46b] [EMBASE: 614323572]

\* Gur M, Nir V, Teleshov A, Bar-Yoseph R, Manor E, Diab G, et al. The use of telehealth (text messaging and video communications) in patients with cystic fibrosis: a pilot study. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare* 2017;**23**(4):489-93. [CENTRAL: CN-01412392] [CFGD REGISTER: MH46a] [PMID: 27177869]

# Hind 2017 {published data only}

Arden MA, Drabble S, O'Cathain A, Hutchings M, Wildman M. Adherence to medication in adults with Cystic Fibrosis: An investigation using objective adherence data and the Theoretical Domains Framework. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2019;**24**(2):357–80. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53p] [DOI: 10.1111/bjhp.12357]

Arden MA, Drabble SJ, O'Cathain A, Hutchings M, Wildman M. ACtiF study: understanding adherence to nebuliser treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis using the Theoretical Domains Framework. In: Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. Vol. 15. 2016:S26. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53c] [DOI: 10.1016/S1569-1993(16)30151-5]

Arden MA, Hutchings M, Nightingale JA, Allenby M, Dewar J, Oliver C, et al. CFHealthHub: understanding psychosocial differences between high, medium and low adherers to nebuliser treatment: an exploratory analysis of data from CFHealthHub two centre pilot trial. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017;**16 Suppl 1**:S60. [CENTRAL: CN-01461910] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53d] [EMBASE: 620749167]

Arden MA, Hutchings M, Whelan P, Drabble SJ, Beever D, Bradley J, et al. Development of an intervention to increase

adherence to nebuliser treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis: CFHealthHub. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies* 2021;**7**(1):1. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53m] [DOI: 10.1186/s40814-020-00739-2]

Drabble SJ, O'Cathain A, Arden MA, Hutchings M, Beever D, Wildman M. When Is forgetting not forgetting? A discursive analysis of differences in forgetting talk between adults with cystic fibrosis with different levels of adherence to nebulizer treatments. *Qualitative Health Research* 2019;**29**(14):2119–31. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53q] [DOI: 10.1177/1049732319856580]

Drabble SJ, O'Cathain A, Scott AJ, Arden MA, Keating S, Hutchings M, et al. Mechanisms of action of a web-based intervention with health professional support to increase adherence to nebulizer treatments in adults with cystic fibrosis: qualitative interview study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2020;**22**(10):e16782. [CENTRAL: CN-02139984] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53e] [EMBASE: 632427980] [PMID: 32697197]

Gao J, Arden M, Hoo ZH, Wildman M. Understanding patient activation and adherence to nebuliser treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis: responses to the UK version of PAM-13 and a think aloud study. *BMC Health Services Research* 2019;**19**:420. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53r] [DOI: 10.1186/s12913-019-4260-5]

Hind D, Drabble SJ, Arden MA, Mandefield L, Waterhouse S, Maguire C, et al. Feasibility study for supporting medication adherence for adults with cystic fibrosis: mixed-methods process evaluation. *BMJ Open* 2020;**10**(10):e039089. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53s] [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039089]

\* Hind D, Drabble SJ, Arden MA, Mandefield L, Waterhouse S, Maguire C, et al. Supporting medication adherence for adults with cystic fibrosis: a randomised feasibility study. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2019;**19**(1):77. [CENTRAL: CN-01938950] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53g] [DOI: 10.1186/s12890-019-0834-6] [EMBASE: 627140721] [PMID: 30975206]

Hind D, Maguire C, Cantrill H, O'Cathain A, Wildman M. CFHealthHub: complex intervention to support adherence to treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis: external pilot trial. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017;**16 Suppl 1**:S40. [ABSTRACT NO.: EPS2.8] [CENTRAL: CN-01461879] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53a] [EMBASE: 620749594]

Hoo ZH, Edenborough FP, Curley R, Prtak L, Dewar J, Allenby MI, et al. Understanding Pseudomonas status among adults with cystic fibrosis: a real-world comparison of the Leeds criteria against clinicians' decision. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 2018;**37**(4):735-43. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53j] [DOI: 10.1007/s10096-017-3168-4]

Hoo ZH, Gardner B, Arden MA, Waterhouse S, Walters SJ, Campbell MJ, et al. Role of habit in treatment adherence among adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2019;**74**(2):197-9. [CENTRAL: CN-01930335] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53f] [PMID: 29886416]

Hoo ZH, Waterhouse S, Nightingale JA, Dewar J, Allenby M, Haynes F, et al. CFHealthHub: using Leeds criteria and clinicians' decision to determine the pseudomonas status among the 64 adults with cystic fibrosis in the two centre CFHealthHub (CFHH) pilot study. In: Journal of Cystic Fibrosis.

Vol. 16 Suppl 1. 2017:S105. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53i] [DOI: 10.1016/S1569-1993(17)30519-2]

Hutchings M, Kirkpatrick S, Arden MA, Drabble SJ, Maguire C, Cantrill H, et al. Modelling successful self-management in adults with cystic fibrosis: vicarious self-efficacy from videos of 'people like me'. *Cureus* 2022;**14**(7):e26511. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53t] [DOI: 10.7759/cureus.26511]

ISRCTN13076797. Adherence to treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis [Development and evaluation of an intervention to support Adherence to treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis: A feasibility study comprised of an external pilot randomised controlled trial and process evaluation (WP 3.1)]. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ISRCTN13076797 (date of registration 7 June 2016). [CFGD REGISTER: MH53k]

Sadler S, Wildman M, Tappenden P. Cost-effectiveness of a complex adherence intervention to improve prevention in cystic fibrosis by empowering effective self-management: an exploratory health economic evaluation using UK Registry data. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2016;**15 Suppl**:S119. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53h] [DOI: 10.1016/S1569-1993(16)30505-7]

Tappenden P, Sadler S, Wildman M. An early health economic analysis of the potential cost effectiveness of an adherence intervention to improve outcomes for patients with cystic fibrosis. *PharmacoEconomics* 2017;**35**(6):647-59. [CENTRAL: CN-01336764] [CFGD REGISTER: MH53b] [EMBASE: 614979129] [PMID: 28337719]

# Knudsen 2016 {published data only}

Knudsen KB, Boisen KA, Katzenstein TL, Mortensen LH, Pressler T, Skov M, et al. Living with cystic fibrosis - a qualitative study of a life coaching intervention. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2018;**12**:585-94. [CFGD REGISTER: MH48c] [DOI: 10.2147/PPA.S159306]

Knudsen KB, Pressler T, Mortensen LH, Boisen KA, Skov M, Quittner AL, et al. Coach to cope: feasibility of a coaching intervention for young adults with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2016;**51 Suppl 45**:464-5. [CENTRAL: CN-01212563] [CFGD REGISTER: MH48a] [EMBASE: 612359035]

\* Knudsen KB, Pressler T, Mortensen LH, Jarden M, Boisen KA, Skov M, et al. Coach to cope: feasibility of a life coaching program for young adults with cystic fibrosis. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2017;**11**:1613-23. [CENTRAL: CN-01422904] [CFGD REGISTER: MH48b] [EMBASE: 618493577]

NCT02110914. A coaching intervention to young adults with cystic fibrosis [Coach to Cope. Coaching young adults with cystic fibrosis - a feasibility study]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT02110914 (first posted 10 April 2014).

# Quinn 2004 {published and unpublished data}

ISRCTN86935165. Measurement of, and psychological intervention with, partial adherence to inhaled antibiotic therapies in adults with cystic fibrosis. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ISRCTN86935165 (date of registration 30 September 2004). Quinn J, Latchford G, Duff A, Conner M, Pollard K, Morrison L, et al. Measuring, predicting and improving adherence to inhalation therapy in patients with CF: a randomised controlled study of motivational interviewing. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**38 Suppl 27**:360. [CENTRAL: CN-00507915] [CFGD REGISTER: MH15]

\* Quinn JE. A study to measure adherence with inhaled therapies in patients with cystic fibrosis and to assess the potential value of psychological interventions aimed at addressing barriers to good compliance. Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Thesis 2004.

### Quittner 2019 {published data only}

Alpern AN, McLean KA, Becker EM, Riekert KA, Quittner AL. Predictors of providers' competence delivering a problemsolving adherence intervention. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2016;**51 Suppl 45**:458. [CENTRAL: CN-01212594] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29p] [EMBASE: 612358752]

Alpern AN, McLean KA, Marciel KK, Zhang J, Riekert KA, Quittner AL. Effects of clinical supervision on treatment fidelity in ICare. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012;**47 Suppl 35**:433. [ABSTRACT NO.: 572] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29g]

Barker D, Quittner AL, Riekert KA. Relating patterns of social support from friends and family to health-related quality of life. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;**48 Suppl 36**:433. [ABSTRACT NO.: 615] [CENTRAL: CN-00875656] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29k]

Blackwell LS, Marciel KK, Romero CV, Quittner AL. Pain assessment in children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis: utilizing an online pain diary. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011;**46 Suppl 34**:411. [CENTRAL: CN-01003735] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29d] [EMBASE: 70555418]

Blackwell LS, Quittner AL. Daily pain in adolescents with CF: effects on adherence, psychological symptoms, and healthrelated quality of life. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50**(3):244-51. [CENTRAL: CN-01046754] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29I] [PMID: 25187182]

Blackwell LS, Romero SL, Marciel KK, Romero CV, Quittner AL. Pain in adolescents and young adults with CF: location, severity, and predictors. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012;**47 Suppl 35**:430. [ABSTRACT NO.: 561] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29j]

Eakin MN, Bilderback A, Ridge A, Kimburg C, Marciel K, Swenson A, et al. Disparities by socioeconomic status in health outcomes in pediatric CF patients. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45 Suppl 33**:449. [ABSTRACT NO.: 449] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29r]

Eakin MN, Bilderback A, Ridge A, Quittner AL, Zhang J, Riekert KA. Out-of-pocket costs for medication in the I change adherence and raise expectations (ICARE) study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011;**46 Suppl 34**:420. [ABSTRACT NO.: 568] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29c]

Kimberg CI, Marciel KK, Riekert KA, Zhang J, Quittner AL. Knowledge of disease management in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45 Suppl 33**:447. [ABSTRACT NO.: 625] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29v]

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews



Marciel KK, Hernandez C, Kimberg CI, Zhang J, Riekert KA, Quittner AL. Developmental differences in health-related quality of life and associations between treatments and patient burden in the I change adherence and raise expectations (ICARE) study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011;**46 Suppl 34**:419. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29b]

Marciel KK, Kimberg CI, Riekert KA, Swenson A, Quittner AL. Participation of multidisciplinary team members in a behavioural intervention to improve adherence in adolescents with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45 Suppl 33**:437. [ABSTRACT NO.: 599] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29a]

McLean KA, Quittner AL, Alpern AN, Marciel KK, Riekert KA. Healthcare provider acceptability of problem-solving in the I change adherence and raise expectations (iCARE) study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;**48 Suppl 36**:437. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29i]

NCT01232478. I Change Adherence & Raise Expectations iCARE [I Change Adherence & Raise Expectations]. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NCT01232478 (date of registration 28 October 2010).

NCT01232478. I change adherence & raise expectations. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01232478 (first posted 02 November 2010). [CFGD REGISTER: MH29t]

Nicolais CJ, Bernstein R, Riekert KA, Quittner AL. Parent knowledge of disease management in cystic fibrosis: assessing behavioral treatment management. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2018;**53**(2):162-73. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29q]

Nicolais CJ, Saez-Flores E, Bernstein R, Riekert KA, Eakin MN, Bilderback A, et al. Frequency of self-reported barriers in relation to medication adherence in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50 Suppl 41**:365. [CENTRAL: CN-01126910] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29n] [EMBASE: 72081740]

Quittner A, Kimberg C, Marciel K, Zhang J, Riekert K. Randomized, controlled trial of a behavioral adherence intervention for adolescents with cystic fibrosis: I change adherence and raise expectations (iCARE). *Chest* 2011;**140**(4 Suppl):908a. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29e]

Quittner AL, Alpern AN, McLean KA, Marciel KK, Zhang J, Riekert KA. Clinical supervision improves treatment fidelity to an adherence intervention. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012;**11 Suppl 1**:S9. [ABSTRACT NO.: WS4.1] [CENTRAL: CN-00867601] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29f]

Quittner AL, Biesen J, Marciel K, Ridge A, Zhang J, Riekert KA. Health-related quality of life in adolescents with cystic fibrosis: associations with age, gender, nutrition and pulmonary function. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2013;**187**:A26. [CENTRAL: CN-01107745] [CFGD REGISTER: MH290] [EMBASE: 71980545]

\* Quittner AL, Eakin MN, Alpern AN, Ridge AK, McLean KA, Bilderback A, et al. Clustered randomized controlled trial of a clinic-based problem-solving intervention to improve adherence in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic*  *Fibrosis* 2019;**18**(6):879-85. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29w] [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.05.004]

Quittner AL, Riekert KA, Marciel KK, Kimberg CI, Eakin MN, Zhang J. Adolescent management of CF: GAPS in knowledge and treatment skills in the icare study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45**:199-200. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29s]

Quittner AL, Riekert KA. I Change adherence and raise expectations: the iCARE study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;**48 Suppl 36**:136. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29h] [SYMPOSIUM SUMMARY NO.: S7.3]

Quittner ALQ. Practical tools to improve adherence. *Journal* of Aerosol Medicine and Pulmonary Drug Delivery 2011;**24**(3):5. [CFGD REGISTER: MH29u]

Saez-Flores E, Thomas K, Riekert KA, Eakin MN, Bilderback A, Quittner AL. Associations between treatment complexity, CFQ-R treatment burden, and adherence in adolescents with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50 Suppl 41**:439. [CENTRAL: CN-01126909] [CFGD REGISTER: MH29m] [EMBASE: 72081927]

# Riekert 2013 {published data only}

Borschuk AP, Everhart R, Eakin MN, Riekert KA. Impact of disclosure to colleagues, friends and romantic partners on older adolescent and adult psychosocial outcome. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50 Suppl 41**:190-1. [CENTRAL: CN-01126911] [CFGD REGISTER: MH51c] [EMBASE: 72081278] [SUMMARY NO.: S21.3]

Borschuk AP, Everhart RS, Eakin MN, Rand-Giovannetti D, Borrelli B, Riekert KA. Disease disclosure in individuals with cystic fibrosis: association with psychosocial and health outcomes. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2016;**15**(5):696-702. [CENTRAL: CN-01305603] [CFGD REGISTER: MH51b] [EMBASE: 609133639] [PMID: 26996270]

Hilliard ME, Eakin MN, Borrelli B, Green A, Riekert KA. Medication beliefs mediate between depressive symptoms and medication adherence in cystic fibrosis. *Health Psychology* 2015;**34**(5):496-504. [CENTRAL: CN-01069919] [CFGD REGISTER: MH51a] [EMBASE: 2014705719] [PMID: 25110847]

NCT01013896. Building Adherence to Live With And Navigate my Cystic Fibrosis (CF) Experience BALANCE [Building Adherence to Live With And Navigate my CF Experience]. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NCT01013896 (Date of registration 13 November 2009).

NCT01013896. Building Adherence to Live with And Navigate my Cystic fibrosis (CF) Experience (BALANCE) [Building Adherence to Live with And Navigate my CF Experience]. clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT01013896 (first posted 16 November 2009).

 \* Riekert KA, Borrelli B, Bilderback AV, Green A, Eakin MN.
 Building adherence to live and navigate my CF experience: the balance study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;48 Suppl 36:133.
 [CENTRAL: CN-01063277] [CFGD REGISTER: MH51d] [EMBASE: 71321286] [SUMMARY NO.: S7.1]



# Shakkottai 2017 {published data only}

NCT02301377. Exploring novel interventions to improve adherence in children with cystic fibrosis. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/study/NCT02301377 (first posted 25 November 2014).

\* Shakkottai A, Nasr SZ. The use of home spirometry in pediatric cystic fibrosis patients: results of a feasibility study. *Global Pediatric Health* 2017;**4**:1-6. [DOI: 10.1177/2333794X17690315]

# Wildman 2022 {published data only}

ISRCTN55504164. A randomised controlled trial and parallel process evaluation to determine whether CFHealthHub, an intervention to help CF patients build better treatment habits, offers any benefit over usual care to adults with CF. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ISRCTN55504164 (date of registration 12 Oct 2017). [CFGD REGISTER: MH205c]

Lumley E, Drabble SJ, Scott A, Wildman MJ, O'Cathain A. Objective nebuliser adherence data as "proof" of adherence in the management of cystic fibrosis: a qualitative interview study. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2022;**16**:771-80. [CFGD REGISTER: MH205g] [DOI: 10.2147/PPA.S353434]

Warnock L, Faulkner J, Flight WG. Estimating adherence with nebulised therapies: a challenge for people with cystic fibrosis and healthcare professionals. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;**19 Suppl 2**:S147. [CFGD REGISTER: MH205b]

Wildman M, O'Cathain A. Development and evaluation of an intervention to support adherence to treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis: a randomised controlled trial and parallel process evaluation. https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/media/10446/ download?attachment (first received 2017):1-58. [CENTRAL: CN-01402855] [CFGD REGISTER: MH205a]

Wildman M, for the CFHealthHub Study Team. Effectiveness of a self-management intervention to support treatment adherence in adults with cystic fibrosis: a randomized controlled trial. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2020;**55 Suppl 2**:265-6. [CFGD REGISTER: MH205d]

Wildman M. UK National CF healthhub programme: using realtime digital adherence data to support habit formation for self-care. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2019;**54**(Suppl 2):92-3. [CFGD REGISTER: MH53I]

Wildman MJ, O'Cathain A, Hind D, Maguire C, Arden MA, Hutchings M, et al. An intervention to support adherence to inhaled medication in adults with cystic fibrosis: the ACtiF research programme including RCT. *Programme Grants for Applied Research* 2021;**9**(11). [CFGD REGISTER: MH205e] [DOI: 10.3310/pgfar09110]

\* Wildman MJ, O'Cathain A, Maguire C, Arden MA, Hutchings M, Bradley J, et al. Self-management intervention to reduce pulmonary exacerbations by supporting treatment adherence in adults with cystic fibrosis: a randomised controlled trial. *Thorax* 2022;**77**(5):461-9. [CFGD REGISTER: MH205f] [DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-217594]

### References to studies excluded from this review

### Abbott 2015 {published data only}

Abbott J, Bilton D. Adherence to ivacaftor is suboptimal. *Journal* of *Cystic Fibrosis* 2015;**14**:547-8. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2015.08.001]

#### ACTRN12607000234415 {published data only}

ACTRN12607000234415. Improving self-management in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis [The use of mentoring to improve self-efficacy and management in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis]. anzctr.org.au/Trial/ Registration/TrialReview.aspx?ACTRN=12607000234415 (date registered 3 May 2007).

\* ACTRN12607000234415. Improving self-management in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis [The use of mentoring to improve self-efficacy and management in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis]. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12607000234415 (date of registration 3 May 2007).

# ACTRN12619001730190 {published data only}

\* ACTRN12619001730190. Implementing a comprehensive adherence protocol for children and adolescents living with cystic fibrosis – an implementation study [Implementing a comprehensive adherence protocol for children and adolescents living with cystic fibrosis – feasibility, appropriateness and acceptability]. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12619001730190 (date of registration 9 December 2019).

Implementing a comprehensive adherence protocol for children and adolescents living with cystic fibrosis – An implementation study [Implementing a comprehensive adherence protocol for children and adolescents living with cystic fibrosis – feasibility, appropriateness and acceptability]. anzctr.org.au/ ACTRN12619001730190.aspx (date registered 9 December 2019).

### Betz 2019 {published data only}

\* Betz J, Szczesniak R, Lewis K, Pestian T, Bennethum AS, McBride J, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of a telephone-based chaplaincy intervention to decrease parental spiritual struggle. *Journal of Religion and Health* 2019;**58**:2065–85. [DOI: 10.1007/s10943-019-00921-8]

Grossoehme DH, Szczesniak RD, Lewis KP. Guidess CF: intervention feasibility and acceptability decrease spiritual struggle. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017;**52 Suppl 47**:482. [ABSTRACT NO.: 688] [CENTRAL: CN-01430898] [CFGD REGISTER: MH62] [EMBASE: 619069114]

#### **Bingham 2012** {*published data only*}

Bingham PM, Bates JH, Thompson Figueroa J, Lahiri T. A breath biofeedback computer game for children with cystic fibrosis. *Clinical Pediatrics* 2010;**49**(4):337-42. [CENTRAL: CN-01412346] [CFGD REGISTER: PE228a] [DOI: 10.1177/0009922809348022]

\* Bingham PM, Lahiri T, Ashikaga T. Pilot trial of spirometer games for airway clearance practice in cystic fibrosis. *Respiratory Care* 2012;**57**(8):1278-84. [CENTRAL: CN-00899635] [CFGD REGISTER: PE228b] [EMBASE: 365403977]



# Bryon 2000 {published data only}

Bryon M, Burton J, Tostevin M, Madge S. A home visit programme to improve health status and psychosocial functioning of families with child with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2000;**30 Suppl 20**:336. [CENTRAL: CN-00315352] [CFGD REGISTER: MH9]

# Cannon 1999 {published data only}

Cannon C, Benitez J, Scarbary J, Taylor K, Guill M. In-home videoconferencing for cystic fibrosis patient education. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1999;**28 Suppl 19**:333. [CENTRAL: CN-00291235] [CFGD REGISTER: MH6]

# Chadelat 2005 {published data only}

Chadelat I. Comprehensive management of children with cystic fibrosis [Prise en charge globale des enfants atteints de mucoviscidose]. opengrey.eu/item/display/10068/773400 (accessed prior to 19 June 2022).

# Chan 2013 {published data only}

Chan S, Tullis E, Cortes D. The added value of a pharmacist in identifying drug-related needs of cystic fibrosis patients in a large adult clinic. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;**48 Suppl 36**:400. [ABSTRACT NO.: 528] [CENTRAL: CN-00875969] [CFGD REGISTER: MH41]

### Cummings 2011 {published data only}

ACTRN12611000802909. A randomised, controlled trial of behavioural modifications using an Information Technology (IT) tool to improve self-management in adolescents and adults with Cystic Fibrosis: A pilot study. www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/ Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=336025&isReview=true 2010. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24p]

ACTRN12611000802909. A randomised, controlled trial of behavioural modifications using an Information Technology (IT) tool to improve self-management in adolescents and adults with Cystic Fibrosis: a pilot study. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ACTRN12611000802909 (registered 29 Jul 2011). [CFGD REGISTER: MH24r]

Cameron-Tucker HL, Joseph L, Cummings E, Cystic Fibrosis Research Team led by Reid D. Outcomes of health-mentor training to improve self-management by people with cystic fibrosis (CF). *Respirology* 2009;**14**(s1):A58. [CFGD REGISTER: MH241]

Chau S, Cummings E, Turner P. Experiences and insights from the development of a mobile self management system for cystic fibrosis sufferers in Tasmania. In: 12th World Congress on Health (Medical) Informatics; 2007; Brisbane, Queensland. Brisbane, 2007:P002. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24m]

\* Cummings E, Hauser J, Cameron-Tucker H, Fitzpatrick P, Jessup M, Walters EH, et al. Enhancing self-efficacy for self-management in people with cystic fibrosis. *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 2011;**169**:33-7. [CENTRAL: CN-00806050] [CFGD REGISTER: MH24e] [PMID: 21893709]

Cummings EA, Courtney-Pratt HM, Reid DW, Robinson A, Turner P, Walters EH, et al. Issues and experiences with technology supported development of patient self-efficacy and self-managed of chronic disease. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 2006;**25 Supp 1**:A14-5. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24n]

Cummings EA, Turner P. Pathways Home: considerations for technology solutions aimed at supporting self-management of chronic illness. In: HIC 2005 & HINZ; 2005 July 31 - August 02, Melbourne, Australia. Melbourne Convention Centre, Australia, 2005:1-9. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24f]

Cummings EA, Turner P. Pathways Home: developing & deploying technology to support patient empowerment in the self-management of chronic illness in the community. In: CollECTeR Europe, 2006 June 9-10, Basel, Switzerland. Basel, Switzerland, 2006:261-9. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24g]

Cummings EA, Turner P. Pathways home project: patient selfmanagement and self-efficacy through the deployment of ICTs, eValues. In: 19th Bled eConference, 2006 June 5-7, Bled, Slovenia. 2006. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24h]

Jessup M, Busch J, Fitzpatrick P, Turner P, Cameron-Tucker H, Joseph L, et al. Pathways home project; a pilot study of chronic disease self management in cystic fibrosis. *Respirology* 2007;**12 Suppl 4**:A155. [CENTRAL: CN-00651971] [CFGD REGISTER: MH24b]

Jessup M, Busch J, Turner P, Cummings E, Cameron-Tucker H, Fitzpatrick P, et al. Pathways Home Project: a pilot study of chronic disease self management in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2008;**7 Suppl 2**:S103. [CENTRAL: CN-00651986] [CFGD REGISTER: MH24a]

Jessup M, Cameron-Tucker H, Cummings E, Hauser J, Joseph L, Saddington H, et al. Someone to talk to: adolescent and adult feedback on their experience of mentoring and I. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2010;**9 Suppl 1**:s107. [CFGD REGISTER: MH240]

Jessup MM, Hauser J, Cameron-Tucker H, Cummings E, Turner P, Blizzard L, et al. Facilitating self-management in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis: a pilot study. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2011;**46 Suppl 34**:405. [ABSTRACT NO.: 530] [CENTRAL: CN-01003737] [CFGD REGISTER: MH24d] [EMBASE: 70555402]

Turner P, Cummings E, Busch J, Reid DW, Fitzpatrick P, Cameron-Tucker H, et al. Pathways home project: the development of an IT support tool to aid chronic disease self management in cystic fibrosis (CF). In: 7th Australasian Cystic Fibrosis Conference 2007, August 11-14, Sydney, Australia. 2007. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24i]

Turner P, Cummings E, Busch J, Reid DW, Fitzpatrick P, Cameron-Tucker H, et al. Pathways home project: the development of an IT support tool to aid chronic disease self management in cystic fibrosis (CF). In: Primary Health Care Research, Evaluation and Development (PHCRED) Symposium; 2007 Nov 27; Melbourne, Australia. 2007. [CFGD REGISTER: MH24j]

Wainwright C, Saddington H, Busch J, Blizzard L, Cameron-Tucker H, Cheney J, et al. Improving self efficacy in adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2009;**8 Suppl 2**:S93. [ABSTRACT NO.: 374] [CENTRAL: CN-00744111] [CFGD REGISTER: MH24c]



### Czajkowski 1985 {unpublished data only}

Czajkowski DR. The use of psychosocial competency/coping skills model to assess and predict the medical compliance of cystic fibrosis adolescents. www.opengrey.eu (accessed 14 November 2020).

# Daniels 2013 {published data only}

Daniels T, Mills N, Whitaker P. Nebuliser systems for drug delivery in cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 4. Art. No: CD007639. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007639.pub2]

### Davis 2004 {published data only}

Davis MA, Quittner AL, Stack C. Controlled evaluation of the STARBRIGHT Explorer Series CD-Rom program for children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2002;**34 Suppl 24**:351. [CENTRAL: CN-00404026]

\* Davis MA, Quittner AL, Stack CM, Yang MC. Controlled evaluation of the STARBRIGHT CD-ROM program for children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 2004;**29**(4):259-67. [CENTRAL: CN-00482821] [CFGD REGISTER: MH10b] [PMID: 15148348]

### Dodd 2000 {published data only}

Dodd ME, Webb K. Understanding non-compliance with treatment in adults with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 2000;**93**(38):2-8.

### DRKS00027569 {published data only}

DRKS00027569. Applying the "MukoHelp" manual to improve psychopathological symptoms and therapy adherence among affected persons with cystic fibrosis. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=DRKS00027569 (date of registration 26 January 2022).

### Duff 2014 {published data only}

Duff AJ, Latchford G. Adherence in cystic fibrosis; care teams need to change first. *Lancet: Respiratory Medicine* 2014;**2**(9):683-5. [DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70162-6]

### Elkins 2006 {published data only}

Bye P, Elkins M, Robinson M, Moriarty C, Rose B, Harbour C, et al. Long-term inhalation of hypertonic saline in patients with cystic fibrosis- a randomised controlled trial. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**38 Suppl 27**:329. [CENTRAL: CN-00507890] [CFGD REGISTER: BD114a]

Elkins M, Robinson M, Moriarty C, Sercombe J, Rose B, Harbour C, et al. Three methods of monitoring adherence in a long-term trial in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2006;**5 Suppl 1**:S111. [CENTRAL: CN-00593155] [CFGD REGISTER: BD114d]

Elkins MR, Robinson M, Moriarty C, Sercombe J, Rose B, Harbour C. Three methods of monitoring adherence in the national hypertonic saline trial in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2005;**40 Suppl 28**:268. [CENTRAL: CN-00593023] [CFGD REGISTER: BD114c]

\* Elkins MR, Robinson M, Rose BR, Harbour C, Moriarty CP, Marks GB, et al. A controlled trial of long-term inhaled hypertonic saline in patients with cystic fibrosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2006;**354**(3):229-40. [CENTRAL: CN-00532707] [CFGD REGISTER: BD114b] [EMBASE: 2006038601] [PMID: 16421364]

Ratjen F. Inhaled hypertonic saline produces small increases in lung function in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2006;**149**(1):142. [CENTRAL: CN-01253122] [CFGD REGISTER: BD114e] [PMID: 17243308]

### Fischer 2003 {published data only}

Fischer R, Naehrig S, Schelling JS, Horn M, Huber RM. Telemonitoring in adult cystic fibrosis patients. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2003;**36 Suppl 25**:371. [CENTRAL: CN-00451898] [CFGD REGISTER: MH11]

# Geirhos 2022 {published data only}

DRKS00016714. Feasibility trial of an online intervention for symptoms of depression and anxiety in adolescents with chronic medical conditions (youthCOACH-CD). trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=DRKS00016714 (date registered 25 March 2019).

DRKS00017161. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of guided internet-and mobile-based CBT for adolescents and young adults with chronic somatic conditions and comorbid depression and anxiety symptoms (youthCOACHcd): a multicentre randomized controlled trial with a 12month follow-up. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=DRKS00017161 (date registered 17 September 2019).

\* Geirhos A, Domhardt M, Lunkenheimer F, Temming S, Holl RW, Minden K, et al. Feasibility and potential efficacy of a guided internet- and mobile-based CBT for adolescents and young adults with chronic medical conditions and comorbid depression or anxiety symptoms (youthCOACH <sub>CD</sub>): a randomized controlled pilot trial. *BMC Pediatrics* 2022;**22**(1):69. [DOI: 10.1186/s12887-022-03134-3]

Lunkenheimer F, Domhardt M, Geirhos A, Kilian R, Mueller-Stierlin AS, Holl RW, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of guided Internet- and mobile-based CBT for adolescents and young adults with chronic somatic conditions and comorbid depression and anxiety symptoms (youthCOACHCD): study protocol for a multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2020;**21**(1):253.

Lunkenheimer F, Domhardt M, Geirhos A, Kilian R, Mueller-Stierlin AS, Holl RW, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of guided Internet- and mobile-based CBT for adolescents and young adults with chronic somatic conditions and comorbid depression and anxiety symptoms (youthCOACHCD): study protocol for a multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2020;**21**(1):253. Online Supplementary Materials: Additional file 1 SPIRIT 2013 Checklist.

### Geller 2011 {published data only}

Geller DE, Madge S. Technological and behavioral strategies to reduce treatment burden and improve adherence to inhaled antibiotics in cystic fibrosis. *Respiratory Medicine* 2011;**105**(S2):S24-31.

### Goldbeck 2013 {published data only}

 \* Goldbeck L, Hebestreit H, Junge S, Sens B, Smaczny C, Frank M, et al. Vemse-CF - A prospective controlled careresearch study investigating the effects of a comprehensive psychosocial intervention. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;48
 Suppl 36:430. [ABSTRACT NO.: 608] [CENTRAL: CN-00875655]
 [CFGD REGISTER: MH39]

NCT03423576. Effects of a comprehensive patient-centered health service in cystic fibrosis (VEMSE-CF) [Effects of a comprehensive patient-centered health service with a focus on psychosocial services for patients with are diseases using cystic fibrosis as an example (Evaluation Eines Ganzheitlichen Patientenzentrierten Versorgungsmodells für Patienten Mit Seltenen Erkrankungen Unter Besonderer Berücksichtigung Der Psychosozialen Versorgung am Beispiel Mukoviszidose)]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03423576 (first posted 06 February 2018).

### Goodill 2005 {published data only}

Goodill SW. Dance/movement therapy for adults with cystic fibrosis: pilot data on mood and adherence. *Alternative Therapies in Health and Medicine* 2005;**11**(1):76-7. [CENTRAL: CN-00502675] [CFGD REGISTER: MH16] [DOI: 10.1016/ S0954-6111(11)70024-5] [PMID: 15712769]

### Grossoehme 2020 {published data only}

\* Grossoehme DH, Cole AG, Lewis K, Stamper SM, Teeters A, Joseph PM. Adults with cystic fibrosis: spiritual coping with lifelong disease. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy* 2020;**26**(2):45-57. [CENTRAL: CN-02098160] [EMBASE: 631260321] [PMID: 32172686]

Grossoehme DH, Dimitriou S, Joseph P. Relationship of treatment adherence, exercise and spirituality in CF adults. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50**:434-5. [CENTRAL: CN-01198255] [EMBASE: 72081916]

### Hagelberg 2008 {published data only}

Hagelberg M, Dooley MJ, Poole SG, Leung D, Bailey M, Finlayson F, et al. Direct dispensing of dornase alpha improves adherence and lung function in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2008;**7 Suppl 2**:S27. [CENTRAL: CN-00651989] [CFGD REGISTER: MH25]

### Hatziagorou 2017 {published data only}

Hatziagorou E, Chrysochoou EA, Kirvassilis F, Tsanakas J. Home visits vs. telephone monitoring among patients with cystic fibrosis: which is superior? *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017;**16 Suppl 1**:S50. [CENTRAL: CN-01411946] [CFGD REGISTER: MH54]

### Hawkins 2002 {unpublished data only}

Hawkins KS. Adherence to treatment in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. The role of illness perception and treatment beliefs. Doctorate in Clinical Psychology Thesis 2002. [www.elibrary.ru/ item.asp?id=8827177]

### Hebestreit 2010 {published data only}

\* Hebestreit H, Kieser S, Junge S, Ballmann M, Hebestreit A, Schindler C, et al. Long-term effects of a partially supervised

conditioning programme in cystic fibrosis. *European Respiratory Journal* 2010;**35**(3):578-83. [CFGD REGISTER: PE145b]

Hebestreit H, Lands LC, Alarie N, Schaeff J, Karila C, Orenstein DM, et al. Effects of a partially supervised conditioning programme in cystic fibrosis: an international multi-centre randomised controlled trial (ACTIVATE-CF): study protocol. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2018;**18**(1):31. [CENTRAL: CN-01913839] [CFGD REGISTER: PE145a] [EMBASE: 620583585] [PMID: 29422091]

Hebestreit H, Schmid K, Kieser S, Junge S, Ballmann M, Roth K, et al. Quality of life is associated with physical activity and fitness in cystic fibrosis. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2014;**14**:26. [CFGD REGISTER: PE145c]

NCT00231686. Effects of a 6-months physical conditioning program in patients with cystic fibrosis. clinicaltrials.gov/show/ NCT00231686 (first posted 04 October 2005). [CFGD REGISTER: PE145d]

### Hebestreit 2022 {published data only}

Hebestreit H, Kriemler S, Schindler C, Stein L, Karila C, Urquhart DS, et al. Effects of a partially supervised conditioning program in cystic fibrosis: an international multi-centre, randomised controlled trial (ACTIVATE-CF). *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021;**20 Suppl**:S8. [CFGD REGISTER: PE244e]

\* Hebestreit H, Kriemler S, Schindler C, Stein L, Karila C, Urquhart DS, et al. Effects of a partially supervised conditioning program in cystic fibrosis: an international multicenter, randomized controlled trial (ACTIVATE-CF). *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2022;**205**(3):330-9. [CFGD REGISTER: PE244d]

Hebestreit H, Lands LC, Alarie N, Schaeff J, Karila C, Orenstein DM, et al. Effects of a partially supervised conditioning programme in cystic fibrosis: an international multi-centre randomised controlled trial (ACTIVATE-CF): study protocol. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2018;**18**(1):31. [CFGD REGISTER: PE244b]

Hebestreit H. How to counsel patients regarding exercise and habitual physical activity? *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2016;**51 Suppl 45**:188-9. [ABSTRACT NO.: S20.4] [CENTRAL: CN-01212584] [CFGD REGISTER: PE244a] [EMBASE: 612358802]

NCT01744561. Effects of a partially supervised conditioning program in CF: an international multi-centre, randomized controlled trial. clinicaltrials.gov/show/nct01744561 (first posted 06 December 2012). [CENTRAL: CN-01343886] [CFGD REGISTER: PE244c]

Radtke T, Kriemler S, Stein L, Karila C, Urquhart DS, Orenstein DM, et al. Cystic fibrosis related diabetes is not associated with maximal aerobic exercise capacity in cystic fibrosis: a cross-sectional analysis of an international multicenter trial. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis 2022 July 5 [Epub ahead of print]. [CFGD REGISTER: PE244f] [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jcf.2022.06.012]



# Hlela 2018 {published data only}

Hlela H, Carpenter K, Brodecki D, Chen-Lim M. Creating developmentally appropriate literature for children with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2018;**53 Suppl 2**:435-6. [CENTRAL: CN-01738598] [CFGD REGISTER: PC15] [EMBASE: 624049579]

# Huang 2014 {published data only}

\* Huang JS, Terrones L, Tompane T, Dillon L, Pian M, Gottschalk M, et al. Preparing adolescents with chronic disease for transition to adult care: a technology program. *Pediatrics* 2014;**133**(6):e1639-46. [CENTRAL: CN-01053774] [CFGD REGISTER: MH35b] [EMBASE: 2014382824] [PMID: 24843066]

NCT01253733. TAHLC - Texting to promote Adolescent Health Liaisons and Chronic disease management. clinicaltrials.gov/ show/nct01253733 (first posted 03 December 2010). [CENTRAL: CN-01412376] [CFGD REGISTER: MH35a]

# Jackson 2017 {published data only}

Jackson A, Kirwan L, Jeleniewska P, Fletcher G, McKone E, Doyle G. Examining the effect of CF view: an electronic registry patient portal for people with cystic fibrosis in Europe. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017;**52 Suppl 47**:424. [CENTRAL: CN-01430893] [CFGD REGISTER: MH58] [EMBASE: 619069167]

# Landau 2021 {published data only}

Landau E, Mussaffi H, Kalamaro V, Quittner A, Taizi T, Kadosh D, et al. Efficacy of problem-solving intervention to improve adherence in adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis. *Israel Medical Association Journal* 2021;**23**(9):584-9.

# Marciel 2010 {published data only}

Blackwell LS, Romero SL, Romero CV, McLean KA, Dawkins K, Hoag J, et al. CFfone: a social networking site for adolescents and young adults with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012;**47 Suppl 35**:430. [ABSTRACT NO.: 562] [CENTRAL: CN-01004539] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33b] [EMBASE: 70892308]

Marciel KK, Saiman L, Quittell LM, Dawkins K, Quittner AL. Cell phone intervention to improve adherence: cystic fibrosis care team, patient, and parent perspectives. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45**(2):157-64. [CENTRAL: CN-00867599] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33c] [PMID: 20054860]

McLean KA, Madan A, Monzon A, Quittner AL. Trajectories of depression and anxiety in adolescents with CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2014;**49 Suppl 38**:442. [ABSTRACT NO.: 611] [CENTRAL: CN-01008988] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33g] [EMBASE: 71616663]

NCT01183286. CFfone: a cell phone support program for adolescents with cystic fibrosis. clinicaltrials.gov/show/ NCT01183286 (first received 17 August 2010).

Quittner AL, Romero SL, Blackwell LS, Marciel KK, Romero CV, Dawkins K, et al. Effect of CFfone on knowledge of disease management, psychological well-being, and health-related quality of life in adolescents and young adults with CF. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012;**11 Suppl 1**:S137. [ABSTRACT NO.: 313] [CENTRAL: CN-01005105] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33a] [EMBASE: 70793127] Quittner AL, Romero SL, Blackwell LS, McLean KA, Marciel K, Monzon AD, et al. Preliminary data on the efficacy of an online social network for adolescents with CF. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2013;**187**:A5036. [CENTRAL: CN-01135724] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33f] [EMBASE: 71984525]

Quittner AL, Romero SL, Blackwell LS, McLean KA, Monzon AD, Dawkins K. Efficacy of an online social networking site: CFFONE results. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2013;**48 Suppl 36**:135. [CENTRAL: CN-00875658] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33e] [EMBASE: 71321287] [SUMMARY NO.: S7.2]

Quittner AL, Romero SL, Blackwell LS, Romero CV, Marciel KK, Dawkins K, et al. Preliminary results on the efficacy of an online social network for adolescents with CF: age and disease severity group comparisons. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012;**47 Suppl 35**:388. [ABSTRACT NO.: 450] [CENTRAL: CN-00852665] [CFGD REGISTER: MH33d]

### Martinez 2017 {published data only}

Martinez Rodriguez ME, Suarez Cortina L, Maiz Carro L, Ruiz-De-Valbuena M, Jimenez Cosmes L. A pulmonary rehabilitation program to increase adherence to airway clearance techniques for children and adults with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2017;**16 Suppl 1**:S58. [CENTRAL: CN-01461867] [CFGD REGISTER: PE248] [EMBASE: 620749723]

# McDonald 2007 {published data only}

McDonald L, Quittner AL, Grimley ME, Botteri M, Barker DH. Effects of a clinic-based intervention on caregiving stress for parents of children with CF. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2007;**6 Suppl 1**:S75. [CENTRAL: CN-00614342] [CFGD REGISTER: MH67]

# Meyers 1975 {published data only}

Meyers A, Dolan TF Jr, Mueller D. Compliance and self-medication in cystic fibrosis. *American Journal of Diseases of Children* 1975;**129**:1011-3. [DOI: 10.1001/ archpedi.1975.02120460005002]

# Modi 2010 {published data only}

Accurso FJ, Sontag MK, Koenig JM, Quittner AL. Multi-center airway secretion clearance study in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**38 Suppl 27**:314. [ABSTRACT NO.: 363] [CENTRAL: CN-00507886] [CFGD REGISTER: PE152a]

\* Modi AC, Cassedy AE, Quittner AL, Accurso F, Sontag M, Koenig JM, et al. Trajectories of adherence to airway clearance therapy for patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 2010;**35**(9):1028-37. [CENTRAL: CN-00770406] [CFGD REGISTER: PE152e] [PMID: 20304772]

Modi AC, Sontag MK, Koenig JM, Accurso FJ, Quittner AL, Investigators and Coordinators of the Airway Secretion Clearance Study. Adherence to airway clearance therapies in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2006;**5 Suppl 1**:S97. [ABSTRACT NO.: 436] [CENTRAL: CN-00593164] [CFGD REGISTER: PE152c]

Quittner AL, Modi AC, Accurso FJ, Koenig JM, Sontag MK, Oermann C, et al. Treatment satisfaction, health-related quality of life and airway clearance therapies in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2004;**38 Suppl** 



27:314. [ABSTRACT NO.: 364] [CENTRAL: CN-00507916] [CFGD REGISTER: PE152b]

Sontag MK, Quittner AL, Modi AC, Koenig JM, Giles D, Oermann CM, et al. Lessons learned from a randomized trial of airway secretion clearance techniques in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45**(3):291-300. [CFGD REGISTER: PE152d] [PMID: 20146387]

### Montero-Ruiz 2020 {published data only}

Frias J P, Montero-Ruiz A, Galvez LA, Perez-Ruiz E, Huelamo MP, Martin-Montanez E. A music therapy intervention as an adjunct to chest physiotherapy in children with cystic fibrosis. *European Respiratory Journal* 2018;**52**(Suppl 62):PA4626.

ISRCTN11161411. Effects of music therapy as complement of chest physiotherapy in patients with cystic fibrosis [Comparing use of specific therapeutic music AS an adjunct to chest physiotherapy versus commercial music or no music in cystic fibrosis children]. www.who.int/trialsearch/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ISRCTN1161411 (date of registration 15 June 2019). [CENTRAL: CN-01974319] [CFGD REGISTER: PE286]

\* Montero-Ruiz A, Fuentes LA, Perez Ruiz E, Garcia-Agua Soler N, Rius-Diaz F, Caro Aguilera P, Perez Frias J, Martin-Montanez E. Effects of music therapy as an adjunct to chest physiotherapy in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomized controlled trial. *PLOS One* 2020;**15**(10):e0241334.

### NCT00688051 {published data only}

NCT00688051. Changes in adherence after playing "My Life With CF" game [Changes in adherence to diet, treatment and medication in the cystic fibrosis patient as a result of participation in a simulation game]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT00688051 (first posted 02 June 2008).

### NCT01025258 {published data only}

NCT01025258. Improving adherence and clinical outcome in cystic fibrosis (CF) patients [Improving adherence and clinical outcomes of cystic fibrosis patients through a collaborative active intervention program of a multidisciplinary team]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01025258 (first posted 03 December 2009).

### NCT02286050 {published data only}

NCT02286050. Effect of a nursing program for patients with cystic fibrosis on disease management [Auswirkung Eines CF Nursing-Programms Auf Das Krankheitsmanagement Und Die Erfahrungen Der Behandlung Von Patientinnen Und Patienten]. clinicaltrials.com/trialdetails.aspx?p=NCT02286050 (first posted 27 October 2014).

### NCT02501369 {published data only}

NCT02501369. Investigating the use of a positive parenting programme to improve treatment adherence in cystic fibrosis. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02501369 (first posted 17 July 2015).

# NCT02906826 {published data only}

NCT02906826. Adherence to airway clearance: novel approaches to improving adherence. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02906826 (first posted 20 September 2016).

### NCT03052231 {published data only}

NCT03052231. Interactive mobile health information to enhance patient care at a cystic fibrosis center (MOMMI3CFCM) [Evaluating the feasibility of interactive mobile health information to enhance patient care at a cystic fibrosis center]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03052231 (first posted 14 February 2017).

# NCT03226795 {published data only}

NCT03226795. Improving therapeutic adherence with a coconstructed program involving both patients and health care professionals [Improving therapeutic adherence of adult patients with cystic fibrosis: impact of a co-constructed program by patients and health caregivers]. clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT03226795 (first posted 24 July 2017).

### NCT03304028 {published data only}

NCT03304028. Use of home-based connected devices to early detect and treat pulmonary exacerbations: feasibility and clinical validity in CF patients [MUCOviscidose EXacerbation Outils Connectés Education Thérapeutique (MucoExocet)]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03304028 (first posted 06 October 2017).

### NCT03518697 {published data only}

NCT03518697. Effects of an individualized exercise program on health-related and skill/performance-related fitness in CF [Effects of an individualized and partially supervised exercise program on parameters of physical fitness, lung function, habitual physical activity in daily life and quality of life in children, adolescents and adults with cystic fibrosis]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03518697 (first posted 8 May 2018).

### NCT03938324 {published data only}

NCT03938324. Peer i-Coaching for Activated Self-management Optimization in adolescents and young adults with chronic conditions (PiCASO). clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03938324 (first received 6 May 2019).

### NCT03992027 {published data only}

NCT03992027. Preventing depression and anxiety: A randomized controlled trial of a CF-specific CBT intervention. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03992027 (first received 19 June 2019).

### NCT04017559 {published data only}

NCT04017559. Clinical impact of MI on inhaled antibiotic adherence in cystic fibrosis [Assessing the clinical impact of Motivational Interviewing on inhaled antibiotic adherence in cystic fibrosis]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04017559 (first posted 12 July 2019).

### NCT04096664 {published data only}

NCT04096664. Home airway clearance in CF patients (HomeCareSIMEOX) [Efficiency and acceptability of SIMEOX<sup>®</sup> used autonomously at home for bronchial clearance in patients with cystic fibrosis: prospective, randomized controlled study]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT04096664 (first posted 20 September 2019).

# NCT04217889 {published data only}

NCT04217889. Cystic Fibrosis Adherence Study KINOBS [Study of the adherence to chest physiotherapy in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) at the adult CF center in Lyon]. trialsearch.who.int/ Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NCT04217889 (date of registration 2 January 2020).

\* NCT04217889. Study of the adherence to chest physiotherapy in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) at the adult CF center in Lyon [Cystic Fibrosis Adherence Study (KINOBS)]. clinicaltrials.gov/ ct2/show/NCT04217889 (first posted 6 January 2020).

### NCT04453358 {published data only}

NCT04453358. Cystic fibrosis remote monitoring system [Cystic fibrosis remote monitoring system to support resource-limited communities]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04453358 (first posted 01 July 2020).

# NCT04696484 {published data only}

\* NCT04696484. Feasibility of a goal-based agenda setting intervention [Feasibility of a goal-based agenda setting intervention for informing conversations in adult cystic fibrosis care]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04696484 (first posted 6 January 2021).

NCT04696484. Feasibility of a goal-based agenda setting intervention [Feasibility of a goal-based agenda setting intervention for informing conversations in adult cystic fibrosis care]. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=NCT04696484 (date of registration 4 January 2021).

### O'Hayer 2021 {published data only}

O'Hayer CF, Edouard G, Bennett DS, Taylor DN, Hem Lee MA, Wolfe WM, et al. ACT via telehealth: acceptance-based behavioral therapy for anxiety and depression among individuals with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017;**52 Suppl 47**:476. [CENTRAL: CN-01449303] [CFGD REGISTER: MH63]

\* O'Hayer CV, O'Loughlin CM, Nurse CN, Smith PJ, Stephen MJ. ACT with CF: a telehealth and in-person feasibility study to address anxiety and depressive symptoms among people with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021;**20**:133-9. [CFGD REGISTER: MH177b] [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2020.11.013]

### Ohn 2018 {published data only}

Ohn M, Fitzgerald DA. Question 12: What do you consider when discussing treatment adherence in patients with cystic fibrosis? *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2018;**25**:33-6. [DOI: 10.1016/j.prrv.2017.04.002]

### Parkins 2008 {published data only}

Parkins VM, Parkins MD, Peets AD, Montgomery M, Brager NP, Rabin HR. Effect of an educational intervention designed to promote cystic fibrosis knowledge in specialty residents. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2008;**43 Suppl 31**:462. [ABSTRACT NO.: 713] [CENTRAL: CN-00867600] [CFGD REGISTER: MH32]

### Pendleton 2000 {published data only}

Pendleton DA, David TJ. The compliance conundrum in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 2000;**93**(38):9-13.

### Petzel 1991 {published data only}

Petzel SV, Finkelstein S, Budd J, Ellis LB. Adherence in CF. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1991;**11 Suppl 6**:308. [CENTRAL: CN-00291510] [CFGD REGISTER: MH2]

# Polineni 2017 {published data only}

Duncan C, Muther E, Lindwall J, Riekert K, Goodman A, Psoter K, Polineni D. Protocol for a feasibility and acceptability pilot trial of a tele-coaching intervention to promote adherence in adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021;**20 Suppl**:S141-2. [CFGD REGISTER: MH57b]

NCT03921229. Tele-coaching intervention to improve treatment adherence in cystic fibrosis [Feasibility, acceptability, and pilot randomized controlled trial of a tele-coaching intervention to improve treatment adherence in cystic fibrosis]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03921229 (first posted 19 April 2019).

\* Polineni D, Chen GJ, Lindwall J, Mitchell M, Muther E, Prickett M, et al. A stakeholder-informed feasibility study of tele-coaching to improve treatment adherence in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017;**52 Suppl 47**:479. [CENTRAL: CN-01430913] [CFGD REGISTER: MH57a] [EMBASE: 619068564]

Polineni D, Lindwall J, Muther E, Durkin K, Ahrabi-Nejad C, Ruvalcaba E, et al. Development of a pilot trial of a novel telecoaching intervention to improve treatment adherence in cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;**19 Suppl 2**:P342.

### Quittner 1998 {published data only}

Cruz I, Snell C, Barker DH, Quittner AL, Drotar D. Effects of behavioral-family systems therapy on family conflict and communication in adolescents with CF and their parents. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2007;**42 Suppl 30**:403-4. [CENTRAL: CN-00643113] [CFGD REGISTER: MH22b]

DeLambo KE, levers-Landis CE, Drotar D, Quittner AL. Association of observed family relationship quality and problem-solving skills with treatment adherence in older children and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 2004;**29**(5):343-53. [CENTRAL: CN-00875650] [CFGD REGISTER: MH22a] [PMID: 15187173]

\* Quittner AL, Drotar D, levers C, Seidner D, Slocum N, Jacobsen J, et al. Interventions to increase adolescent adherence to treatment: preliminary comparisons of family therapy and CF family education. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 1998;**26**(17):113-4. [CENTRAL: CN-00291524] [CFGD REGISTER: MH22c]

Romero SL, Blackwell LS, Armenteros E, Quittner AL. Patient and parent-reported conflict: age and gender differences and associations with disease severity. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45 Suppl 33**:446. [ABSTRACT NO.: 623] [CENTRAL: CN-00867923] [CFGD REGISTER: MH22d]

### Rode 2008 {unpublished data only}

Rode C. Adherence and quality of life variations among cystic fibrosis patients [Eléments de variation de l'observance et de la qualité de vie des patients atteints de mucoviscidose].

www.opengrey.eu/item/display/10068/813394 (accessed prior to 29 June 2022).

# Ruddy 2015 {published data only}

NCT01325766. Study of yoga as a therapy for cystic fibrosis (CF) patients [Yoga as a therapy for adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis: a pilot study]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT01325766 (first posted 30 March 2011).

\* Ruddy J, Emerson J, McNamara S, Genatossio A, Breuner C, Weber T, Rosenfeld M. Yoga as a therapy for adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis: a pilot study. *Global Advances in Health and Medicine* 2015;**4**(6):32-6. [DOI: 10.7453/ gahmj.2015.061]

# Sadprasid 2021 {published data only}

Sadprasid B, Eddy E, Tabor A, Scheme E, Bateman S. Percussion Hero: a chest physical therapy game for people with cystic fibrosis and their caregivers. In: Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (CHI PLAY '21); 2021; Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA. 2021:361-7. [DOI: 10.1145/3450337.3483508]

### Schandevyl 2021 {published data only}

Van Schandevyl G, Casimir G, Hanssens L. A medication adherence–enhancing simulation intervention in pediatric cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Child Health Care* 2022;**26**(2):275-89. [DOI: 10.1177/13674935211013924]

### Strawhacker 2004 {published data only}

Strawhacker MT, Wellendorf J. Caring for children with cystic fibrosis: a collaborative clinical and school approach. *Journal of School Nursing* 2004;**20**(1):5-15. [DOI: 10.1177/10598405040200010301]

### Trapp 1998 {published data only}

 \* Trapp M, Barton S, Morgan H, Lockyer L. Self-administration of drugs for cystic fibrosis. *Professional Nurse* 1998;**14**(3):199-203.
 [CENTRAL: CN-00161186] [CFGD REGISTER: MH12a] [PMID: 10095691]

Trapp M. Self-administration of drugs for cystic fibrosis. www.cfdb.eu/en/database/pdf/code/pm10095691 (accessed 25 August 2017). [CENTRAL: CN-01402508] [CFGD REGISTER: MH12b]

### Viviani 2006 {published data only}

Viviani L, Bossi A, Milani S, Gagliardini R, Grzincich G, Quattrucci S, et al. Can telemonitoring improve quality of life in CF patients? An RCT protocol to assess the effectiveness of a telemedicine intervention. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2006;**41 Suppl 29**:366. [CENTRAL: CN-00593140] [CFGD REGISTER: MH21]

### Wood 2020 {published data only}

Hoo ZH, Wildman MJ. Regarding the article entitled "A smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with cystic fibrosis improves the detection of exacerbations: results of a randomised controlled trial". *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;**19**(2):e9. [CFGD REGISTER: MH68f]

\* Wood J, Jenkins S, Putrino D, Mulrennan S, Morey S, Cecins N, et al. A smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with cystic fibrosis improves the detection of exacerbations: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Journal* of Cystic Fibrosis 2020;**19**(2):271-6. [CFGD REGISTER: MH68e]

Wood J, Jenkins S, Putrino D, Mulrennan S, Morey S, Cecins N, et al. A smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with cystic fibrosis improves the detection of respiratory exacerbations. *Respirology* 2019;**24**:23. [CFGD REGISTER: MH68d]

Wood J, Jenkins S, Putrino D, Mulrennan S, Morey S, Cecins N, et al. A smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with cystic fibrosis: a randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2018;**17 Suppl 3**:S22-3. [CENTRAL: CN-01609040] [CFGD REGISTER: MH68b] [EMBASE: 622930894]

Wood J, Jenkins S, Putrino D, Mulrennan S, Morey S, Cecins N, et al. A smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with cystic fibrosis: protocol of a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* 2018;**8**(4):e021136. [CENTRAL: CN-01925508] [CFGD REGISTER: MH68a] [EMBASE: 625044262] [PMID: 29680812]

Wood J, Jenkins S, Putrino D, Mulrennan S, Morey S, Cecins N, et al. Adherence to a smartphone application for reporting symptoms in CF. *Respirology* 2018;**23**(Suppl 1):140. [CENTRAL: CN-01607202] [CFGD REGISTER: MH68c] [EMBASE: 622091379]

### **References to ongoing studies**

# Jirasek 2022 {published data only}

Jirasek M, Homola L, Pleskova J, Gracova Z, Benesova K, Hodkova P, et al. "CF Hero" application as a motivational and therapeutic tool for kids and teenagers with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022;**21 Suppl 1**:S130. [CFGD REGISTER: MH206]

#### O'Hayer 2019 {published data only}

NCT04114227. Acceptance and Commitment Therapy vs. Supportive Psychotherapy with cystic fibrosis patients. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04114227 (first posted 3 October 2019).

\* O'Hayer CF, Smith PJ, Drescher C, Nurse CN, Stephen MJ. ACT with CF next directions: design of a multisite, randomized controlled trial of telehealth acceptance and commitment therapy vs supportive psychotherapy for anxiety and depression. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2019;**54 Suppl 2**:421.

# **Phan 2021** {*published data only (unpublished sought but not used)*}

NCT03637504. Feasibility of a mobile medication plan application in CF patient care (MAP). clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT03637504 (first posted 20 August 2018). [CFGD REGISTER: MH186a]

\* Phan H, Daines C, Green A, Camick N, Goodman A, Woo T, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of a medication schedule mobile application as part of CF care: a pilot, real-world, mobile health study in CF clinics. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2021;**20 Suppl**:S140. [CFGD REGISTER: MH186b]

# Thee 2021 {published data only}

DRKS00024642. Coaching and telemonitoring in patients with cystic fibrosis: ConneCT CF. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=DRKS00024642 (date of registration 1 March 2021).

\* Thee S, Stahl M, Fischer R, Sutharsan S, Ballman M, Müller A, et al. A multi-centre, randomized, controlled trial on coaching and telemonitoring in patients with cystic fibrosis: conneCT CF. *BMC Pulmology Medicine* 2021;**21**(1):131. [DOI: 10.1186/s12890-021-01500-y]

# White 2017 {published data only}

ISRCTN37959826. Randomised trial of a web-based intervention for adherence in cystic fibrosis. trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx? TrialID=ISRCTN37959826 (date of registration 11 November 2015). [CFGD REGISTER: MH59c]

 \* White H, Shaw N, Gillgrass L, Wood A, Chadwick HK, Peckham D. Evaluation of an RCT web based intervention for adherence in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2017;**52 Suppl 47**:503. [CENTRAL: CN-01430890] [CFGD REGISTER: MH59a] [EMBASE: 619069211]

White H, Shaw N, Gillgrass L, Wood A, Chadwick HK, Peckham D. Randomized controlled trial of a webbased intervention for adherence in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2019;**54 Suppl 2**:420. [ABSTRACT NO.: 697] [CFGD REGISTER: MH59b]

# Additional references

# Apter 1998

Apter AJ, Reisine ST, Affleck G, Barrows E, Zuwallack RL. Adherence with twice-daily dosing of inhaled steroids: socioeconomic and health-belief differences. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 1998;**157**:1810-7. [DOI: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.6.9712007]

### Arden 2019

Arden MA, Drabble S, O'Cathain A, Hutchings M, Wildman M. Adherence to medication in adults with Cystic Fibrosis: an investigation using objective adherence data and the Theoretical Domains Framework. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2019;**24**(2):357-80. [DOI: 10.1111/bjhp.12357]

### Ball 2013

Ball R, Southern KW, McCormack P, Duff AJA, Brownlee KG, McNamara PS. Adherence to nebulised therapies in adolescents with cystic fibrosis is best on week-days during school termtime. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2013;**12**(5):440-4. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jcf.2012.12.012]

### BCT Taxonomy 2021 [Computer program]

BCT Taxonomy online training. BCT Taxonomy, accessed 10 August 2021. Available at bct-taxonomy.com.

### Bech 2001

Bech P, Rasmussen NA, Olsen LR, Noerholm V, Abildgaard W. The sensitivity and specificity of the Major Depression Inventory, using the Present State Examination as the index of diagnostic validity. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2001;**66**(2-3):159-64. [DOI: 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00309-8]

# Bell 2020

Bell SC, Mall MA, Gutierrez H, Macek M, Madge S, Davies JC, et al. The future of cystic fibrosis care: a global perspective. *Lancet. Respiratory Medicine* 2020;**8**:65-124. [DOI: 10.1016/ S2213-2600(19)30337-6]

### Bevan 2022a

Bevan A, Hoo ZH, Totton N, Girling C, Davids IR, Whelan P. Using a learning health system to understand the mismatch between medicines supply and actual medicines use among adults with cystic fibrosis. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis 2022;**21**(2):323-31. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2021.09.007]

### Bevan 2022b

Bevan A, Hoo ZH, Totton N, Girling C, Davids IR, Whelan P, et al. Corrigendum to "Using a learning health system to understand the mismatch between medicines supply and actual medicines use among adults with cystic fibrosis" [J Cyst Fibros (2022), 21/2, 323-331]. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022;**21**(5):893–7. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2022.07.011]

# Bilton 2011

Bilton D, Canny G, Conway S, Dumcius S, Hjelte L, Proesmans M, et al. Pulmonary exacerbation: towards a definition for use in clinical trials. Report from the EuroCareCF Working Group on outcome parameters in clinical trials. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2011;**10**(2):S79-81. [DOI: 10.1016/S1569-1993(11)60012-X]

### Black 2020

Black N, Johnston M, Michie S, Hartmann-Boyce J, West R, Viechtbauer W, et al. Behaviour change techniques associated with smoking cessation in intervention and comparator groups of randomized controlled trials: a systematic review and metaregression. Addiction 2020;**115**(11):2008-20. [DOI: 10.1111/ add.15056]

### **Bregnballe 2011**

Bregnballe V, Schiøtz PO, Boisen KA, Pressler T, Thastum M. Barriers to adherence in adolescents and young adults with cystic fibrosis: a questionnaire study in young patients and their parents. *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2011;**5**:507-15. [DOI: 10.2147/PPA.S25308]

### **Breitenstein 2010**

Breitenstein SM, Gross D, Garvey CA, Hill C, Fogg L, Resnick B. Implementation fidelity in community-based interventions. *Research in Nursing & Health* 2010;**33**(2):164-73. [DOI: 10.1002/ nur.20373]

### **Briesacher 2011**

Briesacher BA, Quittner AL, Saiman L, Sacco P, Fouayzi H, Quittell LM. Adherence with tobramycin inhaled solution and health care utilization. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 2011;**11**(5). [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2466-11-5]



Bucks RS, Hawkins K, Skinner TC, Horn S, Seddon P, Horne R. Adherence to treatment in adolescents with cystic fibrosis: the role of illness perceptions and treatment beliefs. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 2009;**34**(8):893-902. [DOI: 10.1093/jpepsy/ jsn135]

# **CF Foundation Patient Registry 2019**

CF Foundation Patient Registry. 2018 Annual Data Report. www.cff.org/Research/Researcher-Resources/Patient-Registry/2018-Patient-Registry-Annual-Data-Report.pdf (accessed 23 August 2020).

# Chapman 2015

Chapman SC, Barnes N, Barnes M, Wilkinson A, Hartley J, Piddock C, et al. Changing adherence-related beliefs about ICS maintenance treatment for asthma: feasibility study of an intervention delivered by asthma nurse specialists. *BMJ Open* 2015;**5**:e007354. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007354]

# Choudhry 2017

Choudhry NK, Krumme AA, Ercole PM, Girdish C, Tong AY, Khan NF, et al. Effect of reminder devices on medication adherence: the REMIND randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine* 2017;**177**(5):624-31. [DOI: 10.1001/ jamainternmed.2016.9627]

# Cohen 1988

Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis in the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd edition. Hillsdale (NJ): Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., 1988.

# Conway 2008

Conway S. Segregation is good for patients with cystic fibrosis. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 2008;**101**(1):31-5. [DOI: 10.1258/jrsm.2008.s18007]

# Covidence [Computer program]

Covidence. Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation, accessed 02 January 2022. Available at covidence.org.

# Craig 2008

Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ* 2008;**337**:a1655. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.a1655]

# Cross 2020

Cross AJ, Elliott RA, Petrie K, Kuruvilla L, George J. Interventions for improving medication-taking ability and adherence in older adults prescribed multiple medications. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 5. Art. No: CD012419. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012419.pub2]

# **Cystic Fibrosis Canada 2019**

Cystic Fibrosis Canada. The Canadian Cystic Fibrosis Registry 2018 Annual Data Report; published December 2019. www.cysticfibrosis.ca/uploads/ RegistryReport2018/2018RegistryAnnualDataReport.pdf.

# **Cystic Fibrosis Trust 2019**

Cystic Fibrosis Trust. What is cystic fibrosis? www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/what-is-cystic-fibrosis (accessed 24 October 2019).

# Daniels 2011

Daniels T, Goodacre L, Sutton C, Pollard K, Conway S, Peckham D. Accurate assessment of adherence: self-report and clinician report vs electronic monitoring of nebulizers. *Chest* 2011;**140**(2):425-32. [DOI: 10.1378/chest.09-3074]

# Davies 2020

Davies G, Rowbotham NJ, Smith S, Elliot ZC, Gathercole K, Rayner O, et al. Characterising burden of treatment in cystic fibrosis to identify priority areas for clinical trials. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;**19**:499-502. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.10.025]

# de Bruin 2016

de Bruin M, Viechtbauer W, Eisma MC, Hartmann-Boyce J, West R, Bull E, et al. Identifying effective behavioural components of Intervention and Comparison group support provided in SMOKing CEssation (IC-SMOKE) interventions: a systematic review protocol. *Systematic Reviews* 2016;**5**(77). [DOI: 10.1186/s13643-016-0253-1]

# Deeks 2022

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG, editor(s). Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

# Demonceau 2013

Demonceau J, Ruppar T, Kristanto P, Hughes DA, Fargher E, Kardas P, et al. Identification and assessment of adherenceenhancing interventions in studies assessing medication adherence through electronically compiled drug dosing histories: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Drugs* 2013;**73**:545-62. [DOI: 10.1007/s40265-013-0041-3]

# DiMatteo 2002

DiMatteo MR, Giordani PJ, Lepper HS, Croghan TW. Patient adherence and medical treatment outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Medical Care* 2002;**40**(9):794-811. [DOI: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000024612.61915.2D]

# Drabble 2019

Drabble SJ, O'Cathain A, Arden MA, Hutchings M, Beever D, Wildman M. When is forgetting not forgetting? A discursive analysis of differences in forgetting talk between adults with cystic fibrosis with different levels of adherence to nebulizer treatments. *Qualitative Health Research* 2019;**29**(14):2119-31. [DOI: 10.1177/1049732319856580]

# Dwan 2013

Dwan K, Kirkham JJ, Williamson PR, Gamble C. Selective reporting of outcomes in randomised controlled trials in systematic reviews of cystic fibrosis. *BMJ Open* 2013;**3**:e002709. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002709]



# Dziuban 2010

Dziuban EJ, Saab-Abazeed L, Chaudhry SR, Streetman DS, Nasr SZ. Identifying barriers to treatment adherence and related attitudinal patterns in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2010;**45**:450-8. [DOI: 10.1002/ppul.21195]

# Eakin 2011

Eakin MN, Bilderback A, Boyle MP, Mogayzel PJ, Riekert KA. Longitudinal association between medication adherence and lung health in people with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2011;**10**(4):258-64. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2011.03.005]

# **ECFS Patient Registry 2017**

Zolin A, Orenti A, Naehrlich L, van Rens J, Fox A, Krasnyk M, et al. European Cystic Fibrosis Society Patient Registry Annual Data Report 2017; published July 2019. www.ecfs.eu/sites/default/ files/general-content-images/working-groups/ecfs-patientregistry/ECFSPR\_Report2017\_v1.3.pdf.

# Gee 2000

Gee L, Abbott J, Conway SP, Etherington C, Webb AK. Development of a disease specific health related quality of life measure for adults and adolescents with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2000;**55**(11):946-54. [DOI: 10.1136/thorax.55.11.946]

# George 2010

George M, Rand-Giovannetti D, Eakin MN, Borrelli B, Zettler M, Riekert KA. Perceptions of barriers and facilitators: Selfmanagement decisions by older adolescents and adults with CF. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2010;**9**:425-32. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jcf.2010.08.016]

# Goldbeck 2014

Goldbeck L, Fidika A, Herle M, Quittner AL. Psychological interventions for individuals with cystic fibrosis and their families. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 6. Art. No: CD003148. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003148.pub3]

# Granger 2022

Granger E, Davies G, Keogh RH. Treatment patterns in people with cystic fibrosis: have they changed since the introduction of ivacaftor? *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2022;**21**(2):316-22. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2021.08.014]

# Haynes 1979

Haynes RB, Taylor DW, Sackett DL. Compliance in health care. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1979.

# Haynes 2002

Haynes R, McDonald HP, Garg A, Montague P. Interventions for helping patients to follow prescriptions for medications. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2002, Issue 2. Art. No: CD000011. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000011]

# Higgins 2017

Higgins JP Altman DG, Sterne JA on behalf of the Cochrane Statistical Methods Group and the Cochrane Bias Methods Group, editor(s). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JP, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2017. Available from training.cochrane.org/ handbook/archive/v5.2.

# Higgins 2022

Higgins JP, Eldridge S, Li T, editor(s). Chapter 23: Including variants on randomized trials. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

# Hoffmann 2014

Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ* 2014;**348**:g1687. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.g1687]

# Hollands 2019

Hollands GJ, Naughton F, Farley A, Lindson N, Aveyard P. Interventions to increase adherence to medications for tobacco dependence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019, Issue 8. Art. No: CD009164. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009164.pub3]

# Hoo 2016

Hoo ZH, Curley R, Campbell MJ, Walters SJ, Hind D, Wildman MJ. Accurate reporting of adherence to inhaled therapies in adults with cystic fibrosis: methods to calculate "normative adherence". *Patient Preference and Adherence* 2016;**10**:887-900. [DOI: 10.2147/PPA.S105530]

# Hoo 2017

Hoo ZH, Boote J, Wildman MJ, Campbell MJ, Gardner B. Determinants of objective adherence to nebulised medications among adults with cystic fibrosis: an exploratory mixed methods study comparing low and high adherers. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine* 2017;**5**:299-316. [DOI: 10.1080/21642850.2017.1338958]

# Hoo 2019

Hoo ZH, Totton N, Waterhouse S, Hind D, Girling C, Bradburn M, et al. Understanding objective adherence to preventative inhaled therapies at a centre level for quality improvement - a CFHealthHub (CFHH) improvement collaborative study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2019;**18**:S51-2. [DOI: 10.1016/ S1569-1993(19)30283-8]

# Hoo 2019a

Hoo ZH, Gardner B, Arden MA, Waterhouse S, Walters SJ, Campbell MJ, et al. Role of habit in treatment adherence among adults with cystic fibrosis. *Thorax* 2019;**74**(2):197-9. [DOI: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2017-211453]

# Hoo 2020

Hoo ZH, Curley R, Walters SJ, Campbell MJ, Wildman MJ. Exploring the implications of different approaches to estimate centre-level adherence using objective adherence data in an adult cystic fibrosis centre – a retrospective observational study. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2020;**19**(1):162-7. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jcf.2019.10.008]



### Hoo 2021

Hoo ZH, Totton N, Waterhouse S, Lewis J, Girling C, Bradburn M, et al. Real-world adherence among adults with cystic fibrosis is low: a retrospective analysis of the CFHealthHub digital learning health system. *Chest* 2021;**160**(6):2061-5. [DOI: 10.1016/j.chest.2021.06.039]

### Horne 1999

Horne R, Weinman J. Patients' beliefs about prescribed medicines and their role in adherence to treatment in chronic physical illness. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1999;**47**(6):555-67. [DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3999(99)00057-4]

#### Horne 2005

Horne R, Weinman J, Barber N, Elliott R, Morgan M, Cribb A, et al. Concordance, adherence and compliance in medicine taking: report for the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R&D (NCCSDO). www.ahpo.net/ assets/NCCSDO%20Compliance%202005.pdf 2005.

#### Horne 2013

Horne R, Chapman SC, Parham R, Freemantle N, Forbes A, Cooper V. Understanding patients' adherence-related beliefs about medicines prescribed for long-term conditions: a metaanalytic review of the Necessity-Concerns Framework. *PLOS One* 2013;**8**(12):e80633. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080633]

### ISRCTN14081521

ISRCTN14081521. Can people with cystic fibrosis safely stop taking some of their nebulised treatments if they are established on the new modulator therapy, Kaftrio? isrctn.com/ ISRCTN14081521 (first received 31 March 2021).

### Jones 2015

Jones S, Curley R, Wildman M, Morton RW, Elphick HE. Interventions for improving adherence to treatment in cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 7. Art. No: CD011665. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011665.pub2]

#### **Jones 2020**

Jones M, Moffatt F, Harvey A, Ryan JM. Interventions for improving adherence to airway clearance treatment and exercise in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 5. Art. No: CD013610. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013610]

### Kaplan 1989

Kaplan RM, Anderson JP, Wu AW, Mathews WC, Kozin F, Orenstein DM. The Quality of Well-Being Scale: applications in AIDS, cystic fibrosis, and arthritis. *Medical Care* 1989;**27**:S27-43. [DOI: 10.1097/00005650-198903001-00003]

### Kroenke 2009

Kroenke K, Strine TW, Spritzer RL, Williams JB, Berry JT, Mokdad AH. The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2009;**114**(1-3):163-73. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.026]

### Lam 2015

Lam WY, Fresco P. Medication adherence measures: An overview. *BioMed Research International* 2015;**217047**. [DOI: 10.1155/2015/217047]

### Lawrenson 2016

Lawrenson JG, Graham-Rowe E, Lorencatto F, Presseau J, Burr J, Ivers N, et al. Interventions to increase attendance for diabetic retinopathy screening. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 1. Art. No: CD012054. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012054]

#### Lorencatto 2013

Lorencatto F, West R, Stavri Z, Michie S. How well is intervention content described in published reports of smoking cessation interventions? *Nicotine & Tobacco Research: Official Journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco* 2013;**15**(7):1273–82. [DOI: 10.1093/ntr/nts266]

### Marteau 1992

Marteau TM, Bekker H. The development of a six-item short-form of the state scale of the Spielberger State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI). *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 1992;**31**:301-6. [DOI: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1992.tb00997.x]

### McNamara 2009

McNamara PS, McCormack P, McDonald AJ, Heaf L, Southern KW. Open adherence monitoring using routine data download from an adaptive aerosol delivery nebuliser in children with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2009;**8**(4):258-63. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2009.04.006]

### Michie 2009

Michie S, Fixsen D, Grimshaw JM, Eccles MP. Specifying and reporting complex behaviour change interventions: the need for a scientific method. *Implementation Science* 2009;**4**(40). [DOI: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-40]

#### Michie 2011

Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. *Implentation Science* 2011;**6**(42). [DOI: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-42]

# Michie 2013

Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 2013;**46**(1):81-95. [DOI: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6]

### Modi 2006a

Modi AC, Quittner AL. Barriers to treatment adherence for children with cystic fibrosis and asthma: what gets in the way? *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 2006;**31**(8):846-58. [DOI: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsj096]

# Modi 2006b

Modi AC, Lim CS, Yu N, Geller D, Wagner MH, Quittner AL. A multi-method assessment of treatment adherence for children



with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2006;**5**(3):177-85. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2006.03.002]

# Modi 2012

Modi AC, Ingerski LM, Rausch JR, Glauser TA, Drotar D. White coat adherence over the first year of therapy in pediatric epilepsy. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2012;**161**(4):695-9.e1.. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.03.059]

# Morisky 2008

Morisky DE, Ang A, Krousel-Wood M, Ward HJ. Predictive validity of a medication adherence measure in an outpatient setting. *Journal of Clinical Hypertension* 2008;**10**(5):348-54. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7176.2008.07572.x]

### Nasr 2013

Nasr SZ, Chou W, Villa KF, Chang E, Broder MS. Adherence to dornase alfa treatment among commercially insured patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Medical Economics* 2013;**16**(6):1-8. [DOI: 10.3111/13696998.2013.787427]

### NCT04378153

NCT04378153. Impact of discontinuing chronic therapies in people with cystic fibrosis on highly effective CFTR modulator therapy (SIMPLIFY) [A master protocol to test the impact of discontinuing chronic therapies in people with cystic fibrosis on highly effective CFTR modulator therapy (SIMPLIFY)]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04378153 (first posted 7 May 2020).

### NCT04798014

NCT04798014. Home-Reported Outcomes in People With Cystic Fibrosis Taking Highly Effective CFTR Modulator Therapy. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04798014 (first posted 15 March 2021).

### NCT05519020

NCT05519020. Inhaled therapy adherence and outcomes to Kaftrio in cystic fibrosis [Exploring adherence to preventative inhaled therapy and outcomes for people with cystic fibrosis who take ivacaftor/tezacaftor/elexacaftor]. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT05519020 (first posted 29 August 2022).

### **NICE 2009**

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Medicines adherence: involving patients in decisions about prescribed medicines and supporting adherence; 2009. Available from www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg76.

### Nieuwlaat 2014

Nieuwlaat R, Wilczynski N, Navarro T, Hobson N, Jeffery R, Keepanasseril A, et al. Interventions for enhancing medication adherence. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 11. Art. No: CD000011. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000011.pub4]

# **Osterberg 2005**

Osterberg L, Blaschke T. Adherence to medication. *New* England Journal of Medicine 2005;**353**(5):487-97. [DOI: 10.1056/ NEJMra050100]

# Page 2022

Page MJ, Higgins JP, Sterne JA. Chapter 13: Assessing risk of bias due to missing results in a synthesis. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

### Podsadecki 2008

Podsadecki TJ, Vrijens BC, Tousset EP, Rode RA, Hanna GH. "White Coat Compliance" limits the reliability of therapeutic drug monitoring in HIV-1-infected patients. *HIV Clinical Trials* 2008;**9**(4):238-46. [DOI: 10.1310/hct0904-238]

### Quittner 2009

Quittner AL, Modi AC, Wainwright C, Otto K, Kirihara J, Montgomery AB. Determination of the minimal clinically important difference scores for the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised respiratory symptom scale in two populations of patients with cystic fibrosis and chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa airway infection. *Chest* 2009;**135**(6):1610-8.

# Quittner 2014

Quittner AL, Zhang J, Marynchenko M, Chopra PA, Signorovitch J, Yushkina Y, et al. Pulmonary medication adherence and health-care use in cystic fibrosis. *Chest* 2014;**146**(1):142-51. [DOI: 10.1378/chest.13-1926]

### Radloff 1977

Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. *Applied Psychological Measurement* 1977;**1**(3):385-401. [DOI: 10.1177/014662167700100306]

### Ratjen 2012

Ratjen F, Durham T, Navratil T, Schaberg A, Accurso FJ, Wainwright C et al. Long term effects of denufosol tetrasodium in patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2012;**11**(6):539-49. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2012.05.003]

# Review Manager 2020 [Computer program]

Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.4. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2020.

### **Robinson 2020**

Robinson L, Maguire C, Hoo ZH, Wildman MJ. Making the invisible visible: the availability and desirability of adherence data in routine CF care – findings from a national questionnaire survey. *F1000Research* 2020;**8**:1904. [DOI: 10.12688/f1000research.21033.2]

# Rowbotham 2018

Rowbotham NJ, Smith S, Leighton PA, Rayner OC, Gathercole K, Elliott ZC, et al. The top 10 research priorities in cystic fibrosis developed by a partnership between people with CF and healthcare providers. *Thorax* 2018;**73**(4):388-90. [DOI: 10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2017-210473]



### **Rowbotham 2022**

Rowbotham NJ, Daniels TE. Airway clearance and exercise for people with cystic fibrosis: balancing longevity with life [2022]. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2022;**57 Suppl 1**:S50-9. [DOI: 10.1002/ ppul.25734]

### Savage 2014

Savage E, Beirne PV, Ni Chroinin M, Duff A, Fitzgerald T, Farrell D. Self-management education for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 9. Art. No: CD007641. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007641.pub3]

#### Sawicki 2009

Sawicki GS, Sellers DE, Robinson WM. High treatment burden in adults with cystic fibrosis: Challenges to disease selfmanagement. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis* 2009;**8**:91-6. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jcf.2008.09.007]

# Sawicki 2015

Sawicki GS, Heller KS, Demars N, Robinson WM. Motivating adherence among adolescents with cystic fibrosis: youth and parent perspectives. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2015;**50**:127-36. [DOI: 10.1002/ppul.23017]

# Sawicki 2018

Sawicki GS, Ostrenga J, Petren K, Fink AK, D'Agostino E, Strassle C, et al. Risk factors for gaps in care during transfer from pediatric to adult cystic fibrosis programs in the United States. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2018;**15**(2):234-40. [DOI: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201705-357OC]

### Schultz 2022

Schultz A. Adherence to CF treatment can be improved with the right approach! Thorax 2022;**77**(5):428. [DOI: 10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2021-218134]

### Schünemann 2022

Schünemann HJ, Higgins JP, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Skoetz N, et al, editor(s). Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

#### Shin 2018

Shin G, Feng Y, Jarrahi MH, Gafinowitz N. Beyond novelty effect: a mixed-methods exploration into the motivation for long-term activity tracker use. *JAMIA Open* 2018;**2**(1):62-72. [DOI: 10.1093/ jamiaopen/ooy048]

### Smith 2018

Smith S, Rowbotham NJ, Regan KH. Inhaled anti-pseudomonal antibiotics for long-term therapy in cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 3. Art. No: CD001021. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001021.pub3]

# Smith 2020

Smith S, Calthorpe R, Herbert S, Smyth AR. Digital technology for monitoring adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of* 

Systematic Reviews 2023, Issue 2. Art. No: CD013733. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013733.pub2]

### Song 2010

Song MK, Happ MB, Sandelowski M. Development of a tool to assess fidelity to a psycho-educational intervention. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2010;**66**(3):673-82. [DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-2648.2009.05216.x]

### Spitzer 2006

Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2006;**166**(10):1092-7. [DOI: 10.1001/ archinte.166.10.1092]

# Thorton 2013

Thorton C, Moss N, Chan E. Self-perceived verses electronic monitoring of adherence to nebulised treatment in children with cystic fibrosis - does the use of telehealth system improve nebulisation adherence? *European Respiratory Journal* 2013;**42**(S57):P2113.

### UK CF Registry 2018

UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry: annual data report 2018. www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/~/media/documents/ the-work-we-do/uk-cf-registry/2018-registry-annual-datareport.ashx?la=en.

# UK CF Registry 2019

UK Cystic Fibrosis Trust. UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry: annual data report 2019. www.cysticfibrosis.org.uk/~/media/documents/ the-work-we-do/uk-cf-registry/registry-report-2019.ashx?la=en.

# VandenBranden 2012

Vandenbranden SL, McMullen A, Schechter MS, Pasta DJ, Michaelis RL, Konstan MW, et al. Lung function decline from adolescence to young adulthood in cystic fibrosis. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 2012;**47**(2):135-43. [DOI: 10.1002/ppul.21526]

### Warnock 2020

Warnock L, Faulkner J, Flight WG. Estimating adherence with nebulised therapies: a challenge for people with cystic fibrosis and healthcare professionals. In: Journal of Cystic Fibrosis. Vol. 19S2. 2020:S55-168.

# WHO 2003

World Health Organization. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action; 2003. apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/42682/9241545992.pdf.

#### **WHO 2008**

World Health Organization. Global Priorities for Research in Patient Safety (first edition); 2008. www.who.int/publications/i/ item/WHO-IER-PSP-2008.13.

# WHO 2021

World Health Organization. Good health starts with healthy behaviour; 2021. www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0005/140666/CorpBrochure\_Good\_health.pdf.



Wildman MJ, Hoo ZH. Moving cystic fibrosis care from rescue to prevention by embedding adherence measurement in routine care. *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 2014;**15**(S1):16-8. [DOI: 10.1016/j.prrv.2014.04.007]

# Williamson 2017

Williamson PR, Altman DG, Bagley H, Barnes KL, Blazeby JM, Brookes ST, et al. The COMET Handbook: version 1.0. *Trials* 2017;**18 Suppl 3**:280. [DOI: 10.1186/s13063-017-1978-4]

# Yang 2018

Yang C, Montgomery M. Dornase alfa for cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 9. Art. No: CD001127. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001127.pub4]

# Zigmond 1983

Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 1983;**67**(6):361-70. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x]

# References to other published versions of this review

# Dawson 2020

Dawson S, Cowap L, Clark-Carter D, Girling C. Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 10. Art. No: CD013766. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013766]

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

# CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

# **Characteristics of included studies** [ordered by study ID]

Cottrell 1996	
Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm RCT conducted at a single CF centre in the USA.
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	People with CF
	Aged between the ages of 8 and 18 years
	Being treated at the CF Clinic, a regional CF centre for both treatment and research, at Children's Hos- pital in Columbus, Ohio, USA.
	<b>Number invited to participate (met eligibility criteria)</b> : (all families with CF child aged 8 - 18 years old from regional CF centre): n = 112 families with a total of 120 children or adolescents with CF.
	<b>Number of invited participants who declined</b> : n = 68 families (n = 39 declined as too busy or too far away from study site; n = 29 were already involved or on waiting-list for ongoing medication study).
	<b>Number of participants enrolled</b> : n = 34 (of these, 4 withdrew and 10 did not return diaries despite telephone reminders - unsure if these withdrawals occurred pre- or post-randomisation).
	Number of participants analysed (n = 20, in 18 families): intervention arm n = 10, control arm n = 10.
	Number of participants who received intended treatment: not reported.
	Demographic details
	Age, mean: 13.5 years.
	<b>Sex</b> : intervention group 4 females, 6 males; control group 6 females, 4 males.
	Ethnicity: not reported.
	Socioeconomic status
	95% of parents were high school graduates; 2% were college graduates. 4 mothers (2 in each group) were full-time homemakers.
	6 families had annual incomes above USD 50,000, and two had incomes below USD 15,000.

Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

	Cochrane
マノ	Library

Cottrell 1996 (Continued)	intervention group had 4 single-parent families and the control group had 1. 1 family in each group had 2 children with CF; both children participated in the study. 2 families in the intervention group had experienced a child dying of CF.
	<b>Disease status</b> : to assess severity in the 2 groups, the 3 CF centre physicians independently rated each participant's degree of disease involvement on a 1 to 10 point scale with 1 being very severe and 10 being no involvement. The mean (SD) severity ratings for pulmonary system involvement was 7.03 (1.614) in the intervention group and 7.08 (2.162) in the control group. These differences were not statistically significant.
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : 2 x 6-hour self-management training sessions delivered face-to-face by psycholo- gists or registered nurses. No details were provided on the scheduling of these sessions so the interven- tion duration and gap between sessions is unclear.
	Each session consisted of teaching participants about the nature of CF, principles of self-management, identification of early warning signs of illness exacerbations, appropriate self-management steps, types of medications and their appropriate use etc). Report states that "parents and patients met together during discussion of the nature of CF and self-management principles". During the remainder of the training sessions, parents, adolescents, and children met in separate groups.
	<b>Control arm</b> : presume usual care (no details reported).
Outcomes	Outcomes included (not reported as primary and secondary outcomes)
	<ol> <li>Knowledge of CF (measured by the percentage of questions answered correctly on the CF knowledge survey).</li> </ol>
	2. Compliance with medical regimen (assessed by comparing the medication and treatment schedule recorded on a physician record with the medication and treatment schedule reported by the participants on the CF diary. % compliance was computed separately by medications aerosols, and chest physiotherapy. Medication compliance was computed by dividing the total number of medication doses recorded by the participants by the total number prescribed by physicians. Aerosol and CPT compliance was computed in the same manner).
	3. Self-management behaviours. Two aspects of self-management behaviours were considered. The first was the total number of self-management behaviours each participant used on a regular basis. This was measured by counting the number of self-management items the participant reported engaging in at least "sometimes" as recorded on the self-management behaviours form. The second was the frequency of self-management behaviours with which participants performed each of the self-management behaviours. This was measured by assigning each response item a score as follows: 0 = never, 1 = rarely, 2 = sometimes, 3 = usually, and 4 = always. Overall frequency was assessed by averaging the responses on items on the self-management behaviours form.
	4. Weight (in pounds, was measured weekly by each participant and recorded on the CF diary).
	5. Quality of Well-Being score (Kaplan 1989) (scale assesses functioning on three subscales (mobility, physical activity, social activity), and 22 problems or symptoms that could impair functioning); total score ranges from zero (i.e. death) to one (i.e. optimal functioning, equal to perfect health).
	6. Pulmonary function. Peak flow meters were used to measure PEFR or the degree of airway obstruction recorded by each participant.
	Assessment time points
	Baseline
	6 to 8 weeks post assessment
Funding source	Not reported.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Not reported.
Notes	Contacted lead study author who was unable to provide further information on the study (e.g. protocol, intervention manual, participant invitation letter, participant information sheet etc).



Cottrell 1996 (Continued)

Unable to access dissertation and lead study author confirmed this is no longer available.

Intervention fidelity: not reported.

**Risk of bias** 

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Report states: "At the end of the 2-week baseline period, subjects were ran- domly assigned to one of two groups."
		No further information reported.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not reported.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	Blinding of outcome assessors not reported.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Report states: "Of the 34 subjects enrolled in the study, 2 withdrew due to ill- ness of a family member, 2 withdrew because of family vacations, and 10 did not return diaries despite repeated telephone reminders". It is unclear if the four withdrawals occurred pre- or post-randomisation. It is unclear which tri- al arms the 10 families who did not return diaries were allocated to. The trial authors provide no further information on why 10 families dropped out. Not analysed as intention-to-treat.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Contacted study author but unable to access trial protocol to assess reporting bias.
Other bias	High risk	The mean (SD) baseline weight measurement for participants in the interven- tion group was 89.15 (29.29) lb and for children in the control group was 101.4 (32.17) lb. This difference indicates a clinically important baseline imbalance in the case of CF.

# **Downs 2006**

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm RCT conducted at 3 public hospital CF clinics in Australia.
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Children with CF aged 6 to 11 years and their primary caregivers (if the child currently performed ACT as part of home management programme).
	Fluent in English
	No learning difficulties
	Not currently exposed to other CF self-management programmes
	Number of participants recruitment discussed with: n = 86 eligible families.
	Number of participants randomised (n = 65 families (caregiver/child dyads)): intervention arm n = 33, control arm n = 29.



Downs 2006 (Continued)	<b>Number of participants who received intended treatment</b> : intervention arm n = 18, control arm n = 25.		
	Number of participants analysed (per-protocol; n = 43): intervention arm n = 18, control arm n = 25.		
	Number of participants analysed (intention-to-treat; n = 51): intervention arm n = 26, control arm n = 25.		
	Demographic details		
	Age, mean (SD): intervention group 8.4 (1.8) years, control group 8.4 (1.5) years.		
	Sex: intervention group (8 males, 10 females) control group (16 males, 9 females).		
	Ethnicity: not reported.		
	Socioeconomic status: not reported.		
	Disease status: not reported.		
	<b>Aerosols, mean (SD) doses/day (P = 0.844)</b> : intervention group (n = 16) 3.8 (2.1) doses, control group (n = 24) 3.9 (2.4) doses.		
	Aerosols, mean (SD) minutes/day (P = 0.837): intervention group (n = 16) 29.9 (15.6) minutes, control group (n = 24) 28.6 (22.8) minutes		
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm:</b> self-management education programme focused on improving adherence to aerosol treatments and ACT in children with CF. Pen and paper programme was completed by the care-giver and child over a 10-week period, with each of the 10 chapters taking approximately 20 minutes to complete. Caregivers participating in the programme were telephoned at the end of weeks 3, 6 and 9 to support participation and answer questions.		
	<b>Control arm:</b> usual care (confirmed in email by first author).		
Outcomes	Outcomes included (not reported as primary and secondary outcomes)		
	<ol> <li>Adherence to aerosol and ACT regimens (measured using 1-week diary card developed for the study where parents/caregivers-child dyads recorded the days and times the children started taking a neb- uliser treatment).</li> </ol>		
	2. Caregiver self-management behaviours (measured using 1-week diary card developed for the study).		
	3. Responsiveness of ACT performance when the child was unwell (if the caregiver recorded performing longer ACT or additional treatments on the diary cards on an unwell day, then self-management behaviours on that day were considered to be responsive to the child's treatment needs. For each child, a mean responsiveness score for all pre-intervention unwell days and all post-intervention unwell days was calculated).		
	4. Child knowledge of ACT (measured using Child Knowledge of ACT Questionnaire developed for the study).		
	5. Child feelings about regular performance of aerosol and ACT (treatment regimens (measured using single item question, 'How do you feel about doing chest treatments in your day?', with the response indicated by the child on the Faces Pain Scale).		
	6. Caregiver self-efficacy to manage aerosol and ACT treatment regimens (measured using the Self-effi- cacy Scale).		
	Assessment time points		
	Pre-intervention.		
	Post-intervention (took place 3 to 4 months after pre-intervention assessment for control group and immediately after completion of 'Airways' for intervention group).		

6-month follow-up (took place 6 months after post-intervention assessment - involved completion of adherence and self-management diary cards, and caregiver Self-efficacy Scale).



Downs 2006 (Continued)	12-month follow-up (to ed pre- and post-interv	ook place 6 months after 6-month follow-up assessment - all measures complet- rention completed again).
Funding source	The authors report that the study was supported by the Physiotherapy Research Foundation, Australia, and the Australian Cystic Fibrosis Research Trust.	
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Not reported.	
Notes	Intervention fidelity:	not reported.
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Report states: "Following recruitment at each participating centre, partici- pants were stratified according to the child's age (six to eight and nine to 11 years) and allocated to the control or intervention group using randomized permuted blocks"
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk	No details are provided in the published report. Information provided by the lead author on request states that allocation was not concealed.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	No details are provided in the published report on blinding of outcome asses- sors. Information provided by the lead author on request states that "most outcomes were child or parent report - they cannot be blinded. The clinical measures were blinded". It is unclear if outcome assessors were blinded from knowing which group participants were randomised to.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Report states: "There was significant attrition from this study and the potential for bias. Withdrawals from the study prior to the intervention phase occurred in both groups and related to lack of completion of assessments. However, later attrition occurred only in the intervention group and was mainly due to time pressures. In some cases, attrition related to the nature of the intervention (i.e., the need for consistent effort from child and caregiver) and sometimes to characteristics of the participants." The report also states that "the gender, age and FEV <sub>1</sub> of children completing the study were not significantly different to those who withdrew from the study".
		Intention-to-treat analysis was conducted which included data from partici- pants in the intervention group who commenced the intervention and later withdrew (n = 8). 7 intervention and 4 control arm participants did not com- plete pre-test assessments or withdrew from study prior to commencing inter- vention (so not included in intention-to-treat analysis).
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Contacted study author but unable to access trial protocol to assess reporting bias.
Other bias	Low risk	No other potential source of bias identified.

# Gur 2016

Study characteristics



# Gur 2016 (Continued)

Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, pilot study conducted at a single CF centre (Paediatric Pulmonology Institute, Ruth Rappaport Children's Hospital) in Northern Israel.		
Participants	Number of participants analysed (n = 18)		
	Intervention arm: n = 9		
	Control arm: n = 9		
	NB. 3 participants who were originally assigned to the study group by consecutive order were later as- signed to the control group (2 participants were not interested in performing Skype video chats due to busy schedules, and 1 participant did not have an Internet connection).		
	Inclusion criteria (from protocol provided by the study authors)		
	Aged over 8 years		
	Documented diagnosis of CF by a physician for at least the prior year		
	No major comorbid diagnoses (e.g. cerebral palsy, cancer), able to complete the pre- and post-treat- ment assessments.		
	Demographic details (recorded from participant medical records)		
	<b>Age, mean (SD), median (range)</b> : intervention group 21.2 (6.2) years, 21.2 (12.7 to 32.5) years; control group 24.8 (11) years, 13 (14.2 to 50.7) years.		
	<b>Sex</b> : intervention group 5 females (56%); control group 5 females (56%).		
	Ethnicity: unclear.		
	Socioeconomic status: not reported.		
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : telehealth intervention comprising Skype-based online video chats conducted with a member of the multidisciplinary CF team (e.g. doctor, nurse, dietician, physiotherapist, psychologist or social worker) and twice-weekly WhatsApp messages.		
	Each Skype video chat session was performed by a different member of the CF team. Team members were instructed to use supportive, non-judgemental language. Adherence was evaluated during the chats, with an effort to address barriers and solve them. After each chat, the staff member was asked to submit to the principal investigator a free-text description of his/her experience, which was kept with the questionnaires filled in by the subjects. Different issues were raised by people with CF (e.g. inhalation therapies (n = 9); cleaning of devices (n = 7) and members of the CF team (medication adherence; assess adherence; barriers to adherence)). The focus of the chats varied and included a range of topics and treatments, not just inhaled therapies or adherence.		
	WhatsApp messages regarded the importance of adherence to the treatment regimen, nutritional sup- port, physical activity and diabetes control (e.g. 'Do your physiotherapy, get it off your chest'; 'Keep your belly calm, take creon'; 'Gaining weight = gaining health').		
	Participants had a median of five (range 4 to 6) Skype video chats, and received 22 to 45 WhatsApp messages during the intervention period.		
	The authors report that the intervention period was longer than originally planned due to difficulties in scheduling the Skype video chats (each chat required 2 to 3 attempts).		
	The authors report some challenges with recruitment (some participants did not want to commit to the Skype video chats). 1 participant asked to stop the WhatsApp messages but continued with the Skype chats. Another participant was interested in performing more Skype chats than planned, and began communicating with the team members with WhatsApp messages.		
	Control arm: presume usual care (no details reported).		

Outcomes	Outcomes included (not reported as primary and secondary outcomes)



Gui 2010 (continued)	<ol> <li>Age-appropriate verical functioning, viticeptions, social fur (weight, respiratory scores indicating betweight, respiratory scores indicating betweight, respiratory scores indicating betweight, respiratory for the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight. Satisfaction with respirators in the interpret of the score indicating hight.</li> </ol>	rsions of the CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) (measure assesses 9 function domains (phys- ality, emotional functioning, eating disturbances, treatment burden, health per- nectioning, body image, and role functioning) and symptoms across 3domains a symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher etter QoL) nnaire (33 questions in 4 domains: lung disease, nutrition, general health and ch question was scored 1 for a wrong answer and 2 for a right answer) ort questionnaire describing the type and frequency of 12 types of common CF or a 5-point Likert scale (where 1 = never and 5 = a few times a day, with a higher her adherence) lations with CF team (graded on a scale of 1 to 10) <b>hts</b>
Funding source	Report states that the s	study was supported by an investigator-initiated grant from Novartis.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	None declared.	
Notes	Contacted the study at col) on the method and	ithors who provided further information (e.g. baseline data results, study proto- I results of the study.
_	Intervention fidelity:	not reported.
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	High risk	Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. No other details on the randomisation process provided. Contacted the study author who reported that the participants were assigned by order of recruitment.
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias)	High risk High risk	Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. No other details on the randomisation process provided. Contacted the study author who reported that the participants were assigned by order of recruitment. Allocation concealment not blinded. Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by 1 of the physicians during a routine clinic visit.
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	High risk High risk High risk	Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. No other details on the randomisation process provided. Contacted the study author who reported that the participants were assigned by order of recruitment. Allocation concealment not blinded. Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by 1 of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. Outcome assessors were not blinded.
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk High risk High risk Unclear risk	Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. No other details on the randomisation process provided. Contacted the study author who reported that the participants were assigned by order of recruitment. Allocation concealment not blinded. Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by 1 of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. Outcome assessors were not blinded. Contacted the study authors who provided a copy of the unpublished study protocol. The authors confirmed that they did not have any dropouts, al- though 3 participants who were originally assigned to the intervention group said they would prefer to be in the control group (2 were not interested in per- forming Skype video chats due to busy schedules, and 1 did not have an Inter- net connection), so were transferred to the control group.
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias) Allocation concealment (selection bias) Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	High risk High risk High risk Unclear risk Unclear risk	Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by one of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. No other details on the randomisation process provided. Contacted the study author who reported that the participants were assigned by order of recruitment. Allocation concealment not blinded. Participants were consecutively assigned to the intervention or control group by 1 of the physicians during a routine clinic visit. Outcome assessors were not blinded. Contacted the study authors who provided a copy of the unpublished study protocol. The authors confirmed that they did not have any dropouts, al- though 3 participants who were originally assigned to the intervention group said they would prefer to be in the control group (2 were not interested in per- forming Skype video chats due to busy schedules, and 1 did not have an Inter- net connection), so were transferred to the control group. Adherence results not reported in the published report, but were provided by the study authors after contact.



# Hind 2017

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, feasibility RCT conducted at 2 adult CF centres (Nottingham and Southampton) in Eng- land (CFHealthHub pilot study).
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Diagnosed with CF and with data within the CF registry.
	Aged 16 years and above.
	Taking inhaled mucolytics or antibiotics via a chipped nebuliser (e.g. PARI eFlow® rapid nebuliser sys- tem and eTrack® controller or BiNeb) or able and willing to take via eTrack or Bi-Neb.
	Exclusion criteria
	Post-lung transplant.
	On the active lung transplant list.
	Receiving palliative care.
	Lacking in capacity to give informed consent.
	Using dry powder devices to take antibiotics or mucolytics.
	Population of interest (reviewed for eligibility): n = 430.
	Number who met eligibility criteria: n = 135.
	Number successfully contacted: n = 95.
	Number of participants randomised (n = 64): intervention arm n = 33; control arm n = 31.
	Number of participants who completed study (at 5 (+/-1) month follow-up) (n = 59): intervention arm n = 31, control arm n = 28.
	<b>Number of participants analysed at study completion (n = 64)</b> : intervention arm n = 33, control arm n = 31.
	Demographic details (intervention group n = 33, control group n = 31)
	<b>Age, mean (SD), median (IQR), range</b> : intervention group 31.6 (13.3) years, 28 (21 to 37) years, 16 to 69 years; control group 27.8 (8.9) years, 26 (20 to 34) years, 16 to 50 years.
	<b>Sex</b> : intervention group 18 males (54.5%) and 15 females (45.5%), control group (n = 31) 18 males (58.1%) and 13 females (41.9%).
	Ethnicity: not reported.
	Socioeconomic status
	Intervention group (n = 33): Most deprived n = 6 (18.2%); High deprivation n = 4 (12.1%); Average n = 8 (24.2%); Low deprivation n = 6 (18.2%); Least deprived n = 9 (27.3%).
	Control group (n = 31): Most deprived n = 1 (3.2%); High deprivation n = 7 (22.6%); Average n = 8 (25.8%); Low deprivation n = 9 (29%); Least deprived n = 6 (19.4%).
	Disease status: not reported.
Interventions	Intervention arm: complex intervention comprising 3 main components:
	1. a microchipped device (nebuliser) for delivering inhaled medications;



Hind 2017 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

	<ol> <li>information technology infrastructure to capture and store adherence data from the nebulisers and display it to participants and the CF team, and;</li> <li>the behaviour change intervention, comprising a software platform ('CFHealthHub' mobile app and website) offering adherence feedback and tailored modules of content and tools used by the health</li> </ol>
	professional (interventionist) in interactions with participants and accessed independently by partic- ipants via CFHealthHub.
	Mean (SD) number of intervention sessions/participant (n = 33): 3 (1.6) sessions.
	Mean (SD) duration of sessions: 36.1 (23.9) minutes.
	Mean number of review sessions/participant (n = 33): 1 (0.5) sessions.
	Median number of clinic visits: 2 visits.
	Dose/frequency of intervention: initial visit and at least 1 additional review visit from a trained inter- ventionist who delivered face-to-face behaviour change content.
	<b>Control arm</b> : usual care (heterogeneous within and between centres, based on the needs of individu- als and the skills and interests of CF centre staff). Participants in the control arm used a microchipped nebuliser but were not able to access adherence data or other content and tools through CFHealthHub, neither did they receive the structured CFHealthHub intervention as described in the intervention man- ual. Control arm participants using Bi-neb nebulisers might have had access to their data as part of rou- tine care, but this was not in the user-friendly format provided by the intervention. This trial assessed possible leakage from intervention to controls via a process evaluation.
Outcomes	Primary outcome
	1. Number of pulmonary exacerbations in 5 (+/-1) month post-baseline follow-up period, defined according to the Fuchs criteria. An exacerbation of respiratory symptoms was said to have occurred when a participant was treated with parenteral antibiotics for any 1 of the following 12 signs or symptoms: change in sputum; new or increased haemoptysis; increased cough; increased dyspnoea; malaise, fatigue, or lethargy; temperature above 38 °C; anorexia or weight loss; sinus pain or tenderness; change in sinus discharge; change in physical examination of the chest, derived from notes by site staff; decrease in pulmonary function by 10% or more from a previously recorded value, derived from notes by site staff; radiographic changes indicative of pulmonary infection, derived from notes by site staff. The trial interventionist or prescribing clinician/nurse collected data on the "exacerbations" form at the point of a participant starting a course of IV antibiotics.
	Secondary outcomes
	1. BMI 2. FEV <sub>1</sub>
	3. EuroQol EQ-5D-5L: generic health status measure for health economic analysis
	<ol> <li>Patient Activation Measure (PAM-13) (Health Style Assessment): assessment of patient knowledge, skill, and confidence for self-management</li> </ol>
	5. Assessment of routine: measure of life chaos
	6. Self-Report Behavioural Automaticity Index: automaticity-specific subscale of the Self Report Habit index to capture habit-based behaviour patterns

- 7. CFQ-R: disease specific HRQoL instrument (Quittner 2009) (measure assesses 9 function domains (physical functioning, vitality, emotional functioning, eating disturbances, treatment burden, health perceptions, social functioning, body image, and role functioning) and symptoms across 3domains (weight, respiratory symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL)
- 8. PHQ-8: severity measure for depressive disorders
- 9. Medication adherence data 3 items
- 10.GAD-7: severity measure for anxiety (scores range from 0 to 21, and cut-off scores of 5, 10, and 15 indicate mild, moderate, and severe levels of anxiety, respectively)

Hind 2017 (Continued)			
(	11.Capability Opportu Medicines Question item, 1 intention ite	nity Motivation Behaviour Beliefs Questionnaire: incorporating The Beliefs about naire (specific nebuliser adherence) and project-specific items (1 additional belief m, 1 confidence item, and a list of barriers).	
	12.Subjective adheren clude the identificat	ce/self-report estimate of adherence as a percentage. Self-reported problems in- ion of capability and opportunity barriers to nebuliser adherence.	
	13.Concomitant medic	ations.	
	14.Resource-use form: tronic system to de and unscheduled in	data collected from a combination of hospital notes and the NHS patient elec- termine inpatient IV days, routine clinic visits, unscheduled outpatient contacts patient stays.	
	15.Exploratory analysis 16.Monthly prescriptio tion that the prescri	s of habit formation using the objective nebuliser data. n check to both check for data transfer to CFHealthHub and review for an indica- ption has changed or indication of microorganism e.g. Pseudomonas.	
	17.Adherence to prescr normative adherenc numerator adjustme normative adherenc 18.Any treatment with	ibed medication defined in several ways, including unadjusted adherence, simple ce (without numerator adjustment), sophisticated normative adherence (without ent), simple normative adherence (with numerator adjustment) and sophisticated ce (with numerator adjustment). IV antibiotics.	
	,		
	Assessment time poin	ts	
	Baseline		
	5 months +/-1 post-ran	domisation	
Funding source	Research funded by the ber RP-PG1212-20015).	e NIHR under its Grants for Applied Research Programme (Grant Reference Num-	
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Last author received fu tion development work Track (authors report t University of Manchest component within the the feasibility study rep	nding from Zambon and support from Philips Respironics for the early interven- k. In addition, last author has worked with PARI to carry out studies using the e- his had not had any direct influence on the feasibility study reported here). The er software team received funding from PARI to create a medication reporting CFHealthHub software (authors report this had not had any direct influence on ported here). The other authors declared no competing interests.	
Notes	Clinical trial register:		
	<b>Intervention fidelity</b> : report states that structured interventionist fidelity assessments were conducted on all three interventionists. Audio-recordings of intervention sessions were coded using a fidelity scoring system which assessed whether each component of the intervention was delivered according to the manual and the quality of that delivery. Based on fidelity assessment of intervention session recordings, the 'content' fidelity of face-to-face interactions was excellent (100%) - with all aspects de livered as per the manual. 'Delivery quality' fidelity was more variable (60% to 92%). "The generation of goals and action plans was sometimes too directive rather than negotiated and supportive. Fidelity assessment of recordings identified that, in interactions with the adequately motivated, the focus was not always on the most active ingredients - goal-setting, action planning (habit formation) and proble solving/ coping planning."		
Risk of bias			
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement	
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Report states: "Randomisation in a 1:1 ratio through computer-generated pseudo-random list and random permuted blocks of varying sizes (2, 4 and 6), stratified by site and number of IV antibiotic days in previous 12 months".	
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Report states: "Study researchers accessed the allocation for each participant by logging into the remote, secure internet-based randomisation system. Once	

participant consent was gained, the researcher entered participant demo-



# Hind 2017 (Continued)

		graphic information into the system upon which the allocation was then revealed to the researcher".
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	High risk	Outcome assessor (i.e. researcher/interventionist) was non-blinded after allo- cation revealed following consent visit.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Analysed as intention-to-treat with all participants entering the trial.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Low risk	All outcomes listed in protocol reported in trial paper.
Other bias	Low risk	Trial statisticians remained blind to treatment allocation until database freeze (the point where all data had been input and all known queries resolved).

Knudsen 2016	
Study characteristics	5
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, feasibility RCT conducted at a single outpatient CF clinic in Denmark for young adults with CF (Coach to Cope).
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Diagnosed with CF, confirmed by clinical findings, identification of two disease-causing CFTR muta- tions, and a positive sweat chloride test.
	Attending the Copenhagen CF Centre.
	Exclusion criteria
	Severe intellectual impairment or insufficient mastery of the Danish language, determined by incapaci- ty to independently complete the questionnaires.
	Population of interest: n = 92.
	Number invited to participate (met eligibility criteria): n = 85.
	Number of invited participants who declined: $n = 15$ ( $n = 30$ never responded).
	Number of participants randomised (n = 40): intervention arm n = 20, control arm n = 20.
	Number of participants who received intended treatment
	1 session (n = 18)
	2 sessions (n = 17)
	3 sessions (n = 16)
	4 sessions (n = 13)
	5 sessions (n = 12)
	6 sessions (n = 9)
	7 sessions (n = 9)
	8 sessions (n = 9)

Knudsen 2016 (Continued)	9 sessions (n = 9)			
	10 sessions (n = 9)			
	Number of participants analysed at midway (5 months) time point (n = 31): intervention arm (n = 12), control arm (n = 19).			
	Number of participants analysed at post-intervention (11 months) time point (n = 28): intervention arm (n = 9), control arm (n = 19).			
	Number of participants analysed at 1-year post-intervention time point (n = 24): intervention arm (n = 12), control arm (n = 12).			
	Demographic details			
	<b>Age, mean (range)</b> : 23.7 years (18 to 30).			
	<b>Sex</b> : 27/38 (71%) female.			
	Ethnicity: not reported.			
	<b>Socioeconomic status</b> : lower education, n = 11 (29%); high school, n = 12 (32%); college/university, n = 15 (39%); employed or studying, n = 33 (87%).			
	<b>Disease status</b> : 50% of participants had average FEV <sub>1</sub> values above 70% of predicted. More than 25% of participants (total group) had elevated symptoms of depression at baseline (26.2%). There were more participants with CF-related diabetes in the intervention group (44%) versus the control group (20%) and clinical parameters like FEV <sub>1</sub> , BMI, and HbA1C were slightly, but not significantly, worse in the intervention group.			
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm:</b> up to 10 individual, face-to-face or telephone (according to participant preferences) life coaching sessions (up to 60 minutes in duration) with a certified coach. The first and last coaching sessions were intended to be face-to-face and last up to 90 minutes.			
	Participants attended an average of 6 coaching sessions (range 1 to 10), which were scheduled to be every 1 to 2 weeks early in the program and every 2 to 4 weeks later on. The entire coaching intervention was planned to last 6 to 9 months (although this was extended due to cancellations).			
	The number of same-day cancellations was 38 (31%); five (6%) were no-shows.			
	Planned telephone coaching calls were not answered 10 times (25%). Individuals who cancelled or were no-shows for in-person or telephone sessions were offered new appointments. Due to the number of cancellations, it was not possible to adhere to the original schedule of intervals between coaching sessions and the time frame for completion of the coaching program varied; however, those who participated in all 10 sessions completed in 8 – 15 months.			
	121 coaching sessions were delivered in total.			
	Coaching was primarily face-to-face (n = 82; 68%) and lasted, on average, 57 minutes (range 20 to 110 minutes). Telephone coaching (n = 39; 32%) was shorter and lasted, on average, 28 minutes (range 5 to 60 minutes).			
	Coaching took place either in a quiet room at the hospital outside the Department of Infectious Dis- eases or at a location close to the hospital.			
	Control arm: usual care.			
Outcomes	Primary outcome			
	1. Feasibility of the intervention (measured at 12 months) - willingness of eligible participants to be re- cruited and randomised, adherence to the intervention, and attrition rates			
	Secondary outcomes			

Cochrane Library

Knudsen 2016 (Continued)	<ol> <li>HRQoL - special focus on the domains Social and Emotional functioning on the CFQ-R (measured at up to 21 months - for the intervention group at baseline, after 5 coaching sessions, after 10 coaching sessions and at 12 months post intervention; for the control group at baseline, after 4 months, after 9 months and at 12 months post intervention)</li> <li>Self-reported adherence using MMAS-8 (measured at baseline and 4, 9 and 21 months) where scores range from 0 to 8 and cut-off scores include 0 to less than 6 (low adherence), 6 to less than 8 (medium adherence), and 8 (high adherence)</li> <li>Adherence through pharmacy refill histories (data collected for 4 months prior to the intervention and 4 months at the end of the intervention (for the intervention group 2 months prior to end of study and 2 months after for the intervention group; for the control group 7 to 11 months after baseline))</li> <li>Self-efficacy - GSE questionnaires (at baseline, 4, 9 and 21 months after baseline)</li> <li>Clinical data (at baseline, 4, 9 and 21 months after baseline)         <ul> <li>Lung function test (spirometry, FEV<sub>1</sub>)</li> <li>BMI</li> <li>Haemoglobin A1C (HbA1C)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Other outcome measures:         <ul> <li>Experiences with and acceptability of the intervention through in-depth interviews with participants from the intervention arm after their last coaching session (12 months)</li> </ul> </li> </ol>	
	Baseline	
	Midway (5 months)	
	Post-intervention (11 m	nonths)
	Follow-up (1-year post-	intervention)
Funding source	Funding: supported by	an unconditional grant by Gilead.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Authors report no conf	lict of interest.
Notes	Clinical trial register:	clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02110914.
	Intervention fidelity: not reported.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Participants were randomized 1:1 in computer-generated blocks of 4, to ob- tain equal numbers in both arms.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not reported.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	Blinding of outcome assessors not reported.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	High attrition rates - retention rates after 5 and 10 coaching sessions were 67% and 50%, respectively. Reasons for stopping the intervention included lack of time (n = 1), poor health (n = 1), coaching not being helpful (n = 2), lack of motivation (n = 1), no need for further coaching (n = 2), and unknown reasons (n = 2). Those who stopped because of "no need for further coaching" were not



Knudsen 2016 (Continued)		considered dropouts, as they had achieved what they wanted from the coach- ing intervention in less than 10 sessions. Thus, the dropout rate overall was re- ported as 39%. Not analysed as intention-to-treat.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	High risk	Clinicaltrials.gov mentions an additional secondary outcome that is not re- ported in the published paper (unsure if this was not examined as part of the trial or is due to selective reporting):
		"Pharmacy Refill Histories [Time Frame: up to 1 year]: Data from the pharmacy database will be collected for two four-month peri- ods: four months prior to the intervention and four months at the end of the intervention. The last four months will be two months prior to end of study and two months after for the intervention group, and seven to eleven month
Other bias	Low risk	after baseline for the control group". No other potential sources of bias identified.

# Quinn 2004

Study characteristics		
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm RCT conducted at a single CF centre (Leeds) in England.	
Participants	Eligibility criteria	
	Males and females with a diagnosis of CF confirmed by either 2 positive sweat tests or recognised CF genotypes, prior to the onset of the trial.	
	Aged 18 and over.	
	Taking nebulised colistin for CF via a Prodose nebuliser.	
	Able to use a nebuliser mouthpiece.	
	Exclusion criteria	
	FVC below 30% predicted (i.e. eligible for lung transplant assessment).	
	Participation in other ongoing therapeutic trials for CF.	
	Pregnant.	
	Withdrawal criteria	
	Participants who become pregnant during the trial.	
	Choose to withdraw for any reason at any time throughout the trial.	
	Participants who experience adverse effects whereby an independent physician deems that the patient be withdrawn for their own safety.	
	Population of interest (prescribed nebulised colistimethate): n = 102	
	Number invited to participate (met eligibility criteria): $n = 47$	
	Number of invited participants who declined: n = 8	
	<b>Number of participants randomised</b> : n = 39 (3 participants dropped out after the start of the trial: n = 1 was withdrawn due to possible side effects of the medication and n = 2 dropped out because they	



Quinn 2004 (Continued)

preferred their previous nebulisers to the Prodose). The study sample therefore consisted of 36 participants. Unclear which group participants who dropped out were assigned to).

**Number of participants in each group pre-intervention (n = 36)**: intervention arm n = 17, control arm n = 19.

**Number of participants receiving intended treatment (n = 31)**: intervention arm (received minimum 3 intervention sessions) n = 12, control arm n = 19.

**Number of participants analysed at post-intervention (intention-to-treat analysis; n = 35)**: intervention arm n = 16 (1 participant was transferred for heart-lung transplantation), control arm n = 19.

Number of participants analysed at post-intervention (per-protocol; n = 31): intervention arm n = 12 (1 participant was transferred for heart-lung transplantation; 4 participants did not receive the minimum 3 intervention sessions), control arm n = 19.

Demographic details (overall n = 36, intervention group n = 17, control arm n = 19)

**Age, mean (SD)**: overall 24.28 (5.15) years, intervention arm 23.94 (3.88) years, control arm 24.58 (6.16) years - there was no significant difference between groups.

**Sex**: overall 19 males (52.78%) and 17 females (47.22%), intervention arm 5 males (29.41%) and 12 females (70.59%), control arm 14 males (73.68%) and 5 females (26.32%) - there was a significantly larger proportion of males in the control group and a larger proportion of females in the intervention group (Fisher's exact test, P = 0.010).

**Ethnicity**: overall 33 participants (91.67%) were white European and 3 participants (8.33%) were of Asian (India/Pakistan) origin. The intervention group had 14 white Europeans and three participants of Asian origin (Fisher's exact test, P = 0.095); all 19 participants in the control group were white European.

#### Socioeconomic status

There were no differences between the intervention and control groups on marital status, accommodation, occupation, time known to the unit, time known to the physiotherapists, and the length of time participants had been using a nebuliser.

22 participants (61.11%) were single; five (13.89%) participants cohabited; and nine (25%) were married.

19 participants (52.78%) lived at home with their parents, whereas six (16.67%) lived on their own; five (13.89%) lived with their spouse; five (13.89%) with their partner; and one (2.78%) lived in university halls of residence.

12 participants (33.33%) were in full-time employment and six participants (16.67%) in part-time employment; seven (19.44%) were unemployed; six (16.67%) claimed sick/ benefit support; and five (13.89%) were students.

Disease status: participants had been using a nebuliser for a mean (SD) of 120.19 (79.06) months.

Interventions Intervention arm: brief telephone MI intervention. Up to 6 telephone sessions of MI delivered over 3 months by a trainee clinical psychologist (study investigator), focused on increasing adherence and enhancing self-efficacy. Sessions were fortnightly, lasting approximately 15 - 30 minutes each.

**Control arm:** usual care (the investigator made no contact with participants in this arm of the trial until the end of the intervention, when they were required to complete the battery of questionnaires and submit their Prodose device so that their adherence data could be collected).

Outcomes

### **Primary outcomes**

 Difference in adherence pre- and post-intervention (measured using the ProDose Adaptive Aerosol Delivery System, which records usage data) reported as mean % of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (including values above 100% if device was being used more than prescribed); mean % days participants totally adhered to prescribed inhaled therapies (0 to 100%); mean % of days the device has


Quinn 2004 (Continued)

been used at least once for prescribed treatments (0 to 100%); and mean % of days the device has been used at least twice for prescribed treatments (0 to 100%);

2. Relationship between adherence and other variables (e.g. items from the IPQ and the TPBQ) to identify predictors of adherence behaviour (for separate multiple regression study)

### **Other outcomes**

- 1. STAI-short form (possible scores range from 6 to 24 to indicate low to high anxiety)
- 2. HADS (possible scores range from 0 to 21 on each subscale to indicate low to high anxiety or depression)
- 3. CFQOL (52 items to assesses 9 domains (physical functioning, social functioning, treatment issues, chest symptoms, emotional functioning, concerns for the future, interpersonal relationships, body image, and career concerns); scores on each subscale range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL)
- 4. IPQ Revised
- 5. URICA
- 6. TPBQ

### Assessment time points

Questionnaires administered at: baseline (pre-intervention) and post-intervention (3 months after pre-intervention).

Adherence measured for the periods: baseline: 0 to 3 months (pre-intervention; designed so that all participants could become accustomed to their new nebuliser device prior to their allocation in the second phase); post-intervention: 3 to 6 months.

Funding source	Not reported.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Not reported.
Notes	Contacted lead study author and supervisor who provided digital copy of thesis, but no further infor- mation was available (e.g. protocol, intervention manual, participant invitation letter, participant infor- mation sheet etc). During data extraction, we noted some discrepancies between the information reported in the thesis and conference abstract for this study (e.g. mean age; participant numbers; results). We extracted in- formation from both references but used the thesis as our primary reference (as this was more detailed and will likely have been reviewed by internal and external examiners). Intervention fidelity: the authors reported that audiotapes of the consultations were used in supervi- sion, and were checked by the supervisor to ensure treatment fidelity.
Risk of bias	
Bias	Authors' judgement Support for judgement

Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Thesis reports that the randomisation procedure was generated using a pseu- do-random number generation technique (which allocates a given number of participants at random to 1 of 2 independent groups (i.e. intervention and con- trol)). The procedure was carried out by a member of staff who was indepen- dent to the study.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Thesis reports that the investigator remained blinded to the details regard- ing the allocation of participants to the treatment groups (intervention and control) until the participant was ready for Phase 2 of the trial. A psychologist in clinical training, independent to the trial, held the details of each alloca- tion until they were to commence to Phase 2 (on completion of assessments



Quinn 2004 (Continued)		
		at 3 months). At this time, the investigator was given the participant's alloca- tion and was able to contact them if they were allocated into the 'intervention' group. Participants in the 'usual care' condition were not contacted.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	Thesis states that physiotherapists administering the assessments were blind- ed to participants' treatment allocation. At the end of the trial, physiothera- pists were asked to state their knowledge of each participant's allocation in an attempt to evaluate the success of the blindness. 1 of the physiotherapists was aware of 2 allocations into the intervention arm but both had completed their telephone contact with the investigator by this time.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Low risk	Thesis reports that subsequent to the onset of the trial, 1 participant was with- drawn due to possible side effects of the medication and 2 dropped out be- cause they preferred their previous nebulisers to the Prodose. The study sam- ple therefore, consisted of 36 participants. Intention to treat analyses were conducted with 35 participants (1 participant was removed because she was transferred for heart-lung transplantation).
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Contacted study author but unable to access trial protocol to assess reporting bias.
Other bias	Low risk	Thesis states that the staff on the CF unit, including physicians in charge of prescribing medication and admitting participants for additional/emergency treatment were not informed of participants' treatment allocation. Efforts were made to maintain their blindness throughout the study by asking participants not to inform staff of contacts with the investigator during their time in the study.

# Quittner 2019

Study characteristics	
Methods	Pragmatic, parallel, clustered 2-arm RCT conducted at 18 CF centres in the USA (iCARE; I Change Adher- ence and Raise Expectations).
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Males or females aged 11 to 20 years old.
	Diagnosis of CF.
	Attending the accredited care centre for regularly scheduled clinic visits.
	Prescribed at least 1 of the following medications for at least 6 months prior to signing the informed consent: azithromycin; hypertonic saline; Pulmozyme®; TOBI®; inhaled compounded tobramycin.
	Consented to provide data to the CF Foundation Registry prior to conversion to PORTCFv2.
	Exclusion criteria
	Planning to change care teams within the next 2 years.
	Seen at a satellite clinic.
	On the lung transplant list.
	Number of CF centres randomised (n = 18): intervention arm n = 9, control arm n = 9.
	Number of participants consented (n = 641): intervention arm n = 321, control arm n = 320.

## Quittner 2019 (Continued)

### Number of invited participants who declined: not reported.

### Number of participants receiving intended treatment (completed intervention delivery)

4+ Sessions: 11 - 63 (21%)	4+	sessions:	n = 63	(21%)
----------------------------	----	-----------	--------	-------

3 sessions: n = 91 (30%)

2 sessions: n = 90 (30%)

1 session: n = 40 (13%)

0 sessions: n = 16 (5%)

### Number of participants analysed at 12 months (post-intervention)

Survey: intervention arm n = 246 (82%), control arm n = 279 (91%)

Analysable pharmacy data\*: intervention arm n = 205 (68%), control arm n = 231 (75%)

\*there were challenges in obtaining pharmacy records which resulted in significant amounts of missing adherence data, particularly at baseline.

### Demographic details (overall n = 607, intervention arm n = 300, control arm n = 307)

**Age, mean (SD)**: overall 14.7 (2.6) years, intervention arm 14.7 (2.6) years, control arm 14.7 (2.6) years (P = 0.98).

Sex: overall 52.9% females, intervention arm 55.7% females, control arm 50.2% females (P = 0.17).

**Ethnicity**: overall 91.4% Caucasian, intervention arm 90.6% Caucasian, control arm 92.2% Caucasian (P = 0.49).

### Socioeconomic status

Family-reported income (P = 0.52 reported but unclear what this relates to):

Below USD 20K: overall 12.0%, intervention arm 11.7%, control arm 12.4%;

USD 20 to 39K: overall 15.7%, intervention arm 15.7%, control arm 15.6%;

USD 40 to 59K: overall 12.9%, intervention arm 14.7%, control arm 10.7%;

USD 60 to 79K: overall 17.0%, intervention arm 17.3%, control arm 16.6%;

USD 80 to 99K: overall 11.9%, intervention arm 13.3%, control arm 10.4%;

Over USD 100K: overall 24.7%, intervention arm 22.3%, control arm 27.0%;

Refused/missing: overall 6.1%, intervention arm 5.0%, control arm 7.2%.

Public or no health insurance (%): overall 36.5%, intervention arm 36.9%, control arm 36.2% (P = 0.86).

### **Disease status**

Pancreatic insufficient: overall 95.4%, intervention arm 95.4%, control arm 95.4 (P = 0.99).

**Prior year IV days (1+ course of IV antibiotics in past year)**: overall 42.0%, intervention arm 48.1%, control arm 36.9% (P = 0.006).

Interventions Intervention arm: clinic-based problem-solving intervention. Face-to-face, during clinic visits, delivered by trained interventionists, including 30 social workers (63%), 8 nurses (16%), 6 research coordinators (12%), 3 physicians (7%) and 1 respiratory therapist/ dietician (2%).

Report states: "Interventionists had competing clinical demands, which limited the amount of IMPACT training and supervision that could be provided".

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Quittner 2019 (Continued)	
	The goal was to implement 4 x 10 to 15-minute problem-solving sessions during regular clinic visits with each family over Year 1. Overall, 745 problem-solving sessions were delivered across the 9 intervention sites, with 95% of adolescents completing at least 1 session (mean (SD) sessions/participant 2.5 (1.1)).
	Trial has a pragmatic design; participants could choose to focus on any aspect of CF care and receive intervention for that (i.e. intervention was not necessarily focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies).
	Report states: "Fifty-eight percent of problem-solving sessions targeted barriers to airway clearance, exercise or nutrition, while 18% addressed pulmonary medications."
	Control arm: usual care.
Outcomes	Primary outcome
	1. MPR derived from pharmacy refill records (measured at 12 months)*
	Secondary outcomes
	1. CF knowledge (measured at 24 months)
	2. Skills associated with CF treatments (measured at 24 months)
	3. HRQOL (measured at 24 months) using CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) (measure assesses 9 function domains (physical functioning, vitality, emotional functioning, eating disturbances, treatment burden, health perceptions, social functioning, body image, and role functioning) and symptoms across 3domains (weight, respiratory symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL)
	4. FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted (abstracted from CF Registry and measured at 24 months)
	5. Pulmonary exacerbation as IV antibiotic treatment (abstracted from CF Registry and measured at 24 months)
	<ol> <li>6. CF hospitalisations (measured at 24 months)</li> <li>7. Clinic report of pulmonary hospitalisation (abstracted from CF Registry)</li> </ol>
	Assessment time points
	Baseline
	12 months
	*Baseline interval for cMPR was the baseline date back one year; and the 12-month interval was the baseline date plus one year.
Funding source	The work was supported by The Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Genentech, Inc., & Novartis Pharmaceuti- cals Corp.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	ALQ – Served on industry advisory committees to consult on use of patient-reported outcome mea- sures (Bayer Schering, Vertex Pharmaceuticals) and made presentations on adherence and disease management (Vertex Pharmaceuticals).
	MNE – speaker presentation on adherence (Praxis Pharmaceuticals).
	ANA – performed consulting activities for Abbvie Pharmaceuticals.
	No conflicts exist for AKR, KAM, ALB, KKC, and SC.
	KAR - Served on advisory committees for transition (Gilead) and adherence promotion (Genentech) and presented on adherence (Vertex Pharmaceuticals).
Notes	Clinical trial register: clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01232478.
	Intervention fidelity: fidelity assessment was conducted for first session - "Each participant's first ses- sion was videotaped and supervisors provided tailored feedback. A 35-item fidelity checklist was used

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



# Quittner 2019 (Continued)

to rate videos on provider implementation of the problem-solving steps and converted to a percent correct score (e.g. achieving a score of 35/35 = 100%)".

Report states: "Videotapes were received for 198 (66%) of intervention participants; submissions ranged from 9% to 94% of participants enrolled at a site. The average session fidelity score was 67% (SD=14%; Range = 26–100%). Fidelity varied by site, with mean site scores ranging from 51 to 80%. Most interventionists allowed the teen to choose the treatment for the problem-solving session (84%); however, only 65% asked the teen to identify the barrier for that treatment, and only 50% operationalized how to implement the solution (e.g. who, what, where, when you will start)".

## **Risk of bias**

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera-	Low risk	"Centre" was unit of randomisation.
tion (selection bias)		Report states that "a clustered design was critical given that clinicians, not re- search staff, implemented the intervention; thus, within-site randomization posed cross-contamination risks.
		Randomization was completed by the study statistician, with centers stratified by size to account for differences in staffing and resources. Three strata were included: <100 patients (7 centers), 100-200 patients (6 centers) and >200 patients (5 centers)".
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not reported.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	Report states that "Pharmacy and health records were collected by data coor- dinating centre staff blinded to intervention allocation".
Outcome Assessors		Unclear how other outcomes (i.e. QoL survey) assessed.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	High risk	Report states: "Of the 641 families who consented to participate (321 in in- tervention group and 320 in control group), 300 (93%; Mean=33/site) in in- tervention and 307 (95%; Mean=34/site) in the control group completed the baseline survey Of those, 589 (97%) had CF Foundation Patient Registry da- ta, 308 (51%) had analysable pharmacy records at baseline (n=156 interven- tion; n=152 control), 436 (72%) had analysable pharmacy records at 12 months (n=205 intervention; n=231 control). Availability of a baseline cMPR score did not differ by patient characteristics."
		From CONSORT flow diagram (p 891 of publication), 20 participants (7%) with- drew and 1 died from the intervention group between consenting and com- pleting baseline survey; 13 participants (4%) withdrew from the control group between consenting and completing baseline survey.
		In the intervention group, a further 20 participants (6%) withdrew and 2 died (1%) between completing baseline and 12 month follow up surveys, and an additional 32 (11%) did not complete the 12-month survey. In the control group, a further 13 participants (4%) withdrew and 1 died (<1%) between completing the baseline and 12 month follow-up surveys, and an additional 14 (5%) did not complete the 12-month survey.
		Report does not provide additional information on reasons for withdrawal or surveys not being completed.
		Report states: "Intervention effects were evaluated based on the intent-to- treat (ITT) principle", but unclear whether this included all participants enter- ing the trial or whether some were excluded.



Quittner 2019 (Continued)		Additionally, there were challenges obtaining pharmacy records during the study, which resulted in a significant amount of missing data (and meant the study was underpowered to find differences in medication adherence).
		Report states that: "Initially, pharmacy records were intended to be obtained from a third party vendor; however, the accuracy of these records was subop- timal and therefore none of the data from this source was used in the analy- ses. Thus, halfway through the study, procedures were changed to obtain all records directly from participants' pharmacies for the entirety of the study du- ration. Pharmacy record release authorizations, signed by each participant/ parent were obtained. Releases could not be obtained if the family had with- drawn from the study or did not return to clinic. Some pharmacies did not re- tain records >12 months, resulting in missing baseline data for some partici- pants enrolled before this protocol change".
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	High risk	The following secondary outcome was listed on clinical trial register but not reported in full trial paper: "CF hospitalizations [Time Frame: 24 Months] - Clin- ic report of pulmonary hospitalization (abstracted from CF Registry)."
Other bias	High risk	Report states: "To increase feasibility, centers interested in adherence-pro- moting strategies were invited to participate. The first 18 centers signing a contract and obtaining Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval were en- rolled. No other center eligibility criteria were applied."
		In addition, participants enrolled in the intervention were compensated USD 50/session up to 4 intervention sessions. Assessment included a patient-completed survey and skills assessment; participants were compensated USD 50 for each assessment.
		Report states: "selecting CF Centers interested in addressing adherence, ran- domizing CF Centers prior to participant enrollment, not collecting data on nonparticipants, and paying participants for completing PS sessions, may have led to biases and affected generalizability of the findings".

Rie	kert	2013
c	ner e	2020

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, RCT conducted at a single CF centre in the USA - 'Building Adherence to Live And Navi- gate my CF Experience (BALANCE)' study.
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Confirmed diagnosis of CF by a doctor.
	Aged 16 years or older.
	Prescribed an inhaled mucolytic, inhaled antibiotic therapy, chronic macrolide therapy and/or hyper- tonic saline therapy for the previous 12 months.
	Scheduled for a regular visit at either the paediatric or the adult CF clinic at Johns Hopkins Hospital.
	Exclusion criteria
	Burkholderia cepacia complex isolated from the respiratory tract within the past 2 years.
	Post lung transplant.
	Participated in NA_00008649 'A pilot study of Motivational Interviewing for adults with CF'.

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Rickert 2013 (Continued)				
(continued)	Number of participants randomised (n = 128): intervention arm n = 63, control arm n = 65.			
	Demographic details (overall n = 128, intervention arm n = 63, control arm n = 65)			
	<b>Age, mean (SD)</b> : 29 (11) years.			
	Sex: 60 (47%) females.			
	Ethnicity: 119 (93%) were Caucasian.			
	Socioeconomic status: 100 (78%) had private insurance.			
	Disease status			
	Pancreatic sufficiency: 105 (82%) were pancreatic insufficient.			
	<b>CFRD</b> : 19 (15%) had CFRD.			
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : MI designed to motivate and assist participants to improve their adherence to CF pulmonary medications (e.g. by providing personal feedback to participants on their adherence (pharmacy refill data) and health outcomes (e.g. trajectory of lung function values, frequency of exacerbations), as well as clinic-level figures showing the association between adherence and health outcomes).			
	<b>Control arm</b> : EPS (attention control group), designed to increase knowledge and enhance the skills needed to optimise CF-management. The strategies used to improve adherence include providing di- dactic education and skills training, and proscriptively using behavioural modification strategies, such as positive reinforcement for desired behaviours, and problem-solving training to overcome barriers.			
	Duration of intervention/control arm sessions: not reported.			
	<b>Number of intervention/control arm sessions</b> : unclear (report describes an intervention consisting of 1 clinic session and 8 phone sessions, but it was unclear if this referred to the MI intervention or active comparator intervention (EPS), or both).			
Outcomes	Primary outcome			
	<ol> <li>MPR calculated for each prescribed drug monitored for adherence (dornase alfa, inhaled tobramycin, hypertonic saline, aztreonam lysine, and/or azithromycin) (measured at 12 months)</li> </ol>			
	Note: cMPR only reported in the symposium summary, not MPR for individual drugs. Also, pharmacy re- fill records were collected and a baseline and 12-month annual MPR was calculated for each prescribed treatment.			
	Secondary outcome			
	1. Change in FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted (measured at 12 months)			
	Note: 2 additional outcomes were not listed on clinical trial register but are reported in symposium summary (e.g. QoL, pulmonary exacerbations).			
	Assessment time points			
	Baseline: cMPR, FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted, pulmonary exacerbations (1+ in past year), CFQ-R.			
	6 months: CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) (measure assesses 9 function domains (physical functioning, vitali- ty, emotional functioning, eating disturbances, treatment burden, health perceptions, social function- ing, body image, and role functioning) and symptoms across 3 domains (weight, respiratory symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL).			
	12 months: cMPR, FEV $_1$ % predicted, pulmonary exacerbations (1+ in past year), CFQ-R.			
Funding source	Report states that the study was funded by NIH NHLBI R01HL087997.			



### Riekert 2013 (Continued)

Declaration of interest	
among the primary re-	
searchers	

Not reported.

Clinical trial register: clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01013896.

Intervention fidelity: report states that sessions were audiotaped for supervision and fidelity coding.

### **Risk of bias**

Notes

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Report states that participants were randomised (stratified by age < 25 or $\ge$ 25 years) to either the MI (n = 63) or EPS (n = 65) intervention, but no further details provided on method used to generate allocation.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not reported.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	Unclear risk	Blinding of outcome assessors not reported.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Report states: "98% of participants completed the initial face-to-face session while 80% completed all 9 intervention sessions. Eighty-eight percent and 74% completed the 6- and 12-month surveys, respectively and thus far, 12-month pharmacy records are available for 72% of the sample. There were 3 deaths post-randomization (n=2 EPS and n=1 MI), none were related to study partici- pation."
		Withdrawals and dropouts are not described or explained. Unclear when the 3 deaths occurred (e.g. before baseline assessment or post treatment). It is unclear what happened to the 20% of participants who did not complete all 9 intervention sessions, and which group these were from.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	Additional outcomes not listed on clinical trial register but reported in sympo- sium summary (e.g. QoL, pulmonary exacerbations).
Other bias	High risk	Report states: "At baseline, there was a trend for the MI group to have high- er Composite MPR scores than the EPS group (p=.07) and to have greater per- ceived Treatment Burden (p<.01)".

## Shakkottai 2017

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, pilot RCT conducted at a single paediatric CF centre in the USA.
Participants	Eligibility criteria
	Aged 10 to 21 years.
	Confirmed diagnosis of CF either by a sweat chloride ≥ 60mEq/L or the presence of 2 disease-causing mutations.
	Clinically stable with at least 1 month from their last hospitalisation or use of oral antibiotics for a pul- monary exacerbation.



### Shakkottai 2017 (Continued)

Signed informed consent from the participant and/or from the parent/legal guardian, if younger than 18 years.

### **Exclusion criteria**

Aged less than 10 years or greater than 21 years.

Clinically unstable.

Number of invited participants who declined: not reported.

Number of participants (n = 5): intervention arm n = 3, control arm n = 2.

Demographic details (overall n = 5, intervention arm n = 3, control arm n = 2)

Age, mean (SD) (range): overall 11.67 (0.82) years (10 to 14 years), intervention arm 11.50 (0.64) years, control arm 11.93 (1.29) years.

Sex: overall 4 females and 1 male, intervention arm 3 females and no males, control arm 1 female and 1 male.

Ethnicity: not reported.

Socioeconomic status: not reported.

### **Disease status**

**Lung function**: intervention group had a lower mean FEV<sub>1</sub> and FEF25-75 % predicted compared to control group.

BMI percentile, mean (SD): intervention arm 64.33 (19.14), control arm 41.50 (16.26).

Sweat chloride (mmol/L), mean (SD): intervention arm 100.00 (5.66), control arm 95.00 (1.41).

Homozygous delF508: intervention arm 2 participants (66%), control arm 1 participant (50%).

Heterozygous delF508: intervention arm 1 participant (33%), control arm 1 participant (50%).

Interventions

**Intervention arm**: participants given a personal spirometer device that provides medication reminders and allows for lung function monitoring at home.

### Control arm: usual care.

Outcomes Primary outcome

 Overall % medication adherence to inhaled hypertonic saline, dornase alfa and CF multivitamins based on prescription refill data (actual number of prescriptions filled divided by the number prescribed as a percentage) (measured at 3 months)\*

### Secondary outcomes

- 1. CFQ-R\*\* Treatment Burden domain score (Child) (measured at 3 months)
- 2. CFQ-R\*\* Treatment Burden domain score (Parent) (measured at 3 months)

### Assessment time points

Baseline

3 months

\*It is unclear over which time periods the baseline and 3-month cMPR data were calculated. The trial register states that pharmacies were contacted for prescription refill data during the 3-month trial duration.

Shakkottai 2017 (Continued)	**CFQ-R assesses 9 function domains (physical functioning, vitality, emotional functioning, eating dis- turbances, treatment burden, health perceptions, social functioning, body image, and role function- ing) and symptoms across 3domains (weight, respiratory symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL.
Funding source	Study authors report that this was funded by the Second Year Fellowship Training Grant through the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (SHAKKO13B0) and the Charles Woodson Fund for Clinical Research.
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	No conflict of interest declared.
Notes	Contacted corresponding study author who replied to say she was unable to provide further informa- tion on the study (e.g. protocol, intervention manual, participant invitation letter, participant informa- tion sheet etc).
	Clinical trial register: clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02301377.
	Intervention fidelity: mean adherence to the weekly spirometry was 94.67%.
	Report states that average use of the medication reminder feature was 50.23%, largely due to alarms not being audible enough and/or finding it too cumbersome to repeatedly change alarm times to suit changing schedules.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Clinical trial register and published report states random assignment but no further details provided.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Not reported.
Blinding (performance bias and detection bias) Outcome Assessors	High risk	Report states that participants were trained on the proper use of their device at enrollment by a respiratory therapist who also contacted them once a week via telephone to record their lung function result and address any questions about the device, so outcome assessors not blinded.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	Small sample (n=5). Withdrawals not described.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	All outcomes listed in clinical trial register were reported in the full trial paper. However, this study was planned to be 12 months in duration according to the clinical trial register, but the intervention duration was subsequently changed to 3 months with no details provided.
Other bias	Low risk	No other potential source of bias identified.

# Wildman 2022

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm RCT conducted at 19 adult CF centres in the UK (CFHealthHub).
Participants	Eligibility criteria



Wildman 2022 (Continued)

Diagnosed with CF and with data within the CF Registry.

Aged 16 years and above.

Willing and able to take inhaled mucolytics or antibiotics via a chipped nebuliser (e.g. PARI eFlow<sup>®</sup> rapid nebuliser system and eTrack<sup>®</sup> controller).

### **Exclusion criteria**

Post lung transplant.

On the active lung transplant list.

Receiving palliative care.

Lacking in capacity to give informed consent.

Using dry powder devices to take antibiotics or mucolytics.

Number of people screened: n = 3510.

Number who were excluded (met exclusion criteria): n = 1279.

Number who were not contacted: n = 1056.

**Number of invited participants who declined**: n = 556 (n = 11 expressed an interest initially but did not consent).

Number of participants randomised (n = 608): intervention arm n = 305, control arm n = 303.

Number of participants who completed 12-month follow-up (n = 534): intervention arm n = 265, control arm n = 269.

### Number of participants analysed (intention-to-treat):

Pulmonary exacerbations (primary study outcome; n = 608): intervention arm n = 304, control arm n = 303;

Adherence (n = 588): intervention arm n = 293, control arm n = 295).

Demographic details (intervention n = 304, control n = 303)

Age, mean (SD): intervention arm 31.1 (10.6) years, control arm 30.3 (10.8) years.

Sex: intervention arm 156 (51.3%) females, control 154 (50.8%) females.

Ethnicity: not reported.

### Socioeconomic status

## Deprivation quintiles (intervention arm (n = 302), control arm (n = 302))

1 (least deprived): intervention arm 50 (16.6%), control arm 51 (16.9%)

2: intervention arm 59 (19.5%), control arm 71 (23.5%)

3: intervention arm 63 (20.9%), control arm 66 (21.9%)

4: intervention arm 63 (20.9%), control arm 67 (22.2%)

5 (most deprived): intervention arm 67 (22.2%), control arm 47 (15.6%)

Interventions

Intervention arm: complex intervention comprising 3 main components:

1. a microchipped nebuliser for delivering inhaled medications;

Wildman 2022 (Continued)

- 2. information technology infrastructure to capture and store adherence data from the nebulisers and display it to participants and the CF team, and;
- 3. the behaviour change intervention, comprising a software platform ('CFHealthHub' mobile app and website) offering adherence feedback and tailored modules of content and tools used by the health professional (interventionist) in interactions with participants and accessed independently by participants via CFHealthHub.

Frequency of administration of the intervention was dependent upon level of objectively measured adherence at baseline:

- participants with a baseline adherence of 80% or less, followed a 'normal' pathway of 6 sessions (1x first intervention visit of 40 to 60 minutes, 2 x intermediate reviews of 5 to 15 minutes, 2 x reviews of 30 to 45 minutes and 1 x phase review of 20 to 30 minutes) over 12 weeks, with phase reviews every 12 weeks thereafter, or every 6 weeks for participants with low baseline adherence of 25% of lower;
- 2. participants with a baseline adherence of over 80%, followed a less intensive pathway of 3 sessions (1 x first intervention visit, 1 x intermediate review and 1 x phase review), with phase reviews every 12 weeks thereafter.

Following the initial pathways above, additional sessions were offered upon request of the participant for further support if participants adherence decreased by at least 20% in a 4-week period, or if a participant received IV antibiotics for an exacerbation.

Report states that the median (IQR) number of interventionist sessions per participant was 7.0 (6.0 to 10.0). The median (IQR) total interventionist delivery time per participant (including contact time and preparation outside of sessions) was 185 (126 to 263) minutes.

**Control arm:** usual care (heterogeneous within and between centres, based on the needs of participants and the skills and interests of CF unit staff). Participants in the control group used a micro-chipped nebuliser but could not access adherence data or other content and tools through CFHealthHub, nor did they receive the structured CFHealthHub intervention as described in the intervention manual. Members of the MDT did not have access to the graphs or data generated by CFHealth-Hub for control arm participants although they did, centrally, follow participants up for troubleshooting missing data or data errors).

### Outcomes

### **Primary outcome**

1. Number of pulmonary exacerbations in the 12 month post-baseline follow-up period, defined according to the modified Fuchs criteria\* and noted at the point of a participant starting a course of IV antibiotics (whether these are planned or unscheduled)

### Secondary outcomes

- 1. BMI
- 2. FEV<sub>1</sub>
- 3. EuroQol EQ-5D-5L
- 4. Patient Activation Measure (PAM-13)
- 5. Assessment of routine: measure of life chaos
- 6. Self-Report Behavioural Automaticity Index (automaticity-specific subscale of the Self Report Habit)
- CFQ-R (Quittner 2009) (measure assesses 9 function domains (physical functioning, vitality, emotional functioning, eating disturbances, treatment burden, health perceptions, social functioning, body image, and role functioning) and symptoms across 3domains (weight, respiratory symptoms, and digestive symptoms); scores range from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better QoL)
- 8. PHQ-8
- 9. MAD
- 10.GAD-7 (scores range from 0 to 21, and cut-off scores of 5, 10, and 15 indicate mild, moderate, and severe levels of anxiety, respectively)
- The Capability Opportunity Motivation Behaviour Beliefs Questionnaire (COM-BMQ) including the Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire - specifically nebuliser adherence - and one additional belief item, one intention item, one confidence item, and a list of barriers
   Self-report estimate of adherence as a percentage

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Wildman 2022 (Continued)		
	13.Resource-use form of tem to determine in scheduled inpatient	comprised of a combination of hospital notes and the NHS patient electronic sys- npatient IV days, routine clinic visits, unscheduled outpatient contacts and un- stays
	14.Habit formation	
	15.Monthly prescriptio tion that the prescri	n check to both check for data transfer to CFHealthHub and review for an indica- ption has changed or indication of microorganism e.g. Pseudomonas
	16.Adherence to prescr normative adherenc numerator adjustme normative adherenc	ibed medication, defined in several ways including unadjusted adherence, simple ce (without numerator adjustment), sophisticated normative adherence (without ent), simple normative adherence (with numerator adjustment) and sophisticated ce (with numerator adjustment)
	17.any treatment with	IV antibiotics
	18.acceptability of inte	rvention (11-item questionnaire)
	Assessment time poin	ts
	Baseline (pre-intervent	ion)
	12 months (post-interv	ention)
	*An exacerbation of res ed with parenteral anti new or increased haem temperature above 38 change in physical exan function by 10% or mo ographic changes indic	spiratory symptoms will be said to have occurred when a participant was treat- biotics for any one of the following 12 signs or symptoms: change in sputum; hoptysis; increased cough; increased dyspnoea; malaise, fatigue, or lethargy; °C; anorexia or weight loss; sinus pain or tenderness; change in sinus discharge; mination of the chest, derived from notes by site staff; decrease in pulmonary re from a previously recorded value, derived from notes by site staff.
Funding source	Research funded by the and NHS England Com	e NIHR under its Grants for Applied Research Programme (RP- PG-1212-20015) missioning for Quality and Innovation (IM2 Cystic Fibrosis Patient Adherence).
Declaration of interest among the primary re- searchers	Report states: "All authors have completed the ICMJE uniform disclosure form at www.icm- je.org/coi_disclosure.pdf and declare: no direct influence of any competing interest on the submitted work; support for MJW from Philips Respironics for early data transfer experience; support for the Uni- versity of Manchester software team from PARI Pharma to create a medication reporting component within the CFHealthHub software; funding for MJW from Zambon; funding for IB from Microsoft Re- search; SJW is an NIHR Senior Investigator; IB became Chief Data Scientist (advisory) for AstraZeneca in September 2019; no other financial relationships that might have an interest in the submitted work in the previous three years; and no other relationships or activities that could appear to have influenced the submitted work".	
Notes	<b>Intervention fidelity</b> : report states that fidelity of intervention delivery was assessed throughout the study with 2 reviewers independently assessing a sample of audio- recording and worksheets from sessions (first intervention session, review, phase review) using a scoring sheet (further details provided in Appendix A of published report). Fidelity of intervention delivery median (IQR) scores were 97.2% (92.3 to 100.0), 92.6% (87.0 to 98.1) and 94.4% (91.7 to 97.2) at the first intervention visits, reviews and phase reviews, respectively.	
Risk of bias		
Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Low risk	Report states that participants were allocated 1:1 to the intervention or usual care using a computer-generated pseudorandom list with random-permuted blocks of randomly varying sizes, via a central, web-based randomisation system.
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Low risk	Report states that the allocation sequence was hosted by Sheffield Clinical Tri- als Unit, with the sequence created by a statistician (not otherwise involved in



### Wildman 2022 (Continued) the trial). Allocation only revealed to interventionist upon entering participant demographic data into the secure server. Blinding (performance High risk Outcome assessor (i.e. researcher/ interventionist) was non-blinded after allobias and detection bias) cation revealed following consent visit. **Outcome Assessors** Intention-to-treat analysis reported (all participants entering trial). Incomplete outcome data Low risk (attrition bias) All outcomes Selective reporting (re-Low risk All outcomes listed in protocol reported in trial paper. porting bias) Other bias Low risk Trial statistician remained blind to treatment allocation until database freeze. ACT: airway clearance techniques BMI: body mass index CF: cystic fibrosis CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (Quittner 2009) CFQOL: Cystic Fibrosis Quality of Life Scale CFRD: cystic fibrosis-related diabetes CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator cMPR: composite medication possession ratio CPT: chest physiotherapy EPS: education plus problem-solving FEF25-75: mid-expiratory flow FEV<sub>1</sub>: forced expiratory volume in 1 second FVC: forced vital capacity GAD-7: General Anxiety Disorder 7-item anxiety scale (Spitzer 2006) GSE: General Self-Efficacy Scale HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale HRQoL: health-related quality of life **IPQ: Illness Perception Questionnaire** IQR: interquartile range IV: intravenous

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

MMAS-8: Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (Morisky 2008)

PHQ-8: Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale (Kroenke 2009)

MDT: multidisciplinary team MI: motivational interviewing MPR: medication possession ratio

PEFR: peak expiratory flow rate

RCT: randomised controlled trial

STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory

OoL: quality of life

USD: US dollars

SD: standard deviation

NIHR: National Institute for Health Research

TPBQ: Theory of Planned Behaviour Questionnaire URICA: University of Rhode Island Change Assessment

Study	Reason for exclusion
Abbott 2015	This is not a study - it is an editorial focused on adherence to Ivacaftor in cystic fibrosis.

Study	Reason for exclusion
ACTRN12607000234415	This RCT aims to evaluate the use of mentoring to improve the self-efficacy and self-management of adolescents and adults with CF, it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
ACTRN12619001730190	This study aims to implement an adherence protocol in clinical practice, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
Betz 2019	This RCT aimed to assess the feasibility, acceptability, and fidelity of an intervention to decrease spiritual struggles of parents of children with CF (i.e. it is a spiritual intervention delivered by chaplains and is not a psychological intervention).
Bingham 2012	This is a cross-over trial on breath biofeedback and was not focused on psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Bryon 2000	Contacted lead author for clarification on methods and results, but they were unable to provide any further publications or information.
Cannon 1999	This study explored the feasibility and benefit of in-home videoconferencing and is not a psycho- logical intervention study.
Chadelat 2005	Unable to access thesis or find contact details of thesis author or supervisor. Attempted contact with a co-author from another study in 2005 but no response to email.
Chan 2013	This study aimed to examine the value of a pharmacist in identifying drug-therapy problems among people with CF, and was not an intervention study aimed at improving adherence.
Cummings 2011	This RCT aimed to assess the effectiveness of a digital intervention to improve self-management in adolescents and adults with CF, but adherence was not one of the outcomes and the intervention was not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Czajkowski 1985	Unable to contact author to request copy of thesis, and not able to access online, so study exclud- ed.
Daniels 2013	This is not a study - it is a Cochrane Review focused on nebuliser systems for drug delivery in CF.
Davis 2004	This is an RCT to assess the effectiveness of an educational tool for children and adolescents with CF for improving knowledge and coping skills (i.e. wrong outcomes).
Dodd 2000	This is not a study - it is an editorial focused on understanding treatment adherence in adults with CF.
DRKS00027569	This RCT aims to evaluate a self-help manual ('MukoHelp') for improving psychological symptoms and adherence to therapy, it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies in CF.
Duff 2014	This is not a study - it is a commentary on adherence in CF.
Elkins 2006	This study compared three methods of monitoring adherence in a clinical trial and is not a psycho- logical intervention study.
Fischer 2003	Contacted lead author for clarification on methods and results, but they confirmed that the results of this study were never published, and they were unable to provide any further information.
Geirhos 2022	This is a feasibility RCT of a guided internet- and mobile-based CBT intervention for adolescents and young adults with chronic medical conditions (e.g. CF) and comorbid depression or anxiety symptoms (youthCOACH <sub>CD</sub> ). It is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies in CF.

Study	Reason for exclusion
Geller 2011	This is not a study - it is a review of the literature on technological and behavioral strategies to re- duce treatment burden and improve adherence to inhaled antibiotics in CF.
Goldbeck 2013	This study examined a multi-component education and counselling program coordinated by a case manager, but it is a non-randomised study.
Goodill 2005	This is an intervention study focused on adherence to exercise and nutrition regimens in CF, not in- haled therapies.
Grossoehme 2020	This is a mixed-methods study which examines the relationship between treatment adherence, ex- ercise and spirituality in adults with CF, and is not an intervention study.
Hagelberg 2008	The intervention described is not psychological. The abstract describes 'direct dispensing' as an adherence-improving intervention.
Hatziagorou 2017	This study investigates the effectiveness of a home care program compared to a telephone com- munication programme among people with CF, and did not assess the effectiveness of a psycho- logical intervention for improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Hawkins 2002	This is not an intervention study or RCT. The dissertation includes a review paper and empirical study focused on illness perceptions and treatment beliefs in relation to adherence.
Hebestreit 2010	This RCT evaluates the effects of physical conditioning program on health status and physical ac- tivity in youths and young adults with CF, and is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Hebestreit 2022	This RCT evaluates an exercise intervention in CF and is not focused on improving adherence to in- haled therapies.
Hlela 2018	This study aims to evaluate the feasibility and usefulness of an educational book for children with CF, focused on increasing knowledge (e.g. of the cause of CF and the importance of treatment adherence), but did not measure adherence as an outcome.
Huang 2014	This study aims to test a text message and internet-based intervention for improving health-related self-efficacy and frequency of adolescent-conducted healthcare interactions among adolescents and young adults with CF, type 1 diabetes, or inflammatory bowel disease (i.e. it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies).
Jackson 2017	Attempted contact with study authors on several occasions for clarification on methods and re- sults, but received no reply.
Landau 2021	This study aims to evaluate a 12-month problem-solving intervention to improve adherence in ado- lescents and adults with CF, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
Marciel 2010	Attempted contact with study authors on several occasions for clarification on methods and re- sults, but received no reply. Unclear if the focus of the intervention is on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Martinez 2017	This study aims to assess a pulmonary rehabilitation program to increase adherence to airway clearance techniques (ACT) in CF; it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies. Contacted first author who clarified that ACT included "active cycle breathing technique, autogenic drainage, chest physiotherapy, positive expiratory pressure (PEP), and oscillating devices for airway clearance".
McDonald 2007	Attempted contact with study authors for clarification on methods and results, but one author was unable to provide additional information, and we received no reply from the other study authors.

Study	Reason for exclusion
Meyers 1975	This is not an intervention study - it describes a study to determine the relationship between de- gree of compliance to antibiotics and severity of CF.
Modi 2010	This study describes an RCT comparing three airway secretion clearance therapies in CF: 1) postur- al drainage and percussion, 2) flutter device or 3) high frequency chest wall oscillation - i.e. it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
Montero-Ruiz 2020	This RCT aims to evaluate the effects of music therapy as an adjunct to chest physiotherapy (airway clearance techniques) in children with CF, and does not evaluate a psychological intervention for improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
NCT00688051	This study aimed to assess changes in adherence in adolescents with CF after using a simulation game "My Life with CF", but it is not an RCT - no control group.
NCT01025258	This study aimed to assess the impact of an intervention on improving adherence to chronic med- ications and improve clinical outcomes in CF patients, but it is not an RCT - no control group.
NCT02286050	This study aimed to assess the effect of a nursing programme on patient satisfaction, adherence and self-efficacy, but it is not an RCT - no control group.
NCT02501369	This study aims to investigate the use of a positive parenting programme to improve treatment ad- herence in CF, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
NCT02906826	This is a non-randomised study and is focused on adherence to airway clearance techniques (i.e. PEP mask), not inhaled therapies.
NCT03052231	This RCT aims to evaluate the feasibility of interactive mobile health information to enhance pa- tient care at a CF centre. Attempted contact with Principal Investigator listed on clinical trial regis- ter on several occasions for clarification on methods and results, but received no reply.
NCT03226795	This study aims to assess an intervention comprising medication reminders, coaching and behav- ioural skills for improving adherence to treatments in adults with CF, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
NCT03304028	This study is focused on the early detection of pulmonary exacerbations and does not assess a psy- chological intervention for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF.
NCT03518697	This is a non-randomised study which aims to evaluate the effects of a partially supervised exercise program on different aspects of physical fitness, and is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
NCT03938324	This RCT aims to evaluate a peer support coaching intervention to improve activated chronic ill- ness self-management among adolescents and young adults with childhood onset chronic condi- tions (e.g. CF along with many other conditions). It is not focused on improving adherence to in- haled therapies.
NCT03992027	This RCT aims to evaluate a CF-specific CBT intervention for preventing depression and anxiety among adults with CF; it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies.
NCT04017559	This study aims to assess the clinical impact of a motivational interviewing intervention on inhaled antibiotic adherence in adults with CF, but is not an RCT (no control group).
NCT04096664	This study aims to evaluate the efficiency and acceptability of a medical device for bronchial clear- ance in patients with CF, it is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies and does not assess a psychological intervention.

Study	Reason for exclusion
NCT04217889	This is an observational study that aims to assess the factors that influence adherence to chest physiotherapy adherence in adults with CF; it is not an RCT.
NCT04453358	This trial is focused on improving adherence to airway clearance techniques (i.e. vest therapy), not inhaled therapies.
NCT04696484	This study aims to assess the feasibility of a brief intervention for informing conversations between patients and physicians in routine tele-health and in-person adult CF care, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
O'Hayer 2021	This feasibility study examined whether Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) is a feasible and potentially effective treatment for people with CF and symptoms of anxiety and/or depression, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
Ohn 2018	This is not a study - it is a review focused on discussing treatment adherence with people with CF.
Parkins 2008	This is a study assessing the effect of an intervention to increase knowledge of CF for postgraduate medical trainees (i.e. not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF).
Pendleton 2000	This is not a study - it is a commentary on adherence in CF.
Petzel 1991	This abstract describes a study which aims to evaluate adherence to medical/ behavioral interven- tions through an intervention targeting parents of children with CF. However, the adherence re- ferred to includes completion of worksheets or home diaries by participants rather than adherence to treatments (i.e. wrong outcomes).
Polineni 2017	This is a pilot trial to explore the feasibility of tele-coaching as an intervention to improve adher- ence to treatments (using data collected from vest photo capture and eTrack nebulisers) in people with CF, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
Quittner 1998	Attempted contact with study authors on several occasions to access the study results, but re- ceived no reply.
Rode 2008	Contacted study author who provided digital copy of thesis. Thesis describes a study which aimed to assess the impact of providing patients with a new nebuliser (associated with a decrease in treatment times) on quality of life and adherence amongst a cohort of 17 people with CF (i.e. it did not investigate a psychological intervention for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in CF).
Ruddy 2015	This RCT aimed to evaluate the safety of a standardised yoga program among young people with CF. Contacted first author who confirmed that adherence to inhaled therapies was not evaluated in the study.
Sadprasid 2021	This paper presents Percussion Hero, a game designed to improve adherence to chest physical therapy for people with CF. It is not focused on improving adherence to inhaled therapies and does not describe a study.
Schandevyl 2021	This study aims to evaluate a medication adherence– enhancing simulation intervention in chil- dren with CF, but it is not an RCT (no control group).
Strawhacker 2004	This is not a study - it is a review focused on a collaborative clinical and school approach to caring for children with CF.
Trapp 1998	This is a parallel CCT of 2 interventions with a convenience control group sample to assess whether self-administration of drugs leads to greater knowledge about medications. This is a non-ran-domised study and is not focused on psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies.



Study	Reason for exclusion
Viviani 2006	This is a trial aimed at assessing whether adults with CF could benefit from a telemonitoring sys- tem that enables them to test their spirometry and oximetry at home. It is not focused on inhaled therapies.
Wood 2020	This is an RCT aimed at evaluating a smartphone application for reporting symptoms in adults with CF (which is intended to facilitate the early identification of symptoms suggestive of a respiratory exacerbation), and does not describe a psychological intervention for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with CF.

ACT: airway clearance techniques OR Acceptance and Commitment Therapy CBT: cognitive behavioural therapy CCT: controlled clinical trial CF: cystic fibrosis PEP: positive expiratory pressure RCT: randomised controlled trial

# Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

Jirasek 2022					
Study name	'CF Hero' application as a motivational and therapeutic tool for kids and teenagers with cystic fi- brosis				
Methods	Multicentre, randomised, prospective cross-over trial conducted in the Czech Republic.				
Participants	Children and adolescents with CF (eligibility criteria not reported).				
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : use of motivational (reward-based) mobile phone application ('CF Hero') for guided inhalation for 3 months.				
	Control arm: unguided inhalation (without 'CF Hero' app) for 3 months.				
	Since this is a cross-over trial, participants were randomised to use the 'CF Hero' app for guided in- halation for 3 months. They were then switched to unguided inhalation (without app) for another 3 months.				
Outcomes	Primary outcome				
	<ol> <li>Inhalation drug consumption was checked after 3 and 6 months to evaluate adherence to inhaled therapy. The prescribed amount of medication was compared with the amount consumed by col- lecting containers with unused saline solution and empty dornase alfa containers.</li> </ol>				
	Secondary outcomes				
	1. Spirometry measured at baseline and after 3 and 6 months.				
	2. Quality of life (CFQ-R) measured at baseline and after 3 and 6 months.				
	3. Thoracic excursions are measured at baseline and after 3 and 6 months.				
Starting date	Not stated.				
Contact information	M Jirásek, Charles University, Second Faculty of Medicine, Prague, Czech Republic.				
Funding source	Not stated.				
Clinical trial register	Not available.				
Notes					



# O'Hayer 2019

Study name	Acceptance and Commitment Therapy vs. Supportive Psychotherapy With Cystic Fibrosis Patients		
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, non-blinded RCT being conducted at 7 sites in the USA.		
Participants	Target sample size: 210 adults with CF		
	Eligibility criteria		
	Males and females aged 18 years and above.		
	Able to read and understand English.		
	Diagnosis of CF.		
	PHQ-9 score > 4 or GAD-7 score > 4.		
	Exclusion criteria		
	History of suicidal attempts or acute suicidal ideation on clinical assessment.		
	Presence of psychotic disorder or symptoms.		
	Pregnant women.		
	Presence of psychiatric disorders that interfere with the participation of the study, judged by the study or treating clinician. Presence of other medical conditions that interfere with participation in the study, judged by the study or treating clinician.		
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : 6 sessions of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) delivered via video call in which participants learn new ways to manage uncomfortable experiences and feelings and to engage in positive behaviours.		
	Duration of intervention phase: 6 weeks (6x weekly sessions of ACT).		
	<b>Control arm</b> : supportive psychotherapy in which participants talk about their experiences to date in a cohort of adults with CF.		
Outcomes	Primary outcomes		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in presence of anxiety disorder (GAD-7 score) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> <li>Change from baseline in symptoms of depression (PUO 9) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment)</li> </ol>		
	and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in self-reported anxiety (BAI) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> </ol>		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in severity of depression (BDI-II) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> </ol>		
	Secondary outcomes		
	1. Change in FEV $_1$ /FVC ratio (measured at 3 months after the study)		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in cognitive fusion (CFQ13) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> </ol>		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in acceptance measures (AAQ-II) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> </ol>		
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in medication adherence (Self-Reported Medication Adherence Question- naire) (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> <li>Participant change in re-hospitalization and unscheduled office visits secondary to CF exacerba- tions (measured at 3 months after the study)</li> </ol>		

<b>O'Hayer 2019</b> (Continued)	<ol> <li>Number of scheduled CF clinic visits kept (measured at 3 months after the study)</li> <li>Change in BMI (measured at 3 months after the study)</li> <li>Change in PRO measures, including quality of care questionnaire (measured after 6 weeks of treatment and 3 months after the end of 6 sessions of treatment)</li> </ol>				
Starting date	1 July 2019				
Contact information	Dr C Virginia F O'Hayer, 919-943-6738				
	virginia.ohayer@jefferson.edu				
Funding source	Supported by Boomer Esiason Foundation.				
Clinical trial register	clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04114227				
Notes					

Phan 2021					
Study name	Feasibility of a Mobile Medication Plan Application in CF patient care (MAP)				
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, prospective, pilot RCT being conducted at 5 sites in the USA.				
Participants	Eligibility criteria				
	Clinician participants				
	CF care team member from any discipline, designated by the site PI and CF team.				
	Willing to use MAP as part of CF care.				
	Patient participants				
	Males or females aged 12 years of age and older at Study Visit 1.				
	Documented CF diagnosis (physician diagnosed).				
	Ability to understand verbal and written English.				
	Access to mobile device such as a tablet or smartphone (iPhone/iPad/iTouch or Android device).				
	Willingness to use the MAP application.				
	Currently taking at least 1 of the following chronic medications and willing to use AdhereTech pill bottles for oral medications or eTrack nebuliser for nebulised medications listed below: nebulised agents, dornase alfa, hypertonic saline, inhaled tobramycin, inhaled aztreonam, inhaled colis- timethate, oral agents, azithromycin.				
	Caregiver participants (for patient participants age under 18 years)				
	Child is consented to participate in the study.				
	Ability to understand verbal and written English.				
	Exclusion criteria				
	Clinician participants				
	Previous use of MAP (with people with CF or self) in the last 12 months - when used with people with CF, defined as use in 5 or more.				

Phan 2021 (Continued)	Patient participants				
	Previous use of MAP in the last 12 months - defined as use for 4 weeks or longer in own care.				
	Presence of a condition or abnormality that in the opinion of the PI would compromise the safety of the individual or the quality of the data including, but not limited to, diagnosis of intellectual or developmental disability (e.g. autism); and/or history of lung transplant. Planned or scheduled hospitalisation during study period of up to 36 weeks. <b>Caregiver participants</b> (for patient participants age under 18 years)				
	Previous use of MAP in the last 12 months - defined as use for 4 weeks or longer in child's or own care				
	Actual enrollment: 105 participants.				
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : web-based, mobile medication management application (MedActionPlan <sup>®</sup> (MAP)) to encourage self-management by reinforcing adherence and education about treatment regimens and continued use of eTrack nebuliser with or without AdhereTech pill bottles as measures of adherence.				
	<b>Control arm</b> : usual care and continued use of eTrack nebuliser with or without AdhereTech pill bottles as measures of adherence.				
Outcomes	Primary outcomes				
	1. Mean score of iFAQ for participants assessed by 5-point Likert scale (strongly disagree/dis- agree/neither agree or disagree/agree/strongly agree) to assess engagement, usefulness, func- tionality or ease of use, aesthetics, information and satisfaction of the web portal and application (measured at week 24)				
	2. Mean score of iFAQ for clinicians assessed by 5-point Likert scale (strongly disagree/disagree/nei- ther agree or disagree/agree/strongly agree) to assess engagement, usefulness, functionality or ease of use, aesthetics, information and satisfaction of the web portal and application (measured at up to 30 months)				
	Secondary outcomes				
	1. Change from baseline in KDM-CF scores (knowledge of disease management for general health, lung health, nutrition, treatments) (measured at week 24)				
	2. Change from baseline in CF-MBQ scores to measure impact of interventions on specific social cog- nitive beliefs across 5 domains (motivation, self-efficacy, perceived importance of medication, and decisional balance to take or miss medications) (measured at week 24)				
	3. Mean change from baseline in adherence from data collected from AdhereTech pill bottles and eTrack nebulizers (scored as a 'per drug analysis' of adherence and a composite score based on prescribed medications and medication/doses taken) (measured at week 24)				
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in CF-MQ scores assessing knowledge about prescribed CF medications (medication purpose, administration, dose, and dosing frequency based on own prescribed reg- imen) (measured at week 24)</li> </ol>				
Starting date	5 September 2018				
Contact information	Dr Gregory Sawicki, Boston Children's Hospital, USA				
	Gregory.Sawicki@childrens.harvard.edu				
Funding source	Not stated.				
Clinical trial register	clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03637504				
Notes	Sponsor: Boston Children's Hospital				



Phan 2021 (Continued)

Recruitment completed.

Thee 2021					
Study name	A multicentre, randomised, controlled trial on coaching and telemonitoring in patients with cystic fibrosis: conneCT CF				
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm, non-blinded RCT being conducted at four CF centres in Germany.				
Participants	<b>Target sample size</b> : 402 participants with CF (391 participants required according to power calcu- lations).				
	Eligibility criteria				
	Confirmed diagnosis of CF.				
	Aged 12 years or older.				
	Able to give written informed consent or assent.				
	At least 1 pulmonary exacerbation in the year before enrolment (defined according to the Bilton criteria (modified Fuchs criteria) as an episode of decreased pulmonary function caused by infection and treated with additional antibiotic therapy for at least 2 of the following reasons: change in the amount of sputum or colour, increased cough, malaise, fatigue, lethargy, anorexia or weight loss, decrease in FEV <sub>1</sub> by 10% or more from the last previously recorded values and/or radiographic changes indicative of pulmonary infection or increased dyspnoea).				
	FEV <sub>1</sub> below 90% predicted at the day of inclusion.				
	If receiving a CFTR modulator therapy, participants must be stable on this treatment for the last 3 preceding months with no planned change in CFTR modulator treatment during the study period.				
	Exclusion criteria				
	An acute depressive or psychotic episode.				
	Substantial immobility.				
	No prescribed inhaled therapy.				
	Insufficient knowledge of the German language.				
	Lack of possession of a smartphone.				
	Post lung transplant.				
	Unable to perform lung function testing, or lung function testing is contraindicated (e.g., because of pneumothorax or lung surgery within the previous 3 months).				
	Participation in other intervention studies unless it is an open-label study with the participation of already 3 or more months without planned cessation within our study duration.				
	Sociodemographic and anthropometric data will be recorded.				
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : objective, continuous monitoring of adherence to inhaled therapies, weekly home spirometry using electronic devices with data transmission to participants and physicians combined with video-conferencing, a self-management app and professional telephone coaching. Duration of intervention phase: 18 months (coaching will take place for first 12 months of the inter- vention).				
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : objective, continuous monitoring of adherence to inhaled therapies, weekly home spirometry using electronic devices with data transmission to participants and physician combined with video-conferencing, a self-management app and professional telephone coachi Duration of intervention phase: 18 months (coaching will take place for first 12 months of the in vention).				



Thee 2021 (Continued)	<b>Control arm</b> : usual care (scheduled visits with the CF physician take place quarterly; further visits only occur at the participant's request if health status deteriorates). Control group also receives a telemedicine-capable nebuliser (data on adherence will be automatically tracked for final evaluation, but without any data access for participants or CF physicians in this group).			
Outcomes	Primary outcome			
	1. Time to first protocol-defined pulmonary exacerbation after initiation of the intervention phase			
	Secondary outcomes			
	<ol> <li>Number of pulmonary exacerbations</li> <li>Time between pulmonary exacerbations</li> <li>Adherence to inhalation therapy</li> <li>Changes in FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC from baseline</li> <li>Number of CF-associated hospital admissions</li> <li>Changes in HRQoL (assessed by CFQ-R German version and EQ-5D-5L/EQ-5D-Y-5L)</li> <li>Changes in non-somatic depression symptoms (Beck Depression Inventar-Fast Screen)</li> <li>Number of days absent from work or school</li> <li>CF-associated medical treatment and care</li> <li>Healthcare-related costs</li> </ol>			
Starting date	1 March 2021			
Contact information	Marcus Alexander Mall, Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany marcus.mall@charite.de			
Funding source	Published protocol states: "Material support is provided by PARI Medical Holding GmbH, Starnberg, Germany. The design, management, analysis and reporting of the study are entirely independent of the funder."			
Clinical trial register	drks.de/drks_web/navigate.do?navigationId=trial.HTML&TRIAL_ID=DRKS00024642			
Notes	Competing interests: "The authors declare that they have no competing interests."			

## White 2017

Study name	Randomised controlled trial of a web-based intervention for adherence in cystic fibrosis.				
Methods	Parallel, 2-arm RCT conducted at a single adult CF centre in the UK (Leeds).				
Participants	<b>Target sample size:</b> 100 adults with CF (recruitment completed: intervention arm = 49; control arm = 51).				
	Eligibility criteria				
	Diagnosis of CF and attending Leeds Adult CF unit for their complete care.				
	Males or females aged 16 to 60 years old.				
	Consecutive volunteers recruited at time of clinical stability (end of inpatient treatment or at out- patient clinic).				
	Being prescribed a minimum of 3 specified medications for at least 6 months prior to signing the informed consent form: azithromycin, hypertonic saline, TOBI®, Pulmozyme®, pancreatic en-				

White 2017 (Continued)					
	zyme replacement therapy, oral antibiotics, fat-soluble vitamins, insulin, inhaled compounded to- bramycin, oral nutritional supplements, insulin, AZLI. <b>Exclusion criteria</b>				
	Pregnancy.				
	Acceptance on the lung transplant list (note: participation in this study will not delay or exclude in- dividuals from being placed on the transplant list in the future or receiving a transplant once en- rolled in the study).				
Interventions	<b>Intervention arm</b> : web-based intervention comprising 6 interactive online modules (Nutrition, Pancreatic enzyme replacement therapy, Vitamins, Liver disease, Antibiotics, and Respiratory) and incorporated interactive materials and patient video inserts.				
	1 to 3 treatments for improved adherence will be identified jointly with the clinician at the start of the study from 6 areas of focus: i.e. nutrition, enzymes, liver medications, airways treatments, vita- mins and antibiotics. In the intervention arm, participants will be provided with online information for the identified treatments which shows how medications and treatments work, contains 'patient video stories' of their own treatment experiences and is interactive, asking participants to under- take specific tasks as they view the information and to provide feedback and post questions prior to their planned 2-monthly appointments. Feedback or questions can then be answered at the next 2-monthly appointment.				
	<b>Control arm</b> : usual care (participants will receive information from clinicians in the usual way, through individual discussion, and fact sheets and clinician explanations). In total, participants will have 7 appointments according to existing defined standards of care at start, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 12 months.				
Outcomes	Primary outcome				
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in measures of adherence (MPR or by self-report (DMI-CF)) (recorded at 1 year)</li> </ol>				
	Secondary outcomes				
	1. Change from baseline in CF medication knowledge (measured at baseline, 6 months and 12 months)				
	2. HRQoL measured by the validated CF-QoL (measured at baseline and 12 months)				
	<ol> <li>Change from baseline in lung function (FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and FVC) (measured at baseline and 12 months)</li> </ol>				
	4. BMI (measured at baseline, 6 months and 12 months)				
	5. Vitamin A, D, E levels (measured at baseline, 6 months and 12 months)				
	<ol> <li>Coefficient of variation for lung function: for each measure, the coefficient of variation will be calculated from the variation of the highest and lowest values of lung function over the previous 6 months (measured at baseline, 6 months and 12 months)</li> </ol>				
	7. Number of pulmonary exacerbations requiring intravenous therapy (from 1 year prior to baseline until start: and from baseline to 1 year)				
	8. CF hospitalisations (including IV treatment days) (from 1 year prior to baseline until start; and from baseline to 1 year)				
	Participants will complete 2 questionnaires at the beginning and end of the study. The first asks about the medications and treatments currently taken and any reasons they may have difficulty in taking prescribed treatments. The second asks about their quality of life. A blood sample will be taken at the start, middle and end of the study, to check fat soluble vitamin levels A, D and E. At baseline and end (12 months), their pharmacist will be contacted to provide details on how many prescriptions have been collected within the previous 6 months. At the beginning and end of the 12-month period, participants will also complete a knowledge questionnaire for each of their indi- vidual and agreed areas of focus, to assess change in knowledge.				



### White 2017 (Continued)

Starting date	1 February 2016				
Contact information	Dr Helen White, Nutrition and Dietetic Group, Leeds Beckett University, Leeds, LS1 3HE, UK				
	+44 (0)113 812 4994				
	H.White@leedsbeckett.ac.uk				
Funding source	Supported by a grant from Gilead UK.				
Clinical trial register	trialsearch.who.int/Trial2.aspx?TrialID=ISRCTN37959826				
Notes	Recruitment completed. Contacted first author who confirmed they are writing up the results of the study.				

AAQ-II: Acceptance and Action Questionnaire ACT: Acceptance and Commitment Therapy AZLI: aztreonam lysine **BAI: Beck Anxiety Inventory** BDI-II: Beck Depression Inventory-II BMI: body mass index CF: cystic fibrosis CF-MBQ: CF Medication Belief Questionnaire CF-MQ: CF Medication Questionnaire CFQ13: Cognitive Fusion Questionnaire CFQ-R: Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire - Revised CFRD: cystic fibrosis-related diabetes CFTR: cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator DMI-CF: Disease Management Interview - CF FEV<sub>1</sub>: forced expiratory volume in 1 second FVC: forced vital capacity GAD-7: General Anxiety Disorder 7-item anxiety scale (Spitzer 2006) HRQoL: health-related quality of life iFAQ: Intervention Feasibility and Acceptability questionnaire IV: intravenous KDM-CF: Knowledge of Disease Management-CF questionnaire MPR: medication possession ratio PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire 9 PI: principal investigator PRO: patient rated outcome RCT: randomised controlled trial

# DATA AND ANALYSES

# Comparison 1. Psychological interventions versus usual care

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded mea- sures)	3		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% Cl)	Totals not select- ed



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.1.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.1.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.2 Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded mea- sures - adjusted mean differ- ence)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.2.1 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.3 Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (subjective measures)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.3.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.3.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.3.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.3.4 Over 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.4 Adherence to dornase alfa	2		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.4.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	46	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.02 [-0.62, 0.67]
1.4.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.43 [-0.41, 1.27]
1.4.3 Over 12 months	1	21	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.91 [-0.00, 1.81]
1.5 Adherence to inhaled antibi- otics (mean score on MMAS-8)	2		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.5.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	43	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.49 [-1.01, 1.98]
1.5.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1	23	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.13 [-0.99, 0.72]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size	
1.5.3 Over 12 months	1	19	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.00 [-0.91, 0.91]	
1.6 Adherence to inhaled steroids (subjective measure)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.6.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.7 Adherence to hypertonic saline (subjective measure)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.7.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.8 Adherence to bronchodila- tors (subjective measure)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.8.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.9 Anxiety (endpoint data)	3		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.9.1 Up to 3 months	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.9.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.9.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.10 Anxiety (adjusted mean dif- ference)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.10.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.10.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.11 Depression (endpoint data)	4		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.11.1 Up to 3 months	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.11.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.11.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.11.4 Over 12 months	1		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.12 Depression (adjusted mean difference)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.12.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.12.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.13 QoL: Quality of Well-being scale (mean score)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.13.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.14 QoL: Physical functioning (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.14.1 Up to 3 months	1	35	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.10 [-0.57, 0.76]
1.14.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.15 [-0.57, 0.26]
1.14.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1089	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.08 [-0.04, 0.20]
1.14.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.29 [-1.10, 0.51]
1.15 QoL: Physical functioning (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.15.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.15.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.16 QoL: Emotional functioning (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.16.1 Up to 3 months	1	35	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.54 [-0.14, 1.22]
1.16.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.17 [-0.58, 0.25]
1.16.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1089	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.01 [-0.11, 0.13]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size	
1.16.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.42 [-1.23, 0.39]	
1.17 QoL: Emotional functioning (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.17.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.17.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.18 QoL: Social functioning (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only	
1.18.1 Up to 3 months	1	35	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.45 [-0.22, 1.13]	
1.18.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.01 [-0.43, 0.41]	
1.18.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1089	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.00 [-0.12, 0.11]	
1.18.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.15 [-0.95, 0.65]	
1.19 QoL: Social functioning (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.19.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.19.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.20 QoL: Treatment burden (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only	
1.20.1 Up to 3 months	1	5	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.35 [-1.50, 2.20]	
1.20.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.03 [-0.44, 0.39]	
1.20.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1090	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.14 [-0.01, 0.28]	
1.20.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.25 [-1.05, 0.56]	
1.21 QoL: Treatment burden (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.21.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.21.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.22 QoL: Role limitations (end- point data)	3		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.22.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	87	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.02 [-0.54, 0.49]
1.22.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2	412	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.02 [-0.21, 0.18]
1.22.3 Over 12 months	1	22	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.47 [-1.31, 0.38]
1.23 QoL: Role limitations (ad- justed data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.23.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.24 QoL: Body image (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.24.1 Up to 3 months	1	35	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.69 [0.00, 1.38]
1.24.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.14 [-0.56, 0.28]
1.24.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1089	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.08 [-0.03, 0.20]
1.24.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.76 [-1.59, 0.08]
1.25 QoL: Body image (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.25.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.25.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.26 QoL: Vitality (endpoint da- ta)	3		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.26.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.27 [-0.77, 0.23]



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size	
1.26.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2	413	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.33 [-0.99, 0.34]	
1.26.3 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.47 [-1.28, 0.34]	
1.27 QoL: Vitality (adjusted da- ta)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.27.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.28 QoL: Eating disturbance (endpoint data)	4		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only	
1.28.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.03 [-0.38, 0.45]	
1.28.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1089	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.11 [-0.01, 0.23]	
1.28.3 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.46 [-0.35, 1.27]	
1.29 QoL: Eating disturbance (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.29.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.29.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.30 QoL: Weight problems (endpoint data)	3		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only	
1.30.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	88	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.03 [-0.45, 0.40]	
1.30.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2	413	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.17 [-0.03, 0.36]	
1.30.3 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.00 [-0.80, 0.80]	
1.31 QoL: Weight problems (ad- justed data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.31.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed	
1.32 QoL: Respiratory symp- toms (endpoint data)	5		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only	



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.32.1 Up to 3 months	1	35	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.25 [-0.42, 0.92]
1.32.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	88	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.35 [-0.78, 0.07]
1.32.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1085	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.06 [-0.10, 0.22]
1.32.4 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.46 [-1.27, 0.35]
1.33 QoL: Respiratory symp- toms (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.33.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.33.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.34 QoL: Digestive symptoms (endpoint data)	4		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.34.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	87	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.44 [-1.10, 0.22]
1.34.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	3	1084	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	0.04 [-0.08, 0.16]
1.34.3 Over 12 months	1	23	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.50 [-1.33, 0.34]
1.35 QoL: Digestive symptoms (adjusted data)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.35.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.35.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.36 QoL: Health perceptions (endpoint data)	3		Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.36.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	89	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.26 [-0.69, 0.17]
1.36.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2	413	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.00 [-0.20, 0.19]
1.36.3 Over 12 months	1	24	Std. Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-0.35 [-1.16, 0.45]



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.37 QoL: Health perceptions (adjusted data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.37.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.38 QoL: Treatment issues (endpoint data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.38.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.39 QoL: Career concerns (end- point data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.39.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.40 QoL: Interpersonal rela- tionships (endpoint data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.40.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.41 QoL: Concerns for the fu- ture (endpoint data)	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.41.1 Up to 3 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.42 FEV1 % predicted (end- point data)	5		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.42.1 Up to 3 months	2	40	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-3.25 [-18.13, 11.64]
1.42.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	2	95	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-2.98 [-12.50, 6.55]
1.42.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	2	593	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	3.20 [-0.59, 6.99]
1.42.4 Over 12 months	1	36	Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	-4.20 [-19.31, 10.91]
1.43 FEV1 % predicted (adjusted mean difference)	2		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.43.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.43.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% Cl)	Totals not select- ed



Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.44 Number of pulmonary ex- acerbations	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.44.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Mean Difference (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.45 Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (unadjusted da-ta)	2		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.45.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.45.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.46 Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (adjusted data)	2		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.46.1 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed
1.46.2 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Random, 95% CI)	Totals not select- ed

# Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 1: Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded measures)

	In	tervention	1	Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean Dif	ference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random	, 95% CI
1.1.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	48.8	47.44	16	44.48	45.93	19	4.32 [-26.77 , 35.41	1	→
1.1.2 Over 3 months an	d up to 6 m	onths							
Hind 2017 (2)	47.7	33.8	29	37.7	27.1	26	10.00 [-6.12 , 26.12	]	
1.1.3 Over 6 months an	d up to 12 r	nonths							
Wildman 2022 (3)	52.9	31.4	293	34.9	31.7	295	18.00 [12.90 , 23.10	]	
								-20 -10 0	10 20
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention

(1) Adherence to prescribed twice daily aerosolised antibiotics (ITT)

(2) Endpoint data

(3) Weekly objectively measured effective adherence (sum of doses taken/sum of doses prescribed) averaged over weeks 3–52 post-randomisation

# Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 2: Adherence percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (objective recorded measures - adjusted mean difference)

Study or Subgroup	Mean Difference	SE	Intervention Total	Usual care Total	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean D IV, Rando	ifference m, 95% CI
<b>1.2.1 Over 6 months a</b> Wildman 2022	nd up to 12 months 9.5	0.4592	293	295	9.50 [8.60 , 10.40]	]	+
						-10 -5 ( Favours usual care	) 5 10 Favours intervention

# Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 3: Adherence - percentage of prescribed inhaled therapies taken (subjective measures)

	In	Intervention		Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Rand	lom, 95% CI	
1.3.1 Up to 3 months										
Cottrell 1996 (1)	74	33	10	61	42	10	13.00 [-20.11 , 46.11	]		
1.3.2 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 m	onths								
Downs 2006 (2)	87.5	32.7	26	70.9	26.8	25	16.60 [0.22 , 32.98	]		
1.3.3 Over 6 months a	nd up to 12 r	nonths								
Downs 2006 (2)	86.1	31.2	26	77.5	28.9	25	8.60 [-7.90 , 25.10	] -	+	
1.3.4 Over 12 months										
Downs 2006 (3)	81.3	26.1	26	74.2	24.3	25	7.10 [-6.73 , 20.93	]	┿╾	
								-50 -25	0 25	+ 50
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours i	nterventio

### Footnotes

(1) Endpoint data

(2) Percentage of prescribed aerosol taken (measured using participant self-report diary card) (ITT) - endpoint data

(3) Percentage of prescribed aerosol taken (measured using participant self-report diary card) (ITT)
### Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 4: Adherence to dornase alfa

	Int	terventior	1	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.4.1 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 m	onths							
Gur 2016 (1)	4	1.32	9	4.44	0.88	9	40.9%	-0.37 [-1.31 , 0.56	5] _ <b></b> _
Knudsen 2016 (2)	4.45	2.44	13	3.72	2.33	15	59.1%	0.30 [-0.45 , 1.05	5] _ <b></b>
Subtotal (95% CI)			22			24	100.0%	0.02 [-0.62 , 0.67	1 📥
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.04; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	21, df = 1	(P = 0.27)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 17%					Ť
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.07 (P =	0.94)							
1.4.2 Over 6 months a	nd up to 12 n	nonths							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	4.67	2.37	9	3.53	2.67	15	100.0%	0.43 [-0.41 , 1.27	7]
Subtotal (95% CI)			9			15	100.0%	0.43 [-0.41 , 1.27	1 📥
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable								-
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.00 (P =	0.31)							
1.4.3 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (3)	4.7	1.87	11	2.98	1.77	10	100.0%	0.91 [-0.00 , 1.81	.]
Subtotal (95% CI)			11			10	100.0%	0.91 [-0.00 , 1.81	
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable								$\mathbf{I}$
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.95 (P =	0.05)							
Footnotes									Favours usual care Favours interver

(1) Mean score on self-report adherence questionnaire - Endpoint data

(2) Mean score on MMAS-8 (Endpoint data)

(3) Mean score on MMAS-8 - Follow-up (one year post-intervention) endpoint data

### Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 5: Adherence to inhaled antibiotics (mean score on MMAS-8)

	Int	ervention	1	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.5.1 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 m	onths							
Gur 2016	4.63	1.19	8	2.33	2.07	6	44.9%	1.33 [0.12 , 2.54	l]
Knudsen 2016 (1)	4.52	2.45	13	5.03	2.48	16	55.1%	-0.20 [-0.93 , 0.53	3] _ <mark>_</mark>
Subtotal (95% CI)			21			22	100.0%	0.49 [-1.01 , 1.98	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.92; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 4.	52, df = 1	(P = 0.03)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 78%					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.64 (P = 0.00)	0.52)							
1.5.2 Over 6 months a	nd up to 12 n	nonths							
Knudsen 2016 (1)	4.97	2.47	8	5.3	2.31	15	100.0%	-0.13 [-0.99 , 0.72	2]
Subtotal (95% CI)			8			15	100.0%	-0.13 [-0.99 , 0.72	y 📥
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable								Ť
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.31 (P =	0.76)							
1.5.3 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (2)	4.4	2.46	8	4.39	2.32	11	100.0%	0.00 [-0.91 , 0.91	.] _
Subtotal (95% CI)			8			11	100.0%	0.00 [-0.91 , 0.91	1 📥
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.01 (P =	0.99)							
									-4 -2 0 2 4
Footnotes									Favours usual care Favours interve

(1) Mean score on MMAS-8 (Endpoint data)

(2) Mean score on MMAS-8 (Follow-up (one year post-intervention) endpoint data)

ochrane

orary

## Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 6: Adherence to inhaled steroids (subjective measure)



(1) Mean score on self-report adherence questionnaire - Endpoint data

## Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 7: Adherence to hypertonic saline (subjective measure)

	In	tervention	ı		Control		Mean Difference	Mean Di	ference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	IV, Fixed,	95% CI
1.7.1 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 m	onths							
Gur 2016 (1)	3.88	1.46	8	4	2	8	8 -0.12 [-1.84 , 1.60	] _	
								-4 -2 0	2 4
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention
(1) Moon score on colf	roport adhoro	nco quosti	oppoiro E	ndpoint de	ata				

(1) Mean score on self-report adherence questionnaire - Endpoint data

## Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 8: Adherence to bronchodilators (subjective measure)

	In	tervention	I		Control		Mean Difference	Mean Di	fference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	IV, Fixed,	95% CI
1.8.1 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 m	onths							
Gur 2016 (1)	3	1.69	8	4.13	2.1	8	-1.13 [-3.00 , 0.74]	ı —•-	_
								-4 -2 0	2 4
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention

(1) Mean score on self-report adherence questionnaire - Endpoint data

#### Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 9: Anxiety (endpoint data)



(2) Mean score on HADS - endpoint data (ITT)

(3) Mean score on GAD-7 - endpoint data

#### Analysis 1.10. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 10: Anxiety (adjusted mean difference)

Study or Subgroup	Mean Difference	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean Dif IV, Randon	ference 1, 95% CI
1.10.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 months				
Hind 2017	-0.31	0.8112	-0.31 [-1.90 , 1.28]		
1.10.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12 months				
Wildman 2022	0.3	0.3571	0.30 [-0.40 , 1.00]	<b>⊢</b>	F
				-4 -2 0	2 4
			Fav	ours intervention	Favours usual care

Favours usual care

Favours intervention

# Analysis 1.11. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 11: Depression (endpoint data)

	Int	tervention	ı	U	sual care		Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI		
1.11.1 Up to 3 months										
Quinn 2004 (1)	2.71	2.71	16	2.37	2.59	19	0.13 [-0.54 , 0.79]			
1.11.2 Over 3 months a	nd up to 6 n	nonths								
Hind 2017 (2)	7.3	5.2	31	5.3	5.1	28	0.38 [-0.13 , 0.90]			
Knudsen 2016 (3)	13.4	11.2	13	10.9	6.95	17	0.27 [-0.46 , 1.00]			
Knudsen 2016 (4)	11.3	11.4	13	12.5	8.94	16	-0.12 [-0.85 , 0.62]			
1.11.3 Over 6 months a	nd up to 12	months								
Knudsen 2016 (5)	9.71	7.11	7	10.1	8.51	18	-0.05 [-0.92 , 0.83]			
Knudsen 2016 (6)	11.9	7.03	9	9.18	6	17	0.41 [-0.40 , 1.23]			
Wildman 2022 (2)	6.3	5.6	262	6.4	5	272	-0.02 [-0.19 , 0.15]	-		
1.11.4 Over 12 months										
Knudsen 2016 (7)	12.9	8.67	12	10.9	9.76	12	0.21 [-0.59 , 1.01]			
Knudsen 2016 (8)	13.3	10.3	12	12.8	10.8	12	0.05 [-0.75 , 0.85]			

#### Footnotes

(1) Mean depression score on HADS - endpoint data (ITT)

(2) Mean score on PHQ-8 - endpoint data

(3) Mean score on MDI - endpoint data

(4) Mean score on CES-D - endpoint data

(5) Mean score on CES-D (Post-intervention: 11 months)

(6) Mean score on MDI (Post-intervention: 11 months)

(7) Mean score on MDI (Follow-up: one year post-intervention)

(8) Mean score on CES-D (Follow-up: one year post-intervention)

## Analysis 1.12. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 12: Depression (adjusted mean difference)

Study or Subgroup	Mean Difference	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI
1.12.1 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 months			
Hind 2017	0.97	0.9847	0.97 [-0.96 , 2.90]	-+
1.12.2 Over 6 months a	and up to 12 months			
Wildman 2022	-0.1	0.3571	-0.10 [-0.80 , 0.60]	+
			Fav	-4 -2 0 2 4 -4 -2 Favours usual care

### Analysis 1.13. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 13: QoL: Quality of Well-being scale (mean score)

	Int	tervention	L	U	sual care		Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.13.1 Up to 3 months								
Cottrell 1996 (1)	0.71	0.105	10	0.729	0.055	10	-0.02 [-0.09 , 0.05	]
								-0.2 -0.1 0 0.1 0.2
Footnotes								Favours usual care Favours intervention
(1) Endpoint data								

### Analysis 1.14. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 14: QoL: Physical functioning (endpoint data)

	Int	ervention	1	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.14.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	76.59	14.07	16	75.37	10.2	19	100.0%	0.10 [-0.57 , 0.76]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			16			19	100.0%	0.10 [-0.57 , 0.76]	
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable								
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.29 (P = 0.29)	0.77)							
1.14.2 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (2)	54.4	31.6	31	60.9	31.2	28	66.5%	-0.20 [-0.72 , 0.31]	<b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (2)	74.4	35.1	13	76	26	17	33.5%	-0.05 [-0.77 , 0.67]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.15 [-0.57 , 0.26]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	11, df = 1	(P = 0.74);	I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.72 (P = 0.72)	0.47)							
1.14.3 Over 6 months a	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (3)	81.9	23.1	9	80.3	21	18	2.2%	0.07 [-0.73 , 0.87]	<b>_</b>
Quittner 2019 (2)	84	19.9	180	81.4	21.5	206	35.4%	0.12 [-0.08 , 0.33]	
Quittner 2019 (4)	79.1	20.3	66	82.4	21.3	72	12.7%	-0.16 [-0.49 , 0.18]	
Wildman 2022 (5)	55.8	30.2	264	52.6	30.6	274	49.6%	0.11 [-0.06 , 0.27]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			519			570	100.0%	0.08 [-0.04 , 0.20]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 2.	21, df = 3	(P = 0.53)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					•
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 1.28 (P = 0	0.20)							
1.14.4 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (6)	68.2	36.8	12	78.5	30.6	12	100.0%	-0.29 [-1.10 , 0.51]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.29 [-1.10 , 0.51]	
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable								
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.72 (P = 0.72)	0.47)							
									-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1
Footnotes								Fa	avours usual care Favours interve

(1) CFQoL endpoint data

Cochrane

Librarv

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions.

Better health.

(2) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(3) CFQ-R post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(4) CFQ-R endpoint data (Child version)

(5) CFQ-R endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(6) CFQ-R follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

## Analysis 1.15. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 15: QoL: Physical functioning (adjusted data)

Trusted evidence.

Better health.

Informed decisions.

ochrane

brarv



## Analysis 1.16. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 16: QoL: Emotional functioning (endpoint data)

Study or Subgroup Mean SD Total Mean SD Total Weight IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1 16 1 Lin to 3 months	
1.10.1 OP to 5 months	
Quinn 2004 (1)         90.88         10.38         16         83.68         14.94         19         100.0%         0.54 [-0.14, 1.22]	
Subtotal (95% CI)         16         19         100.0%         0.54 [-0.14, 1.22]	
Heterogeneity: Not applicable	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.56$ (P = 0.12)	
1.16.2 Over 3 months and up to 6 months	
Hind 2017 (2) 68.3 23.4 31 72.3 22.7 28 66.6% -0.17 [-0.68, 0.34]	<b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (2) 69.5 20.7 13 72.5 17.1 17 33.4% -0.16 [-0.88, 0.57]	
Subtotal (95% CI) 44 45 100.0% -0.17 [-0.58, 0.25]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.00, df = 1 (P = 0.97); l <sup>2</sup> = 0%	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.78$ (P = 0.44)	
1.16.3 Over 6 months and up to 12 months	
Knudsen 2016 (3) 68.1 17.2 9 76.9 11.3 18 2.1% -0.63 [-1.45, 0.19] .	
Quittner 2019 (2) 80 18.4 180 78.5 18.4 206 35.5% 0.08 [-0.12, 0.28]	
Quittner 2019 (4)         77         12.8         66         77.8         14.6         72         12.8%         -0.06 [-0.39, 0.28]	
Wildman 2022 (2) 66.6 22.9 264 66.5 24.7 274 49.6% 0.00 [-0.16, 0.17]	<b>.</b>
Subtotal (95% CI)         519         570         100.0%         0.01 [-0.11, 0.13]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 3.01, df = 3 (P = 0.39); l <sup>2</sup> = 0%	Ť
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.17$ (P = 0.87)	
1.16.4 Over 12 months	
Knudsen 2016 (5) 67.8 21.6 12 76.7 19.2 12 100.0% -0.42 [-1.23, 0.39]	
Subtotal (95% CI) 12 12 100.0% -0.42 [-1.23, 0.39]	
Heterogeneity: Not applicable	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.02$ ( $P = 0.31$ )	
Footnotes Favour	s usual care Favours intervention
(1) CFQoL	

(2) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(3) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(4) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

(5) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

## Analysis 1.17. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 17: QoL: Emotional functioning (adjusted data)

Trusted evidence.

Better health.

Informed decisions.

ochrane

ibrarv



## Analysis 1.18. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 18: QoL: Social functioning (endpoint data)

	Int	ervention		U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.18.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	91.77	13.34	16	84.47	17.55	19	100.0%	0.45 [-0.22 , 1.13	3]
Subtotal (95% CI)			16			19	100.0%	0.45 [-0.22 , 1.13	3]
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable								
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 1.31 (P = 0	0.19)							
1.18.2 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (2)	65.4	15.8	31	66.4	20.9	28	66.6%	-0.05 [-0.56 , 0.46	5]
Knudsen 2016 (3)	72.2	20.9	13	70.7	16.8	17	33.4%	0.08 [-0.64 , 0.80	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.01 [-0.43 , 0.41	
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0$ .	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	09, df = 1	(P = 0.77);	I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.05 (P = 0.05)	0.96)							
1.18.3 Over 6 months a	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (4)	67.9	28.6	9	75.9	15.2	18	2.2%	-0.38 [-1.19 , 0.43	3]
Quittner 2019 (3)	73.9	17.6	180	74	16.9	206	35.5%	-0.01 [-0.21, 0.19	)
Quittner 2019 (5)	69.9	17.7	66	72.3	18.5	72	12.7%	-0.13 [-0.47 , 0.20	)]
Wildman 2022 (2)	60.5	20	264	59.6	20	274	49.7%	0.04 [-0.12 , 0.21	L]
Subtotal (95% CI)			519			570	100.0%	-0.00 [-0.12 , 0.11	1] 🔶
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	71, df = 3	(P = 0.63);	$I^2 = 0\%$					Ť
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.08 (P = 0.08)	0.94)							
1.18.4 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (6)	67.1	22.2	12	70.8	24.4	12	100.0%	-0.15 [-0.95 , 0.65	5]
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.15 [-0.95 , 0.65	5]
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable								
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.37 (P = 0.37)	0.71)							
									<u> </u>
Footnotes									-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 Favours usual care Favours intervention
(1) CEOoL									
(2) CFQ-R Endpoint dat	ta (Teen/ Adu	lt version)							

(3) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/Adult version)

(4) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(5) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

(6) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

### Analysis 1.19. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 19: QoL: Social functioning (adjusted data)



(1) CFQ-R

(4) CFQ-R

(5) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/adult version)(6) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ adult version)

## Analysis 1.20. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 20: QoL: Treatment burden (endpoint data)

	Favou	rs usual o	are	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.20.1 Up to 3 months									
Shakkottai 2017 (1)	81.67	16.8	3	72.5	23.33	2	100.0%	0.35 [-1.50 , 2.20]	]
Subtotal (95% CI)			3			2	100.0%	0.35 [-1.50 , 2.20]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	z = 0.37 (P = 0.37)	0.71)							
1.20.2 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (2)	56.5	16.6	31	57.3	19.9	28	66.6%	-0.04 [-0.55 , 0.47	]
Knudsen 2016 (3)	52.4	24.8	13	52.3	22.5	17	33.4%	0.00 [-0.72 , 0.73	]
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.03 [-0.44 , 0.39	1 📥
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	01, df = 1	(P = 0.92)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					T
Test for overall effect: 2	z = 0.13 (P = 0.13)	0.90)							
1.20.3 Over 6 months a	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (4)	51.9	18.4	9	56.8	22.2	18	3.2%	-0.23 [-1.03 , 0.58	]
Quittner 2019 (5)	58.5	17.5	180	56.8	19.9	206	36.0%	0.09 [-0.11 , 0.29]	]
Quittner 2019 (1)	73.7	21.6	66	74.2	19.9	72	16.3%	-0.02 [-0.36 , 0.31]	]
Wildman 2022 (5)	56.6	19.5	265	51.5	19.7	274	44.4%	0.26 [0.09 , 0.43]	] _
Subtotal (95% CI)			520			570	100.0%	0.14 [-0.01 , 0.28]	1
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.01; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 3.	84, df = 3	(P = 0.28)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 22%					•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.83 (P = 0	0.07)							
1.20.4 Over 12 months	;								
Knudsen 2016 (6)	51.9	16.6	12	57.4	25.4	12	100.0%	-0.25 [-1.05 , 0.56	]
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.25 [-1.05 , 0.56	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								-
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.60 (P = 0.00)	0.55)							
									-2 -1 0 1 2
Footnotes									Favours usual care Favours interv
<ol><li>(1) CFQ-R Endpoint da</li></ol>	ta (Child vers	sion)							
(2) CFQ-R Endpoint da	ta (Teen/ Adu	lt version	)						
(3) CFQ-R Post-interve	ntion (11 mor	nths) - Tee	n/adult ver	sion					

### Analysis 1.21. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 21: QoL: Treatment burden (adjusted data)



### Analysis 1.22. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 22: QoL: Role limitations (endpoint data)

	In	terventior	1	Usual care				Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.22.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 r	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	64.8	26.1	31	70.3	21.5	27	62.7%	-0.23 [-0.74 , 0.29]	<b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (1)	80.6	16.8	12	73.4	25.3	17	37.3%	0.31 [-0.43 , 1.06]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			43			44	100.0%	-0.02 [-0.54 , 0.49]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.04; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	.36, df = 1	(P = 0.24)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 27%					<b>—</b>
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.09 (P =	0.93)							
1.22.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	78.1	19.9	8	83.8	16	18	5.4%	-0.32 [-1.16 , 0.52]	<b>-</b>
Quittner 2019 (1)	83.1	18.5	180	83.1	16.2	206	94.6%	0.00 [-0.20 , 0.20]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			188			224	100.0%	-0.02 [-0.21 , 0.18]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	53, df = 1	(P = 0.47)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					Ť
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.17 (P =	0.86)							
1.22.3 Over 12 month	IS								
Knudsen 2016 (3)	81.1	13.5	11	87.9	14.6	11	100.0%	-0.47 [-1.31 , 0.38]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			11			11	100.0%	-0.47 [-1.31 , 0.38]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable								
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.07 (P =	0.28)							
									-1 -05 0 05 1
Footnotes								F	avours usual care Favours intervention
		1							

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version



### Analysis 1.23. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 23: QoL: Role limitations (adjusted data)

Study or Subgroup	Mean Difference	SE	Mean Difference IV, Random, 95% CI	Mean Diffe IV, Random, S	rence 95% CI
1.23.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 months				
Hind 2017 (1)	-8.2	4.4899	-8.20 [-17.00 , 0.60]	-+-	
				-50 -25 0	25 50
Footnotes			Fa	vours usual care	Favours intervention
(1) CFQ-R					

# Analysis 1.24. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 24: QoL: Body image (endpoint data)

	Intervention			Usual care				Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI	
1.24.1 Up to 3 months										
Quinn 2004 (1)	77.26	19.87	16	63.16	20.05	19	100.0%	0.69 [0.00 , 1.38]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			16			19	100.0%	0.69 [0.00 , 1.38]		
Heterogeneity: Not appl	licable									
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 1.97 (P =	0.05)								
1.24.2 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 n	nonths								
Hind 2017 (2)	73.3	23.8	31	73.1	25.5	28	67.2%	0.01 [-0.50 , 0.52]	<b></b>	
Knudsen 2016 (2)	75.4	18.6	13	84.3	20.1	17	32.8%	-0.44 [-1.18 , 0.29]	<b>_</b> _	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.14 [-0.56 , 0.28]		
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	99, df = 1	(P = 0.32)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%						
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 0.66 (P = 0.66)	0.51)								
1.24.3 Over 6 months a	and up to 12	months								
Knudsen 2016 (3)	72.8	26.1	9	79.6	21	18	2.2%	-0.29 [-1.09 , 0.51]		
Quittner 2019 (2)	79.3	23.6	180	76.2	23.6	206	35.4%	0.13 [-0.07 , 0.33]	- <b></b> -	
Quittner 2019 (4)	81.6	26.4	66	80.1	20.8	72	12.7%	0.06 [-0.27 , 0.40]	_ <b>_</b>	
Wildman 2022 (2)	67.2	27.3	264	65.1	29.3	274	49.7%	0.07 [-0.10 , 0.24]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			519			570	100.0%	0.08 [-0.03 , 0.20]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	07, df = 3	(P = 0.78)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					•	
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 1.40 (P =	0.16)								
1.24.4 Over 12 months	5									
Knudsen 2016 (5)	69.4	25.6	12	86.1	15.8	12	100.0%	-0.76 [-1.59 , 0.08]	<b></b>	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.76 [-1.59 , 0.08]		
Heterogeneity: Not appl	licable								-	
Test for overall effect: Z	Z = 1.78 (P =	0.07)								
Footnotes								Fay	yours usual care Favours interv	

#### (1) CFQoL

(2) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(3) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(4) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

(5) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

## Analysis 1.25. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 25: QoL: Body image (adjusted data)



## Analysis 1.26. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 26: QoL: Vitality (endpoint data)

	Int	Intervention			Usual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.26.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	38.5	19.8	31	48.7	23	28	62.0%	-0.47 [-0.99 , 0.05]	
Knudsen 2016 (1)	51.8	21	13	50.8	16	17	38.0%	0.05 [-0.67 , 0.78]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.27 [-0.77 , 0.23]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.03; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	33, df = 1	(P = 0.25)	; I² = 25%					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.07 (P =	0.29)							
1.26.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	49.1	16.4	9	63.9	18.5	18	33.4%	-0.80 [-1.64 , 0.03]	← ■
Quittner 2019 (1)	62	17.7	180	63.5	16.5	206	66.6%	-0.09 [-0.29 , 0.11]	-
Subtotal (95% CI)			189			224	100.0%	-0.33 [-0.99 , 0.34]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	).16; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 2.	68, df = 1	(P = 0.10)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 63%					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.97 (P =	0.33)							
1.26.3 Over 12 months	s								
Knudsen 2016 (3)	46.5	22.6	12	57.2	21.2	12	100.0%	-0.47 [-1.28 , 0.34]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.47 [-1.28 , 0.34]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.14 (P =	0.26)							
									-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1
Footnotes								F	Favours usual care Favours intervention

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

# Analysis 1.27. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 27: QoL: Vitality (adjusted data)



## Analysis 1.28. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 28: QoL: Eating disturbance (endpoint data)

	Int	ervention	I	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.28.1 Over 3 months and	l up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	80.7	21.6	31	79.9	20.7	28	66.6%	0.04 [-0.47 , 0.55]	<b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (1)	88.9	23.9	13	88.2	21.7	17	33.4%	0.03 [-0.69 , 0.75]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	0.03 [-0.38 , 0.45]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00	); Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	00, df = 1	(P = 0.99);	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					T
Test for overall effect: Z =	0.16 (P = 0	0.87)							
1.28.2 Over 6 months and	d up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	90.1	15.2	9	90.4	15.2	18	2.2%	-0.02 [-0.82 , 0.78]	
Quittner 2019 (3)	87	19.5	66	86.3	18.3	72	12.7%	0.04 [-0.30 , 0.37]	
Quittner 2019 (1)	92	15	180	90.3	17.6	206	35.5%	0.10 [-0.10 , 0.30]	- <b></b>
Wildman 2022 (1)	84	21.5	264	81	23.2	274	49.6%	0.13 [-0.04 , 0.30]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			519			570	100.0%	0.11 [-0.01 , 0.23]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.00	); Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	36, df = 3	(P = 0.95);	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					•
Test for overall effect: Z =	1.76 (P = 0	0.08)							
1.28.3 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (4)	93.5	11.1	12	86.1	19	12	100.0%	0.46 [-0.35 , 1.27]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	0.46 [-0.35 , 1.27]	
Heterogeneity: Not applica	able								
Test for overall effect: Z =	1.11 (P = 0	0.27)							
Footnotes								г	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 Favours usual care Eavours interve

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

(4) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/Adult version

Trusted evidence.

Better health.

Informed decisions.

ochrane

brarv

## Analysis 1.29. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 29: QoL: Eating disturbance (adjusted data)



## Analysis 1.30. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 30: QoL: Weight problems (endpoint data)

	In	Intervention			Usual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.30.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 r	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	81.1	18.4	31	84.4	23.5	27	66.3%	-0.16 [-0.67 , 0.36]	<b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (1)	88.1	28.1	13	80.4	35.5	17	33.7%	0.23 [-0.49 , 0.96]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			44	100.0%	-0.03 [-0.45 , 0.40]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0	72, df = 1	(P = 0.40)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					<b>—</b>
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.12 (P =	0.91)							
1.30.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	77.8	33.3	9	83.3	30.8	18	5.9%	-0.17 [-0.97 , 0.63]	
Quittner 2019 (1)	77.5	32.1	180	71.2	35.2	206	94.1%	0.19 [-0.01 , 0.39]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			189			224	100.0%	0.17 [-0.03 , 0.36]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0	71, df = 1	(P = 0.40)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					•
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.67 (P =	0.10)							
1.30.3 Over 12 month	s								
Knudsen 2016 (3)	80.6	26.4	12	80.6	38.8	12	100.0%	0.00 [-0.80 , 0.80]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	0.00 [-0.80 , 0.80]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	olicable								
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.00 (P =	1.00)							
									-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1
Footnotes									Favours usual care Favours intervention

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version



Trusted evidence.

Better health.

Informed decisions.

ochrane

ibrarv



## Analysis 1.32. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 32: QoL: Respiratory symptoms (endpoint data)

	Int	tervention	ı	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.32.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	82.35	14.16	16	78.42	16.59	19	100.0%	0.25 [-0.42 , 0.92]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			16			19	100.0%	0.25 [-0.42 , 0.92]	
Heterogeneity: Not appl	licable								
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 0.73 (P =	0.47)							
1.32.2 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (2)	59.5	25.2	31	65.6	22.7	27	67.0%	-0.25 [-0.77 , 0.27]	— <b>—</b> —
Knudsen 2016 (2)	61.5	18.7	13	73.3	21.6	17	33.0%	-0.56 [-1.30 , 0.18]	<b>_</b>
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			44	100.0%	-0.35 [-0.78 , 0.07]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	46, df = 1	(P = 0.50)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					-
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 1.63 (P =	0.10)							
1.32.3 Over 6 months a	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (3)	60.5	16.5	9	70.1	22.6	18	3.6%	-0.45 [-1.26 , 0.36]	
Quittner 2019 (2)	72.2	19.2	180	72.5	17.5	206	36.0%	-0.02 [-0.22 , 0.18]	
Quittner 2019 (4)	79.5	18.8	66	73.7	18.2	72	17.4%	0.31 [-0.02 , 0.65]	
Wildman 2022 (2)	58	22.5	263	56.6	21.9	271	43.0%	0.06 [-0.11 , 0.23]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			518			567	100.0%	0.06 [-0.10 , 0.22]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	.01; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 4.	21, df = 3	(P = 0.24)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 29%					ľ
Test for overall effect: Z	L = 0.74 (P = 0.74)	0.46)							
1.32.4 Over 12 months									
Knudsen 2016 (2)	60.2	23.9	12	70.8	20.3	12	100.0%	-0.46 [-1.27 , 0.35]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.46 [-1.27 , 0.35]	
Heterogeneity: Not appl	licable								
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 1.11 (P =	0.27)							
Footnotes								F	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 avours usual care Favours inte

(1) CFQoL (Chest symptoms domain)

(2) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(3) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(4) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

# Analysis 1.33. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 33: QoL: Respiratory symptoms (adjusted data)

Trusted evidence.

Better health.

Informed decisions.

ochrane

ibrarv



## Analysis 1.34. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 34: QoL: Digestive symptoms (endpoint data)

	In	tervention	1	U	sual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.34.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 r	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	81.1	18.4	31	84.4	23.5	27	58.9%	-0.16 [-0.67 , 0.36]	_ <b></b>
Knudsen 2016 (1)	65.9	20.7	13	81.3	15	16	41.1%	-0.84 [-1.61 , -0.07]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			43	100.0%	-0.44 [-1.10 , 0.22]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	).12; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 2.	.12, df = 1	(P = 0.15)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 53%					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.30 (P =	0.20)							
1.34.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	67.9	23.9	9	75.7	18.7	16	2.1%	-0.37 [-1.19 , 0.46]	
Quittner 2019 (1)	84	16.3	180	83.4	17.7	206	35.6%	0.04 [-0.16 , 0.24]	_ <b>_</b>
Quittner 2019 (3)	78.3	23.7	66	71.8	26.6	72	12.7%	0.26 [-0.08 , 0.59]	<b></b>
Wildman 2022 (1)	80.4	19.4	263	80.2	21.6	272	49.6%	0.01 [-0.16 , 0.18]	•
Subtotal (95% CI)			518			566	100.0%	0.04 [-0.08 , 0.16]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 2.	.64, df = 3	(P = 0.45)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					ľ
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.69 (P =	0.49)							
1.34.3 Over 12 months	s								
Knudsen 2016 (4)	61.1	23.5	12	73.7	25.5	11	100.0%	-0.50 [-1.33 , 0.34]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			11	100.0%	-0.50 [-1.33 , 0.34]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.17 (P =	0.24)							
Footnotes								1	Favours usual care Favours intervention

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Child version)

(4) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version

## Analysis 1.35. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 35: QoL: Digestive symptoms (adjusted data)



## Analysis 1.36. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 36: QoL: Health perceptions (endpoint data)

	Int	Intervention			Usual care			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.36.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (1)	45.5	25.4	31	56.8	27.6	28	65.5%	-0.42 [-0.94 , 0.10]	
Knudsen 2016 (1)	57.9	29	13	56.9	20	17	34.5%	0.04 [-0.68 , 0.76]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			44			45	100.0%	-0.26 [-0.69 , 0.17]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 1.	04, df = 1	(P = 0.31)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 4%					<b>—</b>
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.20 (P =	0.23)							
1.36.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (2)	51.9	26.1	9	60.5	23.9	18	5.8%	-0.34 [-1.14 , 0.47]	<b>-</b>
Quittner 2019 (1)	72.8	19.7	180	72.4	20.7	206	94.2%	0.02 [-0.18, 0.22]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			189			224	100.0%	-0.00 [-0.20 , 0.19]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	).00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	72, df = 1	(P = 0.40)	; I <sup>2</sup> = 0%					Ť
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.01 (P =	0.99)							
1.36.3 Over 12 months	S								
Knudsen 2016 (3)	48.1	26.1	12	58.3	29.3	12	100.0%	-0.35 [-1.16 , 0.45]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			12			12	100.0%	-0.35 [-1.16 , 0.45]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.86 (P =	0.39)							
Footnotes								F	Favours usual care Favours intervention

(1) CFQ-R Endpoint data (Teen/ Adult version)

(2) CFQ-R Post-intervention (11 months) - Teen/Adult version

(3) CFQ-R Follow-up (one year post-intervention) - Teen/ Adult version



### Analysis 1.37. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 37: QoL: Health perceptions (adjusted data)



### Analysis 1.38. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 38: QoL: Treatment issues (endpoint data)

	Intervention			Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean D	oifference			
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% Cl	IV, Rando	IV, Random, 95% CI			
1.38.1 Up to 3 months												
Quinn 2004 (1)	76.08	21.99	16	76.84	17.12	19	-0.76 [-14.00 , 12.4	8]	<b>←</b>			
								-50 -25	1 + 1 + 1 = 0 0 25 50			
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours interventior			
(1) CEOoI												

(1) CFQoL

#### Analysis 1.39. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 39: QoL: Career concerns (endpoint data)

	Intervention			Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean Di	ifference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Randor	IV, Random, 95% CI		
1.39.1 Up to 3 months											
Quinn 2004 (1)	71.18	28.26	16	64.74	23.72	19	6.44 [-11.04 , 23.92	2]	+		
								-50 -25 (	1 - 1 - 1		
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention		
(1) CEOoI											

(1) CFQoL

### Analysis 1.40. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 40: QoL: Interpersonal relationships (endpoint data)

	Intervention			Usual care			Mean Difference	Mean Dif	ference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean SD		Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% Cl	IV, Random, 95% CI		
1.40.1 Up to 3 months										
Quinn 2004 (1)	64.94	20.39	16	62.95	16.42	19	1.99 [-10.43 , 14.4	1] _		
								-50 -25 0	25 50	
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention	
(1) CFQoL										



## Analysis 1.41. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 41: QoL: Concerns for the future (endpoint data)

	Int	ervention	ı	U	sual care		Mean Difference	Mean Di	fference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Randoi	n, 95% CI
1.41.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	49.02	26.69	16	50.88	22.22	19	-1.86 [-18.32 , 14.60	)]	
								-50 -25 0	25 50
Footnotes								Favours usual care	Favours intervention
(1) CFQoL									

### Analysis 1.42. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 42: FEV1 % predicted (endpoint data)

	In	terventior	1	U	sual care			Mean Difference	Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.42.1 Up to 3 months									
Quinn 2004 (1)	56.25	21.11	16	54.37	18.67	19	68.7%	1.88 [-11.44 , 15.20]	
Shakkottai 2017 (2)	77	6.56	3	91.5	16.26	2	31.3%	-14.50 [-38.23 , 9.23]	<b>←</b>
Subtotal (95% CI)			19			21	100.0%	-3.25 [-18.13 , 11.64]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 3	37.78; Chi <sup>2</sup> =	1.39, df =	1 (P = 0.24	); I <sup>2</sup> = 28%					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.43 (P =	0.67)							
1.42.2 Over 3 months	and up to 6 n	nonths							
Hind 2017 (2)	54.2	21.1	30	59	23.9	27	65.6%	-4.80 [-16.56 , 6.96]	
Knudsen 2016 (2)	74.4	27.9	18	73.9	22.5	20	34.4%	0.50 [-15.73 , 16.73]	<b>_</b>
Subtotal (95% CI)			48			47	100.0%	-2.98 [-12.50 , 6.55]	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	27, df = 1	(P = 0.60);	$I^2 = 0\%$					
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.61 (P =	0.54)							
1.42.3 Over 6 months	and up to 12	months							
Knudsen 2016 (3)	69.9	25.3	18	73.5	19.2	19	6.8%	-3.60 [-18.13 , 10.93]	
Wildman 2022 (2)	60.6	24.2	274	56.9	23	282	93.2%	3.70 [-0.23 , 7.63]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			292			301	100.0%	3.20 [-0.59 , 6.99]	→
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0	0.00; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 0.	90, df = 1	(P = 0.34);	$I^2 = 0\%$					•
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 1.66 (P =	0.10)							
1.42.4 Over 12 months	s								
Knudsen 2016 (4)	71	23	17	75.2	23.2	19	100.0%	-4.20 [-19.31 , 10.91]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			17			19	100.0%	-4.20 [-19.31 , 10.91]	
Heterogeneity: Not app	licable								
Test for overall effect: 2	Z = 0.54 (P =	0.59)							
									-20 -10 0 10 20
Footnotes								I	Favours usual care Favours interve
(1) FEV(10/ Dur dt + 1		(ITT)							

(1) FEV1% Predicted - endpoint data (ITT)

(2) FEV1% Predicted - endpoint data

(3) FEV1% Predicted (Post-intervention: 11 months)

(4) FEV1% Predicted (Follow-on: one-year post intervention)



# Analysis 1.43. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 43: FEV1 % predicted (adjusted mean difference)



### Analysis 1.44. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 44: Number of pulmonary exacerbations

	In	tervention	ı	U	sual care		Mean Difference	Mean Dif	ference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random	, 95% CI
1.44.1 Over 3 months a	and up to 6 r	nonths							
Hind 2017	1.1	1.1	32	0.9	1.1	28	0.20 [-0.36 , 0.76	1 -	<b></b>
								-2 -1 0	
							F	avours intervention	Favours usual care

### Analysis 1.45. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 45: Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (unadjusted data)

Study or Subgroup	log[Rate Ratio]	SE	Experimental Total	Control Total	Rate Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI	Rate R IV, Random	atio , 95% CI
1.45.1 Over 3 months	and up to 6 months						
Hind 2017	0.1989	0.2908	32	28	1.22 [0.69 , 2.16	5]	- <b>i</b>
1.45.2 Over 6 months	and up to 12 months						
Wildman 2022	-0.0834	0.0908	304	303	0.92 [0.77 , 1.10	D]	_
						0.5 0.7 1	1.5 2
					I	Favours intervention	Favours usual care



# Analysis 1.46. Comparison 1: Psychological interventions versus usual care, Outcome 46: Pulmonary exacerbations incidence rate (adjusted data)

Study or Subgroup	log[Rate Ratio]	SE	Experimental Total	Control Total	Rate Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI	Rate Ratio IV, Random, 95% CI
<b>1.46.1 Over 3 months a</b> Hind 2017	and up to 6 months 0.1133	0.2698	32	28	1.12 [0.66 , 1.90]	
<b>1.46.2 Over 6 months a</b> Wildman 2022	and up to 12 months -0.0408	0.0742	304	303	0.96 [0.83 , 1.11]	_+
					Fa	0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2 Nours intervention Favours usual care

### ADDITIONAL TABLES

### Table 1. Behaviour change techniques present in included studies

Study	Intervention arm	Control arm
Cottrell 1996	1.2 Problem solving	None (usual care)
	• 4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour	
	9.1 Credible source	
Downs 2006	1.1 Goal setting (behaviour)	None (usual care)
	• 1.2 Problem solving	
	• 1.3 Goal setting (outcome)	
	1.4 Action planning	
	<ul> <li>1.6 Discrepancy between current behaviour and goal</li> </ul>	
	• 1.9 Commitment	
	2.3 Self-monitoring of behaviour	
	<ul> <li>3.1 Social support (unspecified)</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>3.2 Social support (practical)</li> </ul>	
	3.3 Social support (emotional)	
	• 4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour	
	<ul> <li>5.1 Information about health consequences</li> </ul>	
	5.2 Salience of consequences	
	6.1 Demonstration of the behaviour	
	<ul> <li>6.3 Information about others' approval</li> </ul>	
	• 7.1 Prompts/cues	
	8.1 Behavioural practice/rehearsal	
	• 8.3 Habit formation	
	9.1 Credible source	
	• 9.2 Pros and cons	
	• 10.3 Non-specific reward	
	• 10.4 Social reward	
	10.7 Self-incentive	
	• 10.9 Self-reward	
	• 11.2 Reduce negative emotions	
	• 12.5 Adding objects to the environment	
	• 13.2 Framing/ reframing	
	<ul> <li>15.1 Verbal persuasion about capability</li> </ul>	

Table 1. Behaviour	r change techniques present in included studies (Continued)	
Gur 2016	<ul><li>1.2 Problem-solving</li><li>2.1 Monitoring of behaviour by others without feedback</li></ul>	None (usual care)
Hind 2017	<ul> <li>1.1 Goal setting (behaviour)</li> <li>1.2 Problem solving</li> <li>1.4 Action planning</li> <li>1.5 Review behavioural goal(s)</li> <li>1.6 Discrepancy between current behaviour and goal</li> <li>2.2 Feedback on behaviour</li> <li>2.3 Self-monitoring of behaviour</li> <li>3.2 Social support (practical)</li> <li>4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour</li> <li>5.2 Salience of consequences</li> <li>6.1 Demonstration of the behaviour</li> <li>7.1 Prompts/cues</li> <li>8.1 Behavioural practice/rehearsal</li> <li>8.3 Habit formation</li> <li>8.7 Graded tasks</li> <li>9.1 Credible source</li> <li>10.4 Social reward</li> <li>12.1 Restructure the physical environment</li> <li>12.5 Adding objects to the environment</li> <li>15.3 Focus on past success</li> <li>15.4 Self-talk</li> <li>16.3 Vicarious consequences</li> </ul>	None (usual care)
Knudsen 2016	3.1 Social support (unspecified)	None (usual care)
Quinn 2004	<ul> <li>1.2 Problem solving</li> <li>3.1 Social support (unspecified)</li> <li>9.2 Pros and cons</li> <li>13.3 Incompatible beliefs</li> <li>12.1 Restructuring the physical environment</li> <li>12.2 Restructuring the social environment</li> </ul>	None (usual care)
Quittner 2019	<ul><li>1.2 Problem solving;</li><li>4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour</li></ul>	None (usual care)
Riekert 2013	<ul> <li>2.2 Feedback on behaviour</li> <li>2.7 Feedback on outcome(s) of behaviour</li> <li>3.1 Social support (unspecified)</li> <li>5.1 Information about health consequences</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1.2 Problem solving</li> <li>4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour</li> <li>10.4 Social reward</li> </ul>
Shakkottai 2017	<ul> <li>2.4 Self-monitoring of outcome(s) of behaviour</li> <li>2.6 Biofeedback</li> <li>7.1 Prompts/cues</li> <li>12.5 Adding objects to the environment</li> </ul>	None (usual care)
Wildman 2022	<ul> <li>1.1 Goal setting (behaviour)</li> <li>1.2 Problem solving</li> <li>1.4 Action planning</li> </ul>	None (usual care)



#### Table 1. Behaviour change techniques present in included studies (Continued)

- 1.5 Review behavioural goal(s)
- 1.6 Discrepancy between current behaviour and goal
- 2.2 Feedback on behaviour
- 2.3 Self-monitoring of behaviour
- 3.2 Social support (practical)
- 4.1 Instruction on how to perform the behaviour
- 5.1 Information about health consequences
- 5.2 Salience of consequences
- 6.1 Demonstration of the behaviour
- 7.1 Prompts/cues
- 8.1 Behavioural practice/rehearsal
- 8.3 Habit formation
- 8.7 Graded tasks
- 9.1 Credible source
- 10.4 Social reward
- 12.1 Restructure the physical environment
- 12.5 Adding objects to the environment
- 15.3 Focus on past success
- 15.4 Self-talk
- 16.3 Vicarious consequences

<sup>*a*</sup>Used TIDiER description supplied by authors in study protocol - note these behaviour change techniques were assigned by the authors and we have made no amendments.

## Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the included studies

BCT present	BCT category	BCT definition	Number of stud- ies present in	Illustrative quotations
1.1. Goal setting (behavior)	1. Goals and planning	Set or agree on a goal defined in terms of the behavior to be achieved Note: only code goal-setting if there is sufficient evidence that goal set as part of intervention; if goal unspecified or a behavioral outcome, code 1.3, Goal set- ting (outcome); if the goal defines a spe- cific context, frequency, duration or in- tensity for the behavior, also code 1.4, Action planning	3	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Indication of goal line on charts of adherence</li> <li>Visual indication of goal met on CFHealthHub</li> <li>(Optional) weekly push notifications indicating whether goal was met</li> <li>(Optional) reward messages sent when goal met</li> <li>Interventionist:</li> <li>Discussion and agreement of goals with interventionist." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
1.2. Problem solving	1. Goals and planning	Analyse, or prompt the person to analyse, factors influencing the behav- ior and generate or select strategies that include overcoming barriers and/ or increasing facilitators (includes Re- lapse Prevention and Coping Planning)	6	"This intervention involves a member of the multidisci- plinary team working with the adolescent to identify barriers to daily treatments and brainstorm solutions to

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

included studies	(continuea)	Note: barrier identification without solutions is not sufficient. If the BCT does not include analysing the behav- ioral problem, consider 12.3, Avoid- ance/changing exposure to cues for the behavior, 12.1, Restructuring the phys- ical environment, 12.2, Restructuring the social environment, or 11.2, Reduce negative emotions		those barriers with their par- ent." (Quittner 2019)
1.3. Goal setting (outcome)	1. Goals and planning	Set or agree on a goal defined in terms of a positive outcome of wanted be- havior Note: only code guidelines if set as a goal in an intervention context; if goal is a behavior, code 1.1, Goal setting (be- havior); if goal unspecified code 1.3, Goal setting (outcome)	1	"Plan What you want to get out of something is called a goal. What would you like to get out of doing this program? Set goals about doing chest treatments and doing this program. Some goals are already written into the boxes be- low. Highlight the goals you would like and write any oth- ers you'd like in the empty boxes." (Downs 2006)
1.4. Action plan- ning	1. Goals and planning	Prompt detailed planning of perfor- mance of the behavior (must include at least one of context, frequency, du- ration and intensity). Context may be environmental (physical or social) or internal (physical, emotional or cogni- tive) (includes Implementation Inten- tions) Note: evidence of action planning does not necessarily imply goal setting, only code latter if sufficient evidence	3	"CFHealthHub: • Action planning tool and storage within CFHealthHub." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022 <sup><i>a</i></sup> )
1.5. Review be- havior goal(s)	1. Goals and planning	Review behavior goal(s) jointly with the person and consider modifying goal(s) or behavior change strategy in light of achievement. This may lead to re-setting the same goal, a small change in that goal or setting a new goal instead of (or in addition to) the first, or no change Note: if goal specified in terms of behav- ior, code 1.5, Review behavior goal(s), if goal unspecified, code 1.7, Review out- come goal(s); if discrepancy created consider also 1.6, Discrepancy between current behavior and goal	2	"Interventionist: • Discussion and agreement of goals with interventionist • Review of goals • Suggested steady increase in goal as improvements are made • Feedback and social reward on progress." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022 <i>a</i> )
1.6. Discrepan- cy between cur-	1. Goals and planning	Draw attention to discrepancies be- tween a person's current behavior (in	3	"CFHealthHub:

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies rent behavior and goal	(Continued)	terms of the form, frequency, duration, or intensity of that behavior) and the person's previously set outcome goals, behavioral goals or action plans (goes beyond self-monitoring of behavior) Note: if discomfort is created, only code: 13.3, Incompatible beliefs and not 1.6, Discrepancy between current behav- ior and goal; if goals are modified, also code 1.5, Review behavior goal(s) and/or 1.7, Review outcome goal(s); if feedback is provided, also code 2.2, Feedback on behaviour		<ul> <li>Indication of goal line on charts of adherence</li> <li>Visual indication of goal met on CFHealthHub</li> <li>(Optional) Weekly push notifications indicating whether goal was met</li> <li>(Optional) Reward messages sent when goal met</li> <li>Interventionist:</li> <li>Discussion and agreement of goals with interventionist</li> <li>Review of goals</li> <li>Suggested steady increase in goal as improvements are made." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
1.9. Commit- ment	1. Goals and planning	Ask the person to affirm or reaffirm statements indicating commitment to change the behavior Note: if defined in terms of the behavior to be achieved also code 1.1, Goal set- ting (behavior)	1	"Practise remembering, fit- ting in and doing your puffer, nebuliser and ACT treat- ments. The chest treatments that I need to remem- ber, fit in and do are: , times/day." (Downs 2006)
2.1 Monitoring of behaviour by others without feedback	2. Feedback and monitoring	Observe or record behaviour with the person's knowledge as part of a behav- iour change strategy. Note: if monitoring is part of a data col- lection procedure rather than a strate- gy aimed at changing behaviour, do not code; if feedback given, code only 2.2, Feedback on behaviour, and not 2.1, Monitoring of behaviour by others with- out feedback; if monitoring outcome(s) code 2.5, Monitoring outcome(s) of be- haviour by others without feedback; if self-monitoring behaviour, code 2.3, Self-monitoring of behaviour.	1	"The interviewer will assess adherence over the week pri- or to the chat" (Gur 2016)
2.2. Feedback on behaviour	2. Feedback and monitoring	Monitor and provide informative or evaluative feedback on performance of the behavior (e.g. form, frequency, du- ration, intensity) Note: if Biofeedback, code only 2.6, Biofeedback and not 2.2, Feedback on behavior; if feedback is on outcome(s) of behavior, code 2.7, Feedback on out- come(s) of behavior; if there is no clear	3	"The intervention will be- gin by providing the patient personal feedback on their adherence (using pharma- cy refill data) and health out- comes (e.g., trajectory of lung function values, fre- quency of exacerbations) as well as clinic-level figures showing the association be-

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

Cochrane

Librarv

		evidence that feedback was given, code 2.1, Monitoring of behavior by others without feedback; if feedback on behav- iour is evaluative e.g. praise, also code 10.4, Social reward		tween adherence and health outcomes." (Riekert 2013)
2.3. Self-moni- toring of behav- iour	2. Feedback and monitoring	Establish a method for the person to monitor and record their behavior(s) as part of a behavior change strategy Note: if monitoring is part of a data col- lection procedure rather than a strate- gy aimed at changing behavior, do not code; if monitoring of outcome of be- havior, code 2.4, Self-monitoring of out- come(s) of behavior; if monitoring is by someone else (without feedback), code 2.1, Monitoring of behavior by others without feedback	3	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Charts and tables of objective adherence data presented within CFHealthHub</li> <li>Interventionist:</li> <li>Introducing and explaining charts and tables to participants." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
2.4. Self-mon- itoring of out- come(s) of be- haviour	2. Feedback and monitoring	Establish a method for the person to monitor and record the outcome(s) of their behavior as part of a behavior change strategy Note: if monitoring is part of a data col- lection procedure rather than a strate- gy aimed at changing behavior, do not code ; if monitoring behavior, code 2.3, Self-monitoring of behavior; if monitor- ing is by someone else (without feed- back), code 2.5, Monitoring outcome(s) of behavior by others without feedback	1	"Subjects in this group were asked to use the Spiro PD personal spirometer to check their lung function once a week for 3 month- s." (Shakkottai 2017)
2.6. Biofeedback	2. Feedback and monitoring	Provide feedback about the body (e.g. physiological or biochemical state) us- ing an external monitoring device as part of a behavior change strategy Note: if Biofeedback, code only 2.6, Biofeedback and not 2.2, Feedback on behavior or 2.7, Feedback on out- come(s) of behaviour	1	"Participants were trained on the appropriate use of their device at the time of en- rollment. They also <b>r</b> eceived weekly telephone calls from a respiratory therapist to re- view that week's lung func- tion results." (Shakkottai 2017)
2.7. Feedback on outcome(s) of behavior	2. Feedback and monitoring	Monitor and provide feedback on the outcome of performance of the behav- ior Note: if Biofeedback, code only 2.6, Biofeedback and not 2.7, Feedback on outcome(s) of behavior; if feedback is on behavior code 2.2, Feedback on be- havior; if there is no clear evidence that feedback was given code 2.5, Monitor- ing outcome(s) of behavior by others without feedback; if feedback on behav- iour is evaluative e.g. praise, also code 10.4, Social reward	1	"The intervention will be- gin by providing the patient personal feedback on their adherence (using pharma- cy refill data) and health out- comes (e.g. trajectory of lung function values, frequen- cy of exacerbations) as well as clinic-level figures show- ing the association between adherence and health out- comes." (Riekert 2013)

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

Cochrane

Library

3.1. Social sup- port (unspeci- fied)	3. Social support	Advise on, arrange or provide social support (e.g. from friends, relatives, colleagues, 'buddies' or staff) or non- contingent praise or reward for perfor- mance of the behavior. It includes en- couragement and counselling, but only when it is directed at the behavior <i>Note: attending a group class and/or</i> <i>mention of 'follow-up' does not nec-</i> <i>essarily apply this BCT, support must</i> <i>be explicitly mentioned; if practical,</i> <i>code 3.2, Social support (practical,</i> <i>code 3.2, Social support (practical);</i> <i>if emotional, code 3.3, Social support</i> <i>(emotional) (includes 'Motivational in-</i> <i>terviewing' and 'Cognitive Behavioral</i> <i>Therapy')</i>	4	"The coaching intervention included the following ele- ments: client-centeredness, empathy and collaboration, focus on preferences, reflec- tive dialogue, use of positive language, and promotion of capacity and self-determi- nation. Sessions included different tools; for example, "the wheel of life" on which coachees could rate their lev- el of satisfaction in different life areas." (Knudsen 2016)
3.2. Social support (practical)	3. Social support	Advise on, arrange, or provide practical help (e.g. from friends, relatives, col- leagues, 'buddies' or staff) for perfor- mance of the behavior Note: if emotional, code 3.3, Social sup- port (emotional); if general or unspec- ified, code 3.1, Social support (unspec- ified) If only restructuring the physical environment or adding objects to the environment, code 12.1, Restructur- ing the physical environment or 12.5, Adding objects to the environment; at- tending a group or class and/or men- tion of 'follow-up' does not necessarily apply this BCT, support must be explicit- ly mentioned.	3	<ul> <li>"Find Solutions</li> <li>Remembering: Tick the boxes for the different ways that you could use to remember to do your treatment. Write down more ways that you think of.</li> <li>Put a timetable on fridge;</li> <li>Ask a family member to remind me;</li> <li>Put a sign up in my parent's bedroom;</li> <li>Put a sign up in my bedroom;</li> <li>I just remember;</li> <li>Other</li> <li>" (Downs 2006)</li> </ul>
3.3. Social support (emotional)	3. Social support	Advise on, arrange, or provide emo- tional social support (e.g. from friends, relatives, colleagues, 'buddies' or staff) for performance of the behavior <i>Note: if practical, code 3.2, Social sup- port (practical); if unspecified, code 3.1,</i> <i>Social support (unspecified)</i>	1	"Team partners have a big re- sponsibility for chest treat- ments. Your role includes: doing and helping your child to do regular chest assess- ment and treatment; teach- ing your child about treat- ment and encouraging them to stick with it; being an important role model of a healthy lifestyle; being able to talk and deal with prob- lems when they arise. It is a big job and not always easy." (Downs 2006)



### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

4.1. Instruction on how to per- form the behav- ior	4. Shaping knowledge	Advise or agree on how to perform the behavior (includes 'Skills training') Note: when the person attends classes such as exercise or cookery, code 4.1, In- struction on how to perform the behav- ior, 8.1, Behavioral practice/rehearsal and 6.1, Demonstration of the behavior	5	"The intervention also in- cludes provision of a written, Prescribed Treatment Plan, assessment and remediation of gaps in Knowledge of Dis- ease Management, and eval- uation and re-instruction/ re-training of skills need- ed to perform daily treat- ments." (Quittner 2019)
5.1. Information about health consequences	5. Natural conse- quences	Provide information (e.g. written, ver- bal, visual) about health consequences of performing the behavior Note: consequences can be for any tar- get, not just the recipient(s) of the in- tervention; emphasising importance of consequences is not sufficient; if infor- mation about emotional consequences, code 5.6, Information about emotion- al consequences; if about social, envi- ronmental or unspecified consequences code 5.3, Information about social and environmental consequences	4	"The intervention will be- gin by providing the patient personal feedback on their adherence (using pharma- cy refill data) and health out- comes (e.g., trajectory of lung function values, fre- quency of exacerbations) as well as clinic-level figures showing the association be- tween adherence and health outcomes." (Riekert 2013)
5.2. Salience of consequences	5. Natural consequences	Use methods specifically designed to emphasise the consequences of per- forming the behaviour with the aim of making them more memorable (goes beyond informing about conse- quences) Note: if information about conse- quences, also code 5.1, Information about health consequences, 5.6, Infor- mation about emotional consequences or 5.3, Information about social and en- vironmental consequences	3	"Some children also need to use nebulisers and puffers. Don't wait until you get sick before you do your treat- ments. BE A GERM BUSTER and BUST GERMS TODAY! Draw some more germs in the box below." (Downs 2006)
6.1. Demonstra- tion of the be- havior	6. Comparison of behaviour	Provide an observable sample of the performance of the behaviour, directly in person or indirectly e.g. via film, pic- tures, for the person to aspire to or imi- tate (includes 'Modelling'. <i>Note: if advised to practice, also code, 8.1, Behavioural practice and rehearsal;</i> <i>If provided with instructions on how to perform, also code 4.1, Instruction on how to perform the behaviour</i>	3	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Solution bank within CFHealthHub (including advice to problem solve, restructure the physical environment, engage so- cial support)</li> <li>Coping planning, Day plan- ner and Party planner tools and storage within CFHealthHub</li> <li>Videos demonstrating cor- rect use of nebulisers with- in CFHealthHub." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

included studies	(Continued)			
6.3. Information about others' ap- proval	6. Comparison of behaviour	Provide information about what oth- er people think about the behavior. The information clarifies whether oth- ers will like, approve or disapprove of what the person is doing or will do	1	"This is what one child said. "Don't say "It will be OK, I'll sort it out tomorrow", be- cause infections can happen slowly. Once I feel tired and have less energy, then I don't want to do my chest treat- ments at all." (Downs 2006)
7.1. Prompts/ cues	7. Associations	Introduce or define environmental or social stimulus with the purpose of prompting or cueing the behavior. The prompt or cue would normally occur at the time or place of performance <i>Note: when a stimulus is linked to a spe- cific action in an if-then plan including</i> <i>one or more of frequency, duration or</i> <i>intensity also code 1.4, Action planning.</i>	4	"Devices were programmed to provide daily medica- tion reminders for inhaled hypertonic saline, dornase alfa, and CF multivitamin- s." (Shakkottai 2017)
8.1. Behavioral practice/re- hearsal	8. Repetition and substitution	Prompt practice or rehearsal of the performance of the behavior one or more times in a context or at a time when the performance may not be necessary, in order to increase habit and skill Note: if aiming to associate perfor- mance with the context, also code 8.3, Habit formation	3	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Solution bank within CFHealthHub (including advice to problem solve, restructure the physical environment, engage so- cial support)</li> <li>Coping planning, day plan- ner and party planner tools and storage within CFHealthHub</li> <li>Videos demonstrating cor- rect use of nebulisers with- in CFHealthHub</li> <li>Interventionist:</li> <li>Tailored problem-solving guided by interventionist</li> <li>Support to create day plans/party plans where appropriate</li> <li>Support to construct if- then coping plans includ- ing identifying self-talk where appropriate." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
8.3. Habit forma- tion	8. Repetition and substitution	Prompt rehearsal and repetition of the behavior in the same context repeat- edly so that the context elicits the be- havior <i>Note: also code 8.1, Behavioral prac-</i> <i>tice/rehearsal</i>	3	<ul> <li>"Interventionist:</li> <li>Help to focus on identi- fying consistent cues and linking to behaviour (habit formation)</li> <li>Discussion and identifica- tion of appropriate cues <ul> <li>and how to add to the environment (if nec-</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the



### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies	(Continued)			essary)." (Hind 2017; Wild- man 2022ª)
8.7. Graded tasks	8. Repetition and substitution	Set easy-to-perform tasks, making them increasingly difficult, but achiev- able, until behavior is performed	2	<ul> <li>"Interventionist:</li> <li>Discussion and agreement of goals with intervention- ist</li> <li>Review of goals</li> <li>Suggested steady increase in goal as improvements are made." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
9.1. Credible source	9. Comparison of outcomes	Present verbal or visual communica- tion from a credible source in favour of or against the behavior <i>Note: code this BCT if source generally agreed on as credible e.g., health pro-</i> <i>fessionals, celebrities or words used</i> <i>to indicate expertise or leader in field</i> <i>and if the communication has the aim</i> <i>of persuading; if information about</i> <i>health consequences, also code 5.1, In-</i> <i>formation about health consequences,</i> <i>if about emotional consequences, also</i> <i>code 5.6, Information about emotion-</i> <i>al consequences; if about social, envi-</i> <i>ronmental or unspecified consequences</i> <i>also code 5.3, Information about social</i> <i>and environmental consequences</i>	4	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Information about CF, the need for treatment, how each treatment works and the importance of adherence</li> <li>Information presented in a variety of ways though written text, patient stories, 'talking heads' and animation videos, with links to external content including Cochrane reviews</li> <li>Range of different credible information sources including people CF, clinicians, links to scientific papers." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
9.2. Pros and cons	9. Comparison of outcomes	Advise the person to identify and com- pare reasons for wanting (pros) and not wanting to (cons) change the be- havior (includes 'Decisional balance') Note: if providing information about health consequences, also code 5.1, In- formation about health consequences; if providing information about emotion- al consequences, also code 5.6, Infor- mation about emotional consequences; if providing information about social, environmental or unspecified conse- quences also code 5.3, Information about social and environmental conse- quences	2	"An important aspect of this work is the weighing up of the pros and cons of the problem and the solution, for example, helping them to make positive evaluations of increasing their nebuliser use (looking for the benefits) and weighing them as more im- portant than the 'costs' of in- creasing their nebuliser use (time consumption, inconve- nience etc.)." (Quinn 2004)
10.3. Non-specif- ic reward	10. Reward and threat	Arrange delivery of a reward if and only if there has been effort and/or progress in performing the behavior (includes 'Positive reinforcement')	1	"This week's activity is to fill the waves with sea creatures for doing all your chest treat- ments Did you complete 5 or more waves last week? If you didn't, do the activity



### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

		Note: if reward is material, code 10.2, Material reward (behavior), if social, code 10.4, Social reward, and not 10.3, Nonspecific reward; if reward is for out- come code 10.10, Reward (outcome). If informed of reward in advance of re- warded behaviour, also code one of: 10.1, Material incentive (behaviour); 10.5, Social incentive; 10.6, Non-specif- ic incentive; 10.7, Self-incentive; 10.8, In- centive (outcome)		again this week. If you did, enjoy your reward for learn- ing about chest treatments. My reward for learning more about chest treatments is ". (Downs 2006)
10.4. Social re- ward	10. Reward and threat	Arrange verbal or non-verbal reward if and only if there has been effort and/ or progress in performing the behavior (includes 'Positive reinforcement') Note: if reward is material, code 10.2, Material reward (behavior), if unspec- ified code 10.3, Non-specific reward, and not 10.4, Social reward; if reward is for outcome code 10.10, Reward (out- come). If informed of reward in advance of rewarded behaviour, also code one of: 10.1, Material incentive (behaviour); 10.5, Social incentive; 10.6, Non-specif- ic incentive; 10.7, Self-incentive; 10.8, In- centive (outcome)	3	"This intervention is de- signed to increase knowl- edge and enhance the skills needed to optimize CF-man- agement. The strategies used to achieve improved adher- ence include providing didac- tic education and skills train- ing, and proscriptively us- ing behavioral modification strategies, such as positive reinforcement for desired be- haviors, and problem-solving training to overcome barrier- s." (Riekert 2013)
10.7. Self-incen- tive	10. Reward and threat	Plan to reward self in future if and only if there has been effort and/or progress in performing the behavior Note: if self-reward is material, also code 10.1, Material incentive (behav- ior), if social, also code 10.5, Social in- centive, if unspecified, also code 10.6, Non-specific incentive; if incentive is for outcome code 10.8, Incentive (out- come). If reward is delivered also code one of: 10.2, Material reward (behavior); 10.3, Non-specific reward; 10.4, Social reward, 10.9, Selfreward; 10.10, Reward (outcome)	1	"This week's activity is to fill the waves with sea creatures for doing all your chest treat- ments. Find the activity sheet with the picture of the sea. Draw and colour a sea crea- ture in each day's wave when you have remembered, fitted in and done all your treat- ments. Enjoy watching it fill up." (Downs 2006)
10.9. Self-reward	10. Reward and threat	Prompt self-praise or self-reward if and only if there has been effort and/or progress in performing the behavior Note: if self-reward is material, also code 10.2, Material reward (behavior), if social, also code 10.4, Social reward, if unspecified, also code 10.3, Non-specif- ic reward; if reward is for outcome code 10.10, Reward (outcome). If informed of reward in advance of rewarded behav- iour, also code one of: 10.1, Material in- centive (behaviour); 10.5, Social incen-	1	"This week's activity is to fill the waves with sea creatures for doing all your chest treat- ments. Find the activity sheet with the picture of the sea. Draw and colour a sea crea- ture in each day's wave when you have remembered, fitted in and done all your treat- ments. Enjoy watching it fill up." (Downs 2006)

Librarv

	(continued)	tive; 10.6, Non-specific incentive; 10.7, Selfincentive; 10.8, Incentive (outcome)		
11.2. Reduce negative emo- tions	11. Regulation	Advise on ways of reducing negative emotions to facilitate performance of the behavior (includes 'Stress manage- ment') Note: if includes analysing the behav- ioural problem, also code 1.2, Problem solving	1	"The chapters contain infor- mation and exercises to ex- plore the clinical nature of the respiratory aspect of CF; the promotion of co-oper- ative behaviour and team- work; the use of cognitive theories that promote op- timism and help the child cope with negative feelings
				about long-term treatments; and issues pertaining to rec- ommended aerosol and ACT treatments." (Downs 2006)
12.1. Restructur- ing the physical environment	12. Antecedents	Change, or advise to change the phys- ical environment in order to facilitate performance of the wanted behavior or create barriers to the unwanted be- havior (other than prompts/cues, re- wards and punishments)	3	"In the Action stage, the person actively modifies their behaviour, experience or environment in order to improve their nebuliser use." (Quinn 2004)
		Note: this may also involve 12.3, Avoid- ance/reducing exposure to cues for the behavior; if restructuring of the social environment code 12.2, Restructuring the social environment; if only adding objects to the environment, code 12.5, Adding objects to the environment		
12.2. Restructur- ing the social en- vironment	12. Antecedents	Change, or advise to change the social environment in order to facilitate per- formance of the wanted behavior or create barriers to the unwanted behav- ior (other than prompts/cues, rewards and punishments)	1	"In the Action stage, the person actively modifies their behaviour, experience or environment in order to improve their nebuliser use." (Quinn 2004)
		Note: this may also involve 12.3, Avoid- ance/reducing exposure to cues for the behavior; if also restructuring of the physical environment also code 12.1, Restructuring the physical environment		
12.5. Adding objects to the environment	12. Antecedents	Add objects to the environment in or- der to facilitate performance of the be- havior	environment in or- 4 " formance of the be- la formation (e.g. writ- n a booklet or leaflet r is accompanied by code 3.2, Social sup- e environment is e addition of objects, ructuring the physi-	"we also conducted a pi- lot study to assess the feasi- bility of a portable person- al spirometer device that al-
		Note: Provision of information (e.g. writ- ten, verbal, visual) in a booklet or leaflet is insufficient. If this is accompanied by social support, also code 3.2, Social sup- port (practical); if the environment is changed beyond the addition of objects, also code 12.1, Restructuring the physi- cal environment		so provided medication re- minders among pediatric CF patients." (Shakkottai 2017)

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the included studies (Continued)

### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

Librarv

	13.2. Framing/re- framing	13. Identity	Suggest the deliberate adoption of a perspective or new perspective on behavior (e.g. its purpose) in order to change cognitions or emotions about performing the behavior (includes 'Cognitive structuring'); <i>If information</i> <i>about consequences then code 5.1, In-</i> <i>formation about health consequences,</i> <i>5.6, Information about emotional con-</i> <i>sequences or 5.3, Information about so-</i> <i>cial and environmental consequences</i> <i>instead of 13.2, Framing/reframing</i>	1	"Write 1 of your negative thoughts about chest treat- ments in the top thought bubble. Draw a face to show how this makes you feel. Then, think of a positive thought that will help you to feel better about treatment and write this in the bottom thought bubble. Draw a face to show how this might make you feel." (Downs 2006)
	13.3. Incompati- ble beliefs	13. Identity	Draw attention to discrepancies be- tween current or past behavior and self-image, in order to create discom- fort (includes 'Cognitive dissonance')	1	"The intervention uses di- alogue from the patient to create dissonance when am- bivalent about behaviour change by weighing the im- portance of change against the costs of not chang- ing." (Quinn 2004)
	15.1. Verbal per- suasion about capability	15. Self-belief	Tell the person that they can success- fully perform the wanted behavior, ar- guing against self-doubts and asserting that they can and will succeed	1	"Getting mucus out of your lungs helps you to stay healthy. You CAN learn how to do your chest treatments well." (Downs 2006)
	15.3. Focus on past success	15. Self-belief	Advise to think about or list previous successes in performing the behavior (or parts of it)	2	<ul> <li>"Interventionist:</li> <li>Interventionist encourag- ing focus on periods of higher adherence on charts." (Hind 2017; Wild- man 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
	15.4. Self-talk	15. Self-belief	Prompt positive self-talk (aloud or silently) before and during the behav- ior	2	<ul> <li>"Interventionist:</li> <li>Interventionist introducing and highlighting relevant content on CFHealth-Hub</li> <li>Interventionist eliciting self-talk through discussion of motivation." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)</li> </ul>
-	16.3. Vicarious consequences	16.3. Vicarious consequences	Prompt observation of the conse- quences (including rewards and pun- ishments) for others when they per- form the behavior Note: if observation of health conse- quences, also code 5.1, Information about health consequences; if of emo- tional consequences, also code 5.6, Information about emotional conse- quences, if of social, environmental or unspecified consequences, also code	2	<ul> <li>"CFHealthHub:</li> <li>Demonstration of techniques for nebuliser use, cleaning and treatment mixing</li> <li>Information about CF, the need for treatment, how each treatment works, and the importance of adherence</li> </ul>



#### Table 2. Definitions and illustrative quotations of behaviour change techniques present in one or more of the

included studies (Continued)

5.3, Information about social and environmental consequences

- Information presented in a variety of ways though written text, patient stories, 'talking heads', and animation videos, with links to external content including Cochrane Reviews
- Range of different credible information sources including PWCF, Clinicians, links to scientific papers
- Interventionist:
- Interventionist introducing and highlighting relevant content on CFHealth-Hub." (Hind 2017; Wildman 2022<sup>a</sup>)

BCT: behaviour change technique

BCT definitions taken from the BCT Taxonomy (v1) (Michie 2013).

<sup>*a*</sup>The same intervention was used in two included studies but with different populations (Hind 2017 was a feasibility trial conducted in two CF centres; Wildman 2022 was a larger RCT conducted in 19 different CF centres).

#### APPENDICES

#### Appendix 1. Search Methods – Electronic Searches

Database/Resource	Strategy	Date last searched
PubMed	#1 randomized controlled trial [pt]	11 August 2022
(1946 to present)	#2 controlled clinical trial [pt]	
	#3 randomized [tiab]	
	#4 placebo [tiab]	
	#5 drug therapy [sh]	
	#6 randomly [tiab]	
	#7 trial [tiab]	
	#8 groups [tiab]	
	#9 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8	
	#10 animals [mh] NOT humans [mh]	
	#11 #9 NOT #10	
	#12 "cystic fibrosis"[MeSH Terms] OR "cystic fibrosis" OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose	

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(Continued)	<ul> <li>#13 adhere OR adherence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR persist OR persistance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompliance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR cooperation OR cooperate OR cooperated OR uncooperative OR conform</li> <li>#14 "psychology"[MeSH Terms] OR "mind-body therapies"[MeSH Terms] OR "psychotherapy"[MeSH Terms] OR "psychology, applied"[MeSH Terms] OR "neuropsychology"[MeSH Terms] OR Psycholog* OR Psychosocial OR psychotherapy OR psychotherapies OR psychotherapist OR psychotherapist OR remind* OR educate OR education OR supervis* OR family* OR families OR train* OR monitor* OR problem* OR team* OR diary OR diaries OR counsel* OR feedback OR reinforc* OR motivat* OR self-regulat* OR cope OR coping OR emotion* OR social* OR cognitive OR cognition OR mental* OR verbal* OR construct OR crisis OR aversion OR assertiv* OR accept* OR mind OR mindful* OR mood* OR support* OR wellness OR habit* OR talk* OR depress* OR goal* OR support* OR hypnosis OR hypnotherap*</li> <li>#15 #11 AND #12 AND #13 AND #14</li> </ul>	
	*NOTE: Lines #1- #11 are the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy for iden- tifying randomized trials in MEDLINE: sensitivity-maximizing version (2008 revi- sion); PubMed format	
PsychINFO EBSCO	S1 (TX "cystic fibrosis" OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose) OR (SU "Cystic Fibrosis")	7 August 2022
(1991 to hieselit)	S2 TX adhere OR adherence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR persist OR per- sistance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompli- ance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR cooperation OR cooperate OR cooperated OR uncooperative OR conform	
	S3 SU "Psychology" OR SU "Abnormal Psychology" OR SU "Applied Psycholo- gy" OR SU "Clinical Psychology" OR SU "Cognitive Psychology" OR SU "Com- parative Psychology" OR SU "Consulting Psychology" OR SU "Correctional Psychology" OR SU "Cross Cultural Psychology" OR SU "Depth Psychology" OR SU "Developmental Psychology" OR SU "Ecological Psychology" OR SU "Evolutionary Psychology" OR SU "Experimental Psychology" OR SU "Femi- nist Psychology" OR SU "Folk Psychology" OR SU "Forensic Psychology" OR SU "Geropsychology" OR SU "Health Care Psychology" OR SU "Humanistic Psy- chology" OR SU "International Psychology" OR SU "Mathematical Psychology" OR SU "Metapsychology" OR SU "Neuroeconomics" OR SU "Physiological Psy- chology" OR SU "Positive Psychology" OR SU "Psychologymanics" OR SU "Psy- chology of Men" OR SU "Psychology of Women" OR SU "Self Psychology"	
	S4 SU "Mind Body Therapy"	
	S5 SU "Psychotherapy" OR SU "Adlerian Psychotherapy" OR SU "Adolescent Psychotherapy" OR SU "Affirmative Therapy" OR SU "Analytical Psychothera- py" OR SU "Autogenic Training" OR SU "Brief Psychotherapy" OR SU "Brief Re- lational Therapy" OR SU "Child Psychotherapy" OR SU "Client Centered Ther- apy" OR SU "Conversion Therapy" OR SU "Couples Therapy" OR SU "Eclectic Psychotherapy" OR SU "Emotion Focused Therapy" OR SU "Existential Ther- apy" OR SU "Experiential Psychotherapy" OR SU "Expressive Psychotherapy" OR SU "Eye Movement Desensitization Therapy" OR SU "Feminist Therapy" OR SU "Geriatric Psychotherapy" OR SU "Gestalt Therapy" OR SU "Group Psy- chotherapy" OR SU "Guided Imagery" OR SU "Humanistic Psychotherapy" OR SU "Hypnotherapy" OR SU "Individual Psychotherapy" OR SU "Insight Thera- py" OR SU "Logotherapy" OR SU "Narrative Therapy" OR SU "Network Therapy" OR SU "Persuasion Therapy" OR SU "Primal Therapy" OR SU "Psychodrama" OR SU "Psychodrama" OR SU "Psychotherapy" OR SU "Psychotherapy" OR SU "Psychodrama" OR SU "Psychotherapy" OR SU	



Psychological intervention	ons for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)	139
	CONDITION/ DISEASE: cystic fibrosis OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose	
Clinicaltrials.gov	[Advanced Search]	7 August 2022
OpenGrey	(cystic fibrosis OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose) AND (adhere OR adher- ence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR persist OR persistance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompliance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR cooperation OR cooperate OR cooperat- ed OR uncooperative OR conform)	14 November 2020
	*NOTE: maximum number of characters exceeded in Line #3, so psychological search terms divided into two search lines and combined using OR operator (Line #5)	
	6 #1 AND #2 AND #5	
	5 #3 OR #4	
	4 social* OR socio* OR cognitive OR mental* OR verbal* OR condition* OR knowledge OR personal OR construct OR crisis OR aversion OR assertiv* OR Accept* OR commit* OR mind* OR mood* OR support* OR well* OR habit* OR talk* OR depress*	
	3 Psycho* OR behavio* OR attitude* OR communicat* OR reward* OR remind* OR educat* OR supervis* OR famil* OR train* OR monitor* OR problem* OR team* OR diar* OR counsel* OR feedback OR reinforc* OR motivat* OR self-reg- ulat* OR cope OR coping OR emotion*	
	2 adhere OR adherence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR persist OR persis- tance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompli- ance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR cooperation OR cooperate OR cooperated OR uncooperative OR conform	
(1823 to present)	Keywords]	
Scopus	1 cystic fibrosis OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose [Article title Abstract	7 August 2022
	S9 (S1 AND S2) AND (S3 OR S4 OR S5 OR S6 OR S7 OR S8)	
	S8 TX Psycholog* OR Psychosocial OR psychotherapy OR psychotherapies OR psychotherapist OR psychoanal* OR psychodrama OR behavio* OR attitude* OR communicat* OR reward* OR remind* OR educate OR education OR super- vis* OR family* OR families OR train* OR monitor* OR problem* OR team* OR diary OR diaries OR counsel* OR feedback OR reinforc* OR motivat* OR self- regulat* OR cope OR coping OR emotion* OR social* OR sociol* OR cognitive OR cognition OR mental* OR verbal* OR construct OR crisis OR aversion OR assertiv* OR accept* OR mind OR mindful* OR mood* OR support* OR well- ness OR habit* OR talk* OR depress* OR goal* OR support* OR hypnois OR hyp- nothesrap*	
	S7 SU "Neuropsychology"	
	S6 SU "Applied Psychology" OR SU "Clinical Psychology" OR SU "Coaching Psychology" OR SU "Community Psychology" OR SU "Consumer Psychology" OR SU "Counseling Psychology" OR SU "Educational Psychology" OR SU "En- gineering Psychology" OR SU "Environmental Psychology" OR SU "Industri- al and Organizational Psychology" OR SU "Military Psychology" OR SU "Occu- pational Health Psychology" OR SU "Political Psychology" OR SU "Social Psy- chology" OR SU "Sport Psychology" OR SU "Suicidology"	
	"Rational Emotive Behavior Therapy" OR SU "Reality Therapy" OR SU "Rela- tionship Therapy" OR SU "Solution Focused Therapy" OR SU "Strategic Thera- py" OR SU "Supportive Psychotherapy" OR SU "Transactional Analysis"	
(Continued)	chotherapeutic Counseling" OR SU "Psychotherapeutic Techniques" OR SU	

Copyright @ 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



(Continued)	OTHER TERMS: adhere OR adherence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR per- sist OR persistance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompliance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR co- operation OR cooperate OR cooperated OR uncooperative OR conform STUDY TYPE: Interventional Studies (Clinical Trials)	
WHO ICTRP	[Basic Search] (cystic fibrosis OR mucoviscidosis OR mucoviscidose) AND (adhere OR adher- ence OR adhered OR nonadherence OR persist OR persistance OR persisted OR compliance OR comply OR complied OR noncompliance OR concordance OR non concordance OR cooperative OR cooperation OR cooperate OR cooperat- ed OR uncooperative OR conform)	14 August 2022

### HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 10, 2020

### CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Task	Author(s) responsible
Protocol stage: draft the protocol	SD
Protocol stage: review/editing	SD; LC; DCC; CG
Review stage: select which trials to include (2 + 1 arbiter)	SD and LC/CG
Review stage: extract data from trials (2 people)	SD; CG (2 trials: LC; DCC)
Review stage: code BCTs in included trials (2 people)	SD; CG
Review stage: enter data into RevMan	SD
Review stage: carry out the analysis	SD
Review stage: interpret the analysis	SD; LC; DCC
Review stage: draft the final review	SD
Review stage: review/editing	SD; LC; CG; DCC
Update stage: update the review	SD

#### DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

**SD** is employed by Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust to work on the CFHealthHub Data Observatory, which aims to embed objective adherence data into routine CF care using quality improvement cycles. She did not have any involvement in either the CFHealthHub feasibility study or RCT included in this review.

**CG** is employed by the University of Sheffield, Clinical Trials Research Unit, and previously managed a clinical trial related to supporting people with CF with adherence behaviours "CFHealthHub Data Observatory" (IRAS 216782 portfolio 33331); the funding was from NHS England.

**Psychological interventions for improving adherence to inhaled therapies in people with cystic fibrosis (Review)** Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
LC declares no potential conflict of interest.

DCC declares no potential conflict of interest.

### SOURCES OF SUPPORT

### **Internal sources**

• No sources of support provided

### **External sources**

• National Institute for Health Research, UK

This systematic review was supported by the National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Cystic Fibrosis and Genetic Disorders Group.

## DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

In the protocol, we specified how we would deal with studies reporting multiple measures of adherence (i.e. the most reliable measure would be reported, with objective measures preferentially reported over subjective measures, using the hierarchy of validity detailed in the protocol). However, we did not specify what we would do if trials reported multiple measurements or observations from each participant for other outcomes (e.g. if depression was assessed for each participant using multiple measures). In the review, we decided to present the data for each measure and not present the totals or summary statistics for each of these outcomes which avoids a unit of analysis issue by double-counting participants; we did not select one measure over another because the reported measures were validated, standardised questionnaires (e.g. Major Depression Inventory (MDI) (Bech 2001) and Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Radloff 1977)) and we were not aware that one measure was more valid or reliable than the other. If we had to selectively choose an outcome to include in the data analyses, this could have biased the results. We clarified this in the methods and specified that this was added post hoc (Unit of analysis issues).

We used software for screening which was not stated in the protocol (Covidence).

We have clarified how we interpreted the standardised mean difference (SMD) (Measures of treatment effect).

In the summary of findings tables, we planned to report adherence to inhaled therapies (% completed treatments) using the SMD for all results combined from six to 12 months, but since only one trial was included for this outcome in 'Summary of findings 1', we instead reported using the MD.

In addition, one trial assessed a quality of life (QoL) outcome using a measure that was completed independently by both children or adolescents with cystic fibrosis (CF) and parents or caregivers of people with CF (i.e. both child and parent scores were reported on the Cystic Fibrosis Questionnaire-Revised (CFQ-R) (Quittner 2009)). As we had not specified how we would deal with this issue in the protocol, we decided to include only data from the children or adolescents with CF in the data analyses, to avoid double-counting of participants. We then narratively described parent or caregiver scores in the results section.

In the review, we included trials that did not just measure adherence to inhaled therapies but used a composite medication possession ratio (cMPR) measure (which included at least one non-inhaled therapy as well as inhaled therapies). We did not specify a method for dealing with this particular issue in the protocol. Where MPR for individual drugs was not available, we decided to contact the investigators to request the subset results for participants on inhaled therapies only. If this was not available or if there was no response from the investigators, we decided to include the cMPR results and to highlight in the methods and results that this outcome included a combination of inhaled and non-inhaled therapies. We also added a proposed subgroup analysis to the methods to look at the effects of these studies where adherence to multiple therapies was being studied compared to inhaled therapies only.

In the protocol, we did not specify which QoL domains we would report in the summary of findings tables (Dawson 2020). As there are many QoL domains, we decided to present data for two domains which were deemed to be most relevant to the review (treatment burden and respiratory symptoms) (Summary of findings 1; Summary of findings 2). We reported the results for all QoL domains in the 'Effects of interventions' and 'Data and analyses' sections.

# INDEX TERMS

### Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Anxiety [therapy]; Anxiety Disorders; \*Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; \*Cystic Fibrosis [complications] [drug therapy]; Psychosocial Intervention; Quality of Life



Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

# **MeSH check words**

Adolescent; Adult; Child; Humans